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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Non-GAAP financial measures are identified by the superscript “NGM”. The manage-
ment team believes these measures to be useful in evaluating White Mountains’s 
financial performance. For a reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures
from their most comparable GAAP financial measures, please see pages 12
through 14 and our website at www.whitemountains.com.   

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM

ACT OF 1995

Statements in this document regarding White Mountains’s businesses that are not
historical facts are “forward-looking statements” that involve risks and uncertainties. 
For a discussion of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from
those contained in the forward-looking statements, see “Risk Factors,” “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in White Mountains’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Dear Fellow Shareholders:

2017 was a successful year for your Company. ABVPSNGM

grew 16%, ending the year at $915.

The sale of OneBeacon, announced in May and closed
in September, was a big driver of our 2017 results. The
all-cash transaction at $18.10 per share, or 1.7x book
value, marked the end of a long and successful chapter
in White Mountains’s history. The remarkable OneBea-
con team, under the leadership of first Ray Barrette and
then Mike Miller, transformed a broken general insurer
into a vibrant specialty company, producing great results
for our shareholders along the way. Over a 16-year invest-
ment period, OneBeacon generated a 2.5x multiple of
invested capital and a 14% IRR. We thank the OneBeacon
team for their many contributions, and we wish them all
the best going forward. 

The sale of OneBeacon generated $1.3 billion of 
proceeds and increased White Mountains’s undeployed
capital position to $3.1 billion (on a total capital base of
$4.2 billion). This high level of undeployed capital 
implies a low single digit go forward rate of growth in
ABVPS, at least in the short term. We expect returns to
normalize, over several years, as undeployed capital is
deployed or distributed. In 2017, our “underlying” 
return was modestly ahead of our expectations, driven
primarily by good investment returns.

The investment portfolio was well positioned for market
developments in 2017. We produced a Total Portfolio
ReturnNGM of 7.0%, outperforming all of our total return
benchmarks. These results were driven by good relative
returns in fixed income, good absolute returns in equities,
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G. MANNING ROUNTREE

Chief Executive Officer
White Mountains

Growth in Value Per Share

NGM
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and an increasing allocation to equities over the course
of the year, offset by losses on currency hedges (as the
USD weakened).

BAM again made nice strides in 2017, writing Total 
PremiumsNGM of $104 million, up 35% year over year.
Par insured volumes dipped, but this was more than
offset by higher pricing. After a mid-year review, S&P 
affirmed BAM’s AA rating with stable outlook, validating
BAM’s achievements over its first five years of operation.
During the year, we modified the BAM surplus notes. In
December, BAM made its first cash payment of principal
and interest on the surplus notes, an important mile-
stone. A word of caution. Uncertainty over tax reform
pulled forward issuance volume into 2017. As a result,
BAM has had a slow start to 2018.   

MediaAlpha posted record results in 2017, driven by
strong organic growth and a nice tuck-in acquisition in
the health & life insurance vertical. EBITDANGM is 
approaching $20 million, and the business is growing 
at a healthy pace while paying a nice cash dividend.  
What’s not to like?  PassportCard / DavidShield also
posted record results, driven by strong organic growth
in travel insurance premiums.

Our most important job is managing our undeployed
capital position intelligently. We made good progress 
in 2017. We returned $724 million through share repur-
chases, retiring 18% of the shares outstanding in the
process. The average price was $869 per share, 

or 95% of year end ABVPS. In connection with this
“shrink,” we also executed a substantial reorganization
in 2017, reducing our expense base proportionately 
to the reduction in capital, while also repositioning our
human resources.

Since May 2017, we have also deployed (or committed
to deploy) $550 million of capital. Our undeployed capital
position is now $1.8 billion (and shrinking). The deploy-
ments include two acquisitions to support existing busi-
nesses (one at MediaAlpha and one at PassportCard) 
as well as two new businesses of size:  Kudu and NSM.
A word on the Kudu and NSM businesses follows . . . .  
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ownerS’ CaPital Per Share
(as of December 31, 2017)

                                                    $ / share

HG Global                                                                               $  174
MediaAlpha                                                                                    6
PassportCard / DavidShield                                                         13
Kudu                                                                                             33
NSM                                                                                              73
WM Capital operating businesses                                                17
WM Capital investment management businesses                       21
Unfunded commitments and other deployed capital                   83
Undeployed capital                                                                    495

Total - Adjusted Book Value Per ShareNGM                                        $  915

Note: Table treats the following transactions as if they closed on December 31, 2017: 
(1) the $273 million expected investment in NSM which was announced in 2Q18 but has 
not yet closed, (2) the $125 million commitment to Kudu which was announced in 1Q18 
and (3) the $28 million ($7 per share) investment in DavidShield which closed in 1Q18.
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Kudu is a new venture, built to deliver
capital solutions to boutique asset man-
agers. These solutions address a wide
range of needs, including generational
ownership transfers, legacy partner liq-
uidity, management buyouts, and acqui-
sition and growth finance. Kudu makes
structurally-senior minority investments, 
typically in the form of revenue shares.
Kudu targets healthy running cash yields
with an added element of equity partici-
pation. Kudu is run by Rob Jakacki and
Charlie Ruffel, leaders in the field of asset manage-
ment finance. White Mountains and Oaktree Capital
Management are partners in Kudu and have each
committed $125 million of capital to back the venture.     

NSM is a full-service MGU and program administrator
for specialty p&c insurance coverages. NSM controls
over $500 million of premiums, well spread across a
range of niche sectors, including collector cars, non-
profits, sports and fitness centers, coastal condo-
minium associations and pet insurance. NSM is a
sizable, profitable and growing business with a strong
track record of both organic growth and accretive,
tuck-in acquisitions. NSM is run by Geof and Billy 
McKernan, who have built the business from the
ground up over the past 28 years. Upon closing the
NSM transaction, White Mountains expects to deploy
roughly $275 million of equity capital to acquire 95% 
of NSM.  
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RETURN PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

1-year     5-year     10-year     20-year Since IPO

White Mountains’s ABVPSNGM 16.1% 9.4% 7.7%       12.3% 13.9%

S&P 500 21.8% 15.8% 8.5%         7.2% 11.0%  

our traCk reCord

We are delighted to welcome Rob and Charlie, Geof
and Billy and their respective teams to the White
Mountains family. With these two new deployments,
White Mountains now owns five substantial businesses
that will drive value creation going forward:  HG Global /
BAM, MediaAlpha, PassportCard / DavidShield, Kudu
and NSM. Our operating focus is clearly on these five
businesses.  

We are working tirelessly to find additional deployment
opportunities with similar characteristics:  sizable busi-
nesses, in insurance and adjacent sectors, with quality
management teams, where we can build, compound
and unlock value over long periods of time. Conditions
remain challenging, with highly competitive insurance
markets and elevated asset prices for insurance prop-
erties. Going forward, you should expect more of the
same from us:  gradual return of capital to shareholders
and careful deployments into new opportunities,
scratched out one by one.
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After a two-year hiatus, we will hold our
customary Investor Day on June 8 at the
Omni Berkshire Place Hotel in New York
City. The White Mountains senior team
will be joined by the management teams
of each of our five largest businesses. 
I encourage you to come out, meet your
management teams first hand, and get
answers to the questions on your mind.

Finally, since our last Annual General
Meeting we have said farewell to three
long-time White Mountains executives:
David Foy, Rich Zawalich and David
Linker. David, Rich and David created
real value for shareholders over the years
and were also wonderful partners and
teammates. They will be missed, and we
wish them well.

Respectfully submitted,

G. Manning Rountree

($ in millions, except per share amounts) Est. 2018                 2017 2016
Salary and benefits $     10               $    17 $    18
Bonus at target 6                       9 9
General and administrative expenses 20                     28 28

Subtotal 36                     54 55
LTIP shares granted in most recent cycle 26,900              35,275 45,460
ABVPSNGM at grant 915                   789 781 [1]

LTIP compensation at grant 25                     28 36
Total parent operating expenses at grant $     61               $    82 $    91

Total parent operating expenses at grant $     61               $    82 $    91
Adjust bonus to actual -                       5 1
Adjust LTIP compensation to actual 6                     19 4
Severance -                     25 1
Total parent operating expenses $     67              $   131 $    97

[1] Includes Sirius Group transaction gain, estimated at $84 per share as of December 31, 2015, which was considered a 
2015 event for compensation purposes.

CaPital diStributionS / dePloymentS & undePloyed CaPital
($ in billions)

Parent oPeratinG exPenSeS

Notes:
1Q17 and 2Q17 are adjusted to reflect the OneBeacon transaction as if closed in the first quarter of 2017.
3Q17 is adjusted to reflect the DavidShield transaction, which closed in the first quarter of 2018.
4Q17 is adjusted to reflect the Kudu commitment, which was announced in the first quarter of 2018.
4Q17 Adj is adjusted to reflect the NSM transaction as if closed in the fourth quarter of 2017.
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(unaudited) As of December 31
$ in millions except per share amounts 2017 2016

Assets
Investments:

Fixed maturity and short-term investments $    1,683 $    1,655
Common equity securities and other investments 928 329

Total investments 2,611 1,984
Investments in affiliates:

OneBeacon - 777
HG GlobalNGM 650 703
MediaAlpha 24 18
PassportCard / DavidShield 21 21
WM Capital operating businesses 63 70
WM Capital investment management businesses 77 46
Other affiliates 3 8

Total investments in affiliates 838 1,643
Other assets 31 27
Total Assets $    3,479  $   3,654

Liabilities and Adjusted Common Equity
Liabilities
Debt $            - $           -
Other liabilities 64 71
Total Liabilities 64 71

Adjusted Common Equity
Common Equity 3,493 3,583
Less: 97% of the TVM discount on BAM surplus notes (157) n/a
Plus: 97% of HG Global’s unearned premium reserve 104 n/a
Less: 97% of HG Global’s deferred acquisition costs (24) n/a
Total Adjusted Common EquityNGM 3,415 3,583

Total Liabilities and Adjusted Common Equity $    3,479 $   3,654

Adjusted Common Shares Outstanding (000’s)NGM 3,733 4,578
Adjusted Book Value Per ShareNGM $       915 $      789

look throuGh Parent ComPany balanCe SheetSnGm
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(unaudited) Years Ended December 31
$ in millions 2017 2016

Comprehensive Income (Loss) of Affiliates After Tax:
OneBeacon $    573 $      82
Sirius Group - 507
HG Global 25 21
All other affiliates (12) 23

Total comprehensive income of affiliates after tax 586 633

Other Parent Company Activities:
Net investment income 40 17
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 132 (11)
Other revenue 7 8

Total revenues 179 14

Operating expenses (131) (97)
Interest expense on debt (1) (2)

Total expenses (132) (99)

Pretax parent income (loss) 47 (85)
Income tax expense (2) (1)
After tax parent comprehensive income (loss) 45 (86)

Comprehensive income $    631 $    547

look throuGh Parent ComPany inCome StatementSnGm
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HG Global / BAM
Financial Highlights

Years ended December 31
$ in millions (except where stated)               2017             2016

Par insured ($ in billions)                 $    10.4        $    11.3
Total PricingNGM                                   0.99%         0.68%
Total PremiumsNGM                                             $     104        $       77
Gross expenses (BAM and HG Re)      $       47        $       43
S&P RAP                                             4.52%          3.53%

Qualified statutory capital                $     462        $     454

Claims paying resources                 $     708        $     644    
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hG Global / bam
HG Global / BAM

Build America Mutual (BAM) is a mutually-
owned company that insures only essential-
public-purpose, fixed rate, municipal bonds
issued to finance schools, utilities, transporta-
tion facilities and core governmental functions.
BAM’s members are the municipalities that use
its insurance.

HG Global, through its wholly-owned reinsur-
ance subsidiary HG Re, provides 15%-of-par,
first-loss reinsurance protection for the bonds
insured by BAM. White Mountains owns 97% of
the preferred equity (88% of the common 
equity) of HG Global. 

Municipal Market Environment

Years ended December 31
$ in billions                                           2017             2016

Total issuance                                   $    413         $    425
10YT (year end)                                  2.40%          2.45%
AA-A credit spread (average)                   11 bps         10 bps
BAM market share (transactions)                 46%             46%
Insured penetration, target market        19%             20%
Insured penetration, overall                     6%               6%

HG Global’s Adjusted Book Value & BAM Surplus Notes
Years ended December 31

$ in millions                                                                                  2017                    2016

WTM’s interest in HG Global’s equity                                       $    500                $    523
Plus: preferred dividends payable to WTM’s subsidiaries             228                      180

WTM interest in HG Global - GAAP                                           728                      703
Less: 97% of the TVM discount on BAM surplus notes                 (157)                      n/a
Plus: 97% of HG Global’s unearned premium reserve                   104                       n/a
Less: 97% of HG Global’s deferred acquisition costs                    (24)                      n/a

WTM interest in HG Global - adjusted book value               $   650                 $   703

BAM surplus notes, principal outstanding                                 $   499                 $   503
BAM surplus notes, accrued interest                                             126                      108

Total                                                                                      $   625                 $   611
Principal and interest paid on BAM surplus notes                    $       5                 $        -

BAM again made nice strides in 2017, producing good results over the
course of an eventful year.

BAM wrote Total PremiumsNGM of $104 million in 2017, up 35% year 
over year. Par insured dipped slightly, to $10.4 billion, but this was more
than offset by higher pricing. Total PricingNGM (Total Premiums as a % of
par insured) increased from 0.68% to 0.99%, and risk-adjusted pricing
increased from 3.53% to 4.52%.

June was an interesting month at BAM. On June 6, S&P unexpectedly
placed BAM on CreditWatch negative. Yet only twenty days later, S&P
affirmed BAM’s AA rating with stable outlook, validating BAM’s capital
strength, market position and structural advantages.  

BAM continues to produce positive system-wide cashflow, accreting
both qualified statutory capital and claims paying resources. During 
the year, we modified the BAM surplus notes in order to further support
BAM’s capital position and enhance its business prospects. In Decem-
ber, BAM made its first cash payment of principal and interest on the
surplus notes, in the amount of $5 million. This marks an important 
milestone in BAM’s development.  

As we enter 2018, market fundamentals are mixed. Higher interest rates
are a positive development. On the other hand, credit spreads remain
tight, and insured penetration remains low by historical standards.
Against this backdrop, BAM’s marketplace execution remains strong. 
Its credit portfolio is loss free, its balance sheet is clean, and its market
share is steady at 46% of all insured transactions.

The uncertainty around tax reform pulled a substantial volume of muni
issuance forward into 4Q17, resulting in a slow start to 2018. Moreover,
there is a lower level of built-in refunding than in prior years, and it will
be challenging to grow par insured volumes during 2018.  

BAM will continue to focus on intelligent growth, with an emphasis on 
improving insured penetration in its target market, while maintaining 
underwriting discipline and achieving good pricing. We continue to 
approach BAM with patience and perspective. 
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MediaAlpha 
Financial Highlights

                                                                 Years ended December 31
$ in millions                                                  2017 Adjusted 1            2017             2016

Revenue, ex Healthplans.com                               $    148          $    148          $    117

Revenue                                                                 $    199          $    163          $    117

Gross profit                                                             $      36          $      27          $      19

EBITDANGM                                                              $      17          $      11          $        7

1 Including the impact of the acquisition of the Healthplans.com assets as if it 
occurred on January 1, 2017

                                                                                 Years ended December 31
$ in millions                                                                                      2017             2016

WTM, net invested capital                                                            $      31          $      22

WTM ownership, fd/fc                                                                       59%              54%

WTM dividends received                                                              $        3          $        2

mediaalPha

2017 was an exciting and transformative year for MediaAlpha.  

The company experienced strong organic growth, posting record
results on the top line and bottom line. Growth was particularly
strong in the p&c insurance and health & life insurance verticals.

In October, MediaAlpha executed a bolt-on acquisition of assets
of Healthplans.com (HP) and became the market leader in the
health & life insurance vertical.

Including the impact of the acquisition of the HP assets as if 
it occurred on January 1, 2017, MediaAlpha’s full year 2017 
revenue and EBITDANGM would have been $199 million and $17
million, respectively. These amounts have grown roughly 5x and
20x, respectively, since our initial investment four years ago.
Thank you to Steve, Eugene, Ambrose and the entire MediaAlpha
team!

White Mountains’s net invested capital position at MediaAlpha is
now $31 million, including $13 million of capital injected during
2017 for the HP acquisition. White Mountains owns 64% of 
MediaAlpha (59% on a fully-diluted, fully-converted basis). In 
2017, MediaAlpha paid us dividends of $3 million (a cash yield 
of roughly 10%).

MediaAlpha made great strides in 2017, and the future is bright. 

MediaAlpha 

MediaAlpha is a performance marketing tech-
nology company.  It operates transparent and
efficient exchange platforms that facilitate real-
time transactions between advertisers and pub-
lishers of performance media (i.e., clicks, calls
and leads). 

MediaAlpha has developed distinctive platform
solutions for a range of insurance verticals, in-
cluding auto, motorcycle, home, renter, health
and life, and non-insurance verticals, including
travel, education, personal finance and home
services. MediaAlpha powers over 25 million
transactions annually, representing more than
$250 million in media spend.  
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PassportCard / DavidShield 1
Financial Highlights

Years ended December 31
$ in millions                                           2017             2016

Premiums written                                  $   84            $   66

Premiums under license 
or fee arrangements                                  23                 13

Total premiums controlled                   $ 107            $   79

Total customers (millions) 2                                     1.2                0.8

1 On January 24, 2018, White Mountains acquired 50% 
    of DavidShield Life Insurance Agency (2000) Ltd.       
    (DavidShield). White Mountains also owns 50% of
    PassportCard Limited (PassportCard). White 

Mountains does not consolidate its interests 
    in DavidShield or PassportCard.

2   Customers defined as total registered members 
    at PassportCard plus total insured members at 
    DavidShield, inclusive of estimated members 
    under license or fee arrangements with third parties.

PaSSPortCard / daVidShield

PassportCard / DavidShield delivered strong results in 2017.

Total premiums controlled were $107 million for the full year, 
up 36% year over year. Results were driven by strong organic
growth in travel insurance.  

Cashflow generated by the core PassportCard / DavidShield 
businesses has crossed the $10 million threshold. We continue 
to reinvest all free cashflow into international expansion. The key
focus for 2018 is Australia, where, on April 7, we launched a new
travel insurance business under the brand name “TravelCard.”

Looking ahead, we expect continued strong momentum in the 
core businesses. We will target select international markets for
entry and expansion, with the ultimate objective of building a 
substantial global business.

White Mountains’s invested capital position in PassportCard / 
DavidShield is $49 million. White Mountains owns 50% of both 
entities.

PassportCard / DavidShield

PassportCard is a managing general agent
(MGA) that offers the travel insurance industry’s
first real-time, paperless insurance solution,
facilitating claims payouts in minutes, wherever
customers need them. PassportCard delivers
its solutions directly in select markets, earning
commissions for placing policies with its insur-
ance carrier partners. PassportCard also fran-
chises its solutions, earning licensing and other
fees.  

DavidShield is a leading provider of expatriate
medical insurance, using the same card-based
delivery system as PassportCard. DavidShield
delivers its solutions to thousands of organiza-
tions and individuals across more than 95
countries. DavidShield is also an MGA, earning
commissions for placing policies with its insur-
ance carrier partners.  
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kudu

Late last year, our new board member, Mary Choksi, introduced 
us to Rob Jakacki and Charlie Ruffel. Rob and Charlie were in the
market seeking capital partners for Kudu, their newest venture in
the asset management sector. We were impressed with the pitch
and the team. In early 2018, we signed and closed the Kudu trans-
action, with White Mountains and Oaktree Capital Management
each committing $125 million of capital to back the venture. White
Mountains owns 49.5% of the preferred equity of Kudu (and 41.0%
of the economics on a fully-diluted, fully-converted basis).  

Kudu provides capital solutions and advisory services to boutique
asset managers. Kudu makes structurally-senior minority invest-
ments, typically in the form of revenue shares. These investments
generate healthy cash yields from inception, with an added ele-
ment of equity upside potential.

Kudu’s target market is remarkably large. There are lots of mid-
sized asset managers looking for the solutions that Kudu provides
and for quality partners like Rob and Charlie. The current pipeline is
robust and varied, including traditional long-only asset managers,
wealth managers, hedge funds and private equity funds. 

We expect Kudu’s business to ramp quickly, and we hope to 
deploy our full $125 million commitment over the next three years.  

Kudu 

Kudu Investment Management (Kudu) is a new
venture that provides capital solutions to bou-
tique asset managers. The solutions are tailored
to special situations, including generational own-
ership transfers, legacy partner liquidity, man-
agement buyouts and acquisition and growth
finance. Kudu makes structurally-senior minority
investments, typically in the form of revenue
shares. Kudu targets healthy cash yields with
an added element of upside equity participa-
tion. Post-investment, Kudu provides a range of
advisory services to help its asset manager
partners grow their businesses.

Kudu is run by Rob Jakacki and Charlie Ruffel,
leaders in the field of asset management
finance. White Mountains and Oaktree Capital
Management are partners in Kudu and have
each committed $125 million of capital to back
the venture. 
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Our 2017 Management Report includes non-GAAP financial measures that are reconciled from their most comparable
GAAP financial measures below.  White Mountains believes these measures to be useful in evaluating White Moun-
tains's financial performance.

Look Through Parent Company Balance Sheets and Income Statements - White Mountains 
The look through parent company balance sheets and income statements present White Mountains’s investments in
OneBeacon, MediaAlpha and certain other entities under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of
accounting, each investment is presented on the look through balance sheet at its GAAP equity, net of non-controlling
interests, and the comprehensive income related to each investment is presented on the look through income statement
at its GAAP comprehensive income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders. Under GAAP, White Moun-
tains consolidates each of these entities. White Mountains’s investment in HG Global is also presented under the equity
method of accounting, but its GAAP equity has been adjusted for the items described in Adjusted Common Equity below.

Adjusted Common Equity, Adjusted Book Value Per Share Numerator, Adjusted Common Shares Outstanding, 
Adjusted Book Value Per Share, and Adjusted Book Value Per Share Including Sirius Group Transaction Gain - 
White Mountains 
Adjusted Common Equity is a non-GAAP financial measure that is derived by adjusting GAAP common equity (1) to 
include 97% of the time value of money discount on expected future payments on the BAM surplus notes, (2) to include
97% of HG Global's unearned premium reserve, and (3) to remove 97% of HG Global's deferred acquisition costs. 
Adjusted Common Shares Outstanding includes options that are dilutive to book value per share, if any, and excludes
from GAAP common shares outstanding unearned restricted shares, the compensation cost of which, at the date of 
calculation, has yet to be amortized. Adjusted Book Value Per Share (ABVPS) is the result of dividing the Adjusted Book
Value Per Share Numerator (the sum of Adjusted Common Equity and future proceeds from options) by Adjusted 
Common Shares Outstanding.
                                                                                                                                                    As of December 31
                                                                                                                                           2017                 2016               2015
Book value per share numerators ($ in millions): 
GAAP common equity                                                                                                 $   3,493            $   3,583        $   3,903

97% of the time value of money discount on the BAM surplus notes                         (157)                    n/a                 n/a
97% of HG Global's unearned premium reserve                                                           104                     n/a                 n/a
97% of HG Global's deferred acquisition costs                                                             (24)                    n/a                 n/a

Adjusted Common Equity                                                                                                 3,415                 3,583             3,903
Future proceeds from options                                                                                              -                     30                     -

Adjusted Book Value Per Share Numerator (ABVPS Numerator)                                   3,415                 3,613             3,903 
Sirius Group transaction gain, estimated as of December 31, 2015                                  -                        -                470

ABVPS Numerator, Including Sirius Group Transaction Gain                                         3,415                3,613             4,373

Book value per share denominators (in 000's): 
GAAP common shares outstanding                                                                                 3,750                4,564             5,624
Options assumed issued                                                                                                           -                     40                     -
Unearned restricted shares                                                                                                  (17)                   (26)                (25)
Adjusted Common Shares Outstanding (ABVPS denominator)                                      3,733                4,578             5,599

GAAP book value per share                                                                                          $     931            $     785         $     694
Adjusted Book Value Per Share                                                                                      $     915            $     789         $     697
Adjusted Book Value Per Share, Including Sirius Group Transaction Gain                              n/a                    n/a         $     781

12
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The Company calculates its annual growth in value per share on an IRR basis, which reflects the value per share at the
beginning of the year, the dividends received each year and the value per share at the end of the year. See the table
below for comparison of growth in GAAP book value per share and growth in ABVPS over a range of return periods:

                                                                                                       Return Period Ended December 31, 2017

Annualized Growth:                                                             1-year            5-year          10-year          20-year       Since IPO

GAAP book value per share                                               18.8%              9.6%              7.9%            13.5%             14.6%
Adjusted Book Value Per Share                                          16.1%              9.4%              7.7%            12.3%             13.9%

Total Portfolio Return - White Mountains
Total Portfolio Return is a non-GAAP financial measure that removes from GAAP investment return the investment 
returns of BAM's invested assets and certain WM Capital businesses. Finally, Total Portfolio Return reflects the impact 
of time value weighting and indexing when calculating investment returns and various other adjustments.

                                                                                                                                          Year Ended
                                                                                                                                   December 31, 2017

GAAP investment return                                                                                                                                        5.6%
Remove:

BAM invested assets                                                                                                                                         0.4%
Certain WM Capital businesses                                                                                                                       0.4%

All other                                                                                                                                                                   0.6%
Total Portfolio Return                                                                                                                                              7.0%

Total Premiums and Total Pricing - HG Global / BAM
White Mountains has included BAM's Total Premiums and Total Pricing as non-GAAP financial measures. Total Premi-
ums is defined as total GAAP gross written premiums and member surplus contributions plus the present value of future
installment member surplus contributions not yet collected. Total Pricing is the result of dividing Total Premiums by total
gross par value of market policies issued. Management believes that these non-GAAP financial measures are useful to
management and investors when evaluating HG Global / BAM's economic performance.

                                                                                                                Years Ended December 31

($ in millions, unless otherwise noted)                                                                                                2017                    2016

GAAP total gross written premiums and member surplus contributions                                     $     101                $      77
plus:

Present value of future installment member surplus 
contributions not yet collected                                                                                                             3                           -

Total Premiums                                                                                                                               $     104                $      77

Total gross par value of market policies issued ($ billions)                                                          $    10.4                $   11.3

Total pricing - GAAP                                                                                                                          0.96%                  0.68%
Total Pricing                                                                                                                                       0.99%                  0.68%
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Adjusted Book Value - HG Global
See page 8 for a reconciliation of White Mountains's interest in HG Global on a GAAP basis to an adjusted book value
basis.

EBITDA - MediaAlpha
White Mountains has included MediaAlpha’s EBITDA calculations as a non-GAAP financial measure. EBITDA is defined 
as net income (loss) excluding interest expense on debt, income tax benefit (expense) and depreciation and amortization.
White Mountains believes that this non-GAAP financial measure is useful to management and investors in analyzing Media-
Alpha's economic performance without the effects of interest rates, levels of debt, effective tax rates, or depreciation and
amortization primarily resulting from purchase accounting. In addition, White Mountains believes that investors use EBITDA
as a supplemental measurement to evaluate the overall operating performance of companies within the same industry.

                                                                                                                                                    Years Ended December 31

($ in millions)                                                                                                              2017 Adj.1                2017                 2016

Advertising and commission revenues                                                                       $      199            $      163           $      117
Cost of sales                                                                                                                         163                    136                     98
Gross Profit                                                                                                                              36                      27                     19

General and administrative expenses                                                                              19                      16                     12
Amortization of other intangible assets                                                                             11                      10                     10
Interest expense                                                                                                                  1                        1                       1

GAAP pre-tax income (loss)                                                                                                    5                         -                      (4)
Income tax expense                                                                                                             -                         -                        -

GAAP net income (loss)                                                                                                 5              -              (4)

Add back:
Interest expense                                                                                                                  1                        1                       1
Income tax expense                                                                                                             -                         -                        -
General and administrative expenses - depreciation                                                         -                         -                        -
Amortization of other intangible assets                                                                             11                      10                      10

EBITDA                                                                                                                          $        17            $        11           $           7

1 Including the impact of the acquisition of the Healthplans.com assets as if it occurred on January 1, 2017.
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what we Care most about

underwriting Comes First An insurance enterprise must respect the fundamentals of insurance. There must be a realistic 
expectation of underwriting profit on all business written, and demonstrated fulfillment of that expectation over time, with fo-
cused attention to the loss ratio and to all the professional insurance disciplines of pricing, underwriting and claims management.

maintain a disciplined balance Sheet The first concern here is that insurance liabilities must always be fully recognized. 
Loss reserves and expense reserves must be solid before any other aspect of the business can be solid. Pricing, marketing
and underwriting all depend on informed judgment of ultimate loss costs that can be managed effectively only with a 
disciplined balance sheet.

invest for total return Historically, the insurance industry has emphasized investment income (interest and dividends)
above capital gains. White Mountains invests to maximize total return over time. White Mountains manages its bond portfolios
for after-tax total return, and makes prudent investment in equities consistent with leverage and insurance risk consideration.

think like owners Thinking like owners has a value all its own. There are stakeholders in a business enterprise, and 
doing good work requires more than this quarter’s profit. Thinking like an owner embraces all of that and is the touchstone 
of a capitalist enterprise.

what we Care least about

Trying to produce a regular stream of quarterly operating earnings often produces disaster. Trying to manage your 
Company according to generally accepted accounting principles can often be silly. We prefer to measure ourselves as 
we would hope owners measure us — by growth in intrinsic business value per share.

Growth in revenues We applaud owners who reward executives on premium growth. This often provides fine opportuni-
ties for us later.

market Share Often introduced by business consultants. In our personal experience, chasing market share has  pro-
duced the biggest disasters in our business. Often, we have profited later from that excitement.

Strategic Purchases We have never made a strategic purchase… maybe we will someday. We often sell to strategic buyers.
Our problem is we really don’t have much of a strategy other than to increase intrinsic business value per share.

Putting our Capital to work

Intellectually, we really don’t care much about leaving our capital lying fallow for years at a time. Better to leave it fallow and
to wait for the occasional high-return opportunity. Frankly, sometimes shareholders would be better off if we all just went to play
golf. Overall, we should be students of capital and business. Adam Smith had it right:  

“Capital will flow according to its own nature; the invisible hand.” 

If we do not earn and deserve our owners’ capital, we will not long have it. We also admire Benjamin Graham who said: 

“in the short run, the market is a voting machine, but in the long run it is a weighing machine.”

oPeratinG PrinCiPleS
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CorPorate inFormation

Shareholder inquiries
White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. 
The A.S. Cooper Building
26 Reid Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda 
Tel: (441) 278-3160
Fax: (441) 278-3170

Written shareholder inquiries should be sent to the 
Corporate Secretary at the Company’s Bermuda 
corporate headquarters. Written inquiries from the 
investment community should be directed to the
Investor Relations Department at the Company’s
Bermuda corporate headquarters.

Principal executive office
White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd.
80 South Main Street
Hanover, New Hampshire 03755
Tel: (603) 640-2200
Fax: (603) 643-4592

registered office
White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd.
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

annual meeting
The 2018 Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Members
will be held on Thursday, May 24, 2018, at Rosewood
Bermuda, in Hamilton, Bermuda, and will commence
at 8:00 a.m. Atlantic time.

Proxy materials for the AGM, including the Chief 
Executive Officer’s Letter, Notice of 2018 Annual 
General Meeting of Members and Proxy Statement
and Form 10-K are available online at  
www.edocumentview.com/wtm 
for viewing and downloading.

investor information meeting
The Company will hold its Annual Investor Meeting 
on Friday, June 8, 2018 at the Omni Berkshire Place
Hotel, at 21 E. 52nd Street, New York, NY at 10:00
a.m. Eastern time. Please refer to the Company’s 
website for further details.

Stock exchange information
The Company’s common shares are listed on the New York
Stock Exchange and the Bermuda Stock Exchange under the
symbol “WTM.”

Form 10-k
For comprehensive audited financial statements, please refer 
to the “Annual Report on Form 10-K” filed with the SEC on
February 28, 2018 which is attached hereto. In addition, 
the Company’s Form 10-K is available for viewing online at
www.edocumentview.com/wtm. Additional copies of the Form
10-K are also available without charge upon written request to
the Corporate Secretary at the Company’s Bermuda corporate
headquarters.

transfer agent and registrar for Common Shares

Mailing Address:
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 505000
Louisville, KY  40233-5000 

Private Couriers/Registered Mail:
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
462 South 4th Street
Suite 1600
Louisville, KY  40202 

Registered shareholders (shares are held by you in your
name) may obtain information about transfer requirements, 
replacement dividend checks, duplicate 1099 forms, and
changes of address by calling the Transfer Agent’s Telephone
Response Center at (877) 373-6374 or (800) 952-9245 for the
hearing impaired or visiting the Transfer Agent’s website at
https://www.computershare.com. Please be prepared to pro-
vide your tax identification or social security number, descrip-
tion of securities, and address of record. Other inquiries
concerning your shareholder account should be addressed 
in writing to the Transfer Agent and Registrar.

additional information
All reports, including press releases, SEC filings, and 
other information for the Company, its subsidiaries, and 
its affiliates are available for viewing at our website at 
www.whitemountains.com. Please come visit us.
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PART I
Item 1.  Business

GENERAL
 
White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. (the “Company” or the “Registrant”) is an exempted Bermuda limited liability 

company whose principal businesses are conducted through its insurance subsidiaries and other affiliates.  Within this report, 
the term “White Mountains” is used to refer to one or more entities within the consolidated organization, as the context 
requires.  The Company’s headquarters is located at 26 Reid Street, Hamilton, Bermuda HM 11, its principal executive office is 
located at 80 South Main Street, Hanover, New Hampshire 03755-2053 and its registered office is located at Clarendon House, 
2 Church Street, Hamilton, Bermuda HM 11.  

White Mountains is engaged in the business of making opportunistic and value-oriented acquisitions of businesses and 
assets in the insurance, financial services and related sectors, operating these businesses and assets through our subsidiaries 
and, if and when attractive exit valuations become available, disposing of these businesses and assets.

White Mountains currently conducts its business primarily in three areas: municipal bond insurance, marketing technology 
and other operations.  White Mountains’s municipal bond insurance business is conducted through its subsidiary HG Global 
Ltd. (“HG Global”) and, through its wholly-owned reinsurance subsidiary, HG Re Ltd. (“HG Re”).  HG Global was established 
to fund the startup of and provide reinsurance, through HG Re, to Build America Mutual Assurance Company (“BAM”), a 
mutual municipal bond insurance company.  White Mountains’s marketing technology business is conducted through its 
subsidiaries QL Holdings LLC and its subsidiary QuoteLab, LLC (collectively “MediaAlpha”).  White Mountains’s investing 
activities are conducted through its wholly owned investment management subsidiary, White Mountains Advisors LLC (“WM 
Advisors”).  White Mountains’s reportable segments are HG Global/BAM, MediaAlpha and Other Operations.
 
White Mountains’s Operating Principles

 
White Mountains strives to operate within the spirit of four operating principles.  These are:
 
Underwriting Comes First.  An insurance enterprise must respect the fundamentals of insurance.  There must be a 

realistic expectation of underwriting profit on all business written, and demonstrated fulfillment of that expectation over time, 
with focused attention to the loss ratio and to all the professional insurance disciplines of pricing, underwriting and claims 
management.

Maintain a Disciplined Balance Sheet.  The first concern here is that insurance liabilities must always be fully 
recognized.  Loss reserves and expense reserves must be solid before any other aspect of the business can be solid.  Pricing, 
marketing and underwriting all depend on informed judgment of ultimate loss costs that can be managed effectively only with a 
disciplined balance sheet.

 
Invest for Total Return.  Historically, the insurance industry has emphasized investment income (interest and dividends) 

above capital gains.  White Mountains invests to maximize total return over time.  White Mountains manages its bond 
portfolios for after-tax total return, and makes prudent investment in equities consistent with leverage and insurance risk 
considerations.

Think Like Owners.  Thinking like owners has a value all its own.  There are stakeholders in a business enterprise, and 
doing good work requires more than this quarter’s profit.  Thinking like an owner embraces all of that and is the touchstone of a 
capitalist enterprise.
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HG GLOBAL/BAM

The HG Global/BAM segment consists of the consolidated results of HG Global and BAM.  BAM is the first and only 
mutual municipal bond insurance company in the United States.  By insuring the timely payment of principal and interest, 
BAM provides market access to, and lowers interest expense for, issuers of municipal bonds used to finance essential public 
purposes.  BAM is domiciled in New York and is owned by and operated for the benefit of its policyholders, the municipalities 
that purchase BAM’s insurance for their debt issuances.  Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States 
(“GAAP”) require White Mountains to consolidate BAM’s results in its financial statements, which are attributed to non-
controlling interests.  BAM reports on a statutory accounting basis to the New York State Department of Financial Services 
(“NYDFS”) and does not report stand-alone GAAP financial results.

HG Global was established to fund the startup of BAM and, through HG Re, to provide up to 15%-of-par, first loss 
reinsurance protection for policies underwritten by BAM.  HG Global and HG Re are domiciled in Bermuda.

BAM charges an insurance premium on each municipal bond insurance policy it writes.  A portion of the premium is a 
member’s surplus contribution (“MSC”) and the remainder is a risk premium.  In the event of a municipal bond refunding, the 
MSC from the original issuance can be reutilized, in effect serving as a credit against the total insurance premium on the 
refunding of the municipal bond.  Issuers of debt insured by BAM are members of BAM so long as any of their BAM-insured 
debt is outstanding, and as members they have certain interests in BAM, including the right to vote for BAM’s directors and to 
receive dividends in the future, if declared.

BAM focuses on municipal bonds issued to finance essential public purposes, such as schools, utilities and transportation 
facilities.  BAM focuses on small-to-medium sized investment grade municipal bonds, primarily in the AA, A and BBB 
categories.  BAM seeks to build a relatively low risk insurance portfolio with conservative single risk limits.  White Mountains 
believes that municipal bonds insured by BAM have strong appeal to retail investors, who buy smaller, less liquid issues, have 
less portfolio diversification and have fewer credit differentiation skills and analytical resources than institutional investors. 

BAM launched in July 2012 after securing an “AA/stable” rating from Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC 
(“Standard & Poor’s”).  In the second quarter of 2017, Standard & Poor’s affirmed BAM’s “AA/stable” rating.  “AA” is the 
third highest of twenty-one financial strength ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s.  

At inception in 2012, HG Global was capitalized with $609 million.  HG Global, together with its subsidiaries, funded the 
initial capitalization of BAM through the purchase of $503 million of surplus notes issued by BAM (the “BAM Surplus 
Notes”).  See “CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES — Surplus Notes Valuation — BAM Surplus Notes” on page 55 
for a discussion on the accounting and risks associated with the BAM Surplus Notes.  HG Global contributed $100 million of 
the remaining capital and $300 million of the BAM Surplus Notes to capitalize HG Re.

At inception, BAM and HG Re also entered into a first loss reinsurance treaty (“FLRT”).  HG Re provides first loss 
protection up to 15%-of-par outstanding on each municipal bond insured by BAM.  In return, BAM cedes 60% of the risk 
premium charged for insuring the municipal bond, net of a ceding commission.  During 2017, HG Global and BAM made 
certain changes to the ceding commission arrangements under the FLRT.  These changes serve to accelerate growth in BAM’s 
statutory capital but do not impact the net risk premium ceded from BAM to HG Re.

HG Re’s obligations under the FLRT are satisfied by the assets in two collateral trusts: a Regulation 114 Trust and a 
supplemental collateral trust (the “Supplemental Trust”).  Losses required to be reimbursed under the FLRT are subject to an 
aggregate limit equal to the assets held in the collateral trusts at any point in time.  At inception, the Supplemental Trust 
contained the $300 million of Series B BAM Surplus Notes (“Series B Notes”) and $100 million of cash and fixed income 
securities.  During 2017, in order to further support BAM’s long-term capital position and business prospects, HG Global 
agreed to contribute the $203 million of Series A BAM Surplus Notes (“Series A Notes”) into the Supplemental Trust at HG Re.   
HG Global and BAM agreed to change the payment terms of the Series B Notes, so that payments will reduce principal and 
accrued interest on a pro rata basis, consistent with the payment terms on the Series A Notes.  The terms of the Series B Notes 
had previously stipulated that payments would first reduce interest owed, then reduce principal owed once all accrued interest 
had been paid.  The NYDFS approved the change during 2017.  In connection with the contribution, Series A Notes were 
merged with the Series B Notes.  

The Regulation 114 Trust target balance is equal to gross ceded unearned premiums and unpaid ceded loss and LAE 
expenses, if any.  The Supplemental Trust target balance is equal to $603 million.  As the BAM Surplus Notes are repaid over 
time, the BAM Surplus Notes will be replaced in the Supplemental Trust by cash and fixed income securities.  The collateral 
trust balances must be at target levels before excess funds can be distributed out of the Supplemental Trust.
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If, at any point in time, the sum of the Regulation 114 Trust balance and the Supplemental Trust balance equals zero, BAM 
may choose to terminate the FLRT on a runoff basis.  However, HG Re can elect to continue the FLRT by depositing into the 
Regulation 114 Trust assets with a fair market value not less than the greater of (i) $100 million or (ii) 10% of the then 
Regulation 114 Trust target balance.  

The FLRT is a perpetual agreement, with an initial term of 10 years.  The FLRT can be amended after the first 10-year 
period and after each subsequent 5-year period on a prospective basis.  If the parties are unable to mutually agree to amended 
terms, the dispute is resolved through arbitration, according to certain principles agreed to by the parties.  Amended contract 
terms must be approved by the NYDFS.  Should BAM consider the amended terms unacceptable, it has the option to purchase 
HG Re, or cause another reinsurer to purchase HG Re, at fair value.  

Pursuant to the FLRT, BAM’s underwriting guidelines may only be amended with the consent of HG Re.  In addition, HG 
Holdings Ltd, a subsidiary of HG Global, has the right to designate two directors for election to BAM’s board of directors.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains reported $859 million and $787 million of total assets, and $516 
million and $539 million of total equity related to HG Global.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains owned 
96.9% of HG Global's preferred equity and 88.4% of its common equity.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains 
reported $16 million and $17 million of non-controlling interests related to HG Global.   

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains reported $541 million and $514 million of total assets, and $(163) 
million and $(151) million of non-controlling interest related to BAM.

Competition

The municipal bond insurance industry is highly competitive.  BAM’s primary competitor is Assured Guaranty Ltd. 
(“Assured”).  

BAM and Assured each seeks to differentiate itself through financial strength ratings, claims paying resources and 
underwriting strategies.  BAM believes it has a number of distinct competitive advantages.  BAM’s insured portfolio consists 
only of essential public purpose U.S. municipal bonds, and it has no exposure to mortgage and asset-backed securities, 
derivatives, non-U.S. structured or sovereign credits or territorial credits, such as Puerto Rico.  BAM believes that, over time, 
its mutual structure will deliver a cost of capital advantage relative to its stock company competitors.

BAM seeks to provide transparency with respect to its insured portfolio and each insured issuer.  In order to allow issuers 
and investors in BAM-insured municipal bonds to monitor financial strength first-hand, BAM publishes Credit Profiles on 
every insured issuer.  Credit Profiles are accessible by CUSIP, obligor, state or sector on BAM’s website.

Pricing (i.e., premium level) is affected by a number of factors, including interest rate levels, credits spreads, trading value, 
and capture rate (i.e., the % of total interest savings captured in the form of insurance premium).  All other things being equal, 
pricing is higher when interest rates are higher, credit spreads are wider, BAM’s trading value is higher relative to competitors 
and the capture rate is higher.

Insured Portfolio

The following table presents BAM’s insured portfolio by asset class as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Millions December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Sector
Gross Par

Outstanding
Average Credit 

Rating (1)
Gross Par

Outstanding
Average Credit 

Rating (1)

General Obligation $ 25,147.7 A $ 19,821.8  A
Utility 5,425.8 A 4,338.9  A+
Dedicated Tax 4,852.6 A 3,752.0  A
General Fund 3,638.8 A 3,016.3  A
Public Higher Education 1,781.7 A- 1,334.4  A-
Transportation 953.4 A 716.3 A
Other Public Finance 290.6 A- 77.6 A

Total gross par outstanding $ 42,090.6 A $ 33,057.3 A
(1)  The average credit ratings are based on Standard & Poor’s credit ratings, or if unrated by Standard & Poor’s, the Standard & Poor’s 

equivalent of credit ratings provided by Moody’s Investor Service (“Moody’s”)
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The following tables present BAM’s ten largest direct exposures based upon gross par outstanding as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017

$ in millions
Gross Par

Outstanding

Percent of Total
Gross Par

Outstanding Credit Rating (1)

Municipal Authority of Westmoreland County, PA, Water $ 334.0 0.8% A+
State of Illinois 284.1 0.7 BBB-
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 260.8 0.6 A-
Suffolk County, NY 257.4 0.6 A-
Eastern Michigan University, MI (Lapeer County), 
   Public Higher Education - Gross Revenue 252.2 0.6 A
New Jersey Economic Development Authority (Motor Vehicle Surcharge) 213.3 0.5 BBB+
State of New Jersey 197.0 0.5 BBB+
West Travis County Public Utility Agency, TX (Travis County), 
   Water & Sewer 188.6 0.4 A
City of Shreveport, LA (Caddo Parish), Water & Sewer 177.6 0.4 A-
City of New Brunswick, NJ (Middlesex County) 162.5 0.4 A+

Total of top ten exposures $ 2,327.5 5.5%
(1)  “A+” is the fifth highest, “A” is the sixth highest, “A-“ is the seventh highest, “BBB+” is the eighth highest and “BBB-” is the tenth highest of 

twenty-eight credit ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s.

December 31, 2016

$ in millions
Gross Par

Outstanding

Percent of Total
Gross Par

Outstanding Credit Rating (1)

Municipal Authority of Westmoreland County, PA, Water $ 198.1 0.6% A+
City of Shreveport, LA (Caddo Parish), Water & Sewer 182.3 0.6 A-
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 181.2 0.5 A
State of Illinois 177.8 0.5 BBB
City of New Brunswick, NJ (Middlesex County) 163.6 0.5 A+
State of New Jersey 151.4 0.5 BBB+
City of Evansville, IN (Vanderburgh County) 139.2 0.4 A
Town of Hamden, CT (New Haven County) 132.6 0.4 A+
Monroe County, NY (Monroe County) 125.4 0.4 A
Coachella Valley USD, CA, (Riverside County) 124.9 0.4 BBB+

Total of top ten exposures $ 1,576.5 4.8%
(1)  “A+” is the fifth highest, “A” is the sixth highest, “A-“ is the seventh highest, “BBB+” is the eighth highest  and “BBB” is the ninth highest of 

twenty-eight credit ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s.
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The following table presents the geographic distribution of BAM’s insured portfolio as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

$ in millions Number of Risks
Gross Par

Outstanding

Percent of Total
Gross Par

Outstanding Number of Risks
Gross Par

Outstanding

Percent of Total
Gross Par

Outstanding

California 468 $ 9,810.7 23.3% 365 $ 7,446.9 22.5%
Texas 523 6,079.0 14.4 448 4,940.1 14.9
Pennsylvania 334 5,726.1 13.6 284 4,831.1 14.6
Illinois 248 3,201.3 7.6 179 2,021.0 6.1
New York 261 2,931.5 7.0 231 2,489.0 7.5
New Jersey 93 1,839.5 4.4 81 1,440.0 4.4
Ohio 82 1,174.3 2.8 60 865.5 2.6
Michigan 78 1,092.9 2.6 68 773.8 2.3
Arizona 52 1,077.4 2.6 43 883.3 2.7
Florida 48 1,006.4 2.4 44 917.7 2.8
Other States 637 8,151.5 19.3 521 6,448.9 19.6

Total insured portfolio 2,824 $ 42,090.6 100.0% 2,324 $ 33,057.3 100.0%

The following table presents BAM’s insured portfolio by issue size of exposure as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

$ in millions December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Original Par Amount Per Issue
Number of

Risks
Gross Par

Outstanding

Percent of Total
Gross Par

Outstanding
Number of

Risks
Gross Par

Outstanding

Percent of Total
Gross Par

Outstanding

Less than $10 million 1,665 $ 7,479.3 17.8% 1,388 $ 6,309.2 19.0%
$10 to $50 million 981 20,113.5 47.8 806 16,628.4 50.3
$50 to $100 million 141 8,916.7 21.2 103 6,628.9 20.1
$100 to $200 million 30 3,782.3 9.0 27 3,490.8 10.6
$200 to $300 million 6 1,464.8 3.5 — — —
$300 to $400 million 1 334.0 0.7 — — —

Total insured portfolio 2,824 $ 42,090.6 100.0% 2,324 $ 33,057.3 100%

Insured Credit Watchlist

BAM management maintains a surveillance committee that evaluates the credit profile of each insured municipal bond on a 
periodic basis.  The surveillance committee places each insured municipal bond into one of four surveillance categories, the last 
two of which represent insured municipal bonds that are on BAM’s insured credit watchlist.  Insured municipal bonds on the 
watchlist are monitored closely and are subject to BAM’s distressed credit management procedures, including a remediation 
plan developed in consultation with BAM’s legal counsel and consultants.  The objectives of any remediation plan are to 
address the problems the issuer is facing, to address any external factors impacting the credit, to ensure that creditors’ rights are 
enforced and to cure any breaches that may have occurred with respect to any credit triggers or covenants.  BAM may work 
with other insurers, municipal bondholders and/or interested parties on remediation efforts, as applicable.   

Surveillance category 3 represents insured municipal bonds whose issuers are experiencing financial, legal or 
administrative issues causing overall credit quality deterioration, but whose probability of generating an insured loss is remote.  
Surveillance category 4 represents insured municipal bonds where a loss is expected or losses have been paid and have not been 
recovered or are not recoverable.  As of December 31, 2017, BAM had assigned one credit to surveillance category 3 and did 
not assign any credits to surveillance category 4.
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The following table presents BAM’s watchlist as of December 31, 2017:

$ in millions

Surveillance
Category Issuer Asset Class

Upcoming Insured
Gross Debt-Service

Payments
Gross Par

Outstanding Credit Rating (1)

3 City of Hartford, CT General Obligation 2018:        $8.5 $ 103.0 CCC
2019:        $9.4

(1)  “CCC” is the eighteenth highest of twenty-eight credit ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s.

MEDIAALPHA
 

In March 2014, White Mountains acquired a controlling interest in MediaAlpha.  On October 5, 2017, White Mountains 
acquired 131,579 additional newly-issued Class A common units of MediaAlpha for $13 million.  Through December 31, 2017, 
White Mountains has invested approximately $49 million in MediaAlpha ($31 million net of distributions received).

MediaAlpha is a leading marketing technology company that enables the programmatic buying and selling of vertical-
specific, performance-based media between advertisers (buyers of advertising inventory) and publishers (sellers of advertising 
inventory) through cost-per-click, cost-per-call and cost-per-lead pricing models.  MediaAlpha’s media buying platform 
(“MediaAlpha for Advertisers”) enables advertisers to create and automate data-driven bidding strategies designed to improve 
the efficiency and enhance the overall performance of their marketing campaigns.  MediaAlpha’s publisher platform 
(“MediaAlpha for Publishers”) is used by publishers to sell their vertical-specific, performance-based media to advertisers 
through transparent, programmatic, auction-based marketplaces.  MediaAlpha works with over 400 advertisers and 300 
publishers across a number of insurance (auto, motorcycle, home, renter, health and life) and non-insurance (travel, education, 
personal finance and home services) verticals. 

  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains reported $97 million and $58 million of total assets and $37 
million and $29 million of total equity related to MediaAlpha.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains owned 
64.4% and 60.0% of MediaAlpha.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains reported $13 million and $12 million 
of non-controlling interest related to MediaAlpha.

Business Model

MediaAlpha generates revenue based on the value of the media bought and sold by advertisers and publishers through its 
technology platforms. MediaAlpha’s cost of sales is comprised primarily of revenue share-based payments to publishers and 
traffic acquisition costs paid to top tier search engines.

  MediaAlpha offers its partners the flexibility to transact using MediaAlpha’s platforms through the following relationship 
types:

• Open Exchange: Under this model, the advertiser pays for media placement on publisher sites, on a source-
transparent basis, through an agreement with MediaAlpha.  MediaAlpha secures and manages the advertising 
partnerships, as well as the publisher relationships.  MediaAlpha bills the advertiser for the media purchased through 
the Open Exchange and is responsible for collections from the advertiser and disbursements to publisher partners. 
Revenue recognized represents the gross dollars transacted through the Open Exchange (“transaction value”) and cost 
of sales is comprised of the revenue share payments to publisher partners. 

• Buyer Exchange: Under this model, the advertiser uses MediaAlpha’s advertisers platform to manage and optimize 
media campaigns that place ads on third party publisher sites or advertising networks that do not use MediaAlpha for 
Publishers for the sale of their media.  MediaAlpha tracks the transaction value of the media purchased through 
MediaAlpha’s platform from these third-party media partners and bills the advertiser a platform fee based on that total 
transaction value.  Revenue is recognized on a net basis, representing the licensing fee, since MediaAlpha is not 
responsible for disbursing funds to the advertiser’s various third-party media partners. 

• Seller Exchange: Under this model, the publisher uses MediaAlpha’s publishers platform to manage, track, and 
optimize the media spend from advertisers with whom the publisher maintains direct contractual relationships.  The 
publisher utilizes the platform as its ad serving, demand management, yield optimization, reporting, and analytics 
platform to enable the direct, programmatic sale of its performance media to its advertisers. MediaAlpha tracks the 
total transaction value generated through the publishers platform, but is not responsible for billing or collections from 
the publisher’s advertisers.  MediaAlpha bills the publisher a platform fee based on the transaction value of the media 
sold by the publisher and recognizes this revenue on a net basis. 



7

The following table presents the transaction value by relationship types for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 
2015:

Years Ended December 31,
$ in millions 2017 2016 2015

Open Exchange (1) $ 159.9 73.1% $ 113.2 64.8% $ 102.6 68.2%
Seller Exchange 33.9 15.5 38.4 21.9 32.4 21.5
Buyer Exchange 25.0 11.4 23.2 13.3 15.6 10.3

Total transaction value $ 218.8 100.0% $ 174.8 100.0% $ 150.6 100.0%
(1) Includes transaction value from owned and operated properties.

MediaAlpha operates in several data-rich verticals, including Property & Casualty (“P&C”), Health, Life and Medicare 
(“HLM”), Travel, and Others (Education, Consumer Finance and Home Services). 

• P&C consists of advertisers who acquire customers with the intent of selling automobile, home or motorcycle 
insurance coverage.  The advertisers in this vertical are primarily national insurance carriers and advertising agencies 
commissioned by carriers.  The publishers in this vertical are a mix of third party publishers and national carriers 
(“Carrier Publishers”) and MediaAlpha’s owned and operated properties.  

• HLM consists of advertisers who acquire customers with the intent of selling them Health, Life and Medicare 
insurance coverage.  The advertisers in this vertical are primarily national carriers and advertising agencies 
commissioned by carriers.  The publishers in this vertical are primarily third-party publishers and MediaAlpha’s 
owned and operated properties.  On October 5, 2017, MediaAlpha acquired certain assets associated with the Health, 
Life and Medicare insurance business of Healthplans.com.  The acquisition allowed MediaAlpha to supplement its 
position as the leading marketing technology provider for advertisers and publishers in this market.  See Note 4 — 
“Goodwill and Other Intangibles Assets”.

• Travel consists of advertisers who acquire customers with the intent of selling a leisure travel item (e.g. air fare, hotel, 
package deal, car rental).  The advertisers in this vertical are primarily national brands, online travel agents, travel 
metasearch sites and advertising agencies commissioned by national brands.  The publishers in this vertical are a mix 
of third-party publishers and MediaAlpha’s owned and operated properties.  On January 15, 2016, MediaAlpha 
acquired certain travel-related assets from Oversee.net, including owned and operated websites, domain names and 
key customer relationships. The acquisition accelerated MediaAlpha’s entry into the travel vertical, providing 
MediaAlpha with access to a high quality owned and operated inventory and existing advertiser relationships, 
consisting primarily of major online travel agents, metasearch sites and national brands.  See Note 4 — “Goodwill 
and Other Intangibles Assets”.

• Other verticals MediaAlpha operates in include the following:
 Education consists of advertisers in the for-profit education industry, who seek to acquire customers that will 

enroll in higher or technical education programs. 
 Consumer Finance consists of multiple sub verticals, ranging from mortgage products (refinance, HELOC, 

new home) to personal loans.
 Home Services consists of advertisers who acquire customers with the intent of selling them a product to 

enhance the home ownership experience (e.g., home security, solar panels). 
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The following table presents the transaction value by vertical for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015:

Years Ended December 31,
$ in millions 2017 2016 2015

P&C $ 121.6 55.5% $ 126.5 72.4% $ 138.2 91.9%
HLM 65.4 29.9 32.4 18.5 11.3 7.5
Travel 18.3 8.4 10.1 5.8 — —
Other 13.5 6.2 5.8 3.3 1.1 0.6

Total transaction value $ 218.8 100.0% $ 174.8 100.0% $ 150.6 100.0%

Strategy

MediaAlpha’s goal is to gain adoption of its technology platforms in all data-rich, performance-marketing verticals.  
MediaAlpha believes that online advertising spend will continue to shift toward measurable, data-driven models and that 
advertisers will continue to focus on performance and return on investment (“ROI”) on advertising spend.  Since inception, 
MediaAlpha’s approach has been to facilitate this shift by providing partners with unparalleled pricing control and full source 
transparency down to the domain level, and by continually improving its technology platforms to provide key constituents with 
more and deeper capabilities.

Competition

The marketing industry is very competitive, highly fragmented and historically dominated by advertising networks.  
MediaAlpha’s direct competitors include QuinStreet Inc. (QNST), Intent Media, Clicktripz and SmarterTravel.  MediaAlpha 
differentiates itself from the competition in the following areas:

• Technology: MediaAlpha’s proprietary technology provides advertisers with a set of robust tools to help them manage 
their adverting spend programmatically, on a granular, real time basis.  

• Transparency: The marketplaces powered by MediaAlpha’s technology are fully source transparent, offering full 
placement-level pricing control to the advertiser.

• Control: MediaAlpha’s technology gives granular, self-service buying control to advertisers and enables publishers to 
control and manage all aspects of how their media is made available to advertisers.  

• Quality: MediaAlpha’s publishers include some of the largest and most reputable names in the industry. 
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OTHER OPERATIONS

White Mountains’s Other Operations segment consists of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiary, White Mountains 
Capital, Inc. (“WM Capital”), its wholly-owned investment management subsidiary, WM Advisors, its other intermediate 
holding companies, as well as certain consolidated and unconsolidated private capital and other investments.  As an integral 
part of White Mountains’s business of acquiring and operating businesses and assets in the insurance, financial services and 
related sectors, WM Capital seeks to partner with like-minded owners and management teams of operating businesses (“WM 
Capital Operating Businesses”) and investment management businesses (“WM Capital Investment Management Businesses”) 
in these sectors.  These partnerships typically take the form of private capital investments to acquire controlling and non-
controlling equity interests in these businesses.  WM Capital believes its long-term approach is a competitive advantage over 
traditional private capital investors who often have more rigid holding periods.  

WM Capital’s controlling equity interests are consolidated within White Mountains’s financial statements, while WM 
Capital’s joint ventures and other non-controlling equity interests are unconsolidated and accounted for at fair value within 
other long-term investments.

WM Capital Operating Businesses 

PassportCard and DavidShield
In April 2015, White Mountains acquired an equity interest in a 50%/50% joint venture, PassportCard Limited 

(“PassportCard”) for $21 million. Based in the United Kingdom, PassportCard is a global managing general agency (“MGA”) 
offering the travel industry’s first real-time, paperless insurance solution, facilitating claim payouts in minutes wherever the 
customer needs it.  PassportCard directly markets its solutions in select markets and also franchises its offerings to major travel 
insurance and medical assistance companies worldwide.  PassportCard receives commissions for placing policies with its 
insurance carrier partners and licensing fees for use of its card-based technology. 

On January 24, 2018, White Mountains acquired 50% of DavidShield Life Insurance Agency (2000) Ltd. (“DavidShield”) 
for approximately $28 million, previously its joint venture partner in PassportCard.  As part of the transaction, White Mountains 
restructured its PassportCard interest so that White Mountains continues to own a 50% equity interest in PassportCard.  
DavidShield is an MGA that is the leading provider of expatriate medical insurance in Israel and uses the same card-based 
delivery system as PassportCard.  Since 2000, DavidShield has delivered industry leading medical insurance solutions to 
diplomats, non-governmental organizations and thousands of multinational corporations and individuals in over 95 countries. 

Wobi
In February 2014, White Mountains acquired a controlling interest in Wobi Insurance Agency, Ltd (“Wobi”), a financial-

sector price comparison business in Israel.  Wobi has built a consumer-facing technology platform to enable price comparison 
and has assembled a panel of large, branded insurance carriers.  The company sells primarily auto insurance and earns 
commissions on all policy sales.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains reported $5 million and $2 million of 
total assets and $2 million and $(3) million of shareholders’ equity related to Wobi.  As of December 31, 2017, White 
Mountains owned 96.8% of Wobi.

Buzzmove
In August 2016, White Mountains acquired 71% of Removal Stars Ltd. (“Buzzmove”) on a fully converted basis for British 

Pound Sterling (“GBP”) 6 million (approximately $8 million).  As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains owned 77% of 
Buzzmove at an aggregate cost of GBP 10 million (approximately $13 million).

Buzzmove is an online price comparison and booking platform for all moving related services in the United Kingdom.  
Buzzmove helps customers choose a moving company by providing accurate quotes based on a proprietary system that helps 
customers itemize and value the contents of their home or commercial office.  Buzzmove manages a panel of over 410 moving 
company partners that bid in real-time on customers’ moving-related jobs through the company’s technology platform.  
Customers can also use the inventory list produced by Buzzmove to obtain homeowners and renters insurance quotes online.  

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains reported $12 million and $10 million of total assets and $11 million 
and $10 million of shareholders’ equity related to Buzzmove.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains reported 
$3 million of non-controlling interests related to Buzzmove. 

Other
In May 2012, White Mountains acquired a non-controlling interest in Compare.com, a U.S.-based online price comparison 

business for auto insurance.  Since 2012, White Mountains has made additional purchases of the company to support growth 
and increase its ownership interest.  As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains owned 22% of Compare.com at an aggregate 
cost of $34 million.
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In July 2014, White Mountains acquired 45% of YOUSURE Tarifvergleich GmbH (“durchblicker”) for Euro 9 million 
(approximately $12 million).  durchblicker is an Austrian online price comparison business for both insurance (auto, home, 
legal, accident, travel) and non-insurance (energy, telephone, financial products) verticals. 

In December 2015, White Mountains acquired a non-controlling interest in Captricity, Inc. (“Captricity”). Captricity 
provides proprietary artificial intelligence technology solutions to modernize legacy workflow for enterprise clients, including 
insurance clients.  As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains owned 22% of Captricity, on a fully converted basis, for an 
aggregate cost of $29 million.

In December 2015, White Mountains acquired 20% of OneTitle Holdings LLC (“OneTitle”) for $3 million.  OneTitle is a 
direct-to-consumer title insurance business based in New York.  White Mountains has a contingent commitment to an affiliate 
of OneTitle through a $10 million surplus note facility.  This facility was undrawn at December 31, 2017.

WM Capital Investment Management Businesses

Enlightenment Capital 
In November 2012, in connection with its limited partnership investment in Enlightenment Capital Fund I, White 

Mountains acquired a 15% general partner interest in Enlightenment Capital, a private investment firm that provides flexible 
capital solutions to middle market businesses in the aerospace, defense and government sectors.  White Mountains also holds 
non-controlling limited partnership interests in both Enlightenment Capital Fund I and Enlightenment Capital Fund II.  The fair 
value of White Mountains’s investments in the Enlightenment Capital Funds was approximately $16 million at December 31, 
2017.

Tuckerman Capital
White Mountains owns a 25% general partnership interest in Tuckerman Capital, a private investment firm with a focus on 

manufacturing and industrial service sectors.  White Mountains also holds non-controlling limited partnership interests in the 
Tuckerman Capital III Fund, the Tuckerman Capital IV Fund, the Tuckerman Capital V Fund and the Tuckerman Capital V Co-
investment Fund.  White Mountains also holds a direct interest in Galvanic Applied Sciences (“Galvanic”), a manufacturer of 
liquid and gas analyzers, through Tuckerman Capital.  The fair value of White Mountains’s investment in the Tuckerman 
Capital Funds and Galvanic was approximately $47 million at December 31, 2017.

Easterly
In November 2017, White Mountains acquired a non-controlling interest in Easterly Partners Group, LLC (“Easterly”) in 

connection with a broader strategic partnership.  Easterly is a private investment firm that forms affiliate partnerships with asset 
management businesses and assists them with strategic growth initiatives.  From time to time, White Mountains may commit its 
investment assets to the strategies and products of Easterly's existing and new affiliates and/or additional capital to acquire, 
jointly with Easterly, stakes in third-party asset managers.  For example, on January 26, 2018, White Mountains entered into an 
agreement to fund up to $50 million in CrossHarbor Institutional Partners 2018, L.P., an Easterly affiliate focused on 
transitional, distressed and complex real estate transactions.

Kudu
On February 5, 2018, White Mountains entered into an agreement to fund up to $125 million in Kudu Investment 

Management, LLC (“Kudu”), a leading capital provider to asset management and wealth management firms.  Kudu specializes 
in providing capital solutions to asset managers and registered investment advisers, including generational ownership transfers, 
management buyouts, acquisition and growth finance, as well as liquidity for legacy partners. 

WM Advisors

WM Advisors manages substantially all of White Mountains’s investment portfolio, which primarily consists of fixed 
maturity investments, short-term investments, common equity securities and other long-term investments.  

Previously, WM Advisors was a registered investment adviser that also managed investment portfolios for former White 
Mountains’s subsidiaries OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. (“OneBeacon”) and Sirius International Insurance Group, Ltd. 
(“Sirius Group”), and former White Mountains affiliate Symetra Financial Corporation (“Symetra”).  WM Advisors managed 
investment portfolios for each party prior to their sales and for a transition period after each respective transaction.  See 
“DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS” on page 43 for a description of the OneBeacon and Sirius Group transactions and 
“Symetra” on page 42 for a description of the Symetra transaction.  As of December 31, 2017, WM Advisors no longer 
managed any invested assets for OneBeacon, Sirius Group or Symetra.  Consequently, WM Advisors de-registered with the 
SEC and is currently no longer a registered investment adviser.
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INVESTMENTS

White Mountains’s investment philosophy is to maximize long-term after-tax total returns while taking prudent levels of 
risk and maintaining a diversified portfolio, subject to White Mountains’s investment guidelines and various regulatory 
restrictions.  Under White Mountains’s philosophy, each dollar of after-tax investment income or investment gains (realized or 
unrealized) is valued equally.

White Mountains’s fixed income portfolio as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 consisted in large part of high-quality, short-
duration, fixed maturity investments and short-term investments.  White Mountains also maintains an equity portfolio that 
consists primarily of common equity securities and other long-term investments, including hedge funds, private equity funds, 
non-controlling interests in private capital investments and foreign currency forward contracts.  See “Portfolio Composition” 
on page 41.  

White Mountains’s fixed maturity investment strategy is to purchase securities that are attractively priced in relation to 
their investment risks.  White Mountains also manages the average duration of the fixed income portfolio.  As of December 31, 
2017, the fixed income portfolio duration, including short-term investments was 3.4 years.  White Mountains has established 
relationships with a select number of third-party managers to manage certain U.S. and international investment grade and high 
yield corporate bonds.

White Mountains looks to enhance long-term after-tax total returns by investing in common equity securities and other 
long-term investments.  White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities primarily consists of passive exchange traded 
funds (“ETFs”) and publicly-traded common equity securities that are actively managed by a select number of third-party 
managers, whom White Mountains believes have a differentiated investment strategy and approach.   

Symetra

 In 2004, White Mountains, Berkshire Hathaway, Inc. and several other private investors capitalized Symetra in order to 
purchase the life and investment operations of Safeco Corporation for $1.35 billion, during which White Mountains invested 
$195 million in Symetra.  As of February 1, 2016 and December 31, 2015, White Mountains owned 20,562,379 common shares 
of Symetra, a 17.7% common share ownership.  On February 1, 2016, Symetra closed its merger agreement with Sumitomo 
Life and White Mountains received proceeds of $658 million, or $32 per common share.  During the period White Mountains 
held its investment, Symetra focused mainly on group insurance, individual life insurance, structured settlements and 
retirement services.  Symetra’s common shares were traded under the symbol “SYA” on the New York Stock Exchange.  

Symetra’s total revenues and net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, which was the last period White 
Mountains accounted for Symetra common shares under the equity method before changing to fair value, were $1.6 billion and 
$90 million.  As of September 30, 2015, Symetra had total assets of $35.0 billion and shareholders’ equity of $3.1 billion. 
Symetra’s total revenues and net income for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $2.2 billion and $254 million, 
respectively.  During the period White Mountains held its investment, White Mountains received a total of $151 million in cash 
dividends from Symetra.
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Over the past five years, White Mountains has disposed of a number of its principal operating businesses and recorded 
large transaction gains.  See Note 2 — “Significant Transactions” on page F-15 and Note 19 — “Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations” on page F-56 for details regarding these dispositions.   A description of the largest of these 
dispositions follows:

OneBeacon

On September 28, 2017, White Mountains completed the disposition of OneBeacon to Intact Financial Corporation in an 
all-cash transaction for $18.10 per share, or approximately $1.3 billion (the “OneBeacon Transaction”), and recorded a gain of 
$555 million, net of transaction costs, in discontinued operations.  

While owned by White Mountains, OneBeacon was a provider of a wide range of property and casualty insurance products 
in the United States primarily through independent agencies, regional and national brokers, wholesalers and managing general 
agencies. 

  
Tranzact

On July 21, 2016, White Mountains completed the disposition of Tranzact Holdings, LLC (“Tranzact”) to an affiliate of 
Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, LLC and received net proceeds of $221 million at closing.  The increase to White Mountains’s book 
value from the sale of Tranzact was $82 million. 

While owned by White Mountains, Tranzact was a provider of comprehensive direct-to-consumer customer acquisition 
solutions, primarily to insurance companies.  Tranzact developed a technology-enabled platform that provides sophisticated 
direct marketing solutions, fully-provisioned sales and/or robust customer management systems to brand-focused companies 
seeking to target and acquire a large number of customers on a direct basis.  Tranzact operated in the health, life, and property 
and casualty insurance verticals (as well as several non-insurance verticals).  Tranzact generated revenues through commissions 
and technology licensing, maintenance, and professional fees. 

Sirius Group

On April 18, 2016, White Mountains completed the disposition of Sirius Group to CM International Pte. Ltd. and CM 
Bermuda Limited (collectively “CMI”) for approximately $2.6 billion and recorded a $363 million gain from sale of Sirius 
Group in discontinued operations and a $113 million in other comprehensive income from discontinued operations. 

While owned by White Mountains, Sirius Group was a provider of reinsurance and insurance products for property, 
accident and health, aviation and space, trade credit, marine, agriculture and certain other exposures on a worldwide basis 
through its subsidiary, Sirius International Insurance Corporation.  Sirius Global Solutions, formerly known as White 
Mountains Solutions, specialized in the acquisition and management of runoff liabilities for insurance and reinsurance 
companies both in the United States and internationally. 
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REGULATION

United States

Insurance Regulation
BAM is subject to regulation and supervision in New York and each of the states where it is licensed to conduct business.  

Generally, state regulatory authorities have broad supervisory and administrative powers over such matters as licenses, 
standards of solvency, premium rates, policy forms, investments, statutory deposits, methods of accounting, form and content 
of financial statements, claims reserves and LAE liabilities, reinsurance, minimum capital and surplus requirements, dividends 
and other distributions to shareholders, annual and other report filings and other market conduct.  In general, such regulation is 
for the protection of policyholders rather than shareholders.  White Mountains believes that BAM is in compliance with all 
applicable laws and regulations pertaining to its business that would have a material effect on its financial position in the event 
of non-compliance.

State Accreditation and Monitoring
State insurance laws and regulations include numerous provisions governing marketplace activities of insurers, including 

provisions governing marketing and sales practices, policyholder services, claims management and complaint handling.  State 
regulatory authorities generally test and enforce these provisions through periodic market conduct examinations.

New York Insurance Law establishes single and aggregate risk limits for financial guaranty insurers. Single risk limits for 
financial guaranty insurers are applicable to all obligations issued by a single entity and backed by a single revenue source.  
Insurance on municipal obligations is also subject to a limit where the insured average annual debt service for a single risk, net 
of qualifying reinsurance and collateral, may not exceed 10% of policyholders' surplus and contingency reserves.  In addition, 
the insured principal of municipal obligations attributable to any single risk, net of qualifying reinsurance and collateral, is 
limited to 75% of policyholders' surplus and contingency reserves. 

The New York Insurance Law also establishes aggregate risk limits on the basis of total outstanding principal and interest 
of guaranteed obligations insured net of qualifying reinsurance and collateral (the “Aggregate Net Liability”), compared to the 
sum of the insurer’s policyholders’ surplus and contingency reserves.  Under these limits, policyholders' surplus and 
contingency reserves for municipal obligations must not be less than 0.33% of the Aggregate Net Liability.  As of December 31, 
2017, BAM’s policyholders’ surplus and contingency reserves for municipal obligations were 0.81% of its Aggregate Net 
Liability.

If a financial guaranty insurer fails to comply with single or aggregate risk limits, the NYDFS has broad discretion to order 
the insurer to cease new business originations.

No payment of interest or principal on the BAM Surplus Notes may be made without the approval of the NYDFS.
Under the New York Insurance Law, BAM must establish a contingency reserve to protect policyholders against the effect 

of adverse economic developments or cycles or other unforeseen circumstances. BAM determines its contingency reserves by 
applying the calculations required by each state in which it is licensed and recording a contingency reserve equal to the 
calculation that results in the highest contingency reserve.  

When considering the principal amount guaranteed, New York Insurance Law permits the insurer to take credit for 
amounts ceded through reinsurance. 

The NYDFS, the regulatory authority of BAM’s state of domicile, conducts periodic examinations of insurance companies 
domiciled in New York, usually at five-year intervals.  In 2014, the NYDFS commenced and completed its examination of 
BAM and issued a Report on Examination of BAM for the period beginning at BAM’s inception and ending December 31, 
2013.  The reports did not note any significant regulatory issues concerning BAM.
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Investments
BAM is subject to state laws and regulations that require investment portfolio diversification and that dictate the quality, 

quantity and general types of investments they may hold.  Non-compliance may cause non-conforming investments to be non-
admitted when measuring statutory surplus and, in some instances, may require divestiture. 

Holding Company Structure
White Mountains is subject to regulation under certain state insurance holding company acts.  These regulations contain 

reporting requirements relating to the capital structure, ownership, financial condition and general business operations of White 
Mountains’s insurance subsidiaries.  These regulations also contain special reporting and prior approval requirements with 
respect to certain transactions among affiliates.  Since the Company is an insurance holding company, the domiciliary states of 
its insurance subsidiaries impose regulatory application and approval requirements on acquisitions of White Mountains’s 
common shares which may be deemed to confer control over those subsidiaries, as that concept is defined under the applicable 
state laws.  Acquisition of 10% of White Mountains’s common shares, or in some states as little as 5%, may be deemed to 
confer control under the insurance laws of some jurisdictions, and the application process for approval can be extensive and 
time consuming.

Legislation
Although the federal government does not directly regulate the insurance business, federal legislation and administrative 

policies impact the industry.  In addition, legislation has been introduced in recent years that, if enacted, could result in the 
federal government assuming a more direct role in the regulation of the insurance industry.  Notably, the Dodd-Frank Wall 
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) created the Federal Insurance Office (“FIO”) within the 
Treasury Department, which is responsible for gathering information and monitoring the insurance industry to identify gaps in 
the regulation of insurers that could contribute to a systemic crisis in the insurance industry or U.S. financial system.

In addition to emerging federal regulation, many states are adopting laws that attempt to strengthen the ability of regulators 
to understand and regulate the risk management practices of insurers and insurance groups.  For example, many states have 
adopted measures related to the NAIC’s Solvency Modernization Initiative (“SMI”), which have included model regulations 
that require insurers to summarize their key risks and risk management strategies to regulators.  The SMI resulted in a 2010 
amendment to the NAIC’s Model Insurance Holding Company System Regulatory Act (the “Model Holding Company Act”), 
which requires the ultimate controlling person in an insurer’s holding company structure to identify and report material 
enterprise risks to the state insurance regulator.  

The SMI also produced the NAIC Risk Management and Own Risk Solvency Model Act (“ORSA”), which requires 
insurers meeting premium thresholds to: 1) maintain a risk management framework; and 2) annually submit a comprehensive 
report designed to assess the adequacy of an insurer’s risk management practices, including risks related to the insurer’s future 
solvency position. 
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Bermuda

Insurance Regulation
The Insurance Act 1978 of Bermuda and related regulations, as amended (the “Insurance Act”), regulates the insurance 

business of HG Re, and provides that no person may carry on any insurance business in or from within Bermuda unless 
registered as an insurer under the Insurance Act by the Bermuda Monetary Authority (“BMA”).  The BMA, in deciding whether 
to grant registration, has broad discretion to act as it thinks fit in the public interest.  The BMA is required by the Insurance Act 
to determine whether the applicant is a fit and proper body to be engaged in the insurance business and, in particular, whether it 
has, or has available to it, adequate knowledge and expertise to operate an insurance business.  In addition, the BMA is required 
by the Insurance Act to determine whether a person who proposes to control 10 percent, 20 percent, 33 percent or 50 percent 
(as applicable) of the voting powers of a Bermuda registered insurer or its parent company is a fit and proper person to exercise 
such degree of control.  See “Dividend Capacity” on page 45 for further discussion.

The continued registration of an applicant as an insurer is subject to the applicant complying with the terms of its 
registration and such other conditions as the BMA may impose from time to time.  The Insurance Act also grants to the BMA 
powers to supervise, investigate and intervene in the affairs of Bermuda insurance companies.

The Insurance Act imposes solvency and liquidity standards on Bermuda insurance companies, as well as auditing and 
reporting requirements.  White Mountains believes that it is in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations pertaining to 
its business that would have a material effect on its financial position in the event of non-compliance.

Certain Other Bermuda Law Considerations
The Company is an exempted company incorporated and organized under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the 

“Companies Act”).  As a result, the Company is required to comply with the provisions of the Companies Act regulating the 
payment of dividends and making of distributions from contributed surplus.  A company is prohibited from declaring or paying 
a dividend, or making a distribution out of contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for believing that:

(1) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or
(2) the realizable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less than its liabilities.

Under the Company’s bye-laws, each common share is entitled to dividends if, and when, dividends are declared by its 
board of directors, subject to any preferred dividend rights of the holders of any preference shares.  Issued share capital is the 
aggregate par value of the company’s issued shares, and the share premium account is the aggregate amount paid for issued 
shares over and above their par value.  Share premium accounts may be reduced in certain limited circumstances.  In addition, 
the Companies Act regulates return of capital, reduction of capital and any purchase or redemption of shares by the Company.

Although the Company is incorporated in Bermuda, it has been designated as a non-resident of Bermuda for exchange 
control purposes by the BMA.  Pursuant to its non-resident status, the Company may hold any currency other than Bermuda 
dollars and convert that currency into any other currency, other than Bermuda dollars, without restriction.

Shares may be offered or sold in Bermuda only in compliance with the provisions of the Investment Business Act 2003 and 
the Exchange Control Act 1972, and related regulations of Bermuda which regulate the sale of securities in Bermuda.  In 
addition, specific permission is required from the BMA pursuant to the provisions of the Exchange Control Act 1972 and 
related regulations, for all issuances and transfers of securities of Bermuda companies, other than in cases where the BMA has 
granted a general permission.  The BMA in its policy dated June 1, 2005 provides that where any equity securities, including 
the Company’s common shares, of a Bermuda company are listed on an appointed stock exchange, general permission is given 
for the issue and subsequent transfer of any securities of a company from and/or to a non-resident, for as long as any equity 
securities of such company remain so listed.  The New York Stock Exchange is deemed to be an appointed stock exchange 
under Bermuda law.  Notwithstanding the above general permission, the BMA has granted the Company permission to, subject 
to its common shares being listed on an appointed stock exchange, (a) issue and transfer its shares, up to the amount of its 
authorized capital from time to time, to persons resident and non-resident of Bermuda for exchange control purposes; (b) issue 
and transfer options, warrants, depositary receipts, rights, and other securities; and (c) issue and transfer loan notes and other 
debt instruments and options, warrants, receipts, rights over loan notes and other debt instruments to persons resident and non-
resident of Bermuda for exchange control purposes.
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Under Bermuda law, exempted companies are companies formed for the purpose of conducting business outside Bermuda 
from a principal place in Bermuda.  As an exempted company, the Company may not, without the express authorization of the 
Bermuda legislature or under a license granted by the Bermuda Minister of Economic Development (the “Minister”), 
participate in various specified business transactions, including

• the acquisition or holding of land in Bermuda, except land held by way of lease or tenancy agreement which is 
required for the Company’s business and held for a term not exceeding 50 years, or which is used to provide 
accommodation or recreational facilities for the Company’s officers and employees and held with the consent of 
the Minister, for a term not exceeding 21 years;

• the taking of mortgages on land in Bermuda in excess of $50,000;
• the acquisition of any bonds or debentures secured by any land in Bermuda, other than certain types of Bermuda 

government or public authority securities; or
• subject to some exceptions, the carrying on of business of any kind in Bermuda for which the Company is not 

licensed in Bermuda.

Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudians (other than spouses of Bermudians, holders of permanent resident certificates and 
holders of working resident certificates) may not engage in any gainful occupation in Bermuda without an appropriate 
governmental work permit.  Work permits may be granted or extended by the Bermuda government upon showing that, after 
proper public advertisement in most cases, no Bermudian (or spouse of a Bermudian or a holder of a permanent resident’s 
certificate or holder of a working resident’s certificate) is available who meets the minimum standard requirements for the 
advertised position.  A waiver from advertising is automatically granted in respect of any chief executive officer position and 
other chief officer positions.

RATINGS

Insurance companies are evaluated by various rating agencies in order to measure each company’s financial strength.  
Higher ratings generally indicate financial stability and a stronger ability to pay claims.  White Mountains believes that strong 
ratings are important factors in the marketing and sale of insurance products and services to agents and consumers and ceding 
companies.

As of February 28, 2018, BAM is rated “AA/stable” by Standard & Poor’s.  “AA” is the third highest of twenty-one 
financial strength ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains employed approximately 276 people (consisting of 74 people at the Company, 
its intermediate holding companies, WM Advisors and HG Global, 117 people at Wobi, 51 people at MediaAlpha and 34 
people at Buzzmove).  Management believes that White Mountains has satisfactory relations with its employees.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Company is subject to the informational reporting requirements of the Exchange Act.  In accordance therewith, the 
Company files reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC.  These documents are available at 
www.whitemountains.com shortly after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC.  In addition, the 
Company’s code of business conduct and ethics as well as the various charters governing the actions of certain of the 
Company’s Committees of its Board of Directors, including its Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating 
and Governance Committee, are available at www.whitemountains.com.

The Company will provide to any shareholder, upon request and without charge, copies of these documents (excluding any 
applicable exhibits unless specifically requested).  Written or telephone requests should be directed to the Corporate Secretary, 
White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd., 26 Reid Street, Hamilton, HM 11 Bermuda, telephone number (441) 278-3160. 
Additionally, all such documents are physically available at the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2 Church 
Street, Hamilton, HM 11 Bermuda.
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Item 1A.  Risk Factors

The information contained in this report may contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of 
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  See “FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS” on page 56 for specific important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
contained in forward-looking statements.  The Company’s actual future results and trends may differ materially depending on a 
variety of factors including, but not limited to, the risks and uncertainties discussed below.

Our investment portfolio may suffer reduced returns or losses, which could materially adversely affect our adjusted 
book value per share, results of operations and financial condition.  Adverse changes in equity markets, interest rates, debt 
markets or foreign currency exchange rates could result in significant losses to the value of our investment portfolio.

Our investment portfolio primarily consists of fixed maturity investments, short-term investments, common equity 
securities and other long-term investments, including hedge funds, private equity funds, non-controlling interests in private 
capital investments and foreign currency forward contracts.  We invest to maximize long-term after-tax total returns while 
taking prudent levels of risk and maintaining a diversified portfolio subject to our investment guidelines and various regulatory 
restrictions.  However, investing entails substantial risks.  We may not achieve our investment objectives, and our investment 
performance may vary substantially over time.  Investment returns are an important part of our strategy to grow adjusted book 
value per share, and fluctuations in the equity or fixed income markets could adversely affect our results of operations and 
financial condition.

Both the fair market value of our investment portfolio and the investment income we generate are affected by general 
economic and market conditions that are outside of our control, including fluctuations in equity market levels, interest rates, 
debt market levels, foreign currency exchange rates and credit losses sustained by issuers.  A significant decline in the equity 
markets such as that experienced from September 2008 to March 2009 could have a material adverse effect on our adjusted 
book value per share, results of operations and financial condition.  We are also exposed to changes in debt markets.  Interest 
rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary policies, economic and political conditions and 
other factors beyond our control.  In particular, a significant increase in interest rates could result in significant losses in the 
value of our investment portfolio and, consequently, could materially adversely affect our adjusted book value per share, results 
of operations and financial condition.  We also hold investments, such as hedge funds, private equity funds, and private capital 
investments that are not regularly traded in active investment markets and may be illiquid.  These investments can experience 
volatility in their returns or valuation, which could adversely affect our adjusted book value per share, results of operations and 
financial condition.  Additionally, a portion of our investment portfolio is invested in securities denominated in currencies other 
than the U.S. dollar, predominantly GBP, Japanese Yen and the Euro.  A significant strengthening of the U.S. dollar against 
these other currencies could adversely affect our adjusted book value per share, results of operations and financial condition.  

We have successfully created shareholder value through acquisitions and dispositions.  We may not be able to continue 
to create shareholder value through such transactions in the future.

In past years, we have completed numerous acquisitions and dispositions, many of which have contributed significantly to 
our growth in adjusted book value per share.  Failure to identify and complete future acquisition and disposition opportunities 
could limit our ability to grow our adjusted book value per share.  Even if we were to identify and complete future acquisition 
or disposition opportunities, there is no assurance that such opportunities will ultimately achieve their anticipated benefits.

 BAM may not maintain a favorable financial strength rating and that could adversely affect its ability to conduct 
business, which could materially adversely affect our adjusted book value per share, results of operations and financial 
condition.

Third-party rating agencies assess and rate the financial strength of insurers, including claims-paying ability. These ratings 
are based upon criteria established by the rating agencies and are subject to revision at any time at the sole discretion of the 
agencies.  Some of the criteria relate to general economic conditions and other circumstances outside the rated company’s 
control.  These financial strength ratings are used by outside parties to assess the suitability of BAM as a business counterparty, 
and is an important factor in establishing BAM’s competitive position.

Rating agencies periodically evaluate BAM to confirm that it continues to meet the criteria of the ratings previously 
assigned to it.  Most recently, on June 6, 2017, S&P placed BAM on credit watch negative and initiated a detailed review of 
BAM’s financial strength rating.  On June 26, 2017, S&P concluded its review and affirmed BAM’s “AA/stable” financial 
strength rating.  During the time that BAM was under review by S&P, it voluntarily withdrew from the marketplace and did not 
write any municipal bond insurance policies. 
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The maintenance of an “AA” or better financial strength rating from Standard & Poor’s is particularly important to BAM’s 
ability to write municipal bond insurance and meet its debt service obligations under the BAM Surplus Notes.  As of February 
28, 2018, BAM is rated “AA/stable” by Standard & Poor’s.  A downgrade, withdrawal or negative watch/outlook of BAM’s 
financial strength rating could severely limit or prevent BAM’s ability to write policies, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our adjusted book value per share, results of operations and financial condition. 

 If BAM does not pay some or all of the interest and principal due on the BAM Surplus Notes, White Mountains’s 
adjusted book value per share, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains owned $499 million in BAM Surplus Notes and had accrued $126 million in 
interest due thereon.  No payment of interest or principal on the BAM Surplus Notes may be made without the approval of the 
NYDFS.  Under its agreements with HG Global, BAM is required to seek regulatory approval to pay interest and principal on 
the BAM Surplus Notes only to the extent that its capital resources support its outstanding obligations, business plan and 
ratings.  It is unlikely that BAM will pay interest and principal on the BAM Surplus Notes if such payments could lead to a 
ratings downgrade.  In the fourth quarter of 2017, the NYDFS approved a payment on the BAM Surplus Notes of $4 million of 
principal and $1 million of accrued interest.  We cannot guarantee that the NYDFS will approve payments on the BAM Surplus 
Notes in the future.

Interest payments on the BAM Surplus Notes are due quarterly but are subject to deferral, without penalty or default and 
without compounding, for payment in the future.  No principal is due on the BAM Surplus Notes prior to the stated maturity 
date of 2042. 

BAM’s premiums are dependent on a number of factors, many of which are beyond BAM’s control, including primary 
municipal bond issuance levels, insured penetration rates, interest rate levels, credit spreads, trading value, capture rate and 
market share.  In addition, the municipal bond insurance industry is highly competitive.  BAM’s primary competitor is Assured.  
BAM and Assured each seek to differentiate itself through financial strength ratings, claims paying resources and underwriting 
strategies.  If BAM is unable to differentiate itself from Assured, it could result in fewer policies issued, lower premium levels 
and less favorable policy terms and conditions.

During 2017, BAM’s total premiums were $100 million, of which $37 million were MSC and $63 million were risk 
premiums.  BAM must increase these premium levels in the future in order to be able to pay the amounts due on the BAM 
Surplus Notes.  If BAM does not pay some or all of the amounts due on the BAM Surplus Notes, our adjusted book value per 
share, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely impacted.

We may be treated as a PFIC, in which case a U.S. holder of our common shares could be subject to disadvantageous 
rules under U.S. federal income tax laws.

Significant potential adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences apply to any U.S. person who owns shares in a passive 
foreign investment company (“PFIC”). In general, a non-U.S. corporation is classified as a PFIC for a taxable year in which, 
after taking into account the income and assets of the corporation and certain subsidiaries pursuant to certain “look-through” 
rules, either (i) 75% or more of its gross income is passive income or (ii) 50% or more of the average quarterly value of its 
gross assets is attributable to assets that produce passive income or are held for the production of passive income.  If a 
corporation is treated as a PFIC for a taxable year, it is generally treated as a PFIC for all later taxable years.

Passive income for PFIC purposes generally includes interest, dividends and other investment income, subject to certain 
exceptions.  Under a special exception for insurance companies, income derived in the active conduct of an insurance business, 
including investment income derived in such an insurance business, generally is not treated as passive income for purposes of 
the PFIC rules.  The recently-enacted Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “TCJA”) modified the insurance exception to apply to 
a company only if (i) the company would be taxed as an insurance company were it a U.S. corporation and (ii) either (A) loss 
and loss adjustment expenses and certain reserves constitute more than 25% of the company’s gross assets for the relevant year 
or (B) loss and loss adjustments expenses and certain reserves constitute more than 10% of the company’s gross assets for the 
relevant year and, based on the applicable facts and circumstances, the company is predominantly engaged in an insurance 
business and the failure of the company to satisfy the preceding 25% test is due solely to run-off related or rating-related 
circumstances involving the insurance business. 

At the present time White Mountains does not qualify for the insurance exception described above. However, based on the 
income and assets of White Mountains and, under applicable “look-through” rules, the income and assets of its subsidiaries, we 
believe that White Mountains should not be treated as a PFIC, and we do not expect that White Mountains will become a PFIC 
in the future. However, there is no assurance that White Mountains will not become a PFIC at some future time as a result of 
changes in our assets, income or business operations. In addition, there is no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will 
not successfully argue that White Mountains is now, or in the future may become, a PFIC.
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If we are determined to be a PFIC, a U.S. person may be subject to less advantageous tax consequences upon the sale, 
exchange or receipt of dividends with respect to our common shares and may be required to pay U.S. federal income tax at 
ordinary income rates for gains and dividends, as well as an interest charge on certain “excess distributions.” Certain elections 
designed to mitigate the adverse consequences of owning shares in a PFIC, including a “Protective QEF Election,” may be 
available. If you are a U.S. person, we encourage you to consult your own tax advisor concerning the potential tax 
consequences to you under the PFIC rules.

The Company and our non-U.S. subsidiaries may become subject to U.S. tax, which may have a material adverse effect 
on our adjusted book value per share, results of operations and financial condition.

The Company and our non-U.S. subsidiaries operate in a manner such that none of these companies should be subject to 
U.S. tax (other than U.S. excise tax on insurance and reinsurance premium income attributable to insuring or reinsuring U.S. 
risks and U.S. withholding tax on some types of U.S. source investment income) because none of these companies should be 
treated as engaged in a trade or business within the United States.  However, because there is considerable uncertainty as to the 
activities that constitute being engaged in a trade or business within the United States, we cannot be certain that the Internal 
Revenue Service (“IRS”) will not contend successfully that the Company or its non-U.S. subsidiaries are engaged in a trade or 
business in the United States.  If the Company or any of its non-U.S. subsidiaries were considered to be engaged in a trade or 
business in the United States, such entity could be subject to U.S. corporate income and branch profits taxes on the portion of 
its earnings effectively connected to such U.S. business, which could materially adversely affect our adjusted book value per 
share, results of operations and financial condition.

Changes in tax laws or tax treaties could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

The income of our U.S. subsidiaries is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax and other taxes.  The TCJA 
contains changes that decrease the tax rate applicable to our U.S. subsidiaries, but also could increase their taxable income.  The 
Company is monitoring potential impacts based on the newly enacted provisions.  

The income of the non-U.S. companies in our group is generally subject to a lower tax rate than that imposed by the United 
States.  Certain of our non-U.S. companies are eligible for the benefits of tax treaties between the United States and other 
countries.  We believe our non-U.S. companies will continue to be eligible for treaty benefits.  However, it is possible that 
factual changes or changes to U.S. tax laws or changes to tax treaties that presently apply to our non-U.S. companies could 
increase income subject to tax, or the tax rate on income, in the United States.  Similarly, changes to the applicable tax laws, 
treaties or regulations of other countries could subject the income of members of our group to higher rates of tax outside the 
United States.  Additionally, the base erosion and profit shifting (“BEPS”) project currently being undertaken by the 
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”) and the European Commission’s investigation into illegal 
state aid may result in changes to long standing tax principles, which could materially adversely affect our adjusted book value 
per share, results of operations and financial condition.

Our non-U.S. subsidiaries will be treated as CFCs and may subject a U.S. 10% shareholder of our common shares to 
disadvantageous rules under U.S. federal income tax laws.

The TCJA modified certain U.S. tax rules that apply to controlled foreign corporations (“CFCs”).  As a result of these 
changes, each of our non-U.S. subsidiaries will be treated as a CFC for 2017 and for later years. If any of our shareholders 
during 2017 or later years is a “U.S. 10% shareholder” (as described below) that directly or indirectly owns stock in White 
Mountains, that shareholder must include in its taxable income each year its pro rata share of our CFC subsidiaries’ “subpart F 
income” for that year, even if no distributions are received by the U.S. 10% shareholder. 

For 2017, a shareholder will be treated as a U.S. 10% shareholder if the shareholder is a U.S. person who owns directly, 
indirectly or through constructive ownership rules 10% or more of the voting power of our shares. We believe that the 
restrictions placed on the voting power of our shares should generally prevent shareholders of White Mountains from being 
treated as U.S. 10% shareholders for 2017. Due to changes made by the TCJA, however, for 2018 and later years a shareholder 
will be treated as a U.S. 10% shareholder if the shareholder is a U.S. person who owns directly, indirectly or through 
constructive ownership rules 10% or more of either the voting power or the total value of our shares. As a result, a U.S. person 
that owns (directly, indirectly or through constructive ownership rules) 10% or more of our shares will generally be treated for 
2018 and later years as a U.S. 10% shareholder of our CFC subsidiaries, notwithstanding the voting power restrictions of our 
shares.  However, a person that is a U.S. 10% shareholder solely as a result of constructive ownership rules (i.e., such person 
does not directly or indirectly own stock of White Mountains) should not have a subpart F income inclusion with respect to our 
CFC subsidiaries. 

If you are a U.S. person who might be a U.S. 10% shareholder, we encourage you to consult your own tax advisor 
concerning the CFC rules.
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We may be deemed to be an investment company under U.S. federal securities law.

The Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”), regulates certain companies that are 
engaged in the business of investing in or trading securities. Although the recent completion of the OneBeacon Transaction and 
other recent dispositions have resulted in the Company currently having a high level of undeployed capital relative to our 
historic levels, we do not believe that we are an investment company under the Investment Company Act.  White Mountains 
has been, and will continue to be, engaged in the business of making opportunistic and value-oriented acquisitions of businesses 
and assets in the insurance, financial services and related sectors, operating these businesses and assets through our subsidiaries 
and, if and when attractive exit valuations become available, disposing of these businesses and assets. 

However, notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company is found to be an investment company and becomes obligated to 
register as such under the Investment Company Act, we would attempt to implement various changes to our operations and 
capital structure. There can be no assurance that the implementation of these changes would be successful.  If the Company 
were ultimately required to register as an investment company, it would become subject to extensive, restrictive and potentially 
adverse regulation relating to, among other things, operating methods, management, capital structure, our ability to raise 
additional debt and equity capital or issue options or warrants (which could impact our ability to compensate key employees), 
financial leverage, dividends, board of director composition and transactions with affiliates. Accordingly, if we were required to 
register as an investment company, we may not be able to operate our business as it is currently conducted.

If at any time it were found that we had been operating as an investment company in violation of the registration 
requirements of the Investment Company Act, there would be a risk, among other material adverse consequences, that we could 
become subject to monetary penalties or injunctive relief, or both, that we could be unable to enforce contracts with third 
parties, or that third parties could seek to obtain rescission of transactions with us undertaken during the period in which it was 
established that we were an unregistered investment company. If, subsequently, we were not permitted or were unable to 
register as an investment company, it is possible that we would be forced to cease operations.

We may be unable to adequately maintain our systems and safeguard the security of our data, which may adversely 
impact our ability to operate our business and cause reputational harm and financial loss.

Because our business and operations rely on secure and efficient information technology systems, we depend on our ability, 
and the ability of certain third parties, including vendors and business partners, to access our computer systems to perform 
necessary functions such as providing quotes and product pricing, billing and processing transactions, administering claims, and 
reporting our financial results.  The functioning of these systems may be impacted by any number of events, including power 
outages, natural and manmade catastrophes, and cyber-attacks.  In the event we are unable to access any of our systems, or any 
third-party system that we rely upon, our ability to operate our business effectively may be significantly impaired. 

Our business also depends upon our ability to securely process, store, transmit and safeguard confidential and proprietary 
information that is in our possession.  This information includes confidential information relating to our business, and 
personally identifiable information (“PII”) and protected health information (“PHI”) belonging to our employees, customers, 
claimants and business partners.  Because our systems may be vulnerable to a variety of forms of unauthorized access that 
could result in a data breach, including hackers, computer viruses, and other cyber-attacks, as well as breaches that result from 
dishonest employees, errors by employees or lost or stolen computer devices, we may not be able to protect the confidentiality 
of such information.

Third parties present an additional risk of cyber-related events.  We outsource certain technological and business process 
functions to third-party providers.  We rely on these third parties to maintain and store PII and PHI and other confidential 
information on their systems.  We also routinely transmit such information by e-mail and other electronic means.  Although we 
attempt to establish sufficient controls and secure capabilities to transmit such information and to prevent unauthorized 
disclosure, these controls may not be sufficient.  Furthermore, third-party providers may not have appropriate controls in place 
to protect such information. 

Our computer systems have been and will continue to be the target of cyber-attacks, although we are not aware that we 
have experienced a material cybersecurity breach.  We are also not aware of any third-party vendor having experienced a 
material cybersecurity breach that impacted our data.  The risk of a cyber-attack may increase, and we may experience more 
significant attacks in the future.

The risks identified above could expose us to data breaches, disruptions of service, financial losses and significant 
increases in compliance costs and reputational harm, any of which could adversely affect our business and results of operations 
and financial condition.  In addition, a data breach that involves the compromise of PII or PHI, could subject us to legal liability 
or regulatory action under data protection and privacy laws and regulations enacted by federal, state and foreign governments, 
or other regulatory bodies.  As a result, our ability to conduct our business and our adjusted book value per share, results of 
operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.



21

 We depend on our key personnel to manage our business effectively and they may be difficult to replace.

Our performance substantially depends on the efforts and abilities of our management team and other executive officers 
and key employees.  Furthermore, much of our competitive advantage is based on the expertise, experience and know-how of 
our key management personnel.  We do not have fixed term employment agreements with any of our key employees or key man 
life insurance and the loss of one or more of these key employees could adversely affect our results of operations and financial 
condition.  Our success also depends on the ability to hire and retain additional personnel.  Difficulty in hiring or retaining 
personnel could materially adversely affect our adjusted book value per share, results of operations and financial condition.

 We may suffer losses from unfavorable outcomes from litigation and other legal proceedings.

From time to time we are subject to legal proceedings.  In the event of an unfavorable outcome in one or more legal 
matters, our ultimate liability may be in excess of amounts we have reserved and such additional amounts could adversely 
affect our adjusted book value per share, results of operations and financial condition.  Furthermore, it is possible that these 
legal proceedings could result in equitable remedies or other unexpected outcomes that could materially adversely affect our 
adjusted book value per share, results on operations and financial condition.

Regulation may restrict our ability to operate.

Changes in laws and regulations may restrict our ability to operate and/or have an adverse effect upon the profitability of 
our business within a given jurisdiction.  For example, as a result of various state, federal and international regulatory efforts to 
modernize and harmonize insurer solvency regulations in the wake of the recent financial crisis, the states could further restrict 
allowable investments or increase our capital requirements, both of which could materially adversely affect our adjusted book 
value per share, results of operations and financial condition. 

Bermuda law differs from the laws in effect in the United States and may afford less protection to shareholders.

We are organized under the laws of Bermuda, and a portion of our assets are located outside the United States.  As a result, 
it may not be possible for our shareholders to enforce court judgments obtained in the United States against us based on the 
civil liability provisions of the federal or state securities laws of the United States, either in Bermuda or in countries other than 
the United States where we will have assets.  In addition, there is some doubt as to whether the courts of Bermuda and other 
countries would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained against us or our directors or officers based on the civil 
liabilities provisions of the federal or state securities laws of the United States or would hear actions against us or those persons 
based on those laws.

Our corporate affairs are governed by the Companies Act.  The Companies Act differs in some material respects from laws 
generally applicable to U.S. corporations and shareholders, including the provisions relating to interested directors, 
amalgamations, mergers and acquisitions, takeovers, shareholder lawsuits and indemnification of directors.  Generally, the 
duties of directors and officers of a Bermuda company are owed to the company only.  Shareholders of Bermuda companies 
generally do not have rights to take action against directors or officers of the company and may only do so in limited 
circumstances.  Class actions and derivative actions are generally not available to shareholders under Bermuda law.  The 
Bermuda courts, however, would ordinarily be expected to permit a shareholder to commence an action in the name of a 
company to remedy a wrong to the company where the act complained of is alleged to be beyond the corporate power of the 
company or illegal, or would result in the violation of the company’s memorandum of association or bye-laws.  Furthermore, 
consideration would be given by a Bermuda court to acts that are alleged to constitute a fraud against non-controlling 
shareholders or, for instance, where an act requires the approval of a greater percentage of the company’s shareholders than that 
which actually approved it.

When the affairs of a company are being conducted in a manner that is oppressive or prejudicial to the interests of some 
part of the shareholders, one or more shareholders may apply to the Supreme Court of Bermuda, which may make such order as 
it sees fit, including an order regulating the conduct of the company’s affairs in the future or ordering the purchase of the shares 
of any shareholders by other shareholders or by the company.  Additionally, under our bye-laws and as permitted by Bermuda 
law, each shareholder has waived any claim or right of action against our directors or officers for any action taken by directors 
or officers in the performance of their duties, except for actions involving fraud or dishonesty.  In addition, the rights of our 
shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors under Bermuda law are not as clearly established as under 
statutes or judicial precedent in existence in jurisdictions in the United States, particularly the State of Delaware.  Therefore, our 
shareholders may have more difficulty protecting their interests than would shareholders of a corporation incorporated in a 
jurisdiction within the United States.
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We could be adversely affected if our controls designed to ensure compliance with guidelines, policies, and legal and 
regulatory standards are not effective.

Our business is highly dependent on our ability to successfully execute a large number of transactions, many of which are 
complex.  These processes are often subject to internal guidelines and policies, and government regulation.  A control system, 
no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance that the control system’s objectives will be 
met.  If controls are not effective, it could lead to financial loss, unanticipated risk exposure, or damage to our reputation.

1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments

As of the date of this report, the Company had no unresolved comments from the Commission staff regarding its periodic 
or current reports under the Exchange Act.

Item 2.  Properties

The Company maintains two professional offices in Hamilton, Bermuda, which serve as its headquarters and its registered 
office.  The Company’s principal executive office is in Hanover, New Hampshire.  In addition, White Mountains maintains 
professional offices in Guilford, Connecticut, which house its investment and corporate finance functions and Boston, 
Massachusetts, which house its corporate accounting, reporting and internal audit functions.

HG Global headquarters are located in Hamilton, Bermuda and BAM’s headquarters are located in New York, New York.
MediaAlpha’s headquarters are located in Los Angeles, California, Wobi’s headquarters are located in Tel Aviv, Israel and 

Buzzmove’s headquarters are located in London, United Kingdom
The Company’s headquarters, registered office, principal executive office, and corporate accounting, reporting and internal 

audit offices are leased.  White Mountains owns its investment and corporate finance office in Guilford, Connecticut.  HG 
Global’s, BAM’s, MediaAlpha’s, Wobi’s and Buzzmove’s offices are leased.  Management considers its office facilities suitable 
and adequate for its current level of operations.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures

None.



23

Executive Officers of the Registrant and its Subsidiaries (As of February 28, 2018)

Name Position Age Executive Officer since

G. Manning Rountree Chief Executive Officer 45 2009
Reid T. Campbell Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 50 2007
J. Brian Palmer Managing Director and Chief Accounting Officer 45 2001
Robert L. Seelig Executive Vice President and General Counsel 49 2002

All executive officers of the Company and its subsidiaries are elected by the Board for a term of one year or until their 
successors have been elected and have duly qualified.  Information with respect to the principal occupation and relevant 
business experience of the Executive Officers follows:

Mr. Rountree was appointed as a director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in March 2017.  Prior to that, he 
served as an Executive Vice President of the Company and President of WM Capital.  He joined White Mountains in 2004 and 
served as President of WM Advisors from March 2009 until December 2014.  Prior to joining White Mountains, Mr. Rountree 
was a Senior Vice President at Putnam Investments for two years.  Prior to joining Putnam Investments, Mr. Rountree spent 
three years with McKinsey & Company. Mr. Rountree is a director and member of the Risk Management Committee of 
Admiral Group plc, a large car insurance provider based in the United Kingdom.  Mr. Rountree also serves as a director of 
BAM.  

Mr. Campbell was appointed the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company in May 2017.  
Prior to that, he served as a Managing Director of WM Capital since January 2004 and as the President of WM Advisors since 
January 2015.  He joined White Mountains in 1994 and has served in a variety of financial management positions with the 
Company and its subsidiaries.  Prior to joining White Mountains, Mr. Campbell spent three years with KPMG.  Mr. Campbell 
also serves as a director of BAM. 

Mr. Palmer is a Managing Director and the Chief Accounting Officer of the Company.  Prior to joining White Mountains 
in 1999, Mr. Palmer was with PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Seelig is an Executive Vice President and the General Counsel of the Company.  Prior to joining White Mountains in 
2002, Mr. Seelig was with the law firm of Cravath, Swaine & Moore.
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PART II
 
Item 5.  Market for the Company’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 

Securities

White Mountains’s common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol “WTM”) and the Bermuda Stock 
Exchange (symbol “WTM-BH”).  As of February 26, 2018, there were 234 registered holders of White Mountains common 
shares, par value $1.00 per share.  

The following table presents the quarterly range of the high and low sales price for common shares during 2017 and 2016:

2017 2016
Quarter ended: High Low High Low
December 31 $ 903.26 $ 841.33 $ 874.69 $ 815.04
September 30 888.00 838.65 852.58 804.44
June 30 900.05 845.41 845.37 786.33
March 31 948.94 834.20 809.99 689.31

For information on securities authorized for issuance under the Company’s equity compensation plans, see “Security 
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” on page 59.

The following graph presents the five-year cumulative total return for a shareholder who invested $100 in common shares 
as of December 31, 2012, assuming re-investment of dividends.  Cumulative returns for the five-year period ended 
December 31, 2017 are also shown for the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stocks (Property & Casualty) Capitalization Weighted Index 
(“S&P P&C”) and the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stocks Capitalization Weighted Index (“S&P 500”) for comparison.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Company
The Company did not repurchase any of its common shares during the fourth quarter of 2017.
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data

The following table presents selected consolidated income statement data and ending balance sheet data for each of the 
five years ended through December 31, 2017:

Year Ended December 31,
$ in millions, except share and per share amounts 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Income Statement Data:
Revenues (a) $ 374 $ 158 $ 440 $ 137 $ 117
Expenses 366 305 311 216 142
Pre-tax income (loss) 8 (147) 129 (79) (25)

Income tax benefit (expense) 8 33 (13) 3 4
Non-controlling interest 34 (7) 19 22 13
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates — — 25 45 37
Discontinued operations, net of tax (b) 577 523 135 314 293

Net income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 627 $ 402 $ 295 $ 305 $ 322

Income attributable to White Mountains’s common
   shareholders per share:

Basic — continuing operations $ 11.56 $ (24.26) $ 27.22 $ (1.39) $ 4.48
Basic — discontinued operations 134.50 104.37 22.98 51.37 47.29
     Total basic income per share $ 146.06 $ 80.11 $ 50.20 $ 49.98 $ 51.77

Diluted — continuing operations $ 11.56 $ (24.26) $ 27.22 $ (1.39) $ 4.48
Diluted — discontinued operations 134.50 104.32 22.98 51.37 47.29
     Total diluted income per share $ 146.06 $ 80.06 $ 50.20 $ 49.98 $ 51.77

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets (c) $ 3,659 $ 6,520 $ 10,271 $ 10,448 $ 12,144
Debt (d) 24 13 65 1 —
Non-controlling interests (e) (132) 133 454 543 492
White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity 3,493 3,583 3,903 3,996 3,905
Book value per share $ 931.30 $ 785.01 $ 694.06 $ 667.46 $ 632.22
Adjusted book value per share (f) $ 914.75 $ 789.08 $ 697.16 $ 664.48 $ 642.20
Share Data:
Cash dividends paid per common share $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00
Ending common shares (000’s) (g) 3,750 4,564 5,624 5,986 6,177

(a) During 2017 and 2016, Other Operations recognized $133 and $(28) of net realized and unrealized gains (losses) which contributed to the increase and 
decrease in revenues.  In 2015, White Mountains changed the accounting for its investment in Symetra from the equity method to fair value and 
recognized $259 of unrealized investment gains.  See Note 14 — “Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates” on page F-51.

(b) As a result of the sale of OneBeacon, Sirius Group, Tranzact and Esurance Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries and Answer Financial Inc. and its 
subsidiaries (collectively, “Esurance”), White Mountains has reclassified the results from these businesses for the past five years in the table above to 
discontinued operations, net of tax.  In 2017, discontinued operations, net of tax, includes a gain from sale of OneBeacon of $554 and income of $21 and 
a (loss) gain from sale of Sirius and Tranzact of $(1) and $3.  In 2016, discontinued operations, net of tax, includes a gain from sale of Sirius and Tranzact 
of $363 and $52 and net income of $108 primarily related to the operations of OneBeacon.  In 2015, discontinued operations, net of tax, includes a gain 
from sale of Esurance of $18 and net income of $117.  In 2014, discontinued operations, net of tax, includes a loss on sale of other discontinued 
operations of $19, mostly offset by a gain from sale of Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company (“FFIC”) of $14, and net income of $261, primarily related to 
the operations of Sirius Group.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” on page F-56.  

(c) White Mountains’s total assets have decreased as a result of the sale of OneBeacon in 2017 and Sirius Group in 2016.
(d) As of December 31, 2015, White Mountains had $50 outstanding under its credit facility, which was repaid in April 2016. 
(e) White Mountains’s non-controlling interests have decreased as a result of the sale of OneBeacon in 2017 and Sirius Group in 2016.  See Note 11 — 

“Common Shareholders’ Equity and Non-controlling Interests” on page F-45 for a detailed breakdown of non-controlling interests by consolidated 
entity.

(f) Adjusted book value per share is a non-GAAP measure.  See “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 51.
(g) During 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013, White Mountains repurchased 832,725, 1,106,145, 387,495, 217,879 and 141,535 respectively, of its common 

shares through a combination of tender offers, open market transactions and other transactions.
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Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion contains “forward-looking statements”.  White Mountains intends statements that are not 
historical in nature, which are hereby identified as forward-looking statements, to be covered by the safe harbor provisions of 
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  White Mountains cannot promise that its expectations in such forward-
looking statements will turn out to be correct.  White Mountains’s actual results could be materially different from and worse 
than its expectations.  See “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS” on page 56 for specific important factors that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements.

The following discussion also includes five non-GAAP financial measures, adjusted book value per share, MediaAlpha’s 
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), adjusted total capital and consolidated portfolio 
returns excluding Symetra, and common equity securities and other long-term investment returns excluding Symetra, that have 
been reconciled to their most comparable GAAP financial measures on page 51.  White Mountains believes these measures to 
be useful in evaluating White Mountains’s financial performance and condition.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017, 2016 AND 2015 

Overview—Year Ended December 31, 2017 versus Year Ended December 31, 2016 
White Mountains ended 2017 with book value per share of $931 and adjusted book value per share of $915, an increase of 

18.8% and 16.1% for the year, including dividends.  The increases were primarily driven by the gain on the sale of OneBeacon.  
Comprehensive income attributable to common shareholders increased to $631 million in 2017 compared to $547 million in 
2016.  Comprehensive income attributable to common shareholders in both 2017 and 2016 was driven by large transaction 
gains.  In 2017, OneBeacon was acquired by Intact Financial Corporation in an all-cash transaction for $18.10 per share, from 
which White Mountains received $1.3 billion and recorded a net gain of $555 million.  In 2016, White Mountains recorded net 
gains of $477 million and $82 million from the sales of Sirius Group and Tranzact.  See Note 2 — “Significant Transactions” 
on page F-15 for a description of each transaction.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, White Mountains repurchased and retired 832,725 of its common shares for $724 
million at an average share price of $869.29, or approximately 95% of White Mountains’s December 31, 2017 adjusted book 
value per share.  For the year ended December 31, 2017, White Mountains returned a total of $728 million of capital to 
shareholders through share repurchases and dividends.

Written premiums and MSC in the HG Global/BAM segment totaled $101 million in 2017, compared to $77 million in 
2016, as higher pricing more than offset a decrease in issuance volume.  BAM insured municipal bonds with par value of $10.4 
billion in 2017, compared to $11.3 billion in 2016.  Total pricing, which is written premiums plus MSC, including the present 
value of future installment MSC not yet collected, weighted by the par value of municipal bonds insured, was 99 basis points, 
up from 68 basis points in 2016.  As of December 31, 2017, BAM’s total claims paying resources were $708 million on gross 
par outstanding of $42 billion.  Total claims paying resources increased $65 million from December 31, 2016, reflecting 
positive cash flow building in the BAM system.  During 2017, BAM paid $5 million of principal and interest in cash on the 
surplus notes held by HG Re.

Beginning in the second quarter of 2017, White Mountains changed its calculation of adjusted book value per share (i) to 
include a discount for the time value of money arising from the expected timing of cash payments of principal and interest on 
the BAM surplus notes and (ii) to add back the unearned premium reserve, net of deferred acquisition costs, at HG Global.  See 
“NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 51.

MediaAlpha reported break-even results in 2017, compared to pre-tax loss of $4 million in 2016.  MediaAlpha’s EBITDA 
was $11 million in 2017, compared to $7 million in 2016.  The increases in pre-tax income and EBITDA were primarily driven 
by growth in the Health, Life and Medicare and the P&C verticals.  In October 2017, MediaAlpha acquired certain assets 
associated with the Health, Life and Medicare insurance business of Healthplans.com. The acquired assets include domain 
names, advertiser and publisher relationships, traffic acquisition accounts, and owned and operated websites.  During the fourth 
quarter of 2017, which includes the annual open enrollment period for Health and Medicare coverages, business from the 
acquired assets contributed $2 million of both pre-tax income and EBITDA.

The pre-tax total return on invested assets was 5.6% for 2017, compared to 2.7% for 2016.  White Mountains’s fixed 
income portfolio returned 3.5% for 2017 and 2.4% for 2016, outperforming the longer duration Bloomberg Barclays U.S. 
Intermediate Aggregate Index returns of 2.3% for 2017 and 2.0% for 2016.  White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity 
securities returned 20.1% for 2017 and 6.2% for 2016, underperforming the S&P 500 Index returns of 21.8% for 2017 and 
12.0% for 2016. White Mountains’s other long-term investments portfolio returned -5.8% for 2017, primarily attributable to 
losses from foreign currency forward contracts and private capital investments. 

White Mountains’s other long-term investments portfolio returned 0.8% for 2016.  The results were primarily attributable 
to favorable mark-to-market adjustments to the surplus notes financed in conjunction with OneBeacon’s sale of its runoff 
business (the “OneBeacon Surplus Notes”), mostly offset by losses from private equity funds and private capital investments.
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Overview—Year Ended December 31, 2016 versus Year Ended December 31, 2015
White Mountains ended 2016 with book value per share of $785 and adjusted book value per share of $789, an increase of 

13.2% and 13.3% for the year, including dividends.  Comprehensive income attributable to common shareholders increased to 
$547 million in 2016 compared to $187 million in 2015.  The increases in 2016 were driven by larger transaction related gains.  
In 2016, White Mountains recorded gains of $477 million and $82 million from the sale of Sirius Group and Tranzact.  In 2015, 
White Mountains recognized $241 million of comprehensive income which was the result of a change in accounting for the 
investment in Symetra from the equity method to fair value, caused by White Mountains’s relinquishment of its representation 
on Symetra’s board of directors subsequent to Symetra entering into a merger agreement with Sumitomo Life.  See Note 2 — 
“Significant Transactions” on page F-15 for a description of each transaction.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, White Mountains repurchased and retired 1,106,145 of its common shares for $887 
million at an average share price of $802.08, approximately 101% of White Mountains’s December 31, 2016 adjusted book 
value per share.  For the year ended December 31, 2016, White Mountains returned a total of $892 million of capital to 
shareholders through share repurchases and dividends.

Written premiums and MSC in the HG Global/BAM segment were $77 million in 2016, compared to $55 million in 2015, 
from both higher pricing and higher issuance volume. BAM insured municipal bonds with par value of $11.3 billion in 2016, 
compared to $10.6 billion in 2015.  Total pricing, which is premiums plus MSC weighted by the par value of municipal bonds 
insured, was 68 basis points, up from 52 basis points in 2015.  As of December 31, 2016, BAM’s total claims paying resources 
were $644 million on total par insured of $33 billion.  Total claims paying resources increased $43 million from December 31, 
2015.     

MediaAlpha reported pre-tax loss of $4 million in 2016, compared to $2 million in 2015.  EBITDA was $7 million in both 
2016 and 2015.  For 2016, an increase in the pre-tax income from the Health, Life and Medicare vertical of approximately $2 
million was offset by lower pre-tax income from the P&C vertical.  Additionally, in 2016, amortization expense was $2 million 
higher than 2015, primarily from amortization related to the 2016 acquisition of certain assets in the travel vertical.  

The pre-tax total return on invested assets was 2.7% for 2016, compared to 3.6% for 2015.  White Mountains’s fixed 
income portfolio returned 2.4% for 2016, outperforming the longer duration Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate 
Index return of 2.0%.  White Mountains’s fixed income portfolio returned 0.2% for 2015, underperforming the longer duration 
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate Index return of 1.2%. White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity 
securities returned 6.2% for 2016, underperforming the S&P 500 Index return of 12.0%.  White Mountains’s portfolio of 
common equity securities returned 33.2% for 2015.  Excluding the results from the Symetra transaction, White Mountains’s 
portfolio of common equity securities returned 2.9% for 2015, outperforming the S&P 500 Index return of 1.4%. White 
Mountains’s other long-term investments portfolio returned 0.8% for 2016.  The results were primarily attributable to favorable 
mark-to-market adjustments to the OneBeacon Surplus Notes, mostly offset by losses from private equity funds and private 
capital investments.  White Mountains’s other long-term investment portfolio returned -10.1% in 2015, primarily attributable to 
unfavorable mark-to-market adjustments to the OneBeacon Surplus Notes and unfavorable results from energy exposed private 
equity funds and a distressed debt hedge fund.

Sirius Group’s results inured to White Mountains until April 18, 2016, the closing date of the sale to CMI.  For the 2016 
period, White Mountains reported Sirius Group’s comprehensive income of $27 million and a combined ratio of 102%, which 
was driven by $17 million of recorded losses from the Ecuador earthquake that occurred on April 16, 2016.   
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Adjusted Book Value Per Share

The following table presents White Mountains’s adjusted book value per share, a non-GAAP financial measure, for the 
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 and reconciles this non-GAAP measure to the most comparable GAAP 
measure.  See “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 51.

December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Book value per share numerators (in millions):
White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity $ 3,492.5 $ 3,582.7 $ 3,903.2
   Future proceeds from options (1) — 29.7 —

Time-value of money discount on expected future payments 
   on the BAM Surplus Notes (2) (157.0) N/A N/A
HG Global’s unearned premium reserve (2) 103.9 N/A N/A
HG Global’s net deferred acquisition costs (2) (24.3) N/A N/A

Adjusted book value per share numerator $ 3,415.1 $ 3,612.4 $ 3,903.2
Book value per share denominators (in thousands of shares):
Common shares outstanding 3,750.2 4,563.8 5,623.7

Unearned restricted shares (16.8) (25.9) (25.0)
Options assumed issued (1) — 40.0 —

Adjusted book value per share denominator 3,733.4 4,577.9 5,598.7
GAAP book value per share $ 931.30 $ 785.01 $ 694.06
Adjusted book value per share $ 914.75 $ 789.08 $ 697.16
Dividends paid per share $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00

(1) Adjusted book value per share at December 31, 2016 includes the impact of 40,000 non-qualified stock options exercisable for $742 per common share. All 
non-qualified options were exercised prior to their expiration date of January 20, 2017.

(2) Amounts reflects White Mountains’s preferred share ownership in HG Global of 96.9%.

The following tables presents goodwill and other intangible assets that are included in White Mountains’s adjusted book 
value as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

December 31,

Millions 2017 2016 2015

Goodwill:
   MediaAlpha $ 18.3 $ 18.3 $ 18.3
   Buzzmove 7.6 7.6 —
   Other — — .3

Total goodwill 25.9 25.9 18.6
.

Other intangible assets:
   MediaAlpha 35.4 18.3 24.4
   Buzzmove .8 1.0 —
   Other — — 2.5

Total other intangible assets 36.2 19.3 26.9
Total goodwill and other intangible assets (1) 62.1 45.2 45.5

Goodwill and other intangible assets held for sale — 1.2 334.3
Goodwill and other intangible assets attributed to non-controlling interests (21.1) (17.1) (17.1)
Goodwill and other intangible assets included in White Mountains’s 
   common shareholders’ equity $ 41.0 $ 29.3 $ 362.7

(1) See Note 4 — “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” on page F-30 for details of other intangible assets.



29

Summary of Consolidated Results

The following table presents White Mountains’s consolidated financial results by industry for the years ended December 
31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,

Millions 2017 2016 2015

Revenues
Financial Guarantee revenues $ 23.3 $ 16.7 $ 10.7
Marketing Technology revenues 163.2 116.5 105.5
Other revenues 187.3 24.5 323.8

Total revenues 373.8 157.7 440.0
Expenses

Financial Guarantee expenses 47.3 43.4 40.1
Marketing Technology expenses 163.6 120.6 107.5
Other expenses 155.1 141.0 163.2

Total expenses 366.0 305.0 310.8
Pre-tax income (loss)

Financial Guarantee pre-tax loss (24.0) (26.7) (29.4)
Marketing Technology pre-tax loss (.4) (4.1) (2.0)
Other pre-tax income (loss) 32.2 (116.5) 160.6

Total pre-tax income (loss) 7.8 (147.3) 129.2
Income tax benefit (expense) 7.8 32.9 (12.7)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 15.6 (114.4) 116.5

Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax 557.0 415.1 18.2
Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax 20.5 108.3 116.9
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax — — 25.1

Net income 593.1 409.0 276.7
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests 34.1 (7.2) 18.5

Net income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders 627.2 401.8 295.2
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax .3 (.7) (42.8)
Comprehensive income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 3.2 146.3 (65.0)

Comprehensive income 630.7 547.4 187.4
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests (.2) (.3) —

Comprehensive income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 630.5 $ 547.1 $ 187.4
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I. Summary of Operations By Segment

White Mountains conducts its operations through three segments: (1) HG Global/BAM, (2) MediaAlpha and (3) Other 
Operations.  A discussion of White Mountains’s consolidated investment operations is included after the discussion of 
operations by segment.  White Mountains’s segment information is presented in Note 13 — “Segment Information” on page 
F-48 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As a result of the OneBeacon, Sirius Group and Tranzact transactions, the results of operations for OneBeacon, Sirius 
Group and Tranzact have been classified as discontinued operations and are now presented separately, net of related income 
taxes, in the statement of comprehensive income.  Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s 
presentation.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” on page F-56.

HG Global/BAM

The following tables present the components of pre-tax income included in White Mountains’s HG Global/BAM segment 
related to the consolidation of HG Global, which includes HG Re and its other wholly-owned subsidiaries, and BAM for the 
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

 Year Ended December 31, 2017

Millions HG Global BAM Eliminations Total

Gross written premiums $ — $ 63.2 $ — $ 63.2
Assumed (ceded) written premiums 53.6 (53.6) — —

Net written premiums $ 53.6 $ 9.6 $ — $ 63.2

Earned insurance and reinsurance premiums $ 7.1 $ 2.3 $ — $ 9.4
Net investment income 3.3 9.0 — 12.3
Net investment income - BAM Surplus Notes 19.0 — (19.0) —
Net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains (1.2) 1.8 — .6
Other revenues — 1.0 — 1.0

Total revenues 28.2 14.1 (19.0) 23.3
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 1.5 2.5 — 4.0
Other underwriting expenses — .4 — .4
General and administrative expenses 1.0 41.9 — 42.9
Interest expense - BAM Surplus Notes — 19.0 (19.0) —

Total expenses 2.5 63.8 (19.0) 47.3
Pre-tax income (loss) $ 25.7 $ (49.7) $ — $ (24.0)

Supplemental information:
     Member surplus contributions(1) $ — $ 37.4 $ — $ 37.4
(1) MSC are recorded directly to BAM’s equity, which is recorded as non-controlling interest on White Mountains’s balance sheet.
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 Year Ended December 31, 2016

Millions HG Global BAM Eliminations Total

Gross written premiums $ — $ 38.6 $ — $ 38.6
Assumed (ceded) written premiums 27.2 (27.2) — —

Net written premiums $ 27.2 $ 11.4 $ — $ 38.6

Earned insurance and reinsurance premiums $ 4.4 $ 1.5 $ — $ 5.9
Net investment income 2.2 6.8 — 9.0
Net investment income - BAM Surplus Notes 17.8 — (17.8) —
Net realized and unrealized investment gains .1 .6 — .7
Other revenues — 1.1 — 1.1

Total revenues 24.5 10.0 (17.8) 16.7
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses .9 2.5 — 3.4
Other underwriting expenses — .4 — .4
General and administrative expenses 1.4 38.2 — 39.6
Interest expense - BAM Surplus Notes — 17.8 (17.8) —

Total expenses 2.3 58.9 (17.8) 43.4
Pre-tax income (loss) $ 22.2 $ (48.9) $ — $ (26.7)

Supplemental information:
     Member surplus contributions(1) $ — $ 38.0 $ — $ 38.0
(1) MSC are recorded directly to BAM’s equity, which is recorded as non-controlling interest on White Mountains’s balance sheet.

 Year Ended December 31, 2015

Millions HG Global BAM Eliminations Total

Gross written premiums $ — $ 25.9 $ — $ 25.9
Assumed (ceded) written premiums 19.3 (19.3) — —

Net written premiums $ 19.3 $ 6.6 $ — $ 25.9

Earned insurance and reinsurance premiums $ 2.5 $ .8 $ — $ 3.3
Net investment income 1.9 4.2 — 6.1
Net investment income - BAM Surplus Notes 15.8 — (15.8) —
Net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains (.3) .9 — .6
Other revenues — .7 — .7

Total revenues 19.9 6.6 (15.8) 10.7
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses .6 2.3 — 2.9
Other underwriting expenses — .4 — .4
General and administrative expenses 1.4 35.4 — 36.8
Interest expense - BAM Surplus Notes — 15.8 (15.8) —

Total expenses 2.0 53.9 (15.8) 40.1
Pre-tax income (loss) $ 17.9 $ (47.3) $ — $ (29.4)

Supplemental information:
     Member surplus contributions(1) $ — $ 29.2 $ — $ 29.2
(1) MSC are recorded directly to BAM’s equity, which is recorded as non-controlling interest on White Mountains’s balance sheet.
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HG Global/BAM Results—Year Ended December 31, 2017 versus Year Ended December 31, 2016
BAM reports on a statutory accounting basis to the NYDFS and does not report stand-alone GAAP financial results.  BAM 

is owned by its members, the municipalities that purchase BAM’s insurance for their debt issuances.  BAM charges an 
insurance premium on each municipal bond insurance policy it writes.  A portion of the premium is an MSC and the remainder 
is a risk premium.  In the event of a municipal bond refunding, the MSC from the original issuance can be reutilized, in effect 
serving as a credit against the total insurance premium on the refunding of the municipal bond.  Issuers of debt insured by 
BAM are members of BAM so long as any of their BAM-insured debt is outstanding, and as members they have certain 
interests in BAM, including the right to vote for BAM’s directors and to receive dividends in the future, if declared.

Written premiums and MSC in the HG Global/BAM segment were $101 million in 2017, compared to $77 million in 2016, 
as higher pricing more than offset a decrease in issuance volume.  BAM’s volume for 2017 was affected by S&P’s review of 
BAM’s financial strength rating.  On June 6, 2017, S&P placed BAM on credit watch negative and initiated a detailed review 
of BAM’s financial strength rating.  On June 26, 2017, S&P concluded its review and affirmed BAM’s “AA/stable” financial 
strength rating.  During the time that BAM was under review by S&P, it voluntarily withdrew from the marketplace and did not 
write any municipal bond insurance policies.  Total pricing, which is written premiums plus MSC, weighted by the par value of 
municipal bonds insured, was 99 basis points in 2017, up from 68 basis points in 2016.  In 2017, BAM insured $10.4 billion of 
municipal bonds, $9.6 billion of which were in the primary market, down 8% from 2016.  

The following table presents the gross par value of primary and secondary market policies issued, the gross written 
premiums plus MSC and total pricing for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Year Ended December 31,
$ in millions 2017 2016

Gross par value of primary market policies issued $ 9,633.5 $ 10,336.1
Gross par value of secondary market policies issued 793.2 967.2

Total gross par value of market policies issued $ 10,426.7 $ 11,303.3

Gross written premiums $ 63.2 $ 38.6
MSC collected 37.4 38.0

Total gross written premiums and MSC $ 100.6 $ 76.6

Total pricing (1) 99 bps 68 bps
(1) Total pricing also includes the present value of future installment MSC not yet collected of $2.8 for the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2017. 

HG Global reported GAAP pre-tax income of $26 million and $22 million in 2017 and 2016, which was driven by $19 
million and $18 million of interest income on the BAM Surplus Notes, respectively.

BAM is a mutual insurance company that is owned by its members.  BAM’s results are consolidated into White
Mountains’s GAAP financial statements and attributed to non-controlling interests.  White Mountains reported $50 million of 
GAAP pre-tax losses on BAM in 2017, driven by $19 million of interest expense on the BAM Surplus Notes and $42 million 
of operating expenses, compared to $49 million of pre-tax losses in 2016, driven by $18 million of interest expense on the 
BAM Surplus Notes and $38 million of operating expenses.  During 2017, BAM paid $5 million of principal and interest in 
cash on the surplus notes held by HG Global.

BAM’s “claims paying resources” represent the capital and other financial resources BAM has available to pay claims and, 
as such, is a key indication of BAM’s financial strength.  BAM’s claims-paying resources include BAM’s qualified statutory 
capital, including MSC, net unearned premiums, contingency reserves, present value of future installment premiums and MSC 
and the first loss reinsurance protection provided by HG Re, which is collateralized and held in trusts.  BAM expects MSC and 
HG Re’s reinsurance protection to be the primary drivers of continued growth of its claims-paying resources. 

BAM’s claims paying resources increased 10% to $708 million at December 31, 2017.  The increase was primarily driven 
by $37 million of MSC and a $44 million increase in the invested assets of the HG Re collateral trusts, partially offset by 
BAM’s 2017 statutory net loss of $25 million.  

The following table presents BAM’s total claims paying resources as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Millions December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Policyholders’ surplus $ 427.3 $ 431.5
Contingency reserve 34.8 22.7
     Qualified statutory capital 462.1 454.2
Net unearned premiums 30.5 23.2
Present value of future installment premiums and MSC 9.0 3.3
Collateral trusts 206.8 163.0
     Claims paying resources $ 708.4 $ 643.7
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Beginning in 2017, White Mountains changed its calculation of adjusted book value per share (i) to include a discount for 
the time value of money arising from the expected timing of cash payments of principal and interest on the BAM surplus notes 
and (ii) to add back the unearned premium reserve, net of deferred acquisition costs, at HG Global.  See “NON-GAAP 
FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 51.

HG Global/BAM Results—Year Ended December 31, 2016 versus Year Ended December 31, 2015
Written premiums and MSC in the HG Global/BAM segment were $77 million in 2016, compared to $55 million in 2015, 

from both higher pricing and higher issuance volume.  Total pricing, which is written premiums plus MSC, weighted by the par 
value of municipal bonds insured was 68 basis points in 2016, up from 52 basis points in 2015.  In 2016, BAM insured $11.3 
billion of municipal bonds, $10.3 billion of which were in the primary market, up 7% from 2015.  

The following table presents the gross par value of primary and secondary market policies issued, the gross written 
premiums plus MSC and total pricing for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,
$ in millions 2016 2015

Gross par value of primary market policies issued $ 10,336.1 $ 9,992.5
Gross par value of secondary market policies issued 967.2 613.5

Total gross par value of market policies issued $ 11,303.3 $ 10,606.0

Gross written premiums $ 38.6 $ 25.9
MSC collected 38.0 29.2

Total gross written premiums and MSC $ 76.6 $ 55.1

Total pricing 68 bps 52 bps

HG Global reported GAAP pre-tax income of $22 million and $18 million in 2016 and 2015, which was driven by $18 
million and $16 million of interest income on the BAM Surplus Notes, respectively.

White Mountains reported $49 million of GAAP pre-tax losses on BAM in 2016, driven by $18 million of interest expense 
on the BAM Surplus Notes and $38 million of operating expenses, compared to $47 million of pre-tax losses in 2015, driven by 
$16 million of interest expense on the BAM Surplus Notes and $35 million of operating expenses.  

BAM’s claims paying resources increased 7% to $644 million at December 31, 2016.  The increase was primarily driven 
by $38 million of MSC and a $26 million increase in the invested assets of the HG Re collateral trusts, partially offset by 
BAM’s 2016 statutory net loss of $33 million.  

The following table presents BAM’s total claims paying resources as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Millions December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Policyholders’ surplus $ 431.5 $ 437.2
Contingency reserve 22.7 12.4
     Qualified statutory capital 454.2 449.6
Net unearned premiums 23.2 12.5
Present value of future installment premiums and MSC 3.3 2.6
Collateral trusts 163.0 136.6
     Claims paying resources $ 643.7 $ 601.3
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The following table presents amounts from HG Global, which includes HG Re and its other wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
and BAM that are contained within White Mountains’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017

Millions HG Global BAM

Eliminations
and Segment
Adjustment

Total
Segment

Assets
Fixed maturity investments $ 175.5 $ 448.1 $ — $ 623.6
Short-term investments 28.5 41.3 — 69.8

Total investments 204.0 489.4 — 693.4
Cash 1.9 23.7 — 25.6
BAM Surplus Notes 499.0 — (499.0) —
Accrued interest receivable on BAM Surplus Notes 126.0 — (126.0) —
Deferred acquisition costs 25.1 14.9 (25.2) 14.8
Insurance premiums receivable 2.7 4.7 (2.9) 4.5
Accounts receivable on unsettled investments sales — .1 — .1
Other assets .8 8.2 — 9.0

Total assets $ 859.5 $ 541.0 $ (653.1) $ 747.4
Liabilities

BAM Surplus Notes (1) $ — $ 499.0 $ (499.0) $ —
Accrued interest payable on BAM Surplus Notes (2) — 126.0 (126.0) —
Preferred dividends payable to White Mountains's subsidiaries (3) 227.9 — — 227.9
Preferred dividends payable to non-controlling interests 7.7 — — 7.7
Unearned insurance premiums 107.2 29.6 — 136.8
Accounts payable on unsettled investment purchases — .6 — .6
Other liabilities 1.0 49.0 (28.1) 21.9

Total liabilities 343.8 704.2 (653.1) 394.9
Equity

White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity 499.8 — — 499.8
Non-controlling interests 15.9 (163.2) — (147.3)

Total equity 515.7 (163.2) — 352.5
Total liabilities and equity $ 859.5 $ 541.0 $ (653.1) $ 747.4

(1) Under GAAP, the BAM Surplus Notes are classified as debt by the issuer.  Under U.S. Statutory accounting, they are classified as policyholders’ surplus.
(2) Under GAAP, interest accrues daily on the BAM Surplus Notes.  Under U.S. Statutory accounting, interest is not accrued on the BAM Surplus Notes until it 

has been approved for payment by insurance regulators.
(3) For segment reporting, the HG Global preferred dividend receivable at White Mountains is reclassified from the Other Operations segment to the HG 

Global/BAM segment.  Dividends on HG Global preferred shares payable to White Mountains’s subsidiaries are eliminated in White Mountains’s 
consolidated financial statements.  
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December 31, 2016

Millions HG Global BAM

Eliminations
and Segment
Adjustment

Total
Segment

Assets
Fixed maturity investments $ 155.2 $ 430.0 $ — $ 585.2
Short-term investments 6.4 38.1 — 44.5

Total investments 161.6 468.1 — 629.7
Cash 1.9 25.1 — 27.0
BAM Surplus Notes 503.0 — (503.0) —
Accrued interest receivable on BAM Surplus Notes 108.0 — (108.0) —
Deferred acquisition costs 11.0 10.6 (11.0) 10.6
Insurance premiums receivable .9 1.7 (1.0) 1.6
Other assets .6 8.1 — 8.7

Total assets $ 787.0 $ 513.6 $ (623.0) $ 677.6
Liabilities

BAM Surplus Notes (1) $ — $ 503.0 $ (503.0) $ —
Accrued interest payable on BAM Surplus Notes (2) — 108.0 (108.0) —
Preferred dividends payable to White Mountains's subsidiaries (3) 180.5 — — 180.5
Preferred dividends payable to non-controlling interests 5.7 — — 5.7
Unearned insurance premiums 60.7 22.2 — 82.9
Other liabilities .7 31.3 (12.0) 20.0

Total liabilities 247.6 664.5 (623.0) 289.1
Equity

White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity 522.8 — — 522.8
Non-controlling interests 16.6 (150.9) — (134.3)

Total equity 539.4 (150.9) — 388.5
Total liabilities and equity $ 787.0 $ 513.6 $ (623.0) $ 677.6

(1) Under GAAP, the BAM Surplus Notes are classified as debt by the issuer.  Under U.S. Statutory accounting, they are classified as policyholders’ surplus.
(2) Under GAAP, interest accrues daily on the BAM Surplus Notes.  Under U.S. Statutory accounting, interest is not accrued on the BAM Surplus Notes until it 

has been approved for payment by insurance regulators.
(3) For segment reporting, the HG Global preferred dividend receivable at White Mountains is reclassified from the Other Operations segment to the HG 

Global/BAM segment.  Dividends on HG Global preferred shares payable to White Mountains’s subsidiaries are eliminated in White Mountains’s 
consolidated financial statements.  

The following table presents the gross par value of policies priced and closed by BAM for the years ended December 
31, 2017 and 2016:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016
Gross par value of primary market policies issued $ 9,633.5 $ 10,336.1
Gross par value of secondary market policies issued 793.2 967.2

Total gross par value of policies issued 10,426.7 11,303.3

Gross par value of policies priced yet to close 114.4 353.3
   Less: Gross par value of policies closed that were priced in a previous period 353.3 298.6

Total gross par value of market policies priced $ 10,187.8 $ 11,358.0
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MediaAlpha
 
The following table presents the components of GAAP net loss and EBITDA included in White Mountains’s MediaAlpha 

segment for the years ended 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Advertising and commission revenues $ 163.2 $ 116.5 $ 105.5
Cost of sales 135.9 97.8 90.7

Gross profit 27.3 18.7 14.8
General and administrative expenses 16.2 11.8 8.3
Amortization of other intangible assets 10.5 10.1 8.1
Interest expense 1.0 .9 .4

GAAP pre-tax loss (.4) (4.1) (2.0)
Income tax expense — — —

GAAP net loss (.4) (4.1) (2.0)

Add back:
Interest expense 1.0 .9 .4
Income tax expense — — —
General and administrative expenses - depreciation .2 .1 —
Amortization of other intangible assets 10.5 10.1 8.1

EBITDA (1) $ 11.3 $ 7.0 $ 6.5
(1) See “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 51.

MediaAlpha Results—Year Ended December 31, 2017 versus Year Ended December 31, 2016
On October 5, 2017, MediaAlpha acquired certain assets associated with the Health, Life and Medicare insurance business 

of Healthplans.com for a purchase price of $28 million.  The acquired assets include domain names, advertiser and publisher 
relationships, traffic acquisition accounts, and owned and operated websites.  During the fourth quarter of 2017, which includes 
the annual open enrollment period for Health and Medicare coverages, business from the acquired assets contributed $15 
million of revenues and $2 million of both pre-tax income and EBITDA.

MediaAlpha reported break-even results in 2017, compared to a pre-tax loss of $4 million in 2016.  EBITDA was $11 
million in 2017, compared to $7 million in 2016.  For the year ended December 31, 2017, the increase in pre-tax income and 
EBITDA were primarily driven by increases in gross profit of $7 million in the Health, Life and Medicare vertical and $1 
million in the P&C vertical, partially offset by increased operating expenses.

Advertising and commission revenues were $163 million in 2017, compared to $117 million in 2016. The increase in 
revenues was primarily driven by growth generated from the newly acquired assets in the Health, Life and Medicare vertical 
and the growth in the P&C vertical.  The Health, Life and Medicare vertical revenues increased $27 million, to $56 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2017.  The P&C vertical revenues increased $11 million, to $88 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2017. 

MediaAlpha’s cost of sales is comprised primarily of revenue share based payments to partners.  Cost of sales were $136 
million in 2017, compared to $98 million in 2016.  The 39% increase in cost of sales was driven by the increase in revenues. 

MediaAlpha Results—Year Ended December 31, 2016 versus Year Ended December 31, 2015
MediaAlpha reported pre-tax losses of $4 million and $2 million in 2016 and 2015.  EBITDA was $7 million in 2016 and 

2015.  The increase in the pre-tax loss in 2016 was primarily driven by the additional amortization expense of $2 million from 
amortization related to the 2016 acquisition of certain travel-related assets from Oversee.net.  Additionally in 2016, gross profit 
from the Health, Life and Medicare vertical increased $2 million which was offset by the decline in gross profit from the P&C 
vertical of $2 million and increased operating expenses. 

Advertising and commission revenues were $117 million in 2016, compared to $106 million in 2015.  The increase was 
driven by $18 million and $11 million of revenue growth in the Health, Life and Medicare vertical and the non-P&C verticals, 
partially offset by $18 million of revenue decline in the P&C vertical.

MediaAlpha’s cost of sales is comprised primarily of revenue share based payments to partners.  Cost of sales were $98 
million in 2016, compared to $91 million in 2015.
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Other Operations

The following table presents White Mountains’s financial results from its Other Operations segment for the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Earned insurance premiums $ 1.0 $ 7.5 $ 8.7
Net investment income 43.7 23.1 4.8
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 132.7 (28.1) 259.9
Advertising and commission revenues 3.8 1.8 1.9
Other revenues 6.1 20.2 48.5

Total revenues 187.3 24.5 323.8
Losses and LAE 1.1 8.0 8.2
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses .1 2.2 3.4
Cost of sales 3.5 4.2 2.9
General and administrative expenses — amortization of other intangible assets .2 .4 .5
General and administrative expenses — other 148.9 124.1 147.0
Interest expense on debt 1.3 2.1 1.2

Total expenses 155.1 141.0 163.2
Pre-tax income (loss) $ 32.2 $ (116.5) $ 160.6

Other Operations Results—Year Ended December 31, 2017 versus Year Ended December 31, 2016 
 White Mountains’s Other Operations segment reported pre-tax income of $32 million in 2017 compared to pre-tax loss of 
$117 million in 2016.  The improved results were primarily driven by strong equity returns in 2017.  Net realized and 
unrealized investment gains were $133 million in 2017, compared to net realized and unrealized investment losses of $28 
million in 2016.  Net investment income increased to $44 million in 2017 from $23 million in 2016.  The increase was driven 
by a higher invested asset base resulting primarily from the proceeds received from the OneBeacon Transaction.  See 
“Summary of Investment Results” on page 38.  Other revenues were $6 million in 2017, compared to $20 million in 2016, 
primarily driven by lower third-party investment management fee income at WM Advisors.  

The Other Operations segment reported general and administrative expenses of $149 million in 2017, compared to $124 
million in 2016.  The increase in general and administrative expenses was driven by additional compensation expenses related 
to the severance of former company executives and higher incentive compensation costs resulting from the OneBeacon 
Transaction.

Share repurchases.  For the year ended December 31, 2017, White Mountains repurchased and retired 832,725 of its 
common shares for $724 million at an average share price of $869.29, or approximately 95% of White Mountains’s December 
31, 2017 adjusted book value per share. 
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Other Operations Results—Year Ended December 31, 2016 versus Year Ended December 31, 2015 
White Mountains’s Other Operations segment reported pre-tax loss of $117 million in 2016 compared to pre-tax income of 

$161 million in 2015.  The decrease is primarily due to the recognition of a $259 million unrealized investment gain on White 
Mountains’s investment in Symetra in the fourth quarter of 2015.  This gain was the result of a change in accounting for the 
investment in Symetra from the equity method to fair value, caused by White Mountains’s relinquishment of its representation 
on Symetra’s board of directors subsequent to Symetra entering into a merger agreement with Sumitomo Life.

White Mountains’s Other Operations segment reported net realized and unrealized investment losses of $28 million in 
2016, compared to net realized and unrealized investment gains of $260 million in 2015, which included the gain from 
Symetra.  The net realized and unrealized investment losses for the year ended December 31, 2016 included $21 million of 
losses in two private equity investments.  The Other Operations segment reported net investment income of $23 million in 2016 
compared to $5 million in 2015, driven by a higher invested asset base resulting primarily from the sale of Sirius Group.  See 
“Summary of Investment Results” below.  In addition, other revenues in 2016 included third-party investment management 
fee income at WM Advisors of $10 million, compared to $13 million in 2015.  Other revenue also included a $20 million pre-
tax gain in 2015 from the sale of Hamer LLC, a small manufacturing company that White Mountains received in 2012 in 
connection with the liquidation of a limited partnership fund.  General and administrative expenses decreased in the year ended 
December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 as compensation expenses during 2016, driven by the 
rising market price of White Mountains’s common shares, were more than offset by the impact from $36 million of incentive 
compensation expense recorded during 2015 related to the agreements to sell Sirius Group and Symetra.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, White Mountains wrote down its investment in the SSIE Surplus Notes, which 
reduced book value per share by approximately $4.  White Mountains consolidated SSIE, the issuer of the SSIE Surplus Notes.  
As a result, the impact of the write down is eliminated in pre-tax income. However, the write down resulted in a $21 million 
decrease to White Mountains’s book value and a corresponding increase to non-controlling interest equity.

Share repurchases.  White Mountains repurchased and retired 1,106,145 of its common shares for $887 million in 2016 at 
an average price per share of $802.08, or approximately 101% of White Mountains’s December 31, 2016 adjusted book value 
per share. 

II. Summary of Investment Results

White Mountains’s total investment results include continuing operations and discontinued operations.  The OneBeacon 
and Sirius Group investment results are included in discontinued operations for each respective period. 

For purposes of discussing rates of return, all percentages are presented gross of management fees and trading expenses in 
order to produce a better comparison to benchmark returns, while all dollar amounts are presented net of management fees and 
trading expenses.  

The following table presents White Mountains’s consolidated portfolio pre-tax investment results, including the returns 
from discontinued operations, for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Gross Investment Returns and Benchmark Returns

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Short-term investments 1.0 % 0.8 % (0.9)%
Investment grade fixed maturity investments 3.4 % 2.6 % 0.3 %

Total fixed income investments 3.5 % 2.4 % 0.2 %
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate Index 2.3 % 2.0 % 1.2 %

Common equity securities 20.1 % 6.2 % 33.2 %
Other long-term investments (5.8)% 0.8 % (10.1)%

Total common equity securities and other long-term investments 12.7 % 4.3 % 19.3 %
S&P 500 Index (total return) 21.8 % 12.0 % 1.4 %

Total consolidated portfolio 5.6 % 2.7 % 3.6 %

Investment Returns—Year Ended December 31, 2017 versus Year Ended December 31, 2016
White Mountains’s pre-tax total return on invested assets was 5.6% for 2017 compared to 2.7% for 2016.  The strong 

investment returns for 2017 benefited from the relatively short-duration of the fixed income portfolio and continued rally in 
equity markets, while returns for 2016 were driven by strong common equity returns and decent fixed income returns despite 
rising rates.
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Fixed Income Results
White Mountains maintains a high quality, short-duration fixed income portfolio.  As of December 31, 2017, the fixed 

income portfolio duration, including short-term investments, was 3.4 years compared to 2.8 years as of December 31, 2016. 
The increase in the duration of the fixed income portfolio over this period was primarily a result of adding modestly longer 
securities to the portfolio as prospective total returns became more attractive at higher interest rate levels. 

White Mountains’s fixed income portfolio returned 3.5% for 2017, outperforming the longer duration Bloomberg Barclays 
U.S. Intermediate Aggregate Index return of 2.3%, as interest rates rose in the period.  White Mountains’s fixed income 
portfolio returned 2.4% for 2016, outperforming the longer duration Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate Index 
return of 2.0%, as interest rates rose in the period.

In the fourth quarter of 2017, White Mountains established a U.S. investment grade corporate bond portfolio with Principal 
Global Investors, LLC (“Principal”), a third party manager.  As of December 31, 2017, the fair value of the Principal U.S. 
investment grade corporate bond investments was $250 million and the duration of the Principal investment grade corporate 
bond portfolio was approximately 4.7 years.

 In the fourth quarter of 2016, White Mountains established a medium duration GBP investment grade corporate bond 
mandate with Legal & General Investment Management, Ltd. (“LGIM”), a third-party manager.  As of December 31, 2017, the 
fair value of the medium duration GBP investment grade corporate bonds was $206 million and the duration of the LGIM 
portfolio was approximately 7.5 years.  White Mountains entered into a foreign currency forward contract, which is recorded in 
other long-term investments, to manage its GBP foreign currency exposure relating to this mandate. As of December 31, 2017, 
the contract had a total gross notional value of $206 million (GBP 152 million) and a carrying value of $(4) million.

 In the third quarter of 2016, White Mountains established a relatively concentrated portfolio of high-yield fixed maturity 
investments managed by Principal.  The portfolio is invested in issuers of U.S. dollar denominated publicly traded and 144A 
debt securities issued by corporations with generally at least one rating between “B-” and “BB+” inclusive by Standard and 
Poor’s or similar ratings from other rating agencies.  As of December 31, 2017, the fair value of the high-yield fixed maturity 
investments was $203 million and the duration of the Principal high-yield portfolio was approximately 4.6 years.  

Common Equity Securities and Other Long-Term Investments Results
White Mountains maintains a portfolio of common equity securities and other long-term investments.  White Mountains’s 

management believes that prudent levels of investments in common equity securities and other long-term investments are likely 
to enhance long-term after-tax total returns.

White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities and other long-term investments returned 12.7% for 2017 and 
4.3% for 2016.  White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities and other long-term investments represented 
approximately 32% and 15% of total invested assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.  The increase in the percentage of this 
portfolio is primarily attributable to management’s decision to add equity exposure during the year and a decline in the 
investment asset base due to the OneBeacon Transaction and share repurchase activity. 

White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities primarily consists of passive ETFs and publicly-traded common 
equity securities that are actively managed by third party managers.  White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities 
returned 20.1% for 2017, underperforming the S&P 500 Index return of 21.8%.  White Mountain’s portfolio of common equity 
securities returned 6.2% for 2016, underperforming the S&P 500 Index return of 12.0%.

The portfolio of ETFs seeks to provide investment results that, before expenses, generally correspond to the performance 
of broad market indices.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains had approximately $570 million and $322 
million invested in ETFs. In 2017 and 2016, the ETFs essentially earned the effective index return, before expenses, over the 
period in which White Mountains was invested in these funds.

White Mountains’s third party common equity manager relationships (the “actively managed common equity portfolios”) 
have been with Silchester International Investors (“Silchester”), who invests in value-oriented non-U.S. equity securities 
through a unit trust, and Lateef Investment Management, a growth at a reasonable price adviser managing a highly concentrated 
portfolio of mid-cap and large-cap growth companies.  During the first quarter of 2017, White Mountains established a new 
third-party manager relationship with Lazard Asset Management (“Lazard”), to manage a Pan-European common equity 
portfolio, of which the majority of the securities are denominated in Euros.  In September 2017, White Mountains terminated its 
relationship with Lazard in order to concentrate its non-U.S. equity exposure in small to mid-cap international equities through 
other third-party managers.  During the third quarter of 2017 and prior to terminating Lazard, White Mountains established a 
new third-party manager relationship with Highclere International Investors (“Highclere”), who invests in small to mid-cap 
equity securities listed in markets outside of the United States and Canada through a unit trust.

White Mountains’s actively managed common equity portfolios returned 25.2% in 2017, outperforming the S&P 500 Index 
return of 21.8% for the comparable period.  White Mountains’s actively managed common equity portfolios returned 4.0% in 
2016, underperforming the S&P 500 Index return of 12.0% in 2016.
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White Mountains entered into foreign currency forward contracts, which are recorded in other long-term investments, to 
manage its foreign currency exposure relating to the common equity portfolio managed by Lazard and a portion of the common 
equity portfolios managed by Silchester and Highclere.  These foreign currency forward contracts were closed as of December 
31, 2017.

White Mountains maintains a portfolio of other long-term investments that primarily consists of one hedge fund, private 
equity funds, non-controlling interests in private capital investments and foreign currency forward contracts.  As of December 
31, 2017, approximately 59% of these other long-term investments, excluding foreign currency forward contracts, were in one 
long-short hedge fund and ten private equity funds, with a general emphasis on narrow, sector-focused funds.

White Mountains’s other long-term investments portfolio returned -5.8% for 2017.  The results were primarily attributable 
to losses from foreign currency forward contracts and unfavorable results from private capital investments, including a $15 
million write-down to White Mountains’s investment in Captricity.  These losses were partially offset by strong private equity 
fund performance and favorable mark-to-market adjustments to the OneBeacon Surplus Notes.  White Mountains’s other long-
term investments portfolio returned 0.8% for 2016.  The results were primarily attributable to favorable mark-to-market 
adjustments to the OneBeacon Surplus Notes, mostly offset by losses from private equity funds and private capital investments.

Investment Returns—Year Ended December 31, 2016 versus Year Ended December 31, 2015
White Mountains’s pre-tax total return on invested assets was 2.7% for 2016, compared to 3.6% for 2015. The 2015 results 

were primarily driven by $259 million in pre-tax unrealized investment gains recognized in the fourth quarter of 2015 resulting 
from the Symetra transaction. Excluding the results from the Symetra transaction, the total return on invested assets was -0.2% 
for 2015, which included 0.9% from foreign currency losses. 

Fixed Income Results
White Mountains’s fixed income portfolio returned 2.4% for 2016, outperforming the longer duration Bloomberg Barclays 

U.S. Intermediate Aggregate Index return of 2.0%, as interest rates rose in the period.  White Mountains’s fixed income 
portfolio returned 0.2% for 2015, underperforming the longer duration Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate Index 
return of 1.2%, primarily due to foreign currency losses from strengthening in the U.S. dollar.

As of December 31, 2016, the fixed income portfolio duration, including short-term investments, was approximately 2.8 
years, compared to 2.2 years as of December 31, 2015.  The increase in the duration of the fixed income portfolio over this 
period was primarily a result of buying into the fourth quarter bond market selloff, the establishment of both the Principal high 
yield mandate in the third quarter of 2016 and the LGIM GBP investment grade corporate bond mandate in the fourth quarter of 
2016.

  At the inception of the LGIM mandate, White Mountains entered into a foreign currency forward contract, which is 
recorded in other long-term investments, to manage its GBP foreign currency exposure related to this mandate.  As of 
December 31, 2016, the contract had a total gross notional value of approximately $185 million (GBP 150 million) and a 
carrying value of $(1) million.

Common Equity Securities and Other Long-Term Investments Results
 White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities and other long-term investments returned 4.3% for 2016.  White 

Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities and other long-term investments returned 19.3% for 2015.  Excluding the 
results from the Symetra transaction, the portfolio of common equity securities and other long-term investments returned -1.8% 
for 2015.

White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities and other long-term investments represented approximately 15% 
and 23% of total invested assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.  When reflecting the Symetra transaction on February 1, 
2016 and the Sirius Group sale on April 18, 2016, White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities and other long-
term investments represented approximately 12% of total invested assets as of December 31, 2015.

White Mountains’s common equity securities returned 6.2% for 2016, underperforming the S&P 500 Index return of 12.0% 
due to pockets of poor performance from the actively managed common equity portfolios managed by third party managers.  
White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities returned 33.2% for 2015.  Excluding the results from the Symetra 
transaction, the portfolio of common equity securities returned 2.9% for 2015, outperforming the S&P 500 Index return of 
1.4%.

White Mountains’s other long-term investments portfolio returned 0.8% for 2016.  The results were primarily attributable 
to favorable mark-to-market adjustments to the OneBeacon Surplus Notes, mostly offset by losses from private equity funds 
and private capital investments.  White Mountains’s other long-term investment portfolio returned -10.1% for 2015.  The results 
were primarily attributable to unfavorable mark-to-market adjustments to the OneBeacon Surplus Notes and poor performance 
from investments in energy exposed private equity funds and a distressed debt hedge fund.
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Portfolio Composition

The following table presents the composition of White Mountains’s total operations investment portfolio as of December 
31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

$ in millions
Carrying

value % of total
Carrying

value % of total

Fixed maturity investments $ 2,129.7 63.0% $ 4,256.8 79.7%
Short-term investments 176.1 5.2 287.1 5.4
Common equity securities 866.1 25.6 474.3 8.9
Other long-term investments 208.8 6.2 323.3 6.0

Total investments $ 3,380.7 100.0% $ 5,341.5 100.0%

The following table presents the breakdown of White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments as of December 31, 2017 by 
credit class, based upon issuer credit ratings provided by Standard & Poor’s, or if unrated by Standard & Poor’s, long term 
obligation ratings provided by Moody’s:

December 31, 2017

$ in millions
Amortized

cost % of total
Carrying

value % of total

U.S. government and government-sponsored entities (1) $ 493.2 23.3% $ 489.2 23.0%
AAA/Aaa 372.7 17.6 372.3 17.5
AA/Aa 335.1 15.8 338.1 15.9
A/A 246.3 11.6 251.8 11.8
BBB/Baa 471.4 22.3 479.0 22.5
BB 160.6 7.6 161.7 7.6
B 17.6 .8 17.3 .8
Other/not rated 20.3 1.0 20.3 .9

Total fixed maturity investments $ 2,117.2 100.0% $ 2,129.7 100.0%
(1) Includes mortgage-backed securities, which carry the full faith and credit guaranty of the U.S. government (i.e., GNMA) or are guaranteed by a 

government sponsored entity (i.e., FNMA, FHLMC).

The cost or amortized cost and carrying value of White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments as of December 31, 2017 is 
presented below by contractual maturity.  Actual maturities could differ from contractual maturities because certain borrowers 
may call or prepay their obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

December 31, 2017

Millions
Amortized

cost
Carrying

value
Due in one year or less $ 109.0 $ 108.8
Due after one year through five years 663.0 660.9
Due after five years through ten years 464.9 472.0
Due after ten years 183.1 193.3
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 697.2 694.7

Total fixed maturity investments $ 2,117.2 $ 2,129.7

Foreign Currency Translation 

As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains had gross foreign currency exposure on approximately $444 million of net 
assets relating to cash and fixed maturity investments managed by LGIM, common equity securities managed by Silchester and 
Highclere and various other consolidated and unconsolidated private capital investments.  

White Mountains entered into foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate its foreign currency exposure for the invested 
assets managed by LGIM and a portion of the invested assets managed by Silchester and Highclere.  In the fourth quarter of 
2017, White Mountains closed the foreign currency forward contracts associated with the investment assets managed by 
Silchester and Highclere.
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The following table presents the fair value of White Mountains’s foreign denominated assets and the associated foreign 
currency forward contracts as of December 31, 2017:

$ in millions

Currency (1) Fair Value (Gross)
% of Common

Shareholders’ Equity Currency Hedge Fair Value (Net)
% of Common

Shareholders’ Equity

GBP $ 257.5 7.4% $ (206.3) $ 51.2 1.5%
JPY 68.6 2.0 — 68.6 2.0
EUR 55.3 1.6 — 55.3 1.6
All other 62.1 1.7 — 62.1 1.7

Total $ 443.5 12.7% $ (206.3) $ 237.2 6.8%
(1) Includes net assets of Wobi and Buzzmove.

Investment in Symetra Common Shares

During the third quarter of 2015, Symetra announced that it entered into a merger agreement with Sumitomo Life pursuant 
to which Sumitomo Life would acquire all of the outstanding shares of Symetra.  Following the announcement and Symetra 
shareholders’ November 5, 2015 meeting to approve the transaction, White Mountains relinquished its representation on 
Symetra’s board of directors.  As a result, White Mountains changed its accounting for Symetra common shares from the equity 
method to fair value and recognized a $259 million pre-tax unrealized investment gain in the fourth quarter of 2015.  The 
carrying value per Symetra share used in the calculation of White Mountains’s adjusted book value per share was $31.77 at 
December 31, 2015.  On February 1, 2016, Symetra closed its merger agreement with Sumitomo Life and White Mountains 
received proceeds of $658 million, or $32 per common share.  White Mountains recognized $5 million in pre-tax net 
investment gains associated with Symetra during 2016. 

Symetra’s total revenues and net income through September 30, 2015 were $1.6 billion and $90 million. As of September 
30, 2015, Symetra had total assets of $35.0 billion and shareholders’ equity of $3.1 billion.  Since inception, White Mountains 
received a total of $149 million in cash dividends recorded as a reduction of White Mountains investment in Symetra under the 
equity method. White Mountains received a cash dividend of $2 million in the fourth quarter of 2015 recorded within net 
investment income.

Income Taxes

The Company and its Bermuda-domiciled subsidiaries are not subject to Bermuda income tax under current Bermuda law.  
In the event there is a change in the current law such that taxes are imposed, the Company and its Bermuda-domiciled 
subsidiaries would be exempt from such tax until March 31, 2035, pursuant to the Bermuda Exempted Undertakings Tax 
Protection Act of 1966.  The Company has subsidiaries and branches that operate in various other jurisdictions around the 
world that are subject to tax in the jurisdictions in which they operate. 

White Mountains reported income tax benefit of $8 million in 2017 on pre-tax income of $8 million.  White Mountains’s 
effective tax rate related to pre-tax income from continuing operations for 2017 was different from the U.S. statutory rate of 
35%, primarily due to a full valuation allowance on all U.S. operations, income generated in jurisdictions with lower tax rates 
than the United States, a tax benefit recorded at BAM related to its MSC, and consolidated pre-tax income being near break-
even.  For 2017, BAM had amounts recorded in shareholders’ equity related to its MSC that were available to partially offset its 
loss from continuing operations.  As a result, BAM recorded a tax benefit of $10 million in net income from continuing 
operations, with an offsetting amount recorded in shareholders’ equity.  See Note 6 — “Income Taxes” on page F-33.

White Mountains reported income tax benefit of $33 million in 2016 on pre-tax loss of $147 million. White Mountains’s 
effective tax rate for 2016 was different than the U.S. statutory rate of 35% due primarily to a full valuation allowance on all 
U.S. operations, a $21 million tax benefit generated by the sale of Tranzact recognized in continuing operations related to the 
reversal of a valuation allowance that resulted from income that was recognized within discontinued operations, and a tax 
benefit recorded at BAM related to its MSC.  For 2016, BAM had amounts recorded in shareholders’ equity related to its MSC 
that were available to partially offset its loss from continuing operations.  As a result, BAM recorded a tax benefit of $11 
million in net income from continuing operations, with an offsetting amount recorded in shareholders’ equity. 

White Mountains reported income tax expense of $13 million in 2015 on pre-tax income of $129 million.  White 
Mountains’s effective tax rate for 2015 was different than the U.S. statutory rate of 35% due primarily to a full valuation 
allowance on all U.S. operations, a tax benefit recorded at BAM related to its MSC and income generated in jurisdictions with 
lower tax rates than the United States.  For 2015, BAM had amounts recorded in shareholders’ equity related to its MSC that 
were available to partially offset its loss from continuing operations.  As a result, BAM recorded a tax benefit of $9 million in 
net income from continuing operations, with an offsetting amount recorded in shareholders’ equity.
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Discontinued Operations

During 2017, 2016 and 2015, White Mountains entered into a number of sale transactions that have been accounted for as 
discontinued operations within its consolidated financial statements.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations” on page F-56 for detailed financial information on each business sold.

OneBeacon

OneBeacon Results — Period Ended September 28, 2017
On September 28, 2017, White Mountains received $1.3 billion in cash proceeds from the OneBeacon Transaction and 

recorded a gain of $555 million, net of transaction costs. 
For the 2017 period, White Mountains reported net income from OneBeacon of $21 million in discontinued operations.  

OneBeacon’s combined ratio for the 2017 period was 105%, driven by 4 points of net unfavorable loss reserve development, 
primarily in the Program, Healthcare and Government Risk businesses, and 4 points of catastrophe losses, primarily due to 
losses from Hurricane Harvey. 

OneBeacon Results—Year Ended December 31, 2016 versus Year Ended December 31, 2015
For the year ended December 31, 2016, White Mountains reported net income from OneBeacon of $109 million, compared 

to $38 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.  Solid underwriting results and investment returns drove the increase 
OneBeacon’s GAAP combined ratio increased to 97% for 2016 from 96% for 2015, primarily due to a higher expense ratio 
driven by a lower premium volume and changing business mix.

Sirius Group

Sirius Group Results — Period Ended April 18, 2016
On April 18, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Sirius Group to CMI.  Sirius Group’s results inured to White 

Mountains until the closing date of the transaction.  
For the 2016 period, White Mountains reported Sirius Group’s comprehensive income of $27 million and a combined ratio 

of 102%, which was driven by $17 million of recorded losses from the Ecuador earthquake that occurred on April 16, 2016. 

Sirius Group Results—Year Ended December 31, 2015
For the 2015 period, White Mountains reported Sirius Group’s comprehensive income of $16 million and a combined ratio 

of 85%, which included $18 million of losses after reinstatement premiums from the Tianjin port explosion.  Also, the 
combined ratios for the year ended December 31, 2015 were higher by 1 point due to the cost of ILW covers purchased to 
mitigate the potential impact of major events on Sirius Group’s balance sheet pending the close of the sale to CMI. The 2015 
period included 3 points of catastrophe losses, primarily from the Chennai flood in Southern India and winter storms in the 
Northeastern United States.  Favorable net loss reserve development was 6 points in 2015 primarily due to decreases in 
casualty and property loss reserves.
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Tranzact

On July 21, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Tranzact to an affiliate of Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, LLC.  
Tranzact's results inured to White Mountains until the closing date of the transaction.  For the 2016 period, White Mountains 
reported Tranzact's net loss from discontinued operations of $3 million.  Tranzact’s results were near break-even for the year 
ended December 31, 2015.

Esurance 

During 2015, White Mountains recognized $18 million of net income from discontinued operations related to the final 
settlement with Allstate for favorable development on loss reserves transferred in the sale of Esurance.  Since the closing of the 
transaction through September 30, 2015, White Mountains received a net amount of $28 million from Allstate, primarily related 
to the favorable development on loss reserves.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Operating Cash and Short-term Investments

Holding Company Level.  The primary sources of cash for the Company and certain of its intermediate holding companies 
are expected to be distributions and tax sharing payments received from its operating subsidiaries, capital raising activities, net 
investment income, proceeds from sales, repayments and maturities of investments and, from time to time, proceeds from sales 
of operating subsidiaries.  The primary uses of cash are expected to be repurchases of the Company’s common shares, 
payments on and repurchases/retirements of its debt obligations, dividend payments to holders of the Company’s common 
shares, distributions to non-controlling interest holders of consolidated subsidiaries, purchases of investments, payments to tax 
authorities, contributions to operating subsidiaries, operating expenses and, from time to time, purchases of operating 
subsidiaries.

Operating Subsidiary Level.  The primary sources of cash for White Mountains’s reinsurance and other operating 
subsidiaries are expected to be premium and fee collections, net investment income, proceeds from sales, repayments and 
maturities of investments, contributions from holding companies, capital raising activities and, from time to time, proceeds 
from sales of operating subsidiaries.  The primary uses of cash are expected to be loss payments, policy acquisition and other 
underwriting costs, cost of sales, purchases of investments, payments on and repurchases/retirements of its debt obligations, 
distributions and tax sharing payments made to holding companies, distributions to non-controlling interest holders, operating 
expenses and, from time to time, purchases of operating subsidiaries.

Both internal and external forces influence White Mountains’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
Premium and fee levels, loss payments, cost of sales and investment returns may be impacted by changing rates of inflation and 
other economic conditions.  Some time may lapse between the occurrence of an insured loss, the reporting of the loss to White 
Mountains and the settlement of the liability for that loss.  The exact timing of the payment of losses and benefits cannot be 
predicted with certainty.  White Mountains’s reinsurance subsidiary maintains a portfolio of invested assets with varying 
maturities and a substantial amount of cash and short-term investments to provide adequate liquidity for the payment of losses.

Management believes that White Mountains’s cash balances, cash flows from operations and routine sales and maturities 
of investments are adequate to meet expected cash requirements for the foreseeable future on both a holding company and 
subsidiary level.
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Dividend Capacity

Following is a description of the dividend capacity of White Mountains’s reinsurance and other operating subsidiaries:

HG Global/BAM
As of December 31, 2017, HG Global had $619 million face value of preferred shares outstanding, of which White 

Mountains owned 96.9%.  Holders of the HG Global preferred shares receive cumulative dividends at a fixed annual rate of 
6.0% on a quarterly basis, when and if declared by HG Global.  HG Global did not declare or pay any preferred dividends in 
2017.  As of December 31, 2017, HG Global has accrued $236 million of dividends payable to holders of its preferred shares, 
$228 million of which is payable to White Mountains and eliminated in consolidation. 

HG Re is a Special Purpose Insurer subject to regulation and supervision by the BMA, but does not require regulatory 
approval to pay dividends.  However, HG Re’s dividend capacity is limited to amounts held outside of the collateral trusts 
pursuant to the FLRT with BAM.  As of December 31, 2017, HG Re had statutory capital and surplus of $677 million, $715 
million of assets held in the collateral trusts pursuant to the FLRT with BAM and less than $1 million of cash and investments 
outside the collateral trusts.

Effective January 1, 2014, HG Global and BAM agreed to change the interest rate on the BAM Surplus Notes for the five 
years ending December 31, 2018 from a fixed rate of 8.0% to a variable rate equal to the one-year U.S. treasury rate plus 300 
basis points, set annually, which is 4.6% for 2018.  Prior to the end of 2018, BAM has the option to extend the variable rate 
period for an additional three years.  At the end of the variable rate period, the interest rate will be fixed at the higher of the 
then current variable rate or 8.0%.  No payment of interest or principal on the BAM Surplus Notes may be made without the 
approval of the NYDFS.  BAM has stated its intention to seek regulatory approval to pay interest and principal on its surplus 
notes only to the extent that its remaining qualified statutory capital and other capital resources continue to support its 
outstanding obligations, business plan and its AA stable rating from S&P.

In order to further support BAM’s long-term capital position and business prospects, on August 14, 2017, HG Global 
contributed the $203 million of Series A Notes into the Supplemental Trust at HG Re, HG Global’s wholly owned reinsurance 
subsidiary.  The Supplemental Trust already held the $300 million of Series B Surplus Notes.  Assets held in the Supplemental 
Trust serve to collateralize HG Re’s obligations to BAM under the FLRT.  HG Global and BAM also changed the payment 
terms of the Series B Notes, so that payments will reduce principal and accrued interest on a pro rata basis, consistent with the 
payment terms on the Series A Notes. The terms of the Series B Notes had previously stipulated that payments would first 
reduce interest owed, then reduce principal owed once all accrued interest had been paid.  The Supplemental Trust target 
balance is equal to approximately $603 million.  As the BAM Surplus Notes are repaid over time, the BAM Surplus Notes will 
be replaced in the Supplemental Trust by cash and fixed income securities.  The collateral trust balances must be at target levels 
before capital can be distributed out of the Supplemental Trust.  In connection with the contribution, Series A Notes were 
merged with the Series B Notes.  During 2017, BAM repaid $4 million of principal and $1 million of accrued interest on the 
BAM Surplus Notes.

HG Global and BAM also made certain changes to the ceding commission arrangements under the reinsurance treaty 
between HG Re and BAM.  These changes will serve to accelerate growth in BAM’s statutory capital but do not impact the net 
risk premium ceded from BAM to HG Re.

MediaAlpha
During 2017, MediaAlpha paid $5 million of dividends, $3 million of which was paid to White Mountains.  As of 

December 31, 2017, MediaAlpha had $9 million of net unrestricted cash.
 

Other Operations
During 2017, White Mountains paid a $5 million common share dividend.  As of December 31, 2017, the Company and its 

intermediate holding companies had $1,683 million of net unrestricted cash, short-term investments and fixed maturity 
investments, $866 million of common equity securities and $62 million of other long-term investments included in its Other 
Operations segment.  
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Financing

The following table summarizes White Mountains’s capital structure as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31,
$ in millions 2017 2016

WTM Bank Facility $ — $ —
MediaAlpha Bank Facility, carrying value 23.8 —
Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility, carrying value — 12.7

Total debt in continuing operations 23.8 12.7
Debt included in discontinued operations — 273.2

Total debt 23.8 285.9
Non-controlling interest — OneBeacon — 244.6
Non-controlling interests — other, excluding mutuals and reciprocals 31.5 35.2
Total White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity 3,492.5 3,582.7

Total capital 3,547.8 4,148.4
Time-value discount on expected future payments on the BAM Surplus Notes (1) (157.0) N/A
HG Global’s unearned premium reserve (1) 103.9 N/A
HG Global’s net deferred acquisition costs (1) (24.3) N/A

Total adjusted capital $ 3,470.4 $ 4,148.4

Total debt to total adjusted capital 0.7% 6.9%
(1) Amount reflects White Mountains's ownership in HG Global of 96.9%.

Management believes that White Mountains has the flexibility and capacity to obtain funds externally through debt 
or equity financing on both a short-term and long-term basis.  However, White Mountains can provide no assurance that, 
if needed, it would be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on satisfactory terms, if at all.

White Mountains has an unsecured revolving credit facility with a syndicate of lenders administered by Wells Fargo Bank, 
N.A., which has a total commitment of $425 million and a maturity date of August 14, 2018.  During the third quarter of 2017, 
White Mountains borrowed $350 million under the WTM Bank Facility to partially fund a tender offer and subsequently repaid 
the $350 million after receiving the proceeds from the OneBeacon Transaction.  As of December 31, 2017, the WTM Bank 
Facility was undrawn.

The WTM Bank Facility contains various affirmative, negative and financial covenants that White Mountains considers to 
be customary for such borrowings, including certain minimum net worth and maximum debt to capitalization standards.  These 
covenants can restrict White Mountains in several ways, including its ability to incur additional indebtedness.  An uncured 
breach of these covenants could result in an event of default under the WTM Bank Facility, which would allow lenders to 
declare any amounts owed under the WTM Bank Facility to be immediately due and payable.  In addition, a default under the 
WTM Bank Facility could occur if certain of White Mountains’s subsidiaries fail to pay principal and interest on a credit 
facility, mortgage or similar debt agreement (collectively, “covered debt”), or fail to otherwise comply with obligations in such 
covered debt agreements where such a default gives the holder of the covered debt the right to accelerate at least $75 million of 
principal amount of covered debt.

It is possible that, in the future, one or more of the rating agencies may lower White Mountains’s existing ratings.  If one or 
more of its ratings were lowered, White Mountains could incur higher borrowing costs on future borrowings and its ability to 
access the capital markets could be impacted.

On May 12, 2017, MediaAlpha entered into a secured credit facility (the “MediaAlpha Bank Facility”) with Western 
Alliance Bank, which had a total commitment of $20 million and a maturity date of May 12, 2020.  On October 5, 2017, 
MediaAlpha refinanced the MediaAlpha Bank Facility in order to fund the acquisition of certain assets associated with the 
Health, Life and Medicare insurance business of Healthplans.com.  The total commitment of the MediaAlpha Bank Facility 
was increased to $28 million and the maturity date was extended to October 6, 2020.  The MediaAlpha Bank Facility consists 
of an $18 million term loan facility, which has an outstanding balance of $18 million as of December 31, 2017, and a revolving 
loan facility for $10 million, which has an outstanding balance of $6 million as of December 31, 2017. 

The MediaAlpha Bank Facility replaced MediaAlpha’s previous credit facility (the “Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility”) 
with Opus Bank, which had a total commitment of $20 million.  

In 2017, under the MediaAlpha Bank Facility, MediaAlpha borrowed $20 million and repaid $2 million on the term loan 
and borrowed $6 million on the revolving loan.  In 2017, under the Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility, MediaAlpha repaid 
$13 million.
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The MediaAlpha Bank Facility is secured by intellectual property and the common stock of MediaAlpha’s subsidiaries, 
and contains various affirmative, negative and financial covenants that White Mountains considers to be customary for such 
borrowings, including a maximum leverage ratio.

Covenant Compliance
At December 31, 2017, White Mountains was in compliance with all of the covenants under all of its debt instruments and 

expects to remain in compliance for the foreseeable future.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table presents White Mountains’s material contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 
2017:

Millions

Due in
Less Than
One Year

Due in
One to Three

Years

Due in
Three to Five

Years

Due After
Five

Years Total

Debt $ 3.1 $ 12.1 $ 8.7 $ — $ 23.9
Interest on debt 1.6 2.1 — — 3.7
Long-term incentive compensation 23.7 44.8 — — 68.5
Operating leases (1) 3.1 5.0 8.7 .4 17.2

Total contractual obligations and commitments $ 31.5 $ 64.0 $ 17.4 $ .4 $ 113.3
(1)  Amounts include BAM’s operating lease amounts of $1.8, $3.6 and $7.8 that are due in less than one year, one to three years and three to five years, are 

attributed to non-controlling interests. 

The balances included in the table above regarding White Mountains’s long-term incentive compensation plans include 
amounts payable for performance shares and units.  Exact amounts to be paid for performance shares cannot be predicted with 
certainty, as the ultimate amounts of these liabilities are based on the future performance of White Mountains and the market 
price of the Company’s common shares at the time the payments are made.

The estimated payments reflected in the table are based on current accrual factors (including performance relative to 
targets and common share price) and assume that all outstanding balances were 100% vested as of December 31, 2017.

There are no provisions within White Mountains’s operating leasing agreements that would trigger acceleration of future 
lease payments. 

White Mountains does not finance its operations through the securitization of its trade receivables, through special purpose 
entities or through synthetic leases.  Further, White Mountains has not entered into any material arrangements requiring it to 
guarantee payment of third-party debt or lease payments or to fund losses of an unconsolidated special purpose entity.

White Mountains also has future binding commitments to fund certain other long-term investments.  These commitments, 
which total approximately $109 million, do not have fixed funding dates and, are therefore, excluded from the table above.  In 
January and February of 2018, White Mountains made additional unfunded commitments totaling $175 million to CrossHarbor 
and Kudu.
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Share Repurchase Programs

White Mountains’s board of directors has authorized the Company to repurchase its common shares from time to time, 
subject to market conditions.  The repurchase authorizations do not have a stated expiration date.  As of December 31, 2017, 
White Mountains may repurchase an additional 643,130 shares under these board authorizations.  In addition, from time to time 
White Mountains has also repurchased its common shares through tender offers that were separately approved by its board of 
directors.  During the third quarter of 2017, White Mountains completed a “modified Dutch auction” tender offer, through 
which it repurchased 586,732 of its common shares at a purchase price of $875 per share for a total cost of approximately $515 
million, including expenses.

The following table presents common shares repurchased by the Company as well as the average price per share as a 
percent of adjusted book value per share.  For 2015, the table also presents the average price per share as a percent of adjusted 
book value per share, including the estimated gain from the Sirius Group sale of $84 per share as of December 31, 2015 that 
was reported in the Company’s 2015 Form 10-K.

Average price per share as % of
Adjusted book

Average value per share,
Shares Cost price Adjusted book including estimated

Dates Repurchased (millions) per share value per share gain from Sirius sale

Year ended December 31, 2017 832,725 $ 723.9 $ 869.29 95% N/A

Year ended December 31, 2016 1,106,145 $ 887.2 $ 802.08 101% N/A

Year ended December 31, 2015 387,495 $ 284.2 $ 733.37 105% 94%

Cash Flows

Detailed information concerning White Mountains’s cash flows during 2017, 2016 and 2015 follows:

Cash flows from continuing operations for the years ended 2017, 2016 and 2015 
Net cash flows used for continuing operations was $62 million, $173 million and $66 million for the years ended 2017, 

2016 and 2015.  Cash used for continuing operations was lower in 2017 compared to 2016, primarily due to a $166 million use 
of cash in 2016 from the settlement of certain liabilities and transaction costs in connection with the Sirius Group and Tranzact 
sales.  This decrease in cash used from operations was partially offset by an increase in incentive compensation and employee 
retirement payments in 2017 relative to 2016.  White Mountains made long-term incentive payments totaling $22 million, $41 
million and $31 million during 2017, 2016 and 2015.  During 2017, White Mountains also paid $28 million in cash related to 
the departures of the Company’s former Chairman and CEO and former CFO.  White Mountains does not believe that these 
trends will have a meaningful impact on its future liquidity or its ability to meet its future cash requirements as it has $1,683 
million of net unrestricted cash, short-term investments and fixed maturity investments, $866 million of common equity 
securities and $62 million of other long-term investments as of December 31, 2017.

Cash flows from investing and financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017

Financing and Other Capital Activities
During 2017, the Company declared and paid a $5 million cash dividend to its common shareholders.
During 2017, the Company repurchased and retired 832,725 of its common shares for $724 million, which included 10,993 

for $9 million under employee benefit plans for statutory withholding tax payments.
During 2017, the Company borrowed and repaid $350 million under the WTM Bank Facility. 
During 2017, BAM received $37 million in MSC from its members.
During 2017, BAM repaid $4 million of principal and $1 million of accrued interest on the BAM Surplus Notes.
During 2017, MediaAlpha paid $5 million of dividends, of which $3 million was paid to White Mountains.  
During 2017, MediaAlpha borrowed $20 million on the term loan and $6 million on the revolving loan under the 

MediaAlpha Bank Facility.  During 2017, MediaAlpha repaid $13 million under the Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility and $2 
million on the term loan under the MediaAlpha Bank Facility.

During 2017, Wobi borrowed ILS 68 million (approximately $19 million) from White Mountains under an internal credit 
facility.

During 2017, White Mountains received $45 million of dividends from OneBeacon, which is reported as discontinued 
operations. 
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Acquisitions and Dispositions
On August 1, 2017, White Mountains purchased 37,409 newly-issued preferred shares of Buzzmove for GBP 4 million 

(approximately $5 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate at the date of acquisition) and 5,808 common shares from 
the company founders for GBP 0.5 million (approximately $0.7 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate at the date of 
acquisition).

On September 28, 2017, OneBeacon closed its definitive merger agreement with Intact and White Mountains received 
proceeds of $1,299 million, or $18.10 per OneBeacon common share.

On October 5, 2017, White Mountains purchased 131,579 newly-issued Class A common units of MediaAlpha for $13 
million.  

On October 5, 2017, MediaAlpha acquired certain assets associated with the Health, Life and Medicare insurance business 
of Healthplans.com for an aggregate purchase price of $28 million.

During 2017, White Mountains made gross investments into funds managed by Enlightenment Capital totaling $13 million 
and received a total of $24 million of distributions from these funds.

During 2017, White Mountains made gross investments into funds managed by Tuckerman Capital totaling $17 million 
and received a total of $2 million of distributions from these funds.

Cash flows from investing and financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2016

Financing and Other Capital Activities
During 2016, the Company declared and paid a $5 million cash dividend to its common shareholders.
During 2016, the Company repurchased and retired 1,106,145 of its common shares for $887 million, which included 

8,022 common shares repurchased under employee benefit plans.
During 2016, the Company borrowed a total of $350 million and repaid a total of $400 million under the WTM Bank 

Facility.
During 2016, HG Global raised $6 million of additional capital through the issuance of preferred shares, 97% of which 

were purchased by White Mountains.  HG Global used $3 million of the proceeds to repay and cancel an internal credit facility 
with White Mountains.

During 2016, BAM received $38 million in MSC from its members.
During 2016, MediaAlpha paid $3 million of dividends, of which $2 million was paid to White Mountains.  During 2016, 

MediaAlpha repaid $2 million of the term loan portion and borrowed $3 million and repaid $3 million under the revolving loan 
portion of the previous MediaAlpha bank facility.

During 2016, Star & Shield borrowed a total of $4 million under an internal revolving credit facility from White 
Mountains.

During 2016, White Mountains contributed $15 million to WM Advisors. 
During 2016, White Mountains Life Reinsurance (Bermuda) Ltd. returned $73 million of capital to White Mountains.
During 2016, White Mountains received $60 million of dividends from OneBeacon, which is reported as discontinued 

operations. 

Acquisitions and Dispositions
On January 7, 2016, Wobi settled its acquisition of the remaining share capital of Cashboard for NIS 16 million 

(approximately $4 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate at the date of acquisition).
On February 1, 2016, Symetra closed its merger agreement with Sumitomo Life and White Mountains received proceeds 

of $658 million, or $32.00 per Symetra common share.
 On February 26, 2016, White Mountains paid $8 million in settlement of the contingent purchase adjustment for its 

acquisition of MediaAlpha in 2014.
On March 8, 2016 and August 3, 2016, White Mountains purchased additional shares in Captricity for a total of 

approximately $2 million.
On April 18, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Sirius Group to CMI for approximately $2.6 billion.  $162 

million of this amount was used to purchase certain assets to be retained by White Mountains out of Sirius Group, including 
shares of OneBeacon.

During 2016, White Mountains made gross investments into funds managed by Enlightenment Capital totaling $11 million 
and received a total of $14 million of distributions from these funds.

During 2016, White Mountains made gross investments into funds managed by Tuckerman Capital totaling $10 million 
and received a total of $4 million of distributions from these funds.
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On July 21, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Tranzact and received net proceeds of $221 million at closing.  
On October 5, White Mountains received additional proceeds of $1 million following the release of the post-closing purchase 
price adjustment escrow.

On August 4, 2016, White Mountains purchased 110,461 common shares of Buzzmove for GBP 4 million (approximately 
$5 million) and 54,172 shares of newly issued convertible preferred shares of Buzzmove for GBP 2 million (approximately $3 
million), representing a 70.9% ownership share of Buzzmove on a fully converted basis.

On October 10, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Ashmere and received proceeds of $15 million.
During 2016, White Mountains increased its investment in Wobi through the purchase of newly-issued convertible 

preferred shares for a total of NIS 36 million (approximately $10 million). 

Cash flows from investing and financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015

Financing and Other Capital Activities
During 2015, the Company declared and paid a $6 million cash dividend to its common shareholders.
During 2015, the Company repurchased and retired 387,495 of its common shares for $284 million, which included 12,156 

common shares repurchased under employee benefit plans and 13,500 common shares from the Prospector Offshore Fund, Ltd. 
redemption.

During 2015, the Company borrowed a total of $125 million and subsequently repaid a total of $75 million under the 
WTM Bank Facility.

During 2015, BAM received $29 million in MSC from its members.
During 2015, MediaAlpha paid $4 million of dividends, of which approximately $2 million was paid to White Mountains.
During 2015, MediaAlpha borrowed $15 million under the term loan portion of the previous MediaAlpha bank facility and 

used the proceeds to make a $15 million return of capital payment to its unit holders, of which White Mountains received $9 
million.

During 2015, White Mountains contributed $8 million to White Mountains Life Reinsurance (Bermuda) Ltd. and its U.S.-
based service provider, White Mountains Financial Services LLC (collectively, “WM Life Re”). 

During 2015, WM Life Re repaid $23 million under an internal revolving credit facility with an intermediate holding 
company of White Mountains.

During 2015, White Mountains received $60 million of dividends from OneBeacon, which is reported as discontinued 
operations. 

Acquisitions and Dispositions
On February 23, 2015, Wobi acquired 56.2% of the outstanding share capital of Cashboard for NIS 10 million 

(approximately $2 million).  During the second quarter of 2015, Wobi purchased newly issued common shares of Cashboard 
for NIS 10 million (approximately $3 million).

During 2015, White Mountains increased its ownership interest in Wobi through (i) the purchase of common and 
convertible preferred shares from a non-controlling interest shareholder for NIS 35 million (approximately $9 million) and (ii) 
the purchase of newly-issued convertible preferred shares for NIS 56 million (approximately $15 million). 

On April 2, 2015, White Mountains closed on its investment in PassportCard, a 50/50 joint venture with DavidShield and 
contributed $21 million of assets to a newly formed entity, PassportCard Limited (formerly PPCI Global Limited).

On May 27, 2015, White Mountains sold its interest in Hamer LLC and received cash proceeds of $24 million.
On December 21, 2015, White Mountains purchased a non-controlling interest in Captricity for approximately $27 million.  
On December 22, 2015, White Mountains closed on its investment in OneTitle for approximately $3 million.
During 2015, White Mountains provided approximately $13 million of additional growth capital to Compare.com.
During 2015, White Mountains purchased $4 million of SSIE Surplus Notes, which increased its investment in SSIE 

Surplus Notes to $21 million as of December 31, 2015.
During 2015, White Mountains made gross investments into funds managed by Enlightenment Capital totaling $4 million 

and received a total of $5 million of distributions from these funds.
During 2015, White Mountains made gross investments into funds managed by Tuckerman Capital totaling $5 million and 

received a total of $2 million of distributions from these funds.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

See Note 17 — “Transactions with Related Persons” on page F-54 in the accompanying Consolidated Financial 
Statements.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

This report includes five non-GAAP financial measures that have been reconciled from their most comparable GAAP 
financial measures. 

Adjusted book value per share is a non-GAAP financial measure which is derived by adjusting (i) the GAAP book value 
per share numerator and (ii) the common shares outstanding denominator, as described below.  Beginning in 2017, the GAAP 
book value per share numerator has been adjusted (i) to include a discount for the time value of money arising from the 
expected timing of cash payments of principal and interest on the BAM surplus notes and (ii) to add back the unearned 
premium reserve, net of deferred acquisition costs, at HG Global.  Under GAAP, White Mountains is required to carry the 
BAM surplus notes, including accrued interest, at nominal value with no consideration for time value of money.  Based on a 
debt service model that forecasts operating results for BAM through maturity of the surplus notes, the present value of the 
BAM surplus notes, including accrued interest, was estimated to be $162 million less than the nominal GAAP carrying values 
as of December 31, 2017.  The value of HG Global’s unearned premium reserve, net of deferred acquisition costs, was $82 
million as of December 31, 2017.  White Mountains believes these adjustments are useful to management and investors in 
analyzing the intrinsic value of HG Global, including the value of the surplus notes and the value of the in-force business at HG 
Re, HG Global’s reinsurance subsidiary.  For 2016, the numerator used in the calculation of adjusted book value per share also 
includes the dilutive effects of future proceeds from the outstanding non-qualified options for periods prior to January 20, 2017, 
the expiration date of the non-qualified options.  For 2015, the numerator used in the calculation of adjusted book value per 
share also excludes equity in net unrealized investment gains (losses) from Symetra’s fixed maturity portfolio for periods that 
White Mountains accounted for its investment in Symetra under the equity method.  White Mountains accounted for its 
investment in Symetra under the equity method until November 5, 2015, when it changed its accounting to fair value.  The 
denominator used in the calculation of adjusted book value per share equals the number of common shares outstanding adjusted 
(i) to exclude unearned restricted common shares, the compensation cost of which, at the date of calculation, has yet to be 
amortized and (ii) to include the dilutive effects of outstanding non-qualified options for periods prior to January 20, 2017, the 
expiration date of the non-qualified options.  The reconciliation of GAAP book value per share to adjusted book value per share 
is included on page 28.

In 2017, MediaAlpha became a reportable segment, and White Mountains has included MediaAlpha’s EBITDA calculation 
as a non-GAAP financial measure.  EBITDA is defined as net income (loss) excluding interest expense on debt, income tax 
benefit (expense), depreciation and amortization. White Mountains believes that this non-GAAP financial measure is useful to 
management and investors in analyzing MediaAlpha’s economic performance without the effects of interest rates, levels of 
debt, effective tax rates, or depreciation and amortization primarily resulting from purchase accounting.  In addition, White 
Mountains believes that investors use EBITDA as a supplemental measurement to evaluate the overall operating performance 
of companies within the same industry.  The reconciliation of MediaAlpha’s GAAP net income to EBITDA is included on page 
36.

Total capital at White Mountains is comprised of White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity, debt and non-
controlling interests other than non-controlling interests attributable to mutuals and reciprocals.  Total adjusted capital is a non-
GAAP financial measure, which is derived by adjusting total capital (i) to include a discount for the time value of money 
arising from the expected timing of cash payments of principal and interest on the BAM Surplus Notes and (ii) to add back the 
unearned premium reserve, net of deferred acquisition costs, at HG Global.  The reconciliation of total capital to total adjusted 
capital is included on page 46.

 For 2015, total consolidated portfolio returns excluding Symetra and total common equity securities and other long-term 
investments returns excluding Symetra are non-GAAP financial measures that remove the $259 million pre-tax unrealized 
investment gain recognized in the fourth quarter of 2015 that was the result of the change in accounting for Symetra common 
shares from the equity method to fair value.  White Mountains believes these measures make the returns in 2016 more 
comparable to 2015.  

The following table presents a reconciliation of the GAAP returns to the returns excluding Symetra follows:

         

For the year ended December 31, 2015

GAAP returns Remove Symetra
Returns - excluding

Symetra

Total consolidated portfolio returns 3.6% (3.8)% (0.2)%
Total common equity securities and 
   other long-term investments returns 19.3% (21.1)% (1.8)%
       Total common equity securities 33.2% (30.3)% 2.9 %
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discuss the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.  The financial statements presented 
herein include all adjustments considered necessary by management to fairly present the financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows of White Mountains.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Certain of these estimates are considered critical in that they involve a 
higher degree of judgment and are subject to a significant degree of variability.  On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its 
estimates and bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources.

1. Fair Value Measurements

General

White Mountains records certain assets and liabilities at fair value in its consolidated financial statements, with changes 
therein recognized in current period earnings.  In addition, White Mountains discloses estimated fair value for certain liabilities 
measured at historical or amortized cost.  Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants (an exit price) at a particular measurement date.  Fair 
value measurements are categorized into a hierarchy that distinguishes between inputs based on market data from independent 
sources (“observable inputs”) and a reporting entity’s internal assumptions based upon the best information available when 
external market data is limited or unavailable (“unobservable inputs”).  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets have 
the highest priority (“Level 1”), followed by observable inputs other than quoted prices including prices for similar but not 
identical assets (“Level 2”), and unobservable inputs, including the reporting entity’s estimates of the assumptions that market 
participants would use, having the lowest priority (“Level 3”).

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value include substantially all of the investment portfolio, exchange traded and over the 
counter derivative instruments, and reinsurance assumed liabilities associated with variable annuity benefit guarantees.  
Valuation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value require management to make estimates and apply judgment to matters 
that may carry a significant degree of uncertainty.  In determining its estimates of fair value, White Mountains uses a variety of 
valuation approaches and inputs.  Whenever possible, White Mountains estimates fair value using valuation methods that 
maximize the use of observable prices and other inputs.  Where appropriate, assets and liabilities measured at fair value have 
been adjusted for the effect of counterparty credit risk.
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Invested Assets

As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains used quoted market prices or other observable inputs to determine fair value 
for approximately 94% of the investment portfolio.  Investments valued using Level 1 inputs include fixed maturity 
investments, primarily investments in U.S. Treasuries, short-term investments, which include U.S. Treasury Bills and common 
equity securities. Investments valued using Level 2 inputs include fixed maturity investments, which have been disaggregated 
into classes, including debt securities issued by corporations, mortgage and asset-backed securities, municipal obligations, and 
foreign government, agency and provincial obligations.  Investments valued using Level 2 inputs also include certain passive 
ETFs traded on foreign exchanges that track U.S. stock indices such as the S&P 500 and that management values using the fund 
manager’s published NAV to account for the difference in market close times.  Fair value estimates for investments that trade 
infrequently and have few or no observable market prices are classified as Level 3 measurements.  Investments valued using 
Level 3 fair value estimates are based upon unobservable inputs and include investments in certain fixed maturity investments, 
common equity securities and other long-term investments where quoted market prices are unavailable or are not considered 
reasonable.  Transfers between levels are based on investments held as of the beginning of the period.

White Mountains uses brokers and outside pricing services to assist in determining fair values.  For investments in active 
markets, White Mountains uses the quoted market prices provided by outside pricing services to determine fair value.  The 
outside pricing services White Mountains uses have indicated that they will only provide prices where observable inputs are 
available.  In circumstances where quoted market prices are unavailable or are not considered reasonable, White Mountains 
estimates the fair value using industry standard pricing methodologies and observable inputs such as benchmark yields, 
reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads, benchmark securities, bids, offers, credit ratings, prepayment speeds, 
reference data including research publications and other relevant inputs.  Given that many fixed maturity investments do not 
trade on a daily basis, the outside pricing services evaluate a wide range of fixed maturity investments by regularly drawing 
parallels from recent trades and quotes of comparable securities with similar features.  The characteristics used to identify 
comparable fixed maturity investments vary by asset type and take into account market convention.

White Mountains’s process to assess the reasonableness of the market prices obtained from the outside pricing services 
covers substantially all of its fixed maturity investments and includes, but is not limited to, a review of pricing methodologies 
and the pricing services’ quality control procedures on at least an annual basis, a comparison of prices provided on its invested 
assets by the outside pricing service to prices obtained from alternate independent pricing vendors on at least a semi-annual 
basis, monthly analytical reviews of certain prices and a review of the underlying assumptions utilized by the pricing services 
for select measurements on an ad hoc basis throughout the year.  White Mountains also performs back-testing of selected sales 
activity to determine whether there are any significant differences between the market price used to value the security prior to 
sale and the actual sale price on an ad-hoc basis throughout the year.  Prices provided by the pricing services that vary by more 
than 5% and $1 million from the expected price based on these reasonableness procedures are considered outliers.  Also 
considered outliers are prices that have not changed from period to period and prices that have trended unusually compared to 
market conditions.  In circumstances where the results of White Mountains’s review process does not appear to support the 
market price provided by the pricing services, White Mountains challenges the vendor provided price.  If White Mountains 
cannot gain satisfactory evidence to support the challenged price, it relies upon its own pricing methodologies to estimate the 
fair value of the security in question. 

The valuation process described above is generally applicable to all of White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments. The 
techniques and inputs specific to asset classes within White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments for Level 2 securities that 
use observable inputs are as follows:

Debt Securities Issued by Corporations: The fair value of debt securities issued by corporations is determined from a 
pricing evaluation technique that uses information from market sources and integrates relative credit information, observed 
market movements, and sector news. Key inputs include benchmark yields, reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, issuer 
spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, and reference data including sector, coupon, credit quality 
ratings, duration, credit enhancements, early redemption features and market research publications.
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Mortgage and Asset-Backed Securities: The fair value of mortgage and asset-backed securities is determined from a 
pricing evaluation technique that uses information from market sources and leveraging similar securities. Key inputs include 
benchmark yields, reported trades, underlying tranche cash flow data, collateral performance, plus new issue data, as well as 
broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, and reference data including issuer, 
vintage, loan type, collateral attributes, prepayment speeds, default rates, recovery rates, cash flow stress testing, credit quality 
ratings and market research publications.

Municipal Obligations: The fair value of municipal obligations is determined from a pricing evaluation technique that uses 
information from market makers, brokers-dealers, buy-side firms, and analysts along with general market information. Key 
inputs include benchmark yields, reported trades, issuer financial statements, material event notices and new issue data, as well 
as broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, and reference data including type, 
coupon, credit quality ratings, duration, credit enhancements, geographic location and market research publications.

Foreign Government, Agency and Provincial Obligations: The fair value of foreign government, agency and provincial 
obligations is determined from a pricing evaluation technique that uses feeds from data sources in each respective country, 
including active market makers and inter-dealer brokers. Key inputs include benchmark yields, reported trades, broker-dealer 
quotes, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, local exchange prices, foreign exchange rates and reference data 
including coupon, credit quality ratings, duration and market research publications.

Level 3 valuations are generated from techniques that use assumptions not observable in the market. These unobservable 
assumptions reflect White Mountains’s assumptions that market participants would use in valuing the investment. Generally, 
certain securities may start out as Level 3 when they are originally issued but as observable inputs become available in the 
market, they may be reclassified to Level 2. 

The following table presents White Mountains’s fair value measurements and the percentage of Level 3 investments as of 
December 31, 2017. The major security types were based on the legal form of the securities.  White Mountains has 
disaggregated its fixed maturity investments based on the issuing entity type, which impacts credit quality, with debt securities 
issued by U.S. government entities carrying minimal credit risk, while the credit and other risks associated with other issuers, 
such as debt securities issued by corporations, foreign governments, municipalities or entities issuing mortgage and asset-
backed securities vary depending on the nature of the issuing entity type.

December 31, 2017

$ in millions Fair value Level 3 Inputs
Level 3 Inputs as a % of 

total fair value

U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 296.5 $ — —%
Debt securities issued by corporations 880.9 — —
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 694.7 — —
Municipal obligations 254.9 — —
Foreign government, agency and provincial obligations 2.7 — —

Fixed maturity investments 2,129.7 — —
Short-term investments 176.1 — —
Common equity securities 866.1 — —
Other long-term investments (1)(2) 87.2 87.2 100%

Total investments $ 3,259.1 $ 87.2 3%
(1)   Excludes carrying value of $(3.7) related to foreign currency forward contracts. 
(2)   Excludes carrying value of $125.3 associated with hedge funds and private equity funds for which fair value is measured at NAV using the 

practical expedient. 

White Mountains uses quoted market prices where available as the inputs to estimate fair value for its investments in active 
markets.  Such measurements are considered to be either Level 1 or Level 2 measurements, depending on whether the quoted 
market price inputs are for identical securities (Level 1) or similar securities (Level 2). See Note 3 — “Investment Securities” 
on page F-17 for tables that summarize the changes in White Mountains’s fair value measurements by level for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for amount of total gains (losses) included in earnings attributable to net unrealized 
investment gains (losses) for Level 3 investments for years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.
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Other Long-Term Investments:  White Mountains’s other long-term investments as of December 31, 2017 included $55 
million in one hedge fund and $70 million in ten private equity funds.  The largest investment in a single fund was $55 million 
and $22 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

White Mountains employs a number of procedures to assess the reasonableness of the fair value measurements for its other 
long-term investments, including obtaining and reviewing periodic and audited annual financial statements of hedge funds and 
private equity funds as well as discussing each fund’s pricing with the fund manager throughout the year.  However, since the 
fund managers do not provide sufficient information to evaluate the pricing methods and inputs for each underlying investment, 
White Mountains considers the inputs to be unobservable.  The fair value of White Mountains’s hedge fund and private equity 
fund investments has generally been determined using the fund manager’s net asset value (“NAV”).  In the event that White 
Mountains believes the fair value of a hedge fund or private equity fund differs from the NAV reported by the fund manager 
due to illiquidity or other factors, White Mountains will adjust the reported NAV to more appropriately represent the fair value 
of its investment in the hedge fund or private equity fund. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains did not adjust 
the reported NAV of its investments in hedge funds and private equity funds.

Sensitivity Analysis of Likely Returns on Other Long-Term Investments 
White Mountains maintains a portfolio of other long-term investments that consists primarily of one hedge fund, ten 

private equity funds, non-controlling interests in private capital investments and foreign currency forward contracts.  The 
underlying investments of the hedge fund and private equity funds are typically publicly traded and private common equity 
securities and, as such, are subject to market risks that are similar to White Mountains’s common equity securities.  The 
following table presents the estimated effect on fair values as of December 31, 2017 resulting from a 10% change and a 30% 
change in the market value of other long-term investments:

Change in fair value at
Carrying Value at December 31, 2017

Millions December 31, 2017 10% decline 10% increase 30% decline 30% increase

Hedge fund $ 54.9 $ (5.5) $ 5.5 $ (16.5) $ 16.5
Private equity funds 70.4 (7.0) 7.0 (21.1) 21.1
Private equity securities (1) 83.2 (8.3) 8.3 (25.0) 25.0
Other .3 — — (.1) .1

Total other long-term investments $ 208.8 $ (20.8) $ 20.8 $ (62.7) $ 62.7
(1) Includes non-controlling interests in common equity securities, limited liability companies and private convertible preferred securities.

2. Surplus Note Valuation

BAM Surplus Notes

As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains owned $499 million of BAM Surplus Notes and has accrued $126 million in 
interest due thereon.  During 2017, with approval of the NYDFS, BAM paid $5 million to White Mountains for amounts owed 
under the BAM Surplus Notes.  Because BAM is consolidated in White Mountains’s financial statements, the BAM Surplus 
Notes and accrued interest are classified as intercompany notes, carried at face value and eliminated in consolidation.  
However, the BAM Surplus Notes and accrued interest are carried as assets at HG Global, of which White Mountains owns 
97% of the preferred equity, while the BAM Surplus Notes are carried as liabilities at BAM, which White Mountains has no 
ownership interest in and is completely attributed to non-controlling interests.  

Any write-off of the carried amount of the BAM Surplus Notes and/or the accrued interest thereon would adversely impact 
White Mountains’s adjusted book value per share.  See Item 1A., Risk Factors, “If BAM does not pay some or all of the 
interest and principal due on the BAM Surplus Notes, White Mountains’s adjusted book value per share, results of 
operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.” on page 18.   

Periodically, White Mountains’s management reviews the recoverability of amounts recorded from the BAM Surplus 
Notes.  As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains believes such notes and interest thereon to be fully recoverable.  

White Mountains’s review is based on a debt service model that forecasts operating results for BAM, and related payments 
on the BAM Surplus Notes, through maturity of the BAM Surplus Notes in 2042.  The model depends on assumptions 
regarding future trends for the issuance of municipal bonds, interest rates, credit spreads, insured market penetration, 
competitive activity in the market for municipal bond insurance and other factors affecting the demand for and price of BAM’s 
municipal bond insurance.  Assumptions regarding future trends for these factors are a matter of significant judgment. 
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In the updates of this model that were performed as of December 31, 2017, White Mountains has (1) reflected the impact 
of the changes to the terms of the BAM Surplus Notes on expected future payments and (2) made more conservative 
assumptions about BAM’s future operating results, specifically forecasted increases in annual par insured volume and total 
premiums received, which are each expected to increase over the next six years and flatten thereafter.  As a result, White 
Mountains now projects that the BAM Surplus Notes will be fully repaid approximately nine years prior to final maturity, 
which is six years later than projected under the previous forecast as of December 31, 2016.

The model assumptions are based on historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments.  Whether 
actual results will follow forecast is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties.

No payment of interest or principal on the BAM Surplus Notes may be made without the approval of the NYDFS.  BAM 
has stated its intention to seek regulatory approval to pay interest and principal on its surplus notes only to the extent that its 
remaining qualified statutory capital and other capital resources continue to support its outstanding obligations, business plan 
and AA stable rating from S&P.

Interest payments on the BAM Surplus Notes are due quarterly but are subject to deferral, without penalty or default and 
without compounding, for payment in the future.  No principal is due on the BAM Surplus Notes prior to the stated maturity 
date of 2042.  BAM has the right to prepay principal in whole or in part at any time.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report may contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included or 
referenced in this report which address activities, events or developments which White Mountains expects or anticipates will or 
may occur in the future are forward-looking statements.  The words “will”, “believe”, “intend”, “expect”, “anticipate”, 
“project”, “estimate”, “predict” and similar expressions are also intended to identify forward-looking statements.  These 
forward-looking statements include, among others, statements with respect to White Mountains’:

• change in adjusted book value per share or return on equity;
• business strategy;
• financial and operating targets or plans;
• incurred loss and loss adjustment expenses and the adequacy of its loss and loss adjustment expense reserves;
• projections of revenues, income (or loss), earnings (or loss) per share, dividends, market share or other financial 

forecasts;
• expansion and growth of its business and operations; and
• future capital expenditures.

These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by White Mountains in light of its experience and 
perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors believed to be 
appropriate in the circumstances.  However, whether actual results and developments will conform to its expectations and 
predictions is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
expectations, including:

• the risks associated with Item 1A of this Report on Form 10-K;
• business opportunities (or lack thereof) that may be presented to it and pursued;
• actions taken by ratings agencies from time to time, such as financial strength or credit ratings downgrades or 

placing ratings on negative watch; and
• the continued availability of capital and financing;
• general economic, market or business conditions;
• competitive forces, including the conduct of other insurers;
• changes in domestic or foreign laws or regulations, or their interpretation, applicable to White Mountains, its 

competitors or its customers;
• an economic downturn or other economic conditions adversely affecting its financial position;
• other factors, most of which are beyond White Mountains’s control.

Consequently, all of the forward-looking statements made in this report are qualified by these cautionary statements, and 
there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated by White Mountains will be realized or, even if 
substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on, White Mountains or its business or 
operations.  White Mountains assumes no obligation to publicly update any such forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

White Mountains’s consolidated balance sheet includes a substantial amount of assets and liabilities whose fair values are 
subject to market risk.  The term market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates, credit 
spreads, equity markets prices and other relevant market rates and prices.  Due to the size of White Mountains’s investment 
portfolio, market risk can have a significant effect on White Mountains’s consolidated financial position.

Interest Rate and Credit Spread Risk

White Mountains invests in interest rate sensitive securities.  White Mountains generally manages the interest rate risk 
associated with its portfolio of fixed maturity investments by monitoring the average duration of the portfolio.  White 
Mountains’s fixed maturity investments are comprised primarily of debt securities issued by corporations, U.S. Government 
and agency obligations, foreign government, agency and provincial obligations, mortgage and asset-backed securities and 
municipal obligations.

Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally translate into decreases and increases in fair values of fixed 
maturity investments, respectively.  Additionally, fair values of interest rate sensitive instruments may be affected by the 
creditworthiness of the issuer, prepayment options, relative values of alternative investments, the liquidity of the instrument and 
various other market factors.

The following table presents the estimated effects of hypothetical increases and decreases in market interest rates on White 
Mountains’s fixed maturity investments:

$ in millions
Fair Value at

December 31, 2017
Assumed Change in

Relevant Interest Rate

Estimated Fair Value
After Change in

Interest Rate
After-Tax Increase

(Decrease) in Carrying Value

Fixed maturity investments $ 2,129.7 100 bp decrease $ 2,205.0 $ 63.0
50 bp decrease 2,168.6 32.7
50 bp increase 2,090.5 (33.1)

100 bp increase 2,051.9 (65.7)

The magnitude of the fair value decrease in rising interest rate scenarios may be more significant than the fair value 
increase in comparable falling interest rate scenarios.  This can occur because (i) the analysis floors interest rates at a de 
minimis level in falling interest rate scenarios, muting price increases, (ii) portions of the fixed maturity investment portfolio 
may be callable, muting price increases in falling interest rate scenarios and/or (iii) portions of the fixed maturity investment 
portfolio may experience cash flow extension in higher interest rate environments, which generally results in lower prices.

White Mountains’s overall strategy for fixed maturity investments is to purchase securities that are attractively priced in 
relation to their investment risks. Widening and tightening of credit spreads translate into decreases and increases in fair values 
of fixed maturity investments, respectively.  

The following table presents the estimated pre-tax effects of hypothetical widening and tightening of credit spreads on 
White Mountains’s fixed maturity investment portfolio:

December 31, 2017

Millions Fair Value Tighten 50 Tighten 25 Widen 25 Widen 50

U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 296.5 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Foreign government, agency and provincial obligations 2.7 — — — —

Tighten 100 Tighten 50 Widen 50 Widen 100

Agency mortgage-backed 192.8 3.0 2.4 (2.7) (5.4)
Asset-backed 431.4 4.0 2.8 (4.1) (8.1)

Tighten 200 Tighten 100 Widen 100 Widen 200

Debt securities issued by corporations 880.9 49.4 35.2 (45.1) (88.2)
Municipal obligations 254.9 15.7 10.2 (10.0) (19.7)

Tighten 400 Tighten 200 Widen 200 Widen 400

Non-agency commercial mortgage-backed 70.5 5.2 4.8 (6.3) (11.9)

The magnitude of the fair value decrease in wider credit spread scenarios may be more significant than the fair value 
increase in comparable tighter credit spread scenarios.  This can occur because the analysis limits the credit spread tightening in 
order to floor yields of non-government bonds, thereby muting price increases.
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Common Equity Securities and Other Long-Term Investments Price Risk

The carrying values of White Mountains’s common equity securities and other long-term investments are based on quoted 
market prices or management’s estimates of fair value as of the balance sheet date.  Market prices of common equity securities, 
in general, are subject to fluctuations, which could cause the amount realized upon sale or exercise of these instruments to 
differ significantly from the current reported value.  The fluctuations may result from perceived changes in the underlying 
economic characteristics of the investment, the relative price of alternative investments, supply and demand imbalances for a 
particular security or various other market factors.  Assuming a hypothetical 10% and 30% increase or decrease in the value of 
White Mountains’s common equity securities and other long-term investments as of December 31, 2017, the carrying value of 
White Mountains’s common equity securities and other long-term investments would have increased or decreased by 
approximately $107 million and $322 million pre-tax, respectively. 

Long-Term Obligations

White Mountains carries its financial instruments on its balance sheet at fair value with the exception of the MediaAlpha 
Bank Facility and the Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility. 

The following table presents the fair value and carrying value of these financial instruments as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Millions
Fair

Value
Carrying

Value
Fair

Value
Carrying

Value

MediaAlpha Bank Facility $ 23.9 $ 23.8 $ — $ —
Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility — — 13.0 12.7

The fair value estimate for the MediaAlpha Bank Facility has been determined based on a discounted cash flow approach 
and is considered a Level 3 measurement. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains had gross foreign currency exposure on approximately $444 million of net 
assets relating to cash and fixed maturity investments managed by LGIM, common equity securities managed by Silchester and 
Highclere and various other consolidated and unconsolidated private capital investments.  

White Mountains entered into foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate its foreign currency exposure for the invested 
assets managed by LGIM and a portion of the invested assets managed by Silchester and Highclere.  In the fourth quarter of 
2017, White Mountains closed the foreign currency forward contracts associated with the investment assets managed by 
Silchester and Highclere.

The following table presents the fair value of White Mountains’s foreign denominated assets and the associated foreign 
currency forward contracts as of December 31, 2017:

$ in millions 

Currency(1) Fair Value (Gross)
% of Common

Shareholders’ Equity Currency Hedge Fair Value (Net)
% of Common

Shareholders’ Equity

GBP $ 257.5 7.4% $ (206.3) $ 51.2 1.5%
JPY 68.6 2.0 — 68.6 2.0
EUR 55.3 1.6 — 55.3 1.6
All other 62.1 1.7 — 62.1 1.7

Total $ 443.5 12.7% $ (206.3) $ 237.2 6.8%
(1) Includes net assets of Wobi and Buzzmove.

Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and supplementary data have been filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as indicated 
in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules appearing on page 63 of this report.

The financial statements of Symetra for the interim period ended September 30, 2015 have been filed as a part of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K (see Exhibit 99 on page 61 of this report).
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

The Principal Executive Officer (“PEO”) and the Principal Financial Officer (“PFO”) of White Mountains have evaluated 
the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of 
December 31, 2017.  Based on that evaluation, the PEO and PFO have concluded that White Mountains’s disclosure controls 
and procedures are adequate and effective.

The PEO and the PFO of White Mountains have evaluated the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2017.  Based on that evaluation, the PEO and PFO have concluded that White Mountains’s internal control 
over financial reporting is effective.  Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting is included on 
page F-67 of this report.  The attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is included on page F-68 of this report.

There has been no change in White Mountains’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth 
quarter of 2017 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect White Mountains’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

Item 9B.  Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10.   Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Reported under the captions “The Board of Directors”, “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and 
“Corporate Governance—Committees of the Board—Audit Committee” in the Company’s 2018 Proxy Statement, herein 
incorporated by reference, and under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company’s Code of Business Conduct, which applies to all directors, officers and employees in carrying out their 
responsibilities to and on behalf of the Company, is available at www.whitemountains.com and is also included as Exhibit 14 on 
the Form 10-K.  The Company’s Code of Business Conduct is also available in print free of charge to any shareholder upon 
request.

There have been no material changes to the procedures by which shareholders may recommend nominees to the 
Company’s Board of Directors.  The procedures for shareholders to nominate directors are reported under the caption 
“Corporate Governance—Committees of the Board—Nominating and Governance Committee” in the Company’s 2018 Proxy 
Statement, herein incorporated by reference.

Item 11.  Executive Compensation

Reported under the captions “Executive Compensation” and “Corporate Governance—Compensation Committee 
Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the Company’s 2018 Proxy Statement, herein incorporated by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Reported under the captions “Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof” and “Equity Compensation Plan 
Information” in the Company’s 2018 Proxy Statement, herein incorporated by reference.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence

Reported under the caption “Transactions with Related Persons, Promoters and Certain Control Persons” and “Corporate 
Governance—Director Independence” in the Company’s 2018 Proxy Statement, herein incorporated by reference.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Reported under the caption “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” in the Company’s 2018 Proxy Statement, herein 
incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

a.                                       Documents Filed as Part of the Report

The financial statements and financial statement schedules and reports of independent auditors have been filed as part of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K as indicated in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement 
Schedules appearing on page 63 of this report.  A listing of exhibits filed as part of the report appear on pages 60 through 61 of 
this report.

b.                                       Exhibits

Exhibit
number Name

2 Plan of Reorganization (incorporated by reference herein to the Company’s Registration Statement on S-4 (No. 
333-87649) dated September 23, 1999)

3.1 Memorandum of Continuance of the Company (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit (3)(i) of the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 1, 1999)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of the Company (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3 of the 
Company’s Report on Form 10-Q dated May 2, 2017)

10.1 $425,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated August 14, 2013 among the Company, as the Borrower, Wells Fargo 
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and Issuing Lender, and the other lenders party hereto 
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Report on Form 10-Q dated October 28, 
2013)

10.2 Amendment No.1 to the $425,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated August 14, 2013 among the Company, as the 
Borrower, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and Issuing Lender, and the 
other lenders party hereto (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Report on Form 
10-Q dated October 29, 2014)

10.3 White Mountains Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of the 
Company’s Notice of 2013 Annual General Meeting of Members and Proxy Statement dated April 10, 2013)

10.4 White Mountains Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s 2015 Annual 
Report on Form 10-K)

10.5 Regulation 114 Trust Agreement by and among Build America Mutual Assurance Company, HG Re Ltd. and 
The Bank of New York Mellon, dated as of July 20, 2012 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 of 
the Company’s Report on 10-Q dated October 30, 2012)

10.6 Supplemental Trust Agreement by and among Build America Mutual Assurance Company, HGR Patton 
(Luxembourg) S.à r.l., United States of America Branch, and The Bank of New York Mellon, dated as of July 20, 
2012 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Report on 10-Q dated October 30, 
2012)

10.7 Surplus Note Purchase Agreement between Build America Mutual Assurance Company, as Issuer and HG 
Holdings Ltd. and HG Re Ltd. as Purchasers dated as of July 17, 2012 (incorporated by reference herein to 
Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Report on 10-Q dated October 30, 2012)

10.8 Amended and Restated Surplus Note Purchase Agreement between Build America Mutual Assurance Company, 
as Issuer and HG Holdings Ltd. and HG Re Ltd. as Purchasers dated as of January 1, 2014 (incorporated by 
reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Report on 10-Q dated April 28, 2014)
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Exhibit
number Name

10.9 Retirement Agreement dated March 1, 2017 between White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. and Raymond 
Barrette (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Report on Form 10-Q dated May 2, 
2017)

10.10 Voting Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2017, by and among Intact Financial Corporation, White Mountains 
Insurance Group, Ltd., Lone Tree Holdings Ltd. and Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd. (incorporated by reference 
herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K dated May 2, 2017)

10.11 Employment Agreement dated May 2, 2017 between White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd.and David T. Foy 
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Report on Form 10-Q dated August 4, 2017)

11 Statement Re Computation of Per Share Earnings (**)
12 Statement Re Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges (*)
14 The Company’s Code of Business Conduct, which applies to all directors, officers and employees in carrying out 

their responsibilities to and on behalf of the Company (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 14 of the 
Company’s 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K)

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (*)
23 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (*)
24 Powers of Attorney (*)
31.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (*)
31.2 Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (*)
32.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (*)
32.2 Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (*)
99 Symetra Financial Corporation’s financial statements for the interim period ended September 30, 2015  

(incorporated by reference herein from Symetra Financial Corporation’s Report on Form 10-Q dated November 
6, 2015, Commission file number: 001-33808) (***)

101.1 The following financial information from White Mountains’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017 formatted in XBRL: (i) Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and December
31, 2016; (ii) Consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for each of the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015; (iii) Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity for each of the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015; (iv) Consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015; and (v) Notes to consolidated financial statements (*).

(*) Included herein.
(**) Not included herein as the information is contained elsewhere within report.  See Note 9—“Earnings Per Share” on page F-42.
(***) Exhibit 99 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K are being filed to provide unaudited financial statements and the related footnotes of Symetra in 

accordance with SEC Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X.  The management of Symetra is solely responsible for the form and content of the Symetra 
financial statements.  White Mountains has no responsibility for the form or content of the Symetra financial statements since it does not control 
Symetra.

c.                                       Financial Statement Schedules

The financial statement schedules and report of independent registered public accounting firm have been filed as part of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K as indicated in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement 
Schedules appearing on page 63 of this report.

Item 16.  Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.

Date: February 28, 2018 By: /s/ J. BRIAN PALMER
J. Brian Palmer
Managing Director and Chief Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

YVES BROUILLETTE* Director February 28, 2018
Yves Brouillette

/s/ REID T. CAMPBELL Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer)

February 28, 2018
Reid T. Campbell

MARY C. CHOKSI* Director February 28, 2018
Mary C. Choksi

MORGAN W. DAVIS* Director February 28, 2018
Morgan W. Davis

A. MICHAEL FRINQUELLI* Director February 28, 2018
A. Michael Frinquelli

EDITH E. HOLIDAY* Director February 28, 2018
Edith E. Holiday

/s/ J. BRIAN PALMER Managing Director and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal
Accounting Officer)

February 28, 2018
J. Brian Palmer

/s/ G. MANNING ROUNTREE Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) February 28, 2018
G. Manning Rountree

LOWNDES A. SMITH* Director February 28, 2018
Lowndes A. Smith

GARY C. TOLMAN* Director February 28, 2018
Gary C. Tolman

* By: /s/ G. MANNING ROUNTREE
G. Manning Rountree, Attorney-in-Fact
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WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules
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   December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

F - 4

Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity for each of the years ended 
   December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

F - 5

Consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 F - 6

Notes to consolidated financial statements F - 7

Other financial information:
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II. Condensed financial information of the Registrant as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for each 

   of the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
FS - 2
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FS - 7

F - 67
F - 68
F - 70
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
Millions, except share and per share amounts 2017 2016
Assets
   Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)
     Fixed maturity investments, at fair value $ 623.6 $ 585.2
     Short-term investments, at amortized cost (which approximates fair value) 69.8 44.5

     Total investments 693.4 629.7
     Cash 25.6 27.0
     Insurance premiums receivable 4.5 1.6
     Deferred acquisition costs 14.8 10.6
     Accrued investment income 3.4 2.9
     Accounts receivable on unsettled investment sales .1 —
     Other assets 5.6 5.8

     Total Financial Guarantee assets 747.4 677.6

   Marketing Technology (MediaAlpha)
     Cash 9.1 1.7
     Goodwill and other intangible assets 53.7 36.6
     Accounts receivable from publishers and advertisers 32.4 18.4
     Other assets 1.3 .9

     Total Marketing Technology assets 96.5 57.6

   Other
     Fixed maturity investments 1,506.1 1,495.9
     Short-term investments, at amortized cost (which approximates fair value) 106.3 130.4
     Common equity securities 866.1 285.6
     Other long-term investments 208.8 172.8

     Total investments 2,687.3 2,084.7
     Cash 62.4 51.5
     Accrued investment income 13.9 11.9
     Accounts receivable on unsettled investment sales 20.9 4.8
     Goodwill and other intangible assets 8.4 8.6
     Other assets 19.1 17.1
     Assets held for sale 3.3 3,606.4

     Total Other assets 2,815.3 5,785.0
Total assets $ 3,659.2 $ 6,520.2

  See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)

December 31,
Millions, except share and per share amounts 2017 2016
Liabilities
   Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)
     Unearned insurance premiums $ 136.8 $ 82.9
     Accrued incentive compensation 18.2 16.6
     Accounts payable on unsettled investment purchases .6 —
     Other liabilities 11.4 9.4

     Total Financial Guarantee liabilities 167.0 108.9

   Marketing Technology (MediaAlpha)
     Debt 23.8 12.7
     Amounts due to publishers and advertisers 31.6 13.0
     Accrued incentive compensation 2.0 —
     Other liabilities 2.4 2.6

     Total Marketing Technology liabilities 59.8 28.3

   Other
     Accrued incentive compensation 60.6 79.1
     Other liabilities 11.0 18.6
     Liabilities held for sale — 2,569.3

     Total Other liabilities 71.6 2,667.0
Total liabilities 298.4 2,804.2

Equity
   White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity
     White Mountains’s common shares at $1 par value per share—authorized 50,000,000
        shares; issued and outstanding 3,750,171 and 4,563,814 shares 3.8 4.6
     Paid-in surplus 666.8 806.1
     Retained earnings 2,823.2 2,776.6
     Accumulated other comprehensive loss, after-tax:

     Net unrealized foreign currency translation losses (1.3) (1.4)
       Accumulated other comprehensive loss from net change in benefit plan assets 
         and obligations — (3.2)

     Total White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity 3,492.5 3,582.7
   Non-controlling interests (131.7) 133.3
Total equity 3,360.8 3,716.0
Total liabilities and equity $ 3,659.2 $ 6,520.2

  See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements including Note 11 for non-controlling interests and Note 18 for Commitments and Contingencies.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015
Revenues:
   Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

   Earned insurance premiums $ 9.4 $ 5.9 $ 3.3
   Net investment income 12.3 9.0 6.1
   Net realized and unrealized investment gains .6 .7 .6
   Other revenues 1.0 1.1 0.7

     Total Financial Guarantee revenues 23.3 16.7 10.7
   Marketing Technology (MediaAlpha)

   Advertising & commission revenues 163.2 116.5 105.5
     Total Marketing Technology revenues 163.2 116.5 105.5

   Other
   Earned insurance premiums 1.0 7.5 8.7
   Net investment income 43.7 23.1 4.8
   Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 132.7 (28.1) 259.9
   Advertising & commission revenues 3.8 1.8 1.9
   Other revenues 6.1 20.2 48.5

     Total Other revenues 187.3 24.5 323.8
Total revenues 373.8 157.7 440.0

Expenses:
   Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

   Insurance acquisition expenses 4.0 3.4 2.9
   Other underwriting expenses .4 .4 .4
   General and administrative expenses 42.9 39.6 36.8

     Total Financial Guarantee expenses 47.3 43.4 40.1
   Marketing Technology (MediaAlpha)

   Cost of Sales 135.9 97.8 90.7
   General and administrative expenses 16.2 11.8 8.3
   Amortization of other intangible assets 10.5 10.1 8.1
   Interest expense 1.0 .9 .4

     Total Marketing Technology expenses 163.6 120.6 107.5
   Other

   Loss and loss adjustment expenses 1.1 8.0 8.2
   Insurance acquisition expense .1 2.2 3.4
   Cost of sales 3.5 4.2 2.9
   General and administrative expenses 148.9 124.1 147.0
   Amortization of other intangible assets .2 .4 .5
   Interest expense 1.3 2.1 1.2

     Total Other expenses 155.1 141.0 163.2
Total expenses 366.0 305.0 310.8
Pre-tax income (loss) from continuing operations 7.8 (147.3) 129.2

   Income tax benefit (expense) 7.8 32.9 (12.7)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 15.6 (114.4) 116.5

   Gain from sale of OneBeacon, net of tax 554.5 — —
   (Loss) gain from sale of Sirius Group, net of tax (.7) 363.2 —
   Gain from sale of Tranzact, net of tax 3.2 51.9 —
   Gain from sale of Esurance, net of tax — — 17.9
   Gain from sale of other discontinued operations, net of tax — — .3
   Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax 20.5 108.3 116.9

Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 593.1 409.0 251.6
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates — — 25.1

Net income 593.1 409.0 276.7
   Net loss (income) attributable to non-controlling interests 34.1 (7.2) 18.5

Net income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 627.2 $ 401.8 $ 295.2

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015
Net income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 627.2 $ 401.8 $ 295.2
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax .3 (.7) (42.8)
Comprehensive income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 3.2 146.3 (65.0)

Comprehensive income 630.7 547.4 187.4
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests (.2) (.3) —

Comprehensive income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 630.5 $ 547.1 $ 187.4

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Earnings per share attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders
Basic earnings per share

Continuing operations $ 11.56 $ (24.26) $ 27.22
Discontinued operations 134.50 104.37 22.98

Total consolidated operations $ 146.06 $ 80.11 $ 50.20
Diluted earnings per share

Continuing operations $ 11.56 $ (24.26) $ 27.22
Discontinued operations 134.50 104.32 22.98

Total consolidated operations $ 146.06 $ 80.06 $ 50.20

Dividends declared and paid per White Mountains’s common share $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
White Mountains’s Common Shareholders’ Equity

Millions

Common 
shares and

paid-in
surplus

Retained
earnings

AOCL, 
after-tax Total

Non-
controlling

interests Total equity
Balances at December 31, 2014 $ 1,034.7 $ 3,003.0 $ (42.1) $ 3,995.6 $ 542.6 $ 4,538.2
Net income (loss) — 295.2 — 295.2 (18.5) 276.7
Net change in foreign currency translation — — (73.2) (73.2) — (73.2)
Net change in pension liability and other

accumulated comprehensive items — — (34.6) (34.6) — (34.6)
Comprehensive income (loss) — 295.2 (107.8) 187.4 (18.5) 168.9
Dividends declared on common shares — (6.0) — (6.0) — (6.0)
Dividends/distributions to 
   non-controlling interests — — — — (51.1) (51.1)
Issuances of common shares .9 — — .9 — .9
Repurchases and retirements of common shares (67.0) (217.2) — (284.2) — (284.2)
Net contributions from non-controlling interests — — — — 17.5 17.5
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest (5.3) — — (5.3) (2.7) (8.0)
Redemptions of the Prospector Turtle Fund — — — — (31.5) (31.5)
Amortization of restricted share and 
   option awards 14.9 — — 14.9 (2.0) 12.9
Balances at December 31, 2015 978.2 3,075.0 (149.9) 3,903.3 454.3 4,357.6
Net income — 401.8 — 401.8 7.2 409.0
Net change in foreign currency translation — — 31.4 31.4 .3 31.7
Net change in pension liability and 
   other accumulated comprehensive items — — 113.9 113.9 — 113.9
Comprehensive income — 401.8 145.3 547.1 7.5 554.6
Dividends declared on common shares — (5.4) — (5.4) — (5.4)
Dividends/distributions to non-controlling interests — — — — (22.7) (22.7)
Issuances of common shares 9.1 — — 9.1 — 9.1
Repurchases and retirements of common shares (192.4) (694.8) — (887.2) — (887.2)
Net contributions from non-controlling interests — — — — 27.3 27.3
Acquisition from non-controlling interests (2.7) — — (2.7) (8.8) (11.5)
Acquisition of subsidiary — — — — 3.3 3.3
Deconsolidation of non-controlling interests
   associated with the sale of Sirius Group — — — — (250.0) (250.0)
Deconsolidation of non-controlling interests
   associated with the sale of Tranzact — — — — (78.4) (78.4)
Amortization of restricted share and 
   option awards 18.5 — — 18.5 .8 19.3
Balances at December 31, 2016 810.7 2,776.6 (4.6) 3,582.7 133.3 3,716.0
Net income — 627.2 — 627.2 (34.1) 593.1
Net change in foreign currency translation — — .4 .4 .1 .5
Recognition of benefit plan assets and obligations

from sale of OneBeacon — — 2.9 2.9 — 2.9
Comprehensive income — 627.2 3.3 630.5 (34.0) 596.5
Dividends declared on common shares — (4.6) — (4.6) — (4.6)
Dividends to non-controlling interests — — — — (19.3) (19.3)
Issuances of common shares 1.7 — — 1.7 — 1.7
Repurchases and retirements of common shares (147.9) (576.0) — (723.9) (5.2) (729.1)
Deconsolidation of non-controlling interests
   associated with the sale of Star & Shield — — — — (4.4) (4.4)
Deconsolidation of non-controlling interests
   associated with the sale of OneBeacon — — — — (238.3) (238.3)
Issuance of shares of non-controlling interests (4.1) — — (4.1) 5.2 1.1
Net contributions from non-controlling interests (4.6) — — (4.6) 30.2 25.6
Amortization of restricted share and 
   option awards 14.8 — — 14.8 .8 15.6
Balances at December 31, 2017 $ 670.6 $ 2,823.2 $ (1.3) $ 3,492.5 $ (131.7) $ 3,360.8

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31,

Millions 2017 2016 2015
Cash flows from operations:
Net income $ 593.1 $ 409.0 $ 276.7
Charges (credits) to reconcile net income to net cash provided from (used for) operations:    

Net realized and unrealized investment (gains) losses (133.3) 27.4 (260.5)
Net gain on sale of unconsolidated affiliates — — (19.8)
Amortization of restricted share and option awards 14.8 18.5 14.9
Amortization and depreciation 22.4 20.4 3.8
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (11.4) (12.5) 11.3
Undistributed equity in earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, after-tax — — (25.1)
Net income from discontinued operations (20.5) (108.3) (116.9)
Net gain on sale of discontinued operations (557.0) (415.1) (18.2)

Other operating items:
Net change in unearned insurance premiums 54.5 31.7 23.9
Net change in deferred acquisition costs (4.2) (3.7) (3.0)
Net change in restricted cash — 5.8 17.9
Net change in other assets and liabilities, net (20.8) (146.1) 29.0

Net cash used for continuing operations (62.4) (172.9) (66.0)
Net cash provided from discontinued operations (Note 19) 157.0 23.6 248.4

Net cash provided from (used for) operations 94.6 (149.3) 182.4
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Net change in short-term investments (1.7) (27.2) 6.9
Sales of fixed maturity and convertible investments 2,124.4 2,605.8 518.2
Maturities, calls and paydowns of fixed maturity and convertible investments 213.4 253.4 72.6
Sales of common equity securities 424.1 815.9 115.8
Distributions and redemptions of other long-term investments 29.4 17.3 44.1
Sales of unconsolidated affiliates and consolidated subsidiaries, net of cash sold 1,131.0 2,646.2 24.0
Proceeds paid to non-controlling common shareholders from the sale of consolidated subsidiaries — (141.6) —
Purchases of other long-term investments (84.1) (38.5) (73.9)
Net settlement of investment cash flows and contributions with discontinued operations 167.7 (402.0) 18.0
Purchases of common equity securities (881.2) (278.3) (86.4)
Purchases of fixed maturity and convertible investments (2,365.2) (4,407.0) (533.7)
Purchases of consolidated affiliates and other assets (net of cash acquired) (27.6) (13.4) (2.6)
Other investing activities, net (14.7) 4.8 8.8

Net cash provided from investing activities — continuing operations 715.5 1,035.4 111.8
Net cash provided from (used for) investing activities — discontinued operations (Note 19) 3.0 241.4 (100.5)

Net cash provided from investing activities 718.5 1,276.8 11.3
Cash flows from financing activities:

Draw down of debt and revolving line of credit 376.0 352.5 171.5
Repayment of debt and revolving line of credit (365.0) (404.6) (76.1)
Cash dividends paid to the Company’s common shareholders (4.6) (5.4) (6.0)
Acquisitions of additional shares from non-controlling interest (.7) — (9.1)
Distributions from discontinued operations 45.2 57.2 52.7
Common shares repurchased (714.6) (881.3) (268.6)
Proceeds from issuances of common shares — 3.7 —
Capital contributions from non-controlling interest shareholders .5 — —
Distributions to non-controlling interest shareholders (2.0) (1.1) (7.5)
Payments to contingent considerations related to purchases of consolidated subsidiaries — (7.8) —
Capital contributions from BAM members 37.4 38.0 29.2
Other financing activities, net (9.3) (5.8) (6.7)

Net cash used for financing activities — continuing operations (637.1) (854.6) (120.6)
Net cash used for financing activities — discontinued operations (Note 19) (61.9) (93.8) (100.7)

Net cash used for financing activities (699.0) (948.4) (221.3)
Net change in cash during the period - continuing operations 16.0 7.9 (74.8)
Cash balance at beginning of year (excludes restricted cash balances of $0.0, $5.8, $23.7 
   and held for sale and discontinued operations cash balances of $70.5, $245.4, and $203.8) 80.2 72.0 145.7
Add: cash held for sale at the beginning of period .9 1.2 2.3
Less: cash held for sale at the end of period — .9 1.2
Cash balance at end of year (excludes restricted cash balances of $0.0, $0.0 and $5.8 
   and held for sale and discontinued operations cash balances of $0.0, $70.5, $245.4) $ 97.1 $ 80.2 $ 72.0

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Note 1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Company is an exempted Bermuda limited liability company whose principal businesses are conducted through its 
insurance subsidiaries and other affiliates.  The Company’s headquarters is located at 26 Reid Street, Hamilton, Bermuda 
HM 11, its principal executive office is located at 80 South Main Street, Hanover, New Hampshire 03755-2053 and its 
registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, Bermuda HM 11.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. (the “Company” 
or the “Registrant”), its subsidiaries (collectively with the Company, “White Mountains”) and other entities required to be 
consolidated under GAAP.  Under GAAP, the Company is required to consolidate any entity in which it holds a controlling 
financial interest.  A controlling financial interest is usually in the form of an investment representing the majority of the 
subsidiary’s voting interests.  However, a controlling financial interest may also arise from a financial interest in a variable 
interest entity (“VIE”) through arrangements that do not involve ownership of voting interests. The Company consolidates a 
VIE if it determines that it is the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is defined as the entity who holds a variable 
interest that gives it both the power to direct the VIE’s activities that most significantly impact its economic performance and 
the obligation to absorb losses of, or the right to receive returns from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. 
See Note 15 — “Variable Interest Entities”. 

Intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  Certain amounts in the prior period financial statements 
have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.    

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Reportable Segments
White Mountains has determined its reportable segments based on the nature of the of the underlying businesses, the 

manner in which the Company’s subsidiaries and affiliates are organized and managed and the organization of the financial 
information provided to the chief operating decision maker to assess performance and make decisions regarding allocation of 
resources.  White Mountains’s reportable segments are HG Global/BAM, MediaAlpha and Other Operations. See Note 13 —  
“Segment Information”.  
 The HG Global/BAM segment consists of HG Global Ltd. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (“HG Global”) and the 
consolidated results of Build America Mutual Assurance Company (“BAM”) (collectively, “HG Global/BAM”).  BAM is the 
first and only mutual municipal bond insurance company in the United States. By insuring the timely payment of principal and 
interest, BAM provides market access to, and lowers interest expense for, issuers of municipal bonds used to finance essential 
public purposes such as schools, utilities and transportation facilities. BAM is owned by and operated for the benefit of its 
members, the municipalities that purchase BAM’s insurance for their debt issuances. HG Global was established to fund the 
startup of BAM and, through its wholly-owned subsidiary HG Re Ltd. (“HG Re”), to provide up to 15%-of-par, first loss 
reinsurance protection for policies underwritten by BAM.  HG Global, together with its subsidiaries, provided the initial 
capitalization of BAM through the purchase of $503.0 million of surplus notes issued by BAM (the “BAM Surplus Notes”).  As 
of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains owned 96.9% of HG Global's preferred equity and 88.4% of its common 
equity.  White Mountains does not have an ownership interest in BAM.  However, White Mountains is required to consolidate 
BAM’s results in its financial statements because BAM is a VIE for which White Mountains is the primary beneficiary.  BAM’s 
results are attributed to non-controlling interests.

The MediaAlpha segment consists of QL Holdings LLC and its wholly-owned subsidiary QuoteLab, LLC (collectively 
“MediaAlpha”).  MediaAlpha is a leading marketing technology company that develops technology that enables the 
programmatic buying and selling of vertical-specific, performance-based media between advertisers (buyers of advertising 
inventory) and publishers (sellers of advertising inventory) through cost-per-click, cost-per-call and cost-per-lead pricing 
models.  MediaAlpha’s media buying platform enables advertisers to create and automate data-driven bidding strategies 
designed to improve the efficiency and enhance overall performance of their marketing campaigns that target high-intent 
consumers at the time and place they are ready to purchase.  MediaAlpha’s publisher platform is used by publishers to sell their 
vertical-specific, performance-based media to advertisers through transparent, programmatic, auction-based marketplaces.  
MediaAlpha works with 400 advertisers and 300 publishers across a number of insurance (auto, motorcycle, home, renter, 
health and life) and non-insurance (travel, education, personal finance and home services) verticals.
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White Mountains’s Other Operations segment consists of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiary, White Mountains 
Capital, Inc. (“WM Capital”), its wholly-owned investment management subsidiary, White Mountains Advisors LLC (“WM 
Advisors”), and its other intermediate holding companies, as well as certain consolidated and unconsolidated private capital and 
other investments.  The consolidated private capital investments include Wobi Insurance Agency Ltd. (“Wobi”) and Removal 
Stars Ltd. (“Buzzmove”).  During 2017, White Mountains revised certain of its previously issued financial statements for 
amounts relating to Wobi. See Note 20 — “Financial Statement Revisions”.  White Mountains’s Other Operations segment 
also included its variable annuity reinsurance business, White Mountains Life Reinsurance (Bermuda) Ltd. (“Life Re 
Bermuda”), which completed its runoff with all of its contracts fully matured on June 30, 2016 and was liquidated in the third 
quarter of 2017, and its U.S.-based service provider, White Mountains Financial Services LLC, which was liquidated in the 
second quarter of 2017 (collectively, “WM Life Re”).

Discontinued Operations and Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale
On September 28, 2017, Intact Financial Corporation completed its previously announced acquisition of OneBeacon 

Insurance Group, Ltd. (“OneBeacon”) in an all-cash transaction for $18.10 per share (the “OneBeacon Transaction”). On July 
21, 2016, White Mountains completed its sale of Tranzact Holdings, LLC (“Tranzact”) to an affiliate of Clayton, Dubilier & 
Rice, LLC.  On April 18, 2016, White Mountains completed its sale of Sirius International Insurance Group, Ltd. (“Sirius 
Group”) to CM International Pte. Ltd. and CM Bermuda Limited (collectively “CMI”), the Singapore-based investment arm of 
China Minsheng Investment Corp., Ltd.  White Mountains has presented the results of OneBeacon, Tranzact and Sirius Group 
as discontinued operations in the statement of operations and comprehensive income and their assets and liabilities as held for 
sale in the balance sheet for all periods prior to the completion of each transaction.   

On March 7, 2017, White Mountains completed the sale of Star & Shield Services LLC, Star & Shield Risk Management 
LLC, and Star & Shield Claims Services LLC (collectively “Star & Shield”) and its investment in Star & Shield Insurance 
Exchange (“SSIE”) surplus notes to K2 Insurance Services, LLC.  White Mountains was required to consolidate SSIE in its 
GAAP financial statements until White Mountains completed the sale.  White Mountains has presented Star & Shield’s and 
SSIE’s assets and liabilities as held for sale as of December 31, 2016.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations”.

As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains has classified its Guilford, Connecticut property, which consists of an office 
building and adjacent land, as held for sale. The property has been measured at its estimated fair value net of costs of disposal, 
of $3.3 million. The fair value reflects a write-down of $3.7 million, which has been recorded within other expenses. 

Significant Accounting Policies

Cash
Cash includes amounts on hand and demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions.  Amounts presented in the 

statement of cash flows are shown net of balances acquired and sold in the purchase or sale of the Company’s consolidated 
subsidiaries and exclude changes in amounts of restricted cash.  See Note 7 — “Derivatives”.

Short-Term Investments 
Short-term investments consist of interest bearing money market funds, certificates of deposit, time deposits and other 

securities, which at the time of purchase, mature or become available for use within one year.  Short-term investments are 
carried at amortized or accreted cost, which approximated fair value as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Investment Securities 
As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains’s invested assets consisted of securities and other investments held for general 

investment purposes.  White Mountains’s portfolio of fixed maturity investments, common equity securities and other long-
term investments held for general investment purposes are classified as trading securities and are reported at fair value as of the 
balance sheet date.  Changes in net unrealized investment gains (losses) are reported pre-tax in revenues.  Realized investment 
gains (losses) are accounted for using the specific identification method and are reported pre-tax in revenues.  Premiums and 
discounts on all fixed maturity investments are amortized and accreted to income over the anticipated life of the investment.

White Mountains’s invested assets that are measured at fair value include fixed maturity investments, common equity 
securities and other long-term investments, including interests in hedge funds, private equity funds, non-controlling interests in 
private capital investments and foreign currency forward contracts.  In determining its estimates of fair value, White Mountains 
uses a variety of valuation approaches and inputs.  Whenever possible, White Mountains estimates fair value using valuation 
methods that maximize the use of quoted prices and other observable inputs.
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Fair value measurements are categorized into a hierarchy that distinguishes between inputs based on market data from 
independent sources (“observable inputs”) and a reporting entity’s internal assumptions based upon the best information 
available when external market data is limited or unavailable (“unobservable inputs”).  Quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities have the highest priority (“Level 1”), followed by observable inputs other than quoted prices, 
including prices for similar but not identical assets or liabilities (“Level 2”) and unobservable inputs, including the reporting 
entity’s estimates of the assumptions that market participants would use, having the lowest priority (“Level 3”). 

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains used quoted market prices or other observable inputs to determine 
fair value for approximately 94% of the investment portfolio.  Investments valued using Level 1 inputs include fixed maturity 
investments, primarily investments in U.S. Treasuries, short-term investments, which include U.S. Treasury Bills and common 
equity securities. Investments valued using Level 2 inputs include fixed maturity investments, which have been disaggregated 
into classes, including debt securities issued by corporations, mortgage and asset-backed securities, municipal obligations, and 
foreign government, agency and provincial obligations.  Investments valued using Level 2 inputs also include certain passive 
exchange traded funds (“ETFs”) that track U.S. stock indices such as the S&P 500 but are traded on foreign exchanges, which 
management values using the fund manager’s published NAV to account for the difference in market close times.  Fair value 
estimates for investments that trade infrequently and have few or no observable market prices are classified as Level 3 
measurements.  Investments valued using Level 3 fair value estimates are based upon unobservable inputs and include 
investments in certain fixed maturity investments, common equity securities and other long-term investments where quoted 
market prices are unavailable or are not considered reasonable.  Transfers between levels are based on investments held as of 
the beginning of the period.

White Mountains uses brokers and outside pricing services to assist in determining fair values.  For investments in active 
markets, White Mountains uses the quoted market prices provided by outside pricing services to determine fair value.  The 
outside pricing services White Mountains uses have indicated that they will only provide prices where observable inputs are 
available.  In circumstances where quoted market prices are unavailable or are not considered reasonable, White Mountains 
estimates the fair value using industry standard pricing methodologies and observable inputs such as benchmark yields, 
reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads, benchmark securities, bids, offers, credit ratings, prepayment speeds, 
reference data including research publications and other relevant inputs.  Given that many fixed maturity investments do not 
trade on a daily basis, the outside pricing services evaluate a wide range of fixed maturity investments by regularly drawing 
parallels from recent trades and quotes of comparable securities with similar features.  The characteristics used to identify 
comparable fixed maturity investments vary by asset type and take into account market convention.

White Mountains’s process to assess the reasonableness of the market prices obtained from the outside pricing sources
covers substantially all of its fixed maturity investments and includes, but is not limited to, the evaluation of pricing 
methodologies and a review of the pricing services’ quality control procedures on at least an annual basis, a comparison of its 
invested asset prices obtained from alternate independent pricing vendors on at least a semi-annual basis, monthly analytical 
reviews of certain prices and a review of the underlying assumptions utilized by the pricing services for select measurements on 
an ad hoc basis throughout the year.  White Mountains also performs back-testing of selected sales activity to determine 
whether there are any significant differences between the market price used to value the security prior to sale and the actual sale 
price on an ad-hoc basis throughout the year.  Prices provided by the pricing services that vary by more than 5% and $1.0 
million from the expected price based on these assessment procedures are considered outliers. Also considered outliers are 
prices that have not changed from period to period and prices that have trended unusually compared to market conditions.  In 
circumstances where the results of White Mountains’s review process does not appear to support the market price provided by 
the pricing services, White Mountains challenges the vendor provided price.  If White Mountains cannot gain satisfactory 
evidence to support the challenged price, it relies upon its own pricing methodologies to estimate the fair value of the security 
in question.
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The valuation process described above is generally applicable to all of White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments.  The 
techniques and inputs specific to asset classes within White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments for Level 2 securities that 
use observable inputs are as follows:

Debt Securities Issued by Corporations: The fair value of debt securities issued by corporations is determined from a 
pricing evaluation technique that uses information from market sources and integrates relative credit information, observed 
market movements, and sector news.  Key inputs include benchmark yields, reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, issuer 
spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, and reference data including sector, coupon, credit quality 
ratings, duration, credit enhancements, early redemption features and market research publications.

Mortgage and Asset-Backed Securities: The fair value of mortgage and asset-backed securities is determined from a 
pricing evaluation technique that uses information from market sources and leveraging similar securities.  Key inputs include 
benchmark yields, reported trades, underlying tranche cash flow data, collateral performance, plus new issue data, as well as 
broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, and reference data including issuer, 
vintage, loan type, collateral attributes, prepayment speeds, default rates, recovery rates, cash flow stress testing, credit quality 
ratings and market research publications.

Municipal Obligations: The fair value of municipal obligations is determined from a pricing evaluation technique that uses 
information from market makers, brokers-dealers, buy-side firms, and analysts along with general market information.  Key 
inputs include benchmark yields, reported trades, issuer financial statements, material event notices and new issue data, as well 
as broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, and reference data including type, 
coupon, credit quality ratings, duration, credit enhancements, geographic location and market research publications.

Foreign Government, Agency and Provincial Obligations: The fair value of foreign government, agency and provincial 
obligations is determined from a pricing evaluation technique that uses feeds from data sources in each respective country, 
including active market makers and inter-dealer brokers.  Key inputs include benchmark yields, reported trades, broker-dealer 
quotes, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, local exchange prices, foreign exchange rates and reference data 
including coupon, credit quality ratings, duration and market research publications.

Level 3 valuations are generated from techniques that use assumptions not observable in the market.  These unobservable 
assumptions reflect White Mountains’s assumptions that market participants would use in valuing the investment.  Generally, 
certain securities may start out as Level 3 when they are originally issued but as observable inputs become available in the 
market, they may be reclassified to Level 2. 

Other Long-Term Investments
Other long-term investments consist primarily of hedge funds, private equity funds, non-controlling interests in private 

capital investments and foreign currency forward contracts.  See Note 3 — “Investment Securities”.  White Mountains has 
taken the fair value option for most of its other long-term investments.  For the investments for which White Mountains has 
taken the fair value option, changes in fair value are reported in revenues on a pre-tax basis.  For those long-term investments 
for which White Mountains has not made the fair value election, White Mountains accounts for its interests under the equity 
method.

White Mountains employs a number of procedures to assess the reasonableness of the fair value measurements for its other 
long-term investments, including obtaining and reviewing periodic and audited annual financial statements of hedge funds and 
private equity funds as well as discussing each fund’s pricing with the fund manager throughout the year.  However, since the 
fund managers do not provide sufficient information to evaluate the pricing methods and inputs for each underlying investment, 
White Mountains considers the inputs to be unobservable.  The fair value of White Mountains’s investments in hedge funds and 
private equity funds has generally been determined using the fund manager’s NAV.  In the event White Mountains believes that 
the fair value of a hedge fund or private equity fund differs from the NAV reported by the fund manager due to illiquidity or 
other factors, White Mountains will adjust the reported NAV to more appropriately represent the fair value of its investment in 
the hedge fund or private equity fund.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains did not adjust the reported NAV 
of its investments in hedge funds and private equity funds.

Derivatives 
Financial Instruments: White Mountains holds from time to time a variety of derivative financial instruments for risk 

management purposes. White Mountains recognizes all derivatives as either other assets or other liabilities, aside from the 
foreign currency forward contracts which are recognized within other long-term investments, measured at fair value, in the 
consolidated balance sheets.  Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognized in current period pre-tax 
income. 



 F - 11

From time to time, White Mountains holds warrants that it has received in the restructuring of certain of its common equity 
securities and fixed maturity investments.  White Mountains accounts for its investments in warrants as derivatives.

Variable Annuity Reinsurance:  In 2016, White Mountains completed the run-off of WM Life Re as all of its contracts 
matured as of June 30, 2016.  WM Life Re entered into agreements to reinsure death and living benefit guarantees associated 
with certain variable annuities in Japan.  The accounting for benefit guarantees differs depending on whether or not the 
guarantee is classified as a derivative or an insurance liability. The liability for guaranteed minimum death benefits was 
classified as a derivative and measured at fair value.  The liability for guaranteed minimum accumulation benefits was 
classified as an insurance liability, and was measured using assumptions for interest rates, equity markets, foreign exchange 
rates and market volatilities at the valuation date, as well as annuitant-related actuarial assumptions, including surrender and 
mortality rates. 

WM Life Re entered into derivative contracts that were designed to economically hedge against changes in the fair value of 
living and death benefit liabilities associated with its variable annuity reinsurance arrangements.  All WM Life Re’s derivative 
financial instruments were recorded as assets or liabilities at fair value on the balance sheet within other assets.  These 
derivative financial instruments did not meet the criteria for hedge accounting treatment, and accordingly, changes in fair value 
were recognized in the appropriate period as gains or losses in the income statement within other revenues. 

Receivables
Receivables consist primarily of premiums receivable from BAM customers for municipal bond insurance policies and 

advertising fees receivable from publishers and advertisers of MediaAlpha. 

Incentive Compensation
White Mountains’s Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “WTM Incentive Plan”) provides for grants of various types of share-

based and non-share-based incentive awards to key employees of White Mountains.  Non-share based awards are recognized 
over the related service periods based on management’s best estimate of the amounts at which the awards are expected to be 
paid. Share-based compensation which is typically settled in cash, such as performance shares or performance units, is 
classified as a liability-type award. The compensation cost for liability-classified awards is measured initially at the grant date 
fair value and remeasured each reporting period until settlement. The compensation cost for equity-classified awards expected 
to be settled in shares, such as options and restricted shares, is measured at the original grant date fair value of the award. The 
compensation cost for all awards is recognized for the vested portion of the awards over the related service periods.  See Note 
10 — “Employee Share-Based Incentive Compensation”. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the amount paid to acquire subsidiaries over the fair value of identifiable net assets at the 

date of acquisition.  Other intangible assets consist primarily of trademarks, URL and online names, customer relationships, 
information technology and insurance licenses. 

Goodwill is not amortized, but rather is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis, or whenever indications of potential 
impairment exist.  In the absence of any indications of potential impairment, the evaluation of goodwill is performed during the 
fourth quarter of each year.  White Mountains initially evaluates goodwill using a qualitative approach (step zero) to determine 
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of goodwill is greater than its carrying value.  If the results of the 
qualitative evaluation indicate that it is more likely than not that the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its fair value, White 
Mountains performs the two-step quantitative test for impairment.

Other intangible assets with finite lives are measured at their acquisition date fair values, are amortized over their economic 
lives and presented net of accumulated amortization on the balance sheet.  Other intangible assets with finite lives are evaluated 
for impairment at least annually and when events or changes in circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the 
asset is impaired. 

White Mountains evaluated the recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets and did not recognize any impairment 
losses for any of the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.  See Note 4 — “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets”.
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Municipal Bond Guarantee Insurance
All of the contracts issued by BAM are accounted for as insurance contracts under ASC 944-605, Financial Guarantee 

Insurance Contracts.  Premiums are generally received upfront and an unearned premium revenue liability, equal to the amount 
of the premium received, is established at contract inception.  Installment premiums are measured at the present value of 
contractual premiums, discounted at the risk free rate, which is set at the inception of the insurance contract. 

Premium revenues are recognized in revenue over the period of the contracts in proportion to the amount of insurance 
protection provided using a constant rate.  The constant rate is calculated based on the relationship between the par outstanding 
in a given reporting period compared with the sum of each of the par amounts outstanding for all periods. 

Deferred acquisition costs represent commissions, premium taxes, excise taxes and other costs which are directly 
attributable to and vary with the production of business.  These costs are deferred and amortized to the extent they relate to 
successful contract acquisitions over the applicable premium recognition period as acquisition expenses.  Deferred acquisition 
costs are limited to the amount expected to be recovered from future earned premiums and anticipated investment income.

BAM’s obligation for outstanding contracts consists of the unearned premium reserve and any loss reserves.  Loss reserves 
are recorded only to the extent that the present value of the expected amount of any losses to be paid, net of any expected 
recoveries, exceeds the associated unearned premium reserve.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, BAM did not have any loss 
or LAE reserves.

Revenue Recognition
White Mountains recognizes advertising and publishing fee revenues based on the contractual amount of the fees, adjusted 

for any amounts expected to be refunded or uncollectible, when it has satisfied its contractual performance obligations, which is 
generally at the time each transaction is executed.  For transactions where MediaAlpha acts as the principal, such as the Buyer 
and Open exchanges, revenue amounts are reported gross.  For transactions where MediaAlpha acts as an agent facilitating 
transactions between third parties, revenue amounts are reported at the net fee billed.

Agent and commission revenues are measured based on the contractual rates with insurance carriers, net of any amounts 
expected to be uncollectible and any amounts associated with expected policy cancellations adjustments, and are recognized 
when contractual performance obligations have been fulfilled.

Cost of Sales
White Mountains’s cost of sales consists primarily of revenue sharing payments to publisher partners and traffic acquisition 

costs to top tier search engines.  Cost of sales are measured based on contract terms and recognized when the related revenue 
transactions are executed.

Other segment cost of sales consist of salaries and related expenses, professional services and marketing and advertising 
expenses directly related to sales generation.  These expenses are recognized as incurred.

Federal and Foreign Income Taxes
A number of White Mountains’s subsidiaries file consolidated tax returns in the United States.  Income earned or losses 

generated by companies outside the United States are generally subject to an overall effective tax rate lower than that imposed 
by the United States.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded when a difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts for tax purposes exists, and for other temporary differences.  The deferred tax 
asset or liability is recorded based on tax rates expected to be in effect when the difference reverses.  The deferred tax asset is 
recognized when it is more likely than not that it will be realized.

Foreign Currency Exchange
The functional currency for White Mountains’s non-U.S. based subsidiaries are measured, in most instances, using 

functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Net foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of functional 
currencies are generally reported in shareholders’ equity, in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss.

White Mountains also invests in securities denominated in foreign currencies.  Assets and liabilities recorded in these 
foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and revenues and 
expenses are converted using the weighted average exchange rates for the period.  

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains had unrealized foreign currency translation losses of $1.3 million 
and $1.4 million recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income on its consolidated balance sheet.
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Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests consist of the ownership interests of non-controlling shareholders in consolidated subsidiaries, 

and are presented separately on the balance sheet.  The portion of comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling 
interests is presented net of related income taxes in the statement of operations and comprehensive income.  See Note 11 — 
“Common Shareholders’ Equity and Non-controlling Interests”. 

Recently Adopted Changes in Accounting Principles

Stock Compensation 
Effective January 1, 2017, White Mountains adopted ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment 

Accounting (ASC 718) which is intended to simplify certain aspects of the accounting for share-based compensation, including 
forfeiture assumptions, net settlement of equity awards for withholding taxes and accounting for excess tax benefits.  The new 
guidance provides an accounting policy election to account for forfeitures by either applying an assumption, as required under 
existing guidance, or by recognizing forfeitures when they actually occur.  The new ASU also permits net settlement of equity 
awards for withholding taxes up to the maximum statutory rate and requires such amounts to be classified as financing activities 
in the statement of cash flows.  In addition, the new guidance changes the accounting for excess tax benefits and deficiencies by 
requiring recognition in the income statement, with treatment of the tax effects as discrete items in determining a reporting 
entity’s effective rate in the period in which exercise or vesting of awards occurs.  The new guidance became effective on 
January 1, 2017 for White Mountains and upon adoption changes were recognized in the statement of cash flows with no other 
significant effect on the rest of the financial statements.

Business Combinations - Measurement Period Adjustments 
Effective January 1, 2016, White Mountains adopted ASU 2015-16, Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period 

Adjustments, which requires adjustments to provisional amounts recorded in connection with a business combination that are 
identified during the measurement period to be recorded in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are 
determined, rather than as retroactive adjustments to prior periods.  White Mountains has not recognized any adjustments to 
estimated purchase accounting amounts for the year to date period ended December 31, 2016 and accordingly, there was no 
effect to White Mountains’s financial statements upon adoption.

Fair Value Measurements 
On January 1, 2016, White Mountains adopted ASU 2015-07, Fair Value Measurement - Disclosures for Investments in 

Certain Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent) (ASC 820), which eliminates the requirement to 
disclose the fair value hierarchy level for investments for which fair value is measured at net asset value (“NAV”) using the 
practical expedient in ASC 820.  White Mountains measures the fair value of its investments in hedge funds and private equity 
funds using this practical expedient.  Upon adoption, these fair value measurements are no longer classified within the fair 
value hierarchy. 

Amendments to Consolidation Analysis 
On January 1, 2016, White Mountains adopted ASU 2015-02, Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis (ASC 810) which 

amends the guidance for determining whether an entity is a VIE.  ASU 2015-02 eliminates the separate consolidation guidance 
for limited partnerships and, with it, the presumption that a general partner should consolidate a limited partnership.  In 
addition, ASU 2015-02 changes the guidance for determining if fee arrangements qualify as variable interests and the effect fee 
arrangements have on the determination of the primary beneficiary.  Adoption of ASU 2015-02 did not affect the consolidation 
analysis for any of White Mountains’s investments.

Share-Based Compensation Awards
On January 1, 2016, White Mountains adopted ASU 2014-12, Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide 

That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period (ASC 718).  The new guidance requires that a 
performance target that affects vesting and that can be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance 
condition.  Compensation cost is to be recognized in the period when it becomes probable the performance target will be 
achieved in an amount equal to the compensation cost attributable to the periods for which service has been rendered. Adoption 
did not have a significant effect on White Mountains’s financial statements.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Revenue Recognition
Effective January 1, 2018, White Mountains plans to adopt ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 

606), which modifies the guidance for revenue recognition.  Under the new guidance, revenue is recognized at an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled once it fulfills its performance obligations under the terms of 
its contract with the customer.  The new guidance does not apply to revenue from insurance contracts, investment income or 
investments gains and losses. The new guidance is applicable to some of White Mountains’s revenue streams, including agent 
commissions and other non-insurance revenues.  White Mountains does not expect adoption to have any significant effect on its 
financial statements.

Stock Compensation
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Stock Compensation: Scope of Modification Accounting (ASC 718), which 

narrows the scope of transactions subject to modification accounting to changes in terms of an award that result in a change in 
the award’s fair value, vesting conditions or classification.  The new guidance becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2017.  White Mountains does not expect adoption to have any effect on its financial statements.

Premium Amortization on Callable Debt Securities
In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-08, Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities (ASC 

310-20), which changes the amortization period for certain purchased callable debt securities. Under the new guidance, for 
investments in callable debt securities held at a premium, the premium will be amortized over the period to the earliest call date. 
The new guidance does not change the amortization period for callable debt securities held at a discount. The new guidance is 
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. White Mountains does not expect adoption to have any effect 
on its financial statements.

Definition of a Business
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, Business Combinations: Clarifying the Definition of a Business (ASC 

805), which clarifies the definition of a business and affects the determination of whether acquisitions or disposals are 
accounted for as assets or as a business. Under the new guidance, when substantially all of the fair value of the assets is 
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets, it is not a business.  The new guidance is 
effective for annual and interim periods after December 15, 2017.  White Mountains does not expect adoption to have any 
effect on its financial statements.

Goodwill
In January 2017, the FASB issue ASU 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (ASC 350), which changes 

the guidance on goodwill impairment testing.  Under the new guidance, the qualitative assessment of the recoverability of 
goodwill remains the same.  However, the second step required under the existing guidance has been eliminated.  Goodwill is 
considered impaired if the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value.  The new guidance is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2019.

Cash Flow Statement
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows: Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and 

Cash Payments (ASC 230), which addresses the classification and presentation of certain items, including debt prepayment and 
extinguishment costs, contingent consideration payments made after a business combination and distributions received from 
equity method investees, for which there was diversity in practice. 

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash (ASC 230). Under current 
guidance, restricted amounts of cash or cash equivalents are excluded from the cash flow statement. The new guidance requires 
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents to be included in the reconciliation of beginning and end-of-period amounts 
presented on the statement of cash flows.  In addition, the new guidance requires a description of the nature of the changes in 
restricted cash and cash equivalents during the periods presented. 

The updated guidance in ASU 2016-15 and ASU 2016-18 are both effective for interim and annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted.  White Mountains does not expect adoption to have any 
effect on its financial statements.
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Credit Losses
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (ASC 326), which 

establishes new guidance for the recognition of credit losses for financial assets measured at amortized cost.  The new ASU 
requires reporting entities to estimate the credit losses expected over the life of a credit exposure using historical information, 
current information and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the financial asset.  This differs 
from current GAAP, which delays recognition until it is probable a loss has been incurred.  The new guidance is expected to 
accelerate recognition of credit losses.  The types of assets within the scope of the new guidance include loans and trade 
receivables such as premium receivables and reinsurance recoverables on paid losses.  ASU 2016-13 is effective for annual 
periods beginning after January 1, 2020, including interim periods. White Mountains measures its portfolio of investment 
securities at fair value with changes therein recognized through current period earnings and accordingly does not expect 
adoption to have any effect on its financial statements.

Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (ASC 842).  The new guidance requires lessees to recognize 

lease assets and liabilities on the balance sheet for both operating and financing leases, with the exception of leases with an 
original term of 12 months or less.  Under existing guidance recognition of lease assets and liabilities is not required for 
operating leases. The lease assets and liabilities to be recognized are both measured initially based on the present value of the 
lease payments.  Under the new guidance, a sale-leaseback transaction must meet the recognition criteria under ASC 606, 
Revenues, in order to be accounted for as sale. The new guidance is effective for White Mountains for years beginning after 
December 15, 2018, including interim periods therein.  White Mountains is evaluating the expected impact of this guidance and 
available adoption methods.

Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities (ASC 825-10).  The new ASU modifies the guidance for financial instruments, including investments in equity 
securities.  Under the new guidance, all equity securities with readily determinable fair values are required to be measured at 
fair value with changes therein recognized through current period earnings.  In addition, the new ASU requires a qualitative 
assessment for equity securities without readily determinable fair values to identify impairment, and for impaired equity 
securities to be measured at fair value.  ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, with early 
adoption permitted.  White Mountains measures its portfolio of investment securities at fair value with changes therein 
recognized through current period earnings and accordingly, does not expect adoption to have any effect on its financial 
statements.

Note 2. Significant Transactions

Dispositions

OneBeacon 
On September 28, 2017, White Mountains received $1.3 billion in cash proceeds from the OneBeacon Transaction and 

recorded a net gain of $554.6 million, net of transaction costs.  As a result of the OneBeacon Transaction, OneBeacon’s results 
have been reported as discontinued operations within White Mountains’s GAAP financial statements.  See Note 19 — “Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

Star & Shield
On March 7, 2017, White Mountains completed its sale of Star & Shield and its investment in SSIE surplus notes to K2 

Insurances LLC.  White Mountains did not recognize any gain or loss on the sale.  Through December 31, 2016, Star & Shield’s 
assets and liabilities are reported as held for sale within White Mountains’s GAAP financial statements.  See Note 19 — “Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.
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Tranzact
On July 21, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Tranzact to an affiliate of Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, LLC and 

received net proceeds of $221.3 million.  In connection with the sale of Tranzact, the purchaser directly repaid $56.3 million for 
the portion of Tranzact’s debt attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders. On October 5, 2016, White Mountains 
received additional proceeds of $1.2 million following the release of the post-closing purchase price adjustment escrow.  

White Mountains recorded a $51.9 million gain from the sale of Tranzact in discontinued operations, which included a 
$30.2 million tax expense for the reversal of a tax valuation allowance that is offset by a tax benefit recorded in continuing 
operations.  See Note 6 — “Income Taxes”.  The increase to White Mountains’s book value from the sale of Tranzact was 
$82.1 million.  

The following table presents a reconciliation of the gain reported in discontinued operations to the impact to White 
Mountains’s book value:

Millions
Year ended

December 31, 2016

Gain from sale of Tranzact reported in discontinued operations $ 51.9
Add back reclassification from continuing operations for the 
   release of a tax valuation allowance 30.2

Increase to White Mountains’s book value from sale of Tranzact $ 82.1

Through July 21, 2016, Tranzact’s results of operations are reported as discontinued operations and assets and liabilities 
held for sale within White Mountains’s GAAP financial statements.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations”.

During 2017, White Mountains recorded a $3.2 million increase to the gain from sale of Tranzact in discontinued 
operations as a result of a change in state tax expense.

Sirius Group
On April 18, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Sirius Group to CMI for approximately $2.6 billion.  $161.8 

million of this amount was used to purchase certain assets to be retained by White Mountains out of Sirius Group, including 
shares of OneBeacon.  The amount paid at closing was based on an estimate of Sirius Group’s closing date tangible common 
shareholder’s equity.  During the third quarter of 2016, there was a final true-up to Sirius Group’s tangible common 
shareholder’s equity that resulted in a $4.0 million reduction to the gain.  During 2016, White Mountains recorded $363.2 
million of gain from sale of Sirius Group in discontinued operations and $113.3 million in other comprehensive income from 
discontinued operations from Sirius Group.

During 2017, White Mountains recorded a $0.7 million reduction to the gain from sale of Sirius Group as a result of a 
change to the valuation of the accrued incentive compensation payable to Sirius Group employees. 

Through April 18, 2016, Sirius Group’s results are reported as discontinued operations and assets and liabilities held for 
sale within White Mountains’s GAAP financial statements.

The transactions to purchase the shares of OneBeacon and the other investments held by Sirius Group prior to the closing 
are presented in the statement of cash flows as net settlement of investment cash flows within discontinued operations.  See 
Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

Acquisitions

The following acquisitions are included in White Mountains’s consolidated financial statements from the date of 
acquisition. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been measured at their acquisition date fair values.

Buzzmove
On August 4, 2016, White Mountains acquired a 70.9% ownership share in Buzzmove for a purchase price of British 

Pound Sterling (“GBP”) 6.1 million (approximately $8.1 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate at the date of 
acquisition).  White Mountains recognized total assets acquired related to Buzzmove of $11.5 million, including $7.6 million of 
goodwill and $1.1 million of other intangible assets, and total liabilities assumed of $0.1 million, reflecting acquisition date fair 
values.

On August 1, 2017, White Mountains acquired 37,409 newly-issued preferred shares of Buzzmove for GBP 4.0 million 
(approximately $5.0 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate at the date of acquisition) and 5,808 common shares 
from the company founders for GBP 0.5 million (approximately $0.7 million based upon the spot rate at the date of 
acquisition).  White Mountains’s ownership share in Buzzmove as of December 31, 2017 was 77.1%.
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MediaAlpha
On January 15, 2016, MediaAlpha acquired certain assets from Oversee.net for an aggregate purchase price of $3.9 

million.  The majority of assets acquired, which are included in other intangible assets, consists of customer relationships, a 
customer contract, a non-compete agreement from the seller, domain names and technology.

On October 5, 2017, MediaAlpha acquired certain assets associated with the Health, Life and Medicare insurance business 
of Healthplans.com for an aggregate purchase price of $28.0 million.  The majority of assets acquired, which are included in 
other intangible assets, consists of customer relationships, a non-compete agreement from the seller and domain names.  See 
Note 4 — “Goodwill and Other Intangibles Assets”.

On October 5, 2017, White Mountains acquired 131,579 newly-issued Class A common units of MediaAlpha for $12.5 
million.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, White Mountains’s ownership share in MediaAlpha was 64.4% and 60.0%.

Note 3.  Investments Securities

White Mountains’s portfolio of investment securities held for general investment purposes consists of fixed maturity 
investments, short-term investments, common equity securities and other long-term investments, which are all classified as 
trading securities.  Trading securities are reported at fair value as of the balance sheet date.  Net realized and unrealized 
investment gains (losses) on trading securities are reported in pre-tax revenues.  

White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments are generally valued using industry standard pricing methodologies.  Key 
inputs include benchmark yields, benchmark securities, reported trades, issuer spreads, bids, offers, credit ratings and 
prepayment speeds.  Income on mortgage and asset-backed securities is recognized using an effective yield based on anticipated 
prepayments and the estimated economic life of the securities.  When actual prepayments differ significantly from anticipated 
prepayments, the estimated economic life is recalculated and the remaining unamortized premium or discount is amortized 
prospectively over the remaining economic life.

Realized investment gains (losses) resulting from sales of investment securities are accounted for using the specific 
identification method.  Premiums and discounts on all fixed maturity investments are amortized or accreted to income over the 
anticipated life of the investment.  Short-term investments consist of interest-bearing money market funds, certificates of 
deposit and other securities, which at the time of purchase, mature or become available for use within one year.  Short-term 
investments are carried at amortized or accreted cost, which approximated fair value as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Other long-term investments consist primarily of hedge funds, private equity funds, non-controlling interests in private 
capital investments and foreign currency forward contracts.

Net Investment Income

White Mountains’s net investment income is comprised primarily of interest income associated with White Mountains’s 
fixed maturity investments and short-term investments and dividend income from its common equity securities and other long-
term investments.

The following table presents pre-tax net investment income for 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Investment income:
Fixed maturity investments $ 44.9 $ 28.5 $ 8.9
Short-term investments 1.8 .9 —
Common equity securities 10.6 4.0 4.0
Other long-term investments 1.2 1.1 2.4

Total investment income 58.5 34.5 15.3
Third-party investment expenses (2.5) (2.4) (4.4)

Net investment income, pre-tax $ 56.0 $ 32.1 $ 10.9
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Net Realized and Unrealized Investment Gains (Losses)

The following table presents net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) for 2017, 2016, and 2015: 

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Net realized investment gains, pre-tax $ 24.1 $ 270.0 $ 30.0
Net unrealized investment gains (losses), pre-tax 109.2 (297.4) 230.5

Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses), pre-tax 133.3 (27.4) 260.5
Income tax (expense) benefit attributable to net realized and 
   unrealized investment gains (losses) (12.9) 2.7 (47.7)

Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses), after-tax $ 120.4 $ (24.7) $ 212.8

Net Realized Investment Gains (Losses)
The following tables present net realized investment gains (losses) for 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31, 2017

Millions
Net realized
(losses) gains

Net foreign
exchange gains

(losses)

Total net realized gains
(losses) reflected in

earnings
Fixed maturity investments $ (1.6) $ 4.1 $ 2.5
Short-term investments (.3) — (.3)
Common equity securities 18.1 6.0 24.1
Other long-term investments 19.1 (21.3) (2.2)
Net realized investment gains (losses), pre-tax 35.3 (11.2) 24.1
Income tax expense attributable to net realized 
   investment gains (losses) (8.9) — (8.9)

Net realized investment gains (losses), after-tax $ 26.4 $ (11.2) $ 15.2



 F - 19

Year Ended December 31, 2016

Millions
Net realized
(losses) gains

Net foreign
exchange gains

Total net realized (losses)
gains reflected in earnings

Fixed maturity investments $ (1.9) $ .3 $ (1.6)
Short-term investments .4 — .4
Common equity securities 268.5 — 268.5
Other long-term investments 2.7 — 2.7
Net realized investment gains, pre-tax 269.7 .3 270.0
Income tax expense attributable to net realized investment gains (45.6) — (45.6)

Net realized investment gains, after-tax $ 224.1 $ .3 $ 224.4

Year Ended December 31, 2015

Millions
Net realized
(losses) gains

Net foreign
exchange gains

Total net realized (losses)
gains reflected in earnings

Fixed maturity investments $ (.2) $ — $ (.2)
Common equity securities 31.0 — 31.0
Other long-term investments (.8) — (.8)
Net realized investment gains, pre-tax 30.0 — 30.0
Income tax expense attributable to net realized investment gains (6.4) — (6.4)

Net realized investment gains, after-tax $ 23.6 $ — $ 23.6

Net Unrealized Investment Gains (Losses)
The following tables present net unrealized investment gains (losses) and changes in the carrying value of investments 

measured at fair value for the years ended 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31, 2017

Millions

Net
unrealized gains        

(losses)

Net foreign
exchange

gains (losses)

Total net unrealized
gains (losses) reflected in

earnings

Fixed maturity investments $ 13.8 $ 12.7 $ 26.5
Common equity securities 99.3 — 99.3
Other long-term investments (15.6) (1.0) (16.6)
Net unrealized investment gains, pre-tax 97.5 11.7 109.2
Income tax expense attributable to net unrealized investment gains (4.0) — (4.0)

Net unrealized investment gains, after-tax $ 93.5 $ 11.7 $ 105.2

Year Ended December 31, 2016

Millions

Net
unrealized

losses

Net foreign
exchange gains

(losses)

Total net unrealized
losses reflected in

earnings

Fixed maturity investments $ (14.6) $ 2.1 $ (12.5)
Common equity securities (257.4) (3.3) (260.7)
Other long-term investments (22.7) (1.5) (24.2)
Net unrealized investment losses, pre-tax (294.7) (2.7) (297.4)
Income tax benefit attributable to net unrealized investment losses 48.3 — 48.3

Net unrealized investment losses, after-tax $ (246.4) $ (2.7) $ (249.1)
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Year Ended December 31, 2015

Millions

Net
unrealized

gains (losses)
Net foreign

exchange losses

Total net unrealized 
gains (losses) reflected in

earnings

Fixed maturity investments $ .1 $ — $ .1
Common equity securities 240.8 (3.9) 236.9
Other long-term investments (5.4) (1.1) (6.5)
Net unrealized investment gains (losses), pre-tax 235.5 (5.0) 230.5
Income tax expense attributable to net unrealized 
   investment gains (41.3) — (41.3)

Net unrealized investment gains (losses), after-tax $ 194.2 $ (5.0) $ 189.2

White Mountains recognized gross realized investment gains of $61.5 million, $283.7 million and $48.7 million and gross 
realized investment losses of $37.4 million, $13.7 million and $18.6 million on sales of investment securities during 2017, 2016 
and 2015. 

The following table presents total gains (losses) included in earnings attributable to unrealized investment gains (losses) for 
Level 3 investments for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Fixed maturity investments $ — $ .1 $ —
Common equity securities — — (9.0)
Other long-term investments (15.4) (14.3) 0.9

Total net unrealized investment losses, pre-tax - Level 3 investments $ (15.4) $ (14.2) $ (8.1)

The following table presents the components of White Mountains’s net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses), 
after-tax, as recorded on the statements of operations and comprehensive income:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Net change in pre-tax unrealized investment losses on investments in 
   unconsolidated affiliates $ — $ — $ (39.2)
Income tax benefit — — 2.9
Net change in unrealized investment losses on investments in
   unconsolidated affiliates, after-tax — — (36.3)
Reversal of accumulated other comprehensive income related to change in   
     accounting for the investment in Symetra — — 1.4

Total investment losses through accumulated other
   comprehensive income — — (34.9)

Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses), after-tax 120.4 (24.7) 212.8
Total investment gains (losses) recorded during the period, after-tax $ 120.4 $ (24.7) $ 177.9
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Investment Holdings

The following tables present the cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized investment gains (losses), net foreign currency 
gains, and carrying values of White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

December 31, 2017

Millions

Cost or
amortized

cost

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses

Net foreign
currency

gains
Carrying

value

U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 297.8 $ — $ (1.3) $ — $ 296.5
Debt securities issued by corporations 867.6 2.9 (4.3) 14.7 880.9
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 697.2 1.6 (4.1) — 694.7
Municipal obligations 252.0 3.7 (.8) — 254.9
Foreign government, agency and provincial
   obligations 2.6 — — .1 2.7
     Total fixed maturity investments $ 2,117.2 $ 8.2 $ (10.5) $ 14.8 $ 2,129.7

December 31, 2016

Millions

Cost or
amortized

cost

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses

Net foreign
currency

gains
Carrying

value

U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 112.1 $ — $ (1.1) $ — $ 111.0
Debt securities issued by corporations 752.0 2.3 (10.1) 2.1 746.3
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 986.9 .8 (7.9) — 979.8
Municipal obligations 238.7 1.1 (1.3) — 238.5
Foreign government, agency and provincial
   obligations 12.0 .1 — — 12.1

Total fixed maturity investments $ 2,101.7 $ 4.3 $ (20.4) $ 2.1 $ 2,087.7
Less: Fixed maturity investments reclassified to 
         assets held for sale related to SSIE 6.6

Total fixed maturity investments $ 2,081.1

The weighted average duration of White Mountains’s fixed income portfolio was approximately 3.4 years when including 
short-term investments and approximately 3.7 years when excluding short-term investments as of December 31, 2017.

The following table presents the cost or amortized cost and carrying value of White Mountains’s fixed maturity 
investments by contractual maturity as of December 31, 2017.  Actual maturities could differ from contractual maturities 
because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay certain obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

December 31, 2017

Millions Cost or amortized cost Carrying value

Due in one year or less $ 109.0 $ 108.8
Due after one year through five years 663.0 660.9
Due after five years through ten years 464.9 472.0
Due after ten years 183.1 193.3
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 697.2 694.7

Total $ 2,117.2 $ 2,129.7
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The following tables present the cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized investment gains (losses), net foreign currency 
losses, and carrying values of White Mountains’s common equity securities and other long-term investments as of December 
31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017

Millions
Cost or

amortized cost
Gross unrealized

gains
Gross unrealized

losses
Net foreign

currency losses
Carrying

value

Common equity securities $ 739.7 $ 129.4 $ (3.0) $ — $ 866.1
Other long-term investments $ 246.6 $ 6.8 $ (39.7) $ (4.9) $ 208.8

December 31, 2016

Millions
Cost or

amortized cost
Gross unrealized

gains
Gross unrealized

losses
Net foreign

currency losses
Carrying

value

Common equity securities $ 258.6 $ 29.0 $ (2.0) $ — $ 285.6
Other long-term investments $ 194.0 $ 7.9 $ (25.2) $ (3.9) $ 172.8

Proceeds from the sales and maturities of investments, excluding short-term investments, totaled $2.8 billion, $3.7 billion 
and $0.8 billion for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. 

Investments Held on Deposit or as Collateral

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, investments of $204.6 million and $161.7 million, were held in trusts required to be 
maintained in relation to HG Global’s reinsurance agreements with BAM.  White Mountains’s insurance subsidiaries are 
required to maintain deposits with certain insurance regulatory agencies in order to maintain their insurance licenses.  The fair 
value of such deposits, which represent BAM’s state deposits and are included within the investment portfolio, totaled $6.0 
million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.  

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2017 
Fair value measurements are categorized into a hierarchy that distinguishes between inputs based on market data from 

independent sources (observable inputs) and a reporting entity’s internal assumptions based upon the best information available 
when external market data is limited or unavailable (unobservable inputs).  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities have the highest priority (Level 1), followed by observable inputs other than quoted prices, including prices for 
similar but not identical assets or liabilities (Level 2) and unobservable inputs, including the reporting entity’s estimates of the 
assumptions that market participants would use, having the lowest priority (Level 3). As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
White Mountains used quoted market prices or other observable inputs to determine fair value for approximately 94% of the 
investment portfolio.  See Note 1 — “Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies - Significant Accounting 
Policies - Investment Securities”.
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Fair Value Measurements by Level
The following tables present White Mountains’s fair value measurements for investments as of December 31, 2017 and 

2016 by level. The major security types were based on the legal form of the securities.  White Mountains has disaggregated its 
fixed maturity investments based on the issuing entity type, which impacts credit quality, with debt securities issued by U.S. 
government entities carrying minimal credit risk, while the credit and other risks associated with other issuers, such as 
corporations, foreign governments, municipalities or entities issuing mortgage and asset-backed securities vary depending on 
the nature of the issuing entity type.  White Mountains further disaggregates debt securities issued by corporations and common 
equity securities by industry sector because investors often reference commonly used benchmarks and their subsectors to 
monitor risk and performance.  Accordingly, White Mountains has further disaggregated these asset classes into subclasses 
based on the similar sectors and industry classifications it uses to evaluate investment risk and performance against commonly 
used benchmarks, such as the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate and S&P 500 indices.  The fair value 
measurements for derivative assets associated with White Mountains’s variable annuity business are presented in See Note 7 — 
“Derivatives — Variable Annuity Reinsurance”.

December 31, 2017
Millions Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fixed maturity investments:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 296.5 $ 296.5 $ — $ —
Debt securities issued by corporations:  

Consumer 185.1 — 185.1 —
Communications 127.8 — 127.8 —
Financials 114.8 — 114.8
Utilities 108.9 — 108.9 —
Materials 95.5 — 95.5 —
Health Care 94.3 — 94.3 —
Technology 80.5 — 80.5 —
Energy 48.1 — 48.1 —
Industrial 25.9 — 25.9 —

Total debt securities issued by corporations: 880.9 — 880.9 —
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 694.7 — 694.7 —
Municipal obligations 254.9 — 254.9 —
Foreign government, agency and provincial obligations 2.7 — 2.7 —

Total fixed maturity investments 2,129.7 296.5 1,833.2 —
Short-term investments (1) 176.1 151.0 25.1 —
Common equity securities:     

Exchange traded funds (2) 569.7 508.1 61.6 —
Health Care 17.1 17.1 — —
Financials 16.3 16.3 — —
Technology 15.1 15.1 — —
Industrial 11.9 11.9 — —
Communications 10.9 10.9 — —
Consumer 10.7 10.7 — —
Energy 3.8 3.8 — —
Other (3) 210.6 — 210.6 —

Total common equity securities 866.1 593.9 272.2 —
Other long-term investments (4)(5) 87.2 — — 87.2

Total investments $ 3,259.1 $ 1,041.4 $ 2,130.5 $ 87.2
(1)   Short-term investments are measured at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. 
(2)  ETFs traded on foreign exchanges are priced using the fund's published NAV to account for the difference in market close times and are therefore designated 

a level 2 measurement.
(3)  Consists of two investments in unit trusts that primarily invest in international equities
(4)  Excludes carrying value of $(3.7) related to foreign currency forward contracts. 
(5) Excludes carrying value of $125.3 associated with a hedge fund and private equity funds for which fair value is measured at NAV using the practical        

expedient.
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December 31, 2016
Millions Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fixed maturity investments:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 111.0 $ 101.5 $ 9.5 $ —
Debt securities issued by corporations:

Consumer 190.8 — 190.8 —
Utilities 140.8 — 140.8 —
Health Care 114.9 — 114.9 —
Financials 79.7 — 79.7 —
Communications 72.0 — 72.0 —
Materials 65.0 — 65.0 —
Technology 48.8 — 48.8 —
Industrial 28.2 — 28.2 —
Energy 6.1 — 6.1 —

Total debt securities issued by corporations: 746.3 — 746.3 —
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 979.8 — 979.8 —
Municipal obligations 238.5 — 238.5 —
Foreign government, agency and provincial obligations 12.1 — 12.1 —

Total fixed maturity investments (1) 2,087.7 101.5 1,986.2 —

Short-term investments (1)(2) 175.0 162.3 12.7 —
Common equity securities:

Exchange traded funds (3) 157.2 129.4 27.8 —
Health Care 13.9 13.9 — —
Consumer 8.6 8.6 — —
Financials 7.7 7.7 — —
Technology 7.3 7.3 — —
Communications 7.0 7.0 — —
Energy 2.5 2.5 — —
Industrial 1.5 1.5 — —
Other (4) 79.9 — 79.9 —

Total common equity securities 285.6 177.9 107.7 —
Other long-term investments (5)(6) 91.4 — — 91.4

Total investments (1) $ 2,639.7 $ 441.7 $ 2,106.6 $ 91.4
(1)  Includes carrying value of $6.6 in fixed maturity investments and $0.1 in short-term investments that are classified as assets held for sale related to SSIE.
(2)  Short-term investments are measured at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. 
(3)  ETFs traded on foreign exchanges are priced using the fund’s published NAV to account for the difference in market close times and are therefore designated 

a level 2 measurement.
(4)  Consists of an investment in a unit trust that primarily invests in international equities. 
(5) Excludes carrying value of $(1.2) related to foreign currency forward contracts. 
(6)  Excludes carrying value of $82.6 associated with hedge funds and private equity funds for which fair value is measured at NAV using the practical 

expedient.
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Debt Securities Issued by Corporations

The following table presents the ratings of debt securities issued by corporations held in White Mountains’s investment 
portfolio as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Fair Value at December 31,
Millions 2017 2016

AAA $ 1.6 $ —
AA 42.6 37.3
A 192.5 212.8
BBB 465.2 335.6
BB 161.7 143.2
B 17.3 17.4

Debt securities issued by corporations (1)(2) $ 880.9 $ 746.3
(1) Credit ratings are assigned based on the following hierarchy: (1) Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC 

(“Standard & Poor's”) and (2) Moody's Investor Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”).
(2)  Includes carrying value of $4.2 of fixed maturity investments at December 31, 2016 that is classified 

as assets held for sale related to SSIE.

Mortgage and Asset-backed Securities

White Mountains purchases commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”) and residential mortgage-backed securities 
(“RMBS”) with the goal of maximizing risk adjusted returns in the context of a diversified portfolio.  

White Mountains considers sub-prime mortgage-backed securities as those that have underlying loan pools that exhibit 
weak credit characteristics, or those that are issued from dedicated sub-prime shelves or dedicated second-lien shelf 
registrations (i.e., White Mountains considers investments backed primarily by second-liens to be sub-prime risks regardless of 
credit scores or other metrics).  White Mountains did not hold any RMBS categorized as sub-prime as of December 31, 2017.

White Mountains considers mortgage-backed securities as “non-prime” (also called “Alt A” or “A-”) if they are backed by 
collateral that has overall credit quality between prime and sub-prime based on White Mountains’s review of the characteristics 
of their underlying mortgage loan pools, such as credit scores and financial ratios. As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains 
did not hold any RMBS classified as non-prime. 

The following table presents the carrying value of White Mountains’s mortgage and asset-backed securities as of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Millions Fair Value Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 2 Level 3
Mortgage-backed securities:

Agency:       
GNMA $ 46.3 $ 46.3 $ — $ 70.3 $ 70.3 $ —
FNMA 84.5 84.5 — 235.5 235.5 —
FHLMC 62.0 62.0 — 59.5 59.5 —

Total Agency (1) 192.8 192.8 — 365.3 365.3 —
Non-agency:       

Residential — — — 70.3 70.3 —
Commercial 70.5 70.5 — 3.9 3.9 —

Total Non-agency 70.5 70.5 — 74.2 74.2 —

Total mortgage-backed securities 263.3 263.3 — 439.5 439.5 —
Other asset-backed securities:   

Credit card receivables 206.0 206.0 — 214.2 214.2 —
Vehicle receivables 142.4 142.4 — 205.9 205.9 —
Other 83.0 83.0 — 120.2 120.2 —

Total other asset-backed securities 431.4 431.4 — 540.3 540.3 —
Total mortgage and asset-backed securities $ 694.7 $ 694.7 $ — $ 979.8 $ 979.8 $ —

(1) Represents publicly traded mortgage-backed securities which carry the full faith and credit guaranty of the U.S. government (i.e., GNMA) or are 
guaranteed by a government sponsored entity (i.e., FNMA, FHLMC).
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Non-agency Commercial Mortgage-backed Securities
White Mountains’s non-agency CMBS portfolio is generally moderate-term and structurally senior and benefits from more 

than 35 points of subordination on average for both fixed rate and floating rate securities as of December 31, 2017.  In general, 
subordination represents the percentage principal loss on the underlying collateral that would have to be absorbed by other 
securities lower in the capital structure before the more senior security incurs a loss.  As of December 31, 2017, none of the 
underlying loans of the non-agency CMBS held by White Mountains were reported as non-performing.

The following table presents the amount of fixed and floating rate securities and their tranche levels of White Mountains’s 
non-agency CMBS securities as of December 31, 2017:

Millions Fair Value Super Senior (1) Senior (2) Subordinate (3)

Fixed rate CMBS $ 35.1 $ — $ 27.5 $ 7.6
Floating rate CMBS 35.4 — — 35.4

Total $ 70.5 $ — $ 27.5 $ 43.0
(1) At issuance, Super Senior, or in the case of resecuritization, the underlying securities, were rated “AAA” by 

Standard & Poor’s, “Aaa” by Moody’s or “AAA” by Fitch and were senior to other “AAA” or “Aaa” bonds.
(2) At issuance, Senior, or in the case of resecuritization, the underlying securities, were rated “AAA” by Standard & 

Poor’s, “Aaa” by Moody’s or “AAA” by Fitch and were senior to non-“AAA” or non-“Aaa” bonds.
(3) At issuance, Subordinate were not rated “AAA” by Standard & Poor’s, “Aaa” by Moody’s or “AAA” by Fitch and 

were junior to “AAA” or “Aaa” bonds. 

The following table presents the security issuance years of White Mountains’s investments in non-agency CMBS as of 
December 31, 2017:

Security Issuance Year
Millions Fair Value 2017 2016

Non-agency CMBS $ 70.5 $ 67.0 $ 3.5

Other Long-Term Investments 

The following table presents the carrying values of White Mountains’s other long-term investments as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016:

Carrying Value at December 31,
Millions 2017 2016

Hedge funds and private equity funds, at fair value $ 125.3 $ 82.6
Private equity securities, at fair value (1)(2)(3) 83.2 88.2
Foreign currency forward contracts (3.7) (1.2)
Other 4.0 3.2

Total other long-term investments $ 208.8 $ 172.8
(1)  See Fair Value Measurements by Level table.
(2)  Includes non-controlling interests in common equity securities, limited liability companies and private convertible preferred securities.
(3)  White Mountains holds a 20% ownership interest in OneTitle Holdings LLC (“OneTitle”) and has provided a $10.0 million surplus 

note facility under which OneTitle’s wholly-owned insurance subsidiary, OneTitle National Guaranty Company, Inc. may draw funds 
under certain circumstances.  At December 31, 2017, no funds had been drawn on the surplus note facility.
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Hedge Funds and Private Equity Funds 
White Mountains invests in hedge funds and private equity funds, which are included in other long-term investments.  The 

fair value of these investments is generally estimated using the NAV of the funds.  As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains 
held investments in one hedge fund and ten private equity funds.  The largest investment in a single fund was $54.9 million as 
of December 31, 2017 and $21.5 million as of December 31, 2016.  

The following table presents investments in hedge funds and private equity funds by investment objective and sector as of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

 
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Millions Fair Value
Unfunded

Commitments Fair Value
Unfunded

Commitments

Hedge funds     
Long/short banks and financial $ 54.9 $ — $ 21.5 $ —
Long/short equity REIT — — 19.9 —

Total hedge funds 54.9 — 41.4 —

Private equity funds     
Manufacturing/Industrial 43.3 10.4 19.4 22.9
Aerospace/Defense/Government 15.8 12.9 19.4 25.9
Direct lending 7.1 23.1 1.4 28.6
Financial Services 4.2 11.7 1.0 5.0
Insurance — 41.2 — 41.2

Total private equity funds 70.4 99.3 41.2 123.6
Total hedge and private equity funds
   included in other long-term investments $ 125.3 $ 99.3 $ 82.6 $ 123.6

Redemption of investments in certain hedge funds is subject to restrictions including lock-up periods where no redemptions 
or withdrawals are allowed, restrictions on redemption frequency and advance notice periods for redemptions.  Amounts 
requested for redemptions remain subject to market fluctuations until the redemption effective date, which generally falls at the 
end of the defined redemption period.  As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains held one active hedge fund with a fair value 
of $54.9 million. The hedge fund is subject to a lock-up period that expires on September 1, 2018, with a semi-annual 
restriction on redemption frequency and an advance notice period requirement of not less than 45 days.   

White Mountains redeemed its one investment in a long/short equity REIT hedge fund having a fair value of $20.8 million 
as of December 31, 2017.  The bulk of the redemption proceeds were received early in the first quarter of 2018 with the balance 
expected in the second quarter of 2018.  

Investments in private equity funds are generally subject to a lock-up period during which investors may not request a 
redemption.  Distributions prior to the expected termination date of the fund may be limited to dividends or proceeds arising 
from the liquidation of the fund’s underlying investments.  In addition, certain private equity funds provide an option to extend 
the lock-up period at either, the sole discretion of the fund manager or upon agreement between the fund and its investors.

The following table presents investments in private equity funds that were subject to lock-up periods as of December 31, 
2017:

Millions 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years 5 – 10 years >10 years Total

Private Equity Funds — expected
lock-up period remaining $ 4.7 $ 5.6 $ 32.9 $ 27.2 $ 70.4
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Rollforward of Fair Value Measurements by Level

White Mountains uses quoted market prices where available as the inputs to estimate fair value for its investments in active 
markets.  Such measurements are considered to be either Level 1 or Level 2 measurements, depending on whether the quoted 
market price inputs are for identical securities (Level 1) or similar securities (Level 2).  Level 3 measurements for fixed 
maturity investments, common equity securities and other long-term investments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 consist of 
securities for which the estimated fair value has not been determined based upon quoted market price inputs for identical or 
similar securities.

The following tables present the changes in White Mountains’s fair value measurements by level for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Level 3 Investments Hedge Funds 
and Private 

Equity Funds 
measured at 

NAV (3)Millions
Level 1

Investments
Level 2

Investments

Fixed
maturity 

investments

Other long-
term

investments Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 $ 279.5 $ 2,093.8 $ — $ 91.4 $ 82.6 $ 2,547.3 (1)(2)(5)

Net realized and unrealized 
   gains (losses) 82.7 69.6 — (15.3) 20.4 157.4 (4)

Amortization/Accretion — (9.1) — — — (9.1)
Purchases 1,209.3 2,007.9 31.2 13.1 71.0 3,332.5
Sales (681.1) (2,070.3) (12.5) (2.0) (48.7) (2,814.6)
Deconsolidation of SSIE — (5.2) — — — (5.2)
Transfers in — 18.7 — — — 18.7  

Transfers out — — (18.7) — — (18.7)  

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 890.4 $ 2,105.4 $ — $ 87.2 $ 125.3 $ 3,208.3 (1)(2)

(1) Excludes carrying value of $(3.7) and $(1.2) as of December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 associated with foreign currency forward contracts.
(2) Excludes carrying value of $176.1 and $175.0 as of December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 classified as short-term investments, of which $0.1 is classified 

as held for sale at January 1, 2017.
(3)  Investments for which fair value is measured at NAV using the practical expedient are no longer classified within the fair value hierarchy.  See Note 1 — 

“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”.
(4)  Excludes realized and unrealized losses associated with foreign currency forward contracts and short-term investments of $23.8 and $0.3 for the year ended 

December 31, 2017.
(5)   Includes carrying value of $6.6 of fixed maturity investments at January 1, 2017 that is classified as assets held for sale related to SSIE.

   Level 3 Investments Hedge Funds 
and Private 

Equity Funds 
measured at 

NAV (3)Millions
Level 1

Investments
Level 2

Investments

Fixed
maturity

investments

Other long-
term

investments Total  

Balance at January 1, 2016 $ 789.0 $ 585.6 $ — $ 103.6 $ 65.3 $ 1,543.5 (1)(2)

Net realized and unrealized 
   gains (losses) 2.0 (8.0) .1 (14.3) (6.0) (26.2) (4)

Amortization/Accretion .1 (6.2) — — — (6.1)
Purchases 1,746.9 2,868.8 69.9 2.2 40.5 4,728.3
Sales (2,258.5) (1,416.4) — (.1) (17.2) (3,692.2)
Transfers in — 70.0 — — — 70.0
Transfers out — — (70.0) — — (70.0)

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 279.5 $ 2,093.8 $ — $ 91.4 $ 82.6 $ 2,547.3 (1)(2)(5)

(1) Excludes carrying value of $175.0 and $142.0 as of December 31, 2016 and January 1, 2016 classified as short-term investments of which $0.1 and $0.1 is 
classified as held for sale at December 31, 2016 and January 1, 2016.

(2)  Includes carrying value of $9.5 and $6.6 of fixed maturity investments at January 1, 2016 and December 31, 2016 that is classified as assets held for sale 
related to SSIE.

(3)  Investments for which fair value is measured at NAV using the practical expedient are no longer classified within the fair value hierarchy.  See Note 1 — 
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”.

(4)  Excludes realized and unrealized losses associated with foreign currency forward contracts of $1.2 for the year ended December 31, 2016.
(5) Excludes carrying value of $(1.2) as of December 31, 2016 associated with foreign currency forward contracts.



 F - 29

Fair Value Measurements — Transfers Between Levels - For Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
Transfers between levels are recorded using the fair value measurement as of the end of the quarterly period in which the 

event or change in circumstance giving rise to the transfer occurred.
During 2017, three fixed maturity investments classified as Level 3 measurements in the prior period were transferred to 

Level 2 measurements because quoted market prices for similar securities that were considered reliable and could be validated 
against an alternative source were available at December 31, 2017.  These measurements comprise “Transfers out” of Level 3 
and “Transfers in” to Level 2 of $18.7 million for the period ended December 31, 2017. 

During 2016, three fixed maturity investments classified as Level 3 measurements in the prior period were transferred to 
Level 2 measurements.  These investments comprise the “Transfers out” of Level 3 and “Transfers in” to Level 2 of $70.0 
million for the period ended December 31, 2016.

Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following tables present significant unobservable inputs used in estimating the fair value of investment securities, 
other than hedge funds and private equity funds, classified within Level 3 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.  The fair value of 
investments in hedge funds and private equity funds are generally estimated using the NAV of the funds.

$ in millions, except share price December 31, 2017

Description Valuation Technique(s) Fair Value (1) Unobservable Input
Private equity security Share price of most recent transaction $21.0 Share price - $1.00

Private equity security Discounted cash flow $22.1 Implied share price - $.68

Private equity security Share price of most recent transaction $3.6 Share price - $2.52

Private convertible preferred security Multiple of EBITDA $0.6 EBITDA multiple - 6.00

Private convertible preferred security Discounted cash flow $14.5 Implied share price - $2.06
Private equity security Discounted cash flow/ 

Option pricing method
$11.3 Discount rate 21.0%

Time until expiration - 4 years

Volatility/Standard deviation - 50.0%

Risk free rate - 1.77%
(1)  Includes the net unrealized investment gains (losses) associated with foreign currency; foreign currency effects based on observable inputs.

$ in millions, except share price December 31, 2016

Description Valuation Technique(s) Fair Value(1) Unobservable Input

Private equity security Share price of most recent transaction $21.0 Share price - $1.00

Private equity security Discounted cash flow $22.1 Implied share price - $.68

Private equity security Share price of most recent transaction $3.2 Share price - $2.52
Private convertible preferred security Multiple of EBITDA $3.6 EBITDA multiple - 6.00
Private convertible preferred security Share price of most recent transaction $27.0 Share price - $3.83

Private equity security
Discounted cash flow/
Option pricing method $9.3

Discount rate 21.0%

Time until expiration - 4 years

Volatility/Standard deviation - 50.0%

Risk free rate - 1.00%
(1)  Includes the net unrealized investment gains (losses) associated with foreign currency; foreign currency effects based on observable inputs.
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Note 4. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

White Mountains has recognized goodwill and other intangible assets at the acquisition date fair values in connection with 
its purchases of subsidiaries.  

The following table presents the economic lives, acquisition date values, accumulated amortization and net carrying values 
for other intangible assets and goodwill, by company:

$ in millions

Weighted 
Average 

Economic
 life 

(in years)

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Acquisition
date fair

value
Accumulated
amortization

Net carrying
value

Acquisition
date fair

value
Accumulated
amortization

Net carrying
value

Goodwill:
MediaAlpha N/A $ 18.3 $ — $ 18.3 $ 18.3 $ — $ 18.3
Buzzmove N/A 7.6 — 7.6 7.6 — 7.6

Total goodwill 25.9 — 25.9 25.9 — 25.9

Other intangible assets:
MediaAlpha
   Customer relationships 8 36.6 10.2 26.4 10.0 6.2 3.8
   Information technology 5 33.3 24.3 9.0 32.4 17.9 14.5
      Subtotal 69.9 34.5 35.4 42.4 24.1 18.3

Buzzmove
   Trademark 7 .6 .1 .5 .6 .1 .5
   Information technology 5 .5 .2 .3 .5 — .5
       Subtotal 1.1 .3 .8 1.1 .1 1.0

Total other intangible assets 71.0 34.8 36.2 43.5 24.2 19.3

Total goodwill and other 
   intangible assets $ 96.9 $ 34.8 $ 62.1 $ 69.4 $ 24.2 $ 45.2

The goodwill recognized for the above acquisitions is attributed to expected future cash flows.  The acquisition date fair 
values of other intangible assets with finite lives are estimated using income approach techniques, which use future expected 
cash flows to develop a discounted present value amount. 

The multi-period-excess-earnings method estimates fair value using the present value of the incremental after-tax cash 
flows attributable solely to the other intangible asset over its remaining life.  This approach was used to estimate the fair value 
of other intangible assets associated with trademarks, brand names, customer relationships and contracts and information 
technology.

The relief-from-royalty method was used to estimate fair value for other intangible assets that relate to rights that could be 
obtained via a license from a third-party owner.  Under this method, the fair value is estimated using the present value of 
license fees avoided by owning rather than leasing the asset.  This technique was used to estimate the fair value of domain 
names.

The with-or-without method estimates the fair value of an other intangible asset that provides an incremental benefit.  
Under this method, the fair value of the other intangible asset is calculated by comparing the value of the entity with and 
without the other intangible asset.  This approach was used to estimate the fair value of favorable lease terms.
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The following table presents goodwill and other intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016:

Millions
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Goodwill:
MediaAlpha $ 18.3 $ 18.3
Buzzmove 7.6 7.6

Total goodwill 25.9 25.9

Other intangible assets:
MediaAlpha 35.4 18.3
Buzzmove .8 1.0

Total other intangible assets 36.2 19.3
Total goodwill and other intangible assets 62.1 45.2

Goodwill and other intangible assets held for sale — 1.2
Goodwill and other intangible assets attributed to non-controlling interests (21.1) (17.1)

Goodwill and other intangible assets included in White Mountains’s
   common shareholders' equity $ 41.0 $ 29.3

The following table presents the change in goodwill and other intangible assets:

December 31,
2017 2016

Millions Goodwill

Other
intangible

assets Goodwill

Other
intangible

assets
Beginning balance $ 25.9 $ 19.3 $ 18.6 $ 26.9

Add: Star & Shield amounts held for sale at beginning of the period (1) — — — .4
Acquisitions of businesses and asset groups (2) 27.6 7.6 5.0
Wobi write-off — — (.3) (2.5)
Amortization, including foreign currency translation — (10.7) — (10.5)

Ending balance $ 25.9 $ 36.2 $ 25.9 $ 19.3
(1)  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.
(2) During 2017, amounts include certain assets associated with the Health, Life and Medicare insurance business of Healthplans.com for an aggregate 

purchase price of $28.0.  See Note 2 — “Significant Transactions”.

Amortization expense was $10.7 million, $10.5 million and $8.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 
2015. 

White Mountains expects to recognize amortization expense in each of the next five years as the following table presents:

Millions Amortization expense

2018 $ 10.2
2019 5.0
2020 3.2
2021 2.9
2022 2.8

Total $ 24.1
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Note 5. Debt
 

The following table presents White Mountains’s debt outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, Effective December 31, Effective
Millions 2017 Rate (1) 2016 Rate (1)

WTM Bank Facility $ — N/A $ — N/A
Unamortized issue costs — —

WTM Bank Facility, carrying value — —
MediaAlpha Bank Facility 23.9 5.6% — N/A

Unamortized issuance cost (.1) —
MediaAlpha Bank Facility, carrying value 23.8 —

Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility — N/A 12.9 5.7%
Unamortized issuance cost — (.2)

Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility, carrying value — 12.7
   Total debt $ 23.8 $ 12.7

(1) Effective rate considers the effect of the debt issuance costs.

The following table presents a schedule of contractual repayments of White Mountains’s debt as of December 31, 2017:

Millions
December 31,

2017

Due in one year or less $ 3.1
Due in two to three years 12.1
Due in four to five years 8.7
Due after five years —

Total $ 23.9

WTM Bank Facility

On August 14, 2013, White Mountains entered into a revolving credit facility with a syndicate of lenders administered by 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., which has a total commitment of $425.0 million and has a maturity date of August 14, 2018 (the 
“WTM Bank Facility”).  On September 15, 2017, White Mountains borrowed a total of $350.0 million under the WTM Bank 
Facility, at a blended interest rate of 4.45%, to partially fund a self-tender offer and subsequently repaid the $350.0 million, 
after receiving the proceeds from the OneBeacon Transaction on September 28, 2017.  During 2016, White Mountains 
borrowed a total of $350.0 million and repaid a total of $400.0 million under the WTM Bank Facility at a blended interest rate 
of 3.85%.  As of December 31, 2017, the WTM Bank Facility was undrawn.  

White Mountains recorded $0.6 million, $1.2 million, $0.1 million of interest expense on the WTM Bank Facility for the 
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

The WTM Bank Facility contains various affirmative, negative and financial covenants, which White Mountains considers 
to be customary for such borrowings, including certain minimum net worth and maximum debt to capitalization standards. 

MediaAlpha Bank Facility

On May 12, 2017, MediaAlpha entered into a secured credit facility (the “MediaAlpha Bank Facility”) with Western 
Alliance Bank, which had a total commitment of $20.0 million and had a maturity date of May 12, 2020.  On October 5, 2017, 
MediaAlpha refinanced the MediaAlpha Bank Facility in order to fund the acquisition of certain assets associated with the 
Health, Life and Medicare insurance business of Healthplans.com.  The total commitment of the MediaAlpha Bank Facility was 
increased to $28.4 million and has a maturity date of October 6, 2020.  The MediaAlpha Bank Facility consists of a $18.4 
million term loan facility, which has an outstanding balance of $17.9 million as of December 31, 2017, and a revolving loan 
facility for $10.0 million, which has an outstanding balance of $6.0 million as of December 31, 2017.  

The MediaAlpha Bank Facility carries a variable interest rate that is based on the Prime Rate, as published by the Wall 
Street Journal, plus a spread of 1.5% on the term loan facility and 0.25% on the revolving credit facility as of December 31, 
2017. 
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The MediaAlpha Bank Facility replaced MediaAlpha’s previous credit facility (the “Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility”) 
with Opus Bank, which had a total commitment of $20.0 million.

In 2017, under the MediaAlpha Bank Facility, MediaAlpha borrowed $20.0 million and repaid $2.1 million on the term 
loan and borrowed $6.0 million on the revolving loan.  In 2017, under the Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility, MediaAlpha 
repaid $12.9 million.

White Mountains recorded $1.0 million, $0.9 million, $0.4 million of interest expense on the MediaAlpha Bank Facility 
and the Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

The MediaAlpha Bank Facility is secured by intellectual property and the common stock of MediaAlpha’s subsidiaries, and 
contains various affirmative, negative and financial covenants that White Mountains considers to be customary for such 
borrowings, including a fixed charge coverage ratio and an asset coverage ratio.

Debt Covenants

As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains was in compliance with all of the covenants under all of its debt facilities.

Interest

Total interest expense incurred by White Mountains for its indebtedness was $2.3 million, $3.0 million and $1.6 million in 
2017, 2016 and 2015.  Total interest paid by White Mountains for its indebtedness was $1.4 million, $2.1 million, and $0.1 
million in 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Note 6. Income Taxes
 

The Company and its Bermuda domiciled subsidiaries are not subject to Bermuda income tax under current Bermuda law.  
In the event there is a change in the current law such that taxes are imposed, the Company and its Bermuda domiciled 
subsidiaries would be exempt from such tax until March 31, 2035, pursuant to the Bermuda Exempted Undertakings Tax 
Protection Act of 1966.  The Company has subsidiaries and branches that operate in various other jurisdictions around the 
world that are subject to tax in the jurisdictions in which they operate.  The jurisdictions in which the Company’s subsidiaries 
and branches are subject to tax are Barbados, Gibraltar, Israel, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom and the 
United States.

The following table presents the total income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Current tax (expense) benefit:    
U.S. federal $ (.3) $ 21.4 $ —
State (1.3) (.7) (.6)
Non-U.S. (2.0) (.3) (.8)

Total current tax (expense) benefit (3.6) 20.4 (1.4)
Deferred tax benefit (expense):    

U.S. federal 11.4 12.5 (11.3)
Total deferred tax benefit (expense) 11.4 12.5 (11.3)

Total income tax benefit (expense) $ 7.8 $ 32.9 $ (12.7)
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Effective Rate Reconciliation

The following table presents a reconciliation of taxes calculated using the 35% U.S. statutory rate (the tax rate at which the 
majority of White Mountains’s worldwide operations are taxed) to the income tax (expense) benefit on pre-tax income:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Tax (expense) benefit at the U.S. statutory rate $ (2.7) $ 51.6 $ (45.2)
Differences in taxes resulting from:

   

Tax rate changes (44.3) (3.9) (.5)
Change in valuation allowance 42.6 6.9 (21.8)
Non-U.S. earnings, net of foreign taxes 21.5 (19.2) 58.5
Officer compensation (4.1) — —
Member surplus contributions (3.0) (2.3) (1.5)
Withholding tax (2.0) (.2) (.5)
Tax exempt interest and dividends .5 .1 —
Tax reserve adjustments (.3) — —
Other, net (.4) (.1) (1.7)

Total income tax benefit (expense) on pre-tax income (loss) $ 7.8 $ 32.9 $ (12.7)

The non-U.S. component of pre-tax income (loss) was $71.3 million, $(66.3) million and $149.5 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Tax Payments and Receipts

Net income tax payments to national governments (primarily the United States) totaled $2.0 million, $0.3 million, and $0.7 
million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Deferred Tax Inventory

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts for tax purposes. 

The following table presents an outline of the significant components of White Mountains’s U.S. federal, state (net of 
federal benefit) and non-U.S. deferred tax assets and liabilities:

December 31,
Millions 2017 2016

Deferred income tax assets related to:   

U.S. federal and state net operating and capital 
   loss carryforwards $ 73.0 $ 104.3
Non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards 33.9 34.0
Incentive compensation 20.4 26.5
Investment basis difference 4.9 5.6
Other items 4.9 8.5

Total gross deferred income tax assets 137.1 178.9
Less: valuation allowances 109.6 146.2

Total net deferred income tax assets 27.5 32.7
Deferred income tax liabilities related to:   

Member surplus contributions 24.1 30.0
Other items 2.1 2.7

Total deferred income tax liabilities 26.2 32.7
Net deferred tax asset $ 1.3 $ —

White Mountains’s deferred tax assets are net of U.S. federal, state and non-U.S. valuation allowances and, to the extent 
they relate to non-U.S. jurisdictions, they are shown at year-end exchange rates.
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Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “TCJA”) was enacted.  Substantially all of the provisions 
of the TCJA are effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017.  The TCJA includes significant changes to the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), including amendments which significantly change the taxation of individuals and 
business entities.  The more significant changes in the TCJA that impact White Mountains are reductions in the corporate 
federal income tax rate from 35% to 21% and several technical provisions including, among others, limiting the utilization of 
net operating losses arising after December 31, 2017 to 80% of taxable income with an indefinite carryforward. 

The TCJA did not have a material impact on White Mountains’s financial statements in 2017 due to a full valuation 
allowance previously having been recorded against its U.S. deferred tax assets.  Under U.S. GAAP, specifically ASC Topic 
740, Income Taxes, the tax effects of changes in tax laws must be recognized in the period in which the law is enacted, or 
December 22, 2017 for the TCJA.  ASC 740 also requires deferred tax assets and liabilities to be measured at the enacted tax 
rate expected to apply when temporary differences are to be realized or settled. Thus, at the date of enactment, White 
Mountains’s deferred taxes were re-measured based upon the new tax rate. For White Mountains, a change in deferred taxes 
was recorded as an adjustment to our deferred tax provision for $43.1 million of federal tax expense, which was offset by a 
change in the valuation allowance.

The staff of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission has recognized the complexity of reflecting the impacts of the 
TCJA and on December 22, 2017 issued guidance in Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (“SAB 118”) which clarifies accounting for 
income taxes under ASC 740 if information is not yet available or complete and provides for up to a one-year period in which 
to complete the required analyses and accounting (the measurement period).  SAB 118 describes three scenarios associated 
with a company’s status of accounting for income tax reform: (1) a company is complete with its accounting for certain effects 
of tax reform, (2) a company is able to determine a reasonable estimate for certain effects of tax reform and records that 
estimate as a provisional amount, or (3) a company is not able to determine a reasonable estimate and therefore continues to 
apply ASC 740, based on the provisions of the tax laws that were in effect immediately prior to the TCJA being enacted.  White 
Mountains completed its accounting for the effects of the TCJA, which have been reflected in the December 31, 2017 financial 
statements.

Valuation Allowance

White Mountains records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets if it becomes more likely than not that all or a 
portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.  Changes in valuation allowances from period to period are included in 
income tax expense in the period of change.  In determining whether or not a valuation allowance, or change therein, is 
warranted, White Mountains considers factors such as prior earnings history, expected future earnings, carryback and 
carryforward periods and strategies that if executed would result in the realization of a deferred tax asset.  It is possible that 
certain planning strategies or projected earnings in certain subsidiaries may not be feasible to utilize the entire deferred tax 
asset, which could result in material changes to White Mountains’s deferred tax assets and tax expense.

Of the $109.6 million valuation allowance as of December 31, 2017, $74.8 million relates to deferred tax assets on net 
operating losses in the United States and other federal and state deferred tax benefits, $20.3 million relates to deferred tax 
assets on net operating losses and net investment unrealized gains and losses in Luxembourg subsidiaries, $13.5 million relates 
to net operating losses and other deferred tax benefits in Israeli subsidiaries and $1.0 million relates to net operating losses in a 
U.K. subsidiary.  Of the $146.2 million valuation allowance as of December 31, 2016, $112.5 million relates to deferred tax 
assets on net operating losses in the United States and other federal and state deferred tax benefits, $24.0 million relates to 
deferred tax assets on net operating losses in Luxembourg subsidiaries, $9.4 million relates to net operating losses in Israeli 
subsidiaries and $0.3 million relates to net operating losses in a U.K. subsidiary.
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United States 
During 2017 and 2016, White Mountains recorded tax (benefit) expense of $(21.5) million and $17.1 million to release or 

establish a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets of Guilford Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Guilford”).  Guilford 
consists of MediaAlpha, various service companies and certain other investments that are included in the Other Operations 
segment.  The TCJA reduced the corporate income tax from 35% to 21%, which reduced the deferred tax assets of Guilford by 
$20.4 million. White Mountains recorded a $20.4 million tax expense for the reduction, which was offset with a tax benefit due 
to the release in the valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets.  During 2016, Guilford had income in discontinued 
operations that was available to offset its loss from continuing operations.  However, ASC 740 includes an exception to the 
general principle of intra-period tax allocations that requires a consolidated tax group, such as Guilford, with a loss within 
continuing operations to consider income recorded in other categories, including discontinued operations, in determining the 
tax benefit that is allocated to continuing operations.  As a result of Guilford’s losses within continuing operations in 2016, 
White Mountains recorded a tax benefit of $21.4 million in continuing operations, with an offsetting tax expense in 
discontinued operations.  During 2017 and 2016, Guilford continued to have a full valuation allowance recorded against its 
deferred tax assets as White Mountains management is unsure it will generate sufficient taxable income to utilize the deferred 
tax assets.

During 2017 and 2016, White Mountains recorded tax (benefit) expense of $(18.4) million and $3.6 million to release or 
establish valuation allowances against deferred tax assets of BAM.  The reduction in the corporate tax rate under the TCJA 
reduced the deferred tax assets of BAM by $22.7 million. White Mountains recorded a $22.7 million tax expense for the 
reduction, which was offset with a tax benefit due to the release in the valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets.  Also 
during 2017 and 2016, BAM had income in other comprehensive income that was available to offset its loss from continuing 
operations.  As a result, BAM recorded a tax benefit of $10.1 million and $11.0 million, in continuing operations, with an 
offsetting tax expense in paid-in surplus.  During 2017 and 2016, BAM continued to have a full valuation allowance recorded 
against its deferred tax assets as White Mountains management is unsure it will generate sufficient taxable income to utilize the 
deferred tax assets.

During 2016, SSIE recorded a tax benefit of $6.9 million to reduce a valuation allowance, primarily due to the write down 
of the SSIE Surplus Notes. 

Non-U.S. Jurisdictions
During 2017, White Mountains recorded tax expense of $6.4 million for a reduction to deferred tax assets, and a 

corresponding reduction to the valuation allowance, which primarily related to the recapture of previously deducted losses due 
to the intra-group distribution of Guilford offset by the tax deduction for the write down on the investment in Wobi in 
Luxembourg-domiciled subsidiaries.  During 2016, White Mountains recorded tax expense of $2.8 million for a reduction to 
deferred tax assets, and a corresponding reduction to the valuation allowance, which primarily related to a decrease in the 
corporate income tax rate for Luxembourg-domiciled subsidiaries. 

During 2017 and 2016, White Mountains recorded tax expense of $3.0 million and $3.4 million to establish a valuation 
allowance against deferred tax assets at certain Israel-domiciled subsidiaries, as White Mountains management does not 
currently anticipate sufficient taxable income to utilize the deferred tax assets. 

During 2017 and 2016, White Mountains recorded tax expense of $0.7 million and $0.1 million to establish a valuation 
allowance against deferred tax assets at its U.K. subsidiaries, as White Mountains management does not currently anticipate 
sufficient taxable income to utilize the deferred tax assets.

Net Operating Loss and Capital Loss Carryforwards

The following table presents net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2017, the expiration 
dates and the deferred tax assets thereon:

December 31, 2017
Millions United States Luxembourg United Kingdom Israel Total

2018-2022 $ .3 $ — $ — $ — $ .3
2023-2027 — — — — —
2028-2037 332.0 46.4 — — 378.4
No expiration date — 31.3 6.7 54.7 92.7

Total $ 332.3 $ 77.7 $ 6.7 $ 54.7 $ 471.4
Gross deferred tax asset 73.0 20.2 1.1 12.6 106.9
Valuation allowance (73.0) (20.2) (1.1) (12.6) (106.9)

Net deferred tax asset $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
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Included in the U.S. net operating loss carryforwards are losses of $3.1 million subject to an annual limitation on 
utilization under Internal Revenue Code Section 382.  These loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2032.  Also included in 
the U.S. net operating loss carryforwards are losses of $6.7 million due to additional deductions related to equity compensation.  
These loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2032.  As of December 31, 2017, there are U.S. alternative minimum tax credit 
carryforwards of $1.3 million, which are refundable under provisions of the TCJA. 

Uncertain Tax Positions

Recognition of the benefit of a given tax position is based upon whether a company determines that it is more likely than 
not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination based upon the technical merits of the position.  In evaluating the 
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, White Mountains must presume that the tax position will be subject to examination 
by a taxing authority with full knowledge of all relevant information.  If the recognition threshold is met, then the tax position 
is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement.  There 
were no uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

The following table presents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for 2017:

Millions
Permanent

Differences (1)
Temporary

Differences (2)
Interest and
Penalties (3) Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Changes in prior year tax positions .1 — — .1
Tax positions taken during the current year .2 — — .2

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ .3 $ — $ — $ .3
(1) Represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate.
(2) Represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would create a temporary difference between the reported amount of an 

item in White Mountains’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and its tax basis.
(3) Net of tax benefit.

White Mountains classifies all interest and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits as part of income tax expense.  During 
the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, White Mountains did not recognize any net interest (income) expense.  
There was no accrued interest as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016.

Tax Examinations

With few exceptions, White Mountains is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by 
tax authorities for years before 2013.

In the second quarter of 2016, White Mountains recorded an increase in deferred tax assets of $0.6 million and a 
corresponding increase in valuation allowance of $0.6 million related to the settlement of the IRS audit of Guilford for tax year 
2012.

In the first quarter of 2018, the Israeli Tax Authority commenced an examination of the 2013 to 2016 income tax returns 
for Wobi.  White Mountains does not expect the resolution of this examination to result in a material change to its financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows.
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Note 7. Derivatives

Variable Annuity Reinsurance

White Mountains entered into agreements to reinsure death and living benefit guarantees associated with certain variable 
annuities in Japan. During the third quarter of 2015, the variable annuity contracts reinsured by WM Life Re began to mature 
and were fully runoff by June 30, 2016. The reinsurance agreement was commuted in December 2016.  WM Life Re was 
liquidated in the third quarter of 2017.

The following table presents the pre-tax operating results of WM Life Re for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2016 2015

Fees, included in other revenue $ 1.2 $ 9.3
Change in fair value of variable annuity liability, included in other revenue (.3) (.4)
Change in fair value of derivatives, included in other revenue (2.0) (8.8)
Foreign exchange, included in other revenue 1.3 (1.3)
Other investment loss — (.4)

Total revenues .2 (1.6)
Death benefit claims paid, included in general and administrative expenses (.3) (.1)
General and administrative expenses (2.6) (4.0)

Pre-tax loss $ (2.7) $ (5.7)

The following table presents realized and unrealized derivative gains (losses) recognized in other revenue for the years 
ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the carrying values, included in other assets, as of December 31, 2016 by type of 
instrument:

Gains  (Losses) Carrying Value as of
Year Ended December 31, December 31,

Millions 2016 2015 2016

Fixed income/interest rate $ 1.8 $ 6.4 $ —
Foreign exchange (4.8) (7.3) —
Equity 1.0 (7.9) —

Total $ (2.0) $ (8.8) $ —

The following tables present the changes in White Mountains’s variable annuity reinsurance liabilities and derivative 
instruments for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

 

Variable Annuity
Liabilities Derivative Instruments

Millions Level 3 Level 3 (1) Level 2 (1)(2) Level 1 (3) Total

Balance at January 1, 2016 $ .3 $ 2.7 $ 16.5 $ .9 $ 20.1
Purchases — — — — —
Realized and unrealized (losses) gains (.3) 2.9 (.7) (4.2) (2.0)
Transfers in — — — — —
Sales/settlements — (5.6) (15.8) 3.3 (18.1)

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
(1) Consists of over-the-counter instruments.
(2) Consists of interest rate swaps, total return swaps, foreign currency forward contracts, and bond forwards.  Fair value measurement based upon bid/ask 

pricing quotes for similar instruments that are actively traded, where available.  Swaps for which an active market does not exist have been priced using 
observable inputs including the swap curve and the underlying bond index.

(3) Consists of exchange traded equity index, foreign currency and interest rate futures.  Fair value measurements based upon quoted prices for identical 
instruments that are actively traded.
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Variable Annuity
Liabilities Derivative Instruments

Millions Level 3 Level 3 (1) Level 2 (1)(2) Level 1 (3) Total (4)

Balance at January 1, 2015 $ .7 $ 18.9 $ 33.8 $ 3.7 $ 56.4
Purchases — — — — —
Realized and unrealized (losses) gains (.4) (9.7) (7.5) 8.4 (8.8)
Transfers in — — — — —
Sales/settlements — (6.5) (9.8) (11.2) (27.5)

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ .3 $ 2.7 $ 16.5 $ .9 $ 20.1
(1) Consists of over-the-counter instruments.
(2) Consists of interest rate swaps, total return swaps, foreign currency forward contracts, and bond forwards.  Fair value measurement based upon bid/ask 

pricing quotes for similar instruments that are actively traded, where available.  Swaps for which an active market does not exist have been priced using 
observable inputs including the swap curve and the underlying bond index.

(3) Consists of exchange traded equity index, foreign currency and interest rate futures.  Fair value measurements based upon quoted prices for identical 
instruments that are actively traded.

(4) In addition to derivative instruments, WM Life Re held cash, short-term and fixed maturity investments of $5.8 as of December 31, 2015 posted as 
collateral to its reinsurance counterparties.

All of White Mountains’s variable annuity reinsurance liabilities were classified as Level 3 measurements. The fair value 
of White Mountains’s variable annuity reinsurance liabilities were estimated using actuarial and capital market assumptions 
related to the projected discounted cash flows over the term of the reinsurance agreement.  Actuarial assumptions regarding 
future policyholder behavior, including surrender and lapse rates, were generally unobservable inputs and significantly 
impacted the fair value estimates. White Mountains used derivative instruments to mitigate the risks associated with changes in 
the fair value of the reinsured variable annuity guarantees.  The types of inputs used to estimate the fair value of these 
derivative instruments, with the exception of actuarial assumptions regarding policyholder behavior and risk margins, were 
generally the same as those used to estimate the fair value of variable annuity liabilities. 

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

White Mountains’s investment portfolio includes certain investment grade fixed maturity investments denominated in GBP 
and common equity securities denominated in Japanese Yen, Euros, GBP and other foreign currencies.  White Mountains 
entered into foreign currency forward contracts to manage its foreign currency exposure related to these investments. The 
foreign currency forward contracts do not meet the criteria to be accounted for as a hedge. White Mountains actively manages 
its net foreign currency exposure and adjusts its foreign currency positions within ranges established by senior management. 
Mismatches between currency driven movements in foreign denominated investments and foreign currency forward contracts 
may result in net foreign currency positions being outside pre-defined ranges and/or may result in net foreign currency gains 
(losses).  During the fourth quarter of 2017, White Mountains closed the foreign currency forward contracts associated with its 
common equity securities.  As of December 31, 2017, White Mountains held $206.3 million (GBP 152.0 million) total gross 
notional value of a foreign currency forward contract. 

White Mountains’s foreign currency forward contract is traded over-the-counter.  The fair value of the foreign currency 
forward contract is estimated using OTC quotes for similar instruments and accordingly, the measurements are classified as 
Level 2 measurements as of December 31, 2017. 

The derivative gains (losses) recognized in net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016 were $(23.8) million and $(1.2) million. White Mountains’s foreign currency forward contract is 
subject to a master netting agreement.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the gross liability amount offset under the master 
netting agreement and the net amount recognized in other long-term investments was $(3.7) million and $(1.2) million.

White Mountains does not hold or provide any collateral under its foreign currency forward contract.  
The following table presents the gross notional amounts and carrying values associated with the foreign currency forward 

contracts as of December 31, 2017 and 2016: 

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Millions
Notional
Amount

Carrying
Value

Standard & 
Poor's Rating (1)

Notional
Amount

Carrying
Value

Standard & 
Poor's Rating (1)

Barclays Bank PLC $ 206.3 $ (3.7) A $ 184.6 $ (1.2) A-
(1) Standard & Poor’s ratings “A” (Strong, which is the sixth highest of twenty-three creditworthiness ratings) and “A-” (which is the seventh highest of 

twenty-three creditworthiness ratings.
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Note 8. Municipal Bond Guarantee Insurance 

In 2012, HG Global was capitalized with $594.5 million from White Mountains and $14.5 million from non-controlling 
interests to fund the initial capitalization of BAM, a newly formed mutual municipal bond insurer.  As of December 31, 2017, 
White Mountains owned 96.9% of HG Global’s preferred equity and 88.4% of its common equity.  HG Global, together with its 
subsidiaries, provided the initial capitalization of BAM through the purchase of $503.0 million of BAM Surplus Notes.  At 
inception, BAM and HG Re also entered into a first loss reinsurance treaty (“FLRT”).  HG Re provides first loss protection up 
to 15%-of-par outstanding on each municipal bond insured by BAM.  In return, BAM cedes 60% of the risk premium charged 
for insuring the municipal bond, net of a ceding commission.  During 2017, HG Global and BAM made certain changes to the 
ceding commission arrangements under the FLRT.  These changes serve to accelerate growth in BAM’s statutory capital but do 
not impact the net risk premium ceded from BAM to HG Re.  HG Re’s obligations to BAM are collateralized in trusts, and 
there is an aggregate loss limit that is equal to the total assets in the collateral trusts at any point in time.  

Effective January 1, 2014, HG Global and BAM agreed to change the interest rate on the BAM Surplus Notes for the five 
years ending December 31, 2018 from a fixed rate of 8.0% to a variable rate equal to the one-year U.S. treasury rate plus 300 
basis points, set annually, which was 3.54%, 3.78% and 4.60% for 2016, 2017 and 2018.  Prior to the end of 2018, BAM has 
the option to extend the variable rate period for an additional three years.  At the end of the variable rate period, the interest rate 
will be fixed at the higher of the then current variable rate or 8.0%.  No payment of interest or principal on the BAM Surplus 
Notes may be made without the approval of the New York State Department of Financial Services (“NYDFS”).  BAM has 
stated its intention to seek regulatory approval to pay interest and principal on its surplus notes only to the extent that its 
remaining qualified statutory capital and other capital resources continue to support its outstanding obligations, business plan 
and its AA stable rating from S&P.  BAM repaid $4.0 million on the BAM Surplus Notes and $1.0 million on the accrued 
interest during the year ended December 31, 2017.

In order to further support BAM’s long-term capital position and business prospects, in 2017 HG Global agreed to 
contribute the $203.0 million of Series A BAM Surplus Notes (“Series A Notes”) into the supplemental collateral trust (the 
“Supplemental Trust”) at HG Re. The Supplemental Trust already held the $300.0 million of Series B BAM Surplus Notes 
(“Series B Notes”).  Assets held in the Supplemental Trust serve to collateralize HG Re’s obligations to BAM under the FLRT.  
HG Global and BAM also changed the payment terms of the Series B Notes, so that payments will reduce principal and accrued 
interest on a pro rata basis, consistent with the payment terms on the Series A Notes. The terms of the Series B Notes had 
previously stipulated that payments would first reduce interest owed, then reduce principal owed once all accrued interest had 
been paid.  The Supplemental Trust target balance is equal to approximately $603.0 million.  As the BAM Surplus Notes are 
repaid over time, the BAM Surplus Notes will be replaced in the Supplemental Trust by cash and fixed income securities.  The 
collateral trust balances must be at target levels before capital can be distributed out of the Supplemental Trust.  In connection 
with the contribution, Series A Notes were merged with the Series B Notes.  

Under GAAP, if the terms of a debt instrument are amended, unless there is a greater than 10% change in the expected 
discounted future cash flows of such instrument, a change in the instrument’s carrying value is not permitted.  White Mountains 
has determined that the impact of the changes made during 2017 to the terms of the BAM Surplus Notes on the expected 
discounted future cash flows was not greater than 10%.    

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the collateral trusts held assets of $715.1 million and $465.4 million, which included 
$499.0 million and $300.0 million of BAM Surplus Notes.  As of December 31, 2017, HG Global has accrued $126.0 million of 
interest receivable on the BAM Surplus Notes. 
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The following table presents a schedule of BAM’s insured obligations as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Contracts outstanding 6,371 4,807
Remaining weighted average contract period (in years) 10.9 10.8
Contractual debt service outstanding (in millions):
  Principal $ 42,090.6 $ 33,057.3
  Interest 21,057.1 16,396.6

  Total debt service outstanding $ 63,147.7 $ 49,453.9

Gross unearned insurance premiums $ 136.8 $ 82.9

The following table presents a schedule of BAM’s future premium revenues as of December 31, 2017:

Millions December 31, 2017

January 1, 2018 - March 31, 2018 $ 2.9
April 1, 2018 - June 30, 2018 2.9
July 1, 2018 - September 30, 2018 2.9
October 1, 2018 - December 31, 2018 2.8

11.5

2019 11.1
2020 10.7
2021 10.2
2022 9.7
2023 and thereafter 83.6

Total gross unearned insurance premiums $ 136.8

The following table presents a schedule of net written premiums included in White Mountains’s HG Global/BAM segment 
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Gross written premiums $ 63.2 $ 38.6 $ 25.9
Assumed (ceded) written premiums — — —

Net written premiums $ 63.2 $ 38.6 $ 25.9
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Note 9. Earnings Per Share

White Mountains calculates earnings per share using the two-class method, which allocates earnings between common 
shares and unvested restricted common shares.  Both classes of shares participate equally in dividends and earnings on a per 
share basis.  Basic earnings per share amounts are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
adjusted for unvested restricted common shares.  Diluted earnings per share amounts are also impacted by the net effect of 
potentially dilutive common shares outstanding.  

The following table presents the Company’s computation of earnings per share from continuing operations for the years 
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Basic and diluted earnings per share numerators (in millions):
   

Net income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 627.2 $ 401.8 $ 295.2
    Less: total income from discontinued operations, net of tax 577.5 523.4 135.1
Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to 
   White Mountains’s common shareholders 49.7 (121.6) 160.1

Allocation of earnings to participating restricted common shares (1) (.7) 1.5 (1.9)
Basic and diluted earnings per share numerators $ 49.0 $ (120.1) $ 158.2
Basic earnings per share denominators (in thousands):

Total average common shares outstanding during the period 4,293.8 5,014.9 5,879.2
Average unvested restricted common shares (2) (54.3) (64.8) (68.0)

Basic earnings per share denominator 4,239.5 4,950.1 5,811.2
Diluted earnings per share denominator (in thousands):

Total average common shares outstanding during the period 4,293.8 5,018.1 5,879.2
Average unvested restricted common shares (2) (54.3) (64.8) (68.0)

Diluted earnings per share denominator (3) 4,239.5 4,953.3 5,811.2
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in dollars) - continuing operations:
Distributed earnings - dividends declared and paid $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00
Undistributed earnings (losses) $ 10.56 $ (25.26) $ 26.22
Basic and diluted earnings per share $ 11.56 $ (24.26) $ 27.22

(1) Restricted shares issued by White Mountains receive dividends, and therefore, are considered participating securities.
(2) Restricted shares outstanding vest either in equal annual installments or upon a stated date.  See Note 10 — “Employee Share-Based Incentive 

Compensation Plans”.
(3) The diluted earnings (loss) per share denominator for the year ended December 31, 2016, includes the impact of 40,000 common shares issuable upon 

exercise of the non-qualified options outstanding, which resulted in 3,217 incremental shares outstanding over the period. Prior periods do not include the 
impact of 125,000 common shares issuable upon exercise of the non-qualified options outstanding as they are anti-dilutive to the calculation.

The following table presents the undistributed net earnings (losses) from continuing operations for the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015

Undistributed net earnings - continuing operations:
Net income (loss) attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders, 
     net of restricted common share amounts $ 49.0 $ (120.1) $ 158.2
Dividends declared, net of restricted common share amounts (1) (4.5) (5.4) (5.9)

Total undistributed net earnings (losses), net of restricted common 
     share amounts $ 44.5 $ (125.5) $ 152.3

(1) Restricted shares issued by White Mountains receive dividends, and therefore, are considered participating securities.
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Note 10. Employee Share-Based Incentive Compensation Plans

White Mountains’s share-based incentive compensation plans are designed to incentivize key employees to maximize 
shareholder value over long periods of time.  White Mountains believes that this is best pursued by utilizing a pay-for-
performance program that closely aligns the financial interests of management with those of its shareholders. White Mountains 
accomplishes this by emphasizing highly variable long-term compensation that is contingent on performance over a number of 
years rather than entitlements.  White Mountains expenses all its share-based compensation.  As a result, White Mountains’s 
calculation of its owners’ returns includes the expense of all outstanding share-based compensation awards.  

Incentive Compensation Plans

White Mountains’s Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for grants of various types of share-based and non-share-based 
incentive awards to key employees and directors of White Mountains.  The WTM Incentive Plan was adopted by the Board, 
was approved by the Company’s sole shareholder in 1985 and was subsequently amended by its shareholders in 1995, 2001, 
2003, 2005, 2010 and 2013.  Share-based incentive awards that may be granted under the plan include performance shares, 
restricted shares, incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options (“Non-Qualified Options”).  

Performance Shares

Performance shares are designed to reward employees for meeting company-wide performance targets.  Performance 
shares are conditional grants of a specified maximum number of common shares or an equivalent amount of cash.  Awards 
generally vest at the end of a three-year service period, are subject to the attainment of pre-specified performance goals, and are 
valued based on the market value of common shares at the time awards are paid.  Performance shares earned under the WTM 
Incentive Plan are typically paid in cash but may be paid in common shares.  Compensation expense is recognized for the 
vested portion of the awards over the related service periods.  The level of payout ranges from zero to two times the number of 
shares initially granted, depending on White Mountains’s financial performance.  Performance shares become payable at the 
conclusion of a performance cycle (typically three years) if pre-defined financial targets are met.

The principal performance measures used for determining performance share payouts is growth in White Mountains’s 
adjusted book value per share and intrinsic value per share.  Intrinsic value per share is generally calculated by adjusting 
adjusted book value per share for differences between the adjusted book value of certain assets and liabilities and White 
Mountains’s estimate of their underlying intrinsic values.

The following table presents performance share activity for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 for 
performance shares granted under the WTM Incentive Plan:

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

$ in millions

Target
Performance

Shares
Outstanding

Accrued
Expense

Target
Performance

Shares
Outstanding

Accrued
Expense

Target
Performance

Shares
Outstanding

Accrued
Expense

Beginning of period 80,353 $ 42.4 93,654 $ 57.7 111,257 $ 44.4
Shares paid or expired (1) (30,838) (21.9) (36,294) (41.0) (42,959) (30.8)
New grants 17,710 — 22,615 — 29,195 —
Forfeitures (2) (16,710) (9.3) 378 .5 (3,839) (.3)
Expense recognized — 34.6 — 25.2 — 44.4

End of period (3) 50,515 $ 45.8 80,353 $ 42.4 93,654 $ 57.7
(1) WTM performance share payments in 2017 for the 2014-2016 performance cycle, which were paid in March 2017 ranged from 34% to 76% of target.  

WTM performance shares payments in 2016 for the 2013-2015 performance cycle ranged from 140% to 142% of target.  WTM performance shares 
payments in 2015 for the 2012-2014 performance cycle ranged from 91% to 145.5% of target. 

(2) Amounts include changes in assumed forfeitures, as required under GAAP.
(3) Outstanding performance share awards as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 exclude 2,195, 7,315 and 10,826 unvested performance shares awards for 

employees of Sirius Group.
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For the 2014-2016 performance cycle, all performance shares earned were settled in cash.  For the performance shares 
earned in the 2013-2015 performance cycle, the Company issued 5,000 common shares and settled the remainder in cash.  For 
the 2012-2014 performance cycle, all performance shares earned were settled in cash.  If the outstanding WTM performance 
shares had vested on December 31, 2017, the total additional compensation cost to be recognized would have been $20.2 
million, based on accrual factors as of December 31, 2017 (common share price and payout assumptions).

The following table presents performance shares outstanding and accrued expense for performance shares awarded under 
the WTM Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2017 for each performance cycle:

$ in millions

Target WTM
Performance 

Shares
Outstanding

Accrued
Expense

Performance cycle:
  

2017 – 2019 16,680 $ 8.3
2016 – 2018 16,235 14.7
2015 – 2017 18,370 23.6

Sub-total 51,285 46.6
Assumed forfeitures (770) (.8)

Total 50,515 $ 45.8

For the 2017-2019 performance cycle, the targeted performance goal for full payment of outstanding performance shares 
granted under the WTM Incentive Plan to non-investment personnel is a 5% average growth in adjusted book value per share 
and intrinsic value per share.  Average growth of 1% or less would result in no payout and average growth of 9% or more 
would result in a payout of 200%.

For the 2016-2018 performance cycle, the targeted performance goal for full payment of outstanding performance shares 
granted under the WTM Incentive Plan to non-investment personnel is a 4% average growth in adjusted book value per share 
and intrinsic value per share. Average growth of 0% or less would result in no payout and average growth of 8% or more would 
result in a payout of 200%.

For the 2015-2017 performance cycle, the targeted performance goal for full payment of outstanding performance shares 
granted under the WTM Incentive Plan to non-investment personnel is an 8% average growth in adjusted book value per share 
and intrinsic value per share. Average growth of 2% or less would result in no payout and average growth of 14% or more 
would result in a payout of 200%.

For investment personnel for the 2016-2018 and 2017-2019 performance cycles, the targeted performance goal for full 
payment of outstanding performance shares granted under the WTM Incentive Plan is based one-third on average growth in 
adjusted book value per share and intrinsic value per share (as described above) and two-thirds on achieving a total return on 
invested assets as measured against metrics based on U.S. Treasury Note.

For investment personnel for the 2015-2017 performance cycle, the targeted performance goal for full payment of 
outstanding performance shares granted under the WTM Incentive Plan is based one-third on average growth in adjusted book 
value per share and intrinsic value per share, one-third on achieving a total return on invested assets as measured against 
metrics based on U.S. Treasury Note returns and one-third on achieving a total return on invested fixed income assets as 
measured against metrics based on the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate Index returns. 
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Restricted Shares

The following table presents the unrecognized compensation cost associated with the outstanding restricted share awards 
under the WTM Incentive Plan for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

$ in millions
Restricted

Shares

Unamortized
Issue Date Fair

Value
Restricted

Shares

Unamortized
Issue Date Fair

Value
Restricted

Shares

Unamortized
Issue Date Fair

Value

Non-vested,
Beginning of period 70,620 $ 19.7 70,675 $ 15.7 83,314 $ 14.3

Issued 17,985 16.3 25,365 20.2 23,640 15.7
Vested (28,846) — (24,620) — (36,279) —
Forfeited (6,004) (3.5) (800) (.3) — —
Expense recognized — (18.2) — (15.9) — (14.3)

End of period (1) 53,755 $ 14.3 70,620 $ 19.7 70,675 $ 15.7
(1) Outstanding restricted share awards as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 include 2,195, 5,235, and 9,205 unvested restricted shares for employees 

of Sirius Group.

During 2017, White Mountains issued 17,485 restricted shares that vest on January 1, 2020, 250 restricted shares that vest 
on January 1, 2019 and 250 restricted shares that vest on January 1, 2018.  During 2016, White Mountains issued 24,615 
restricted shares that vest on January 1, 2019 and 750 restricted shares that vest on January 1, 2018.   During 2015, White 
Mountains issued 23,640 restricted shares that vest on January 1, 2018.  The unrecognized compensation cost as of 
December 31, 2017 is expected to be recognized ratably over the remaining vesting periods.  

Non-Qualified Options

As of January 20, 2017, the 125,000 Non-Qualified Options issued to the Company’s former Chairman and CEO had been 
exercised.  During the first quarter of 2017, 40,000 Non-Qualified Options, with an intrinsic value of $4.4 million, were 
exercised in exchange for 5,142 common shares with an equal total market value.  During 2016, 5,000 Non-Qualified Options, 
with an intrinsic value of $0.4 million, were exercised at $742 per common share and 80,000 Non-Qualified Options, with an 
intrinsic value of $8.4 million, were exercised in exchange for 9,930 common shares with an equal total market value.  Intrinsic 
value represents the difference between the market price of the Company’s common shares at the date of exercise and the fixed 
strike price of $742 per common share. The Non-Qualified Options were fully amortized as of 2011.

Note 11. Common Shareholders’ Equity and Non-controlling Interests

Common Shares Repurchased and Retired

During the past several years, White Mountains’s board of directors authorized the Company to repurchase its common 
shares, from time to time, subject to market conditions.  Shares may be repurchased on the open market or through privately 
negotiated transactions.  The repurchase authorizations do not have a stated expiration date.  As of December 31, 2017, White 
Mountains may repurchase an additional 643,130 shares under these board authorizations.  In addition, from time to time White 
Mountains has also repurchased its common shares through tender offers that were separately approved by its board of 
directors.  

During 2017, the Company repurchased 832,725 common shares for $723.9 million at an average share price of $869, 
which were comprised of 821,732 common shares repurchased under the board authorization for $713.1 million at an average 
share price of $870 and 10,993 common shares repurchased pursuant to employee benefit plans.  Shares repurchased pursuant 
to employee benefit plans do not fall under the board authorizations referred to above. 

During 2016, the Company repurchased 1,106,145 common shares for $887.2 million at an average share price of $802, 
which were comprised of 1,098,123 common shares repurchased under the board authorization for $881.4 million at an average 
share price of $803 and 8,022 common shares repurchased pursuant to employee benefit plans. 

During 2015, the Company repurchased 387,495 common shares for $284.2 million at an average share price of $733, 
which were comprised of 361,839 common shares repurchased under the board authorization for $267.4 million at an average 
share price of $739 and 10,802 common shares repurchased pursuant to employee benefit plans.   
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Common Shares Issued

During 2017, the Company issued a total of 25,086 common shares, which consisted of 17,985 restricted shares to key 
personnel, 5,142 shares issued to the Company’s retired CEO as a result of exercised options, and 1,959 shares issued to 
directors of the Company.  

During 2016, the Company issued a total of 47,030 common shares, which consisted of 25,365 restricted shares to key 
personnel, 14,930 shares issued to the Company’s retired CEO as a result of exercised options, 5,000 shares issued in 
satisfaction of performance shares and 1,735 shares issued to directors of the Company.  

During 2015, the Company issued a total of 25,016 common shares, which consisted of 23,640 restricted shares issued to 
key personnel and 1,376 shares issued to directors of the Company. 

Dividends on Common Shares

For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company declared and paid cash dividends totaling $4.6 
million, $5.4 million and $6.0 million (or $1.00 per common share).

Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests consist of the ownership interests of non-controlling shareholders in consolidated entities and are 

presented separately on the balance sheet.  
The following table presents the balance of non-controlling interests included in White Mountains’s total equity and the 

related percentage of each consolidated entity’s total equity owned by non-controlling shareholders as of December 31, 2017 
and 2016: 

 
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

$ in millions
Non-controlling

Percentage
Non-controlling

Equity
Non-controlling

Percentage
Non-controlling

Equity
OneBeacon —% $ — 23.9% $ 244.6
Other, excluding mutuals and reciprocals

HG Global 3.1 15.9 3.1 16.6
MediaAlpha 35.7 13.1 40.0 11.7
Dewar (1) — — 18.8 3.9
Buzzmove 22.9 2.5 29.1 3.0
Total other, excluding mutuals and reciprocals 31.5 35.2

Mutuals and reciprocals
BAM 100.0 (163.2) 100.0 (150.9)
SSIE — — 100.0 4.4
Total mutuals and reciprocals (163.2) (146.5)

Total non-controlling interests $ (131.7) $ 133.3
(1) Dewar is a subsidiary of OneBeacon.

Note 12. Statutory Capital and Surplus

White Mountains’s insurance operations are subject to regulation and supervision in each of the jurisdictions where they 
are domiciled and licensed to conduct business.  Generally, regulatory authorities have broad supervisory and administrative 
powers over such matters as licenses, standards of solvency, premium rates, policy forms, investments, security deposits, 
methods of accounting, form and content of financial statements, minimum capital and surplus requirements, dividends and 
other distributions to shareholders, periodic examinations and annual and other report filings.  In general, such regulation is for 
the protection of policyholders rather than shareholders.  

The Insurance Act 1978 of Bermuda and related regulations, as amended (“Insurance Act”), regulates the insurance 
business of Bermuda-domiciled insurers.  Under the Insurance Act, insurers are required to maintain available statutory capital 
and surplus at a level equal to or in excess of its enhanced capital requirement which is established by reference to either a 
Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement (“BSCR”) model or an approved internal capital model.  Generally, the Bermuda 
Monetary Authority (“BMA”) has broad supervisory and administrative powers over such matters as licenses, standards of 
solvency, investments, methods of accounting, form and content of financial statements, minimum capital and surplus 
requirements, and annual and other report filings.
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HG Global/BAM

HG Re is a Special Purpose Insurer under Bermuda insurance regulations and is subject to regulation and supervision by 
the BMA.  As of December 31, 2017, HG Re had statutory capital and surplus of $677.0 million.  As a Special Purpose Insurer, 
HG Re has a nominal minimum regulatory capital requirement of $1.

BAM is domiciled in New York and is subject to regulation by the NYDFS.  New York financial guarantee insurance law 
establishes single risk and aggregate limits with respect to insured obligations insured by financial guarantee insurers.  BAM’s 
statutory net loss for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $25.4 million, $32.7 million and $32.0 million.  
BAM’s members’ surplus, as reported to regulatory authorities as of December 31, 2017, was $427.3 million, which exceeds 
the minimum members’ surplus necessary for BAM to maintain its New York State financial guarantee insurance license of 
$66.0 million.

Dividend Capacity

There are no restrictions under Bermuda law or the law of any other jurisdiction on the payment of dividends from retained 
earnings by White Mountains, provided that after the payment of any dividend, the Company would continue to be able to pay 
its liabilities as they become due and the realizable value of the Company’s assets would remain greater that its liabilities.  
Following is a description of the dividend capacity of White Mountains’s reinsurance and other operating subsidiaries:

HG Global/BAM 
As of December 31, 2017, HG Global had $619.0 million face value of preferred shares outstanding, of which White 

Mountains owned 96.9%.  Holders of the HG Global preferred shares receive cumulative dividends at a fixed annual rate of 
6.0% on a quarterly basis, when and if declared by HG Global.  HG Global did not declare or pay any preferred dividends in 
2017.  As of December 31, 2017, HG Global has accrued $235.6 million of dividends payable to holders of its preferred shares, 
$227.9 million of which is payable to White Mountains and eliminated in consolidation. 

HG Re is a Special Purpose Insurer subject to regulation and supervision by the BMA, but does not require regulatory 
approval to pay dividends.  However, HG Re’s dividend capacity is limited to amounts held outside of the collateral trusts 
pursuant to the FLRT with BAM.  As of December 31, 2017, HG Re had statutory capital and surplus of $677.0 million, $715.1 
million of assets held in the collateral trusts pursuant to the FLRT with BAM and less than $1.0 million of cash and investments 
outside the collateral trusts.

Effective January 1, 2014, HG Global and BAM agreed to change the interest rate on the BAM Surplus Notes for the five 
years ending December 31, 2018 from a fixed rate of 8.0% to a variable rate equal to the one-year U.S. treasury rate plus 300 
basis points, set annually, which was 3.78% for 2017 and is 4.60% for 2018.  Prior to the end of 2018, BAM has the option to 
extend the variable rate period for an additional three years.  At the end of the variable rate period, the interest rate will be fixed 
at the higher of the then current variable rate or 8.0%.  BAM is required to seek regulatory approval to pay interest and 
principal on the BAM Surplus Notes only to the extent that its capital resources continues to support its outstanding 
obligations, business plan and ratings.  No payment of interest or principal on the BAM Surplus Notes may be made without 
the approval of the NYDFS.  BAM has stated its intention to seek regulatory approval to pay interest and principal on its 
surplus notes only to the extent that its remaining qualified statutory capital other capital resources continue to support its 
outstanding obligations, business plan and its AA stable rating from S&P.

During 2017, HG Global and BAM agreed to change the payment terms of the Series B Notes, so that payments will 
reduce principal and accrued interest on a pro rata basis, consistent with the payment terms on the Series A Notes.  The terms of 
the Series B Notes had previously stipulated that payments would first reduce interest owed, then reduce principal owed once 
all accrued interest had been paid.  The NYDFS approved the change during the third quarter of 2017.  During 2017, BAM 
repaid $4.0 million on the BAM Surplus Notes and $1.0 million on the accrued interest. BAM did not make any payments on 
the BAM Surplus Notes in 2016 or 2015.  

MediaAlpha
During 2017, MediaAlpha paid $5.2 million of dividends, $3.3 million of which was paid to White Mountains.  As of 

December 31, 2017, MediaAlpha had $9.1 million of net unrestricted cash.

Other Operations
During 2017, White Mountains paid a $4.6 million common share dividend.  As of December 31, 2017, the Company and 

its intermediate holding companies held $1,682.6 million of net unrestricted cash, short-term investments and fixed maturity 
investments, $866.1 million of common equity securities and $62.0 million of other long-term investments included in its Other 
Operations segment. 
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Note 13. Segment Information

White Mountains has determined that its reportable segments are HG Global/BAM, MediaAlpha and Other Operations.  As 
a result of the Sirius Group and Tranzact sales and the OneBeacon Transaction, the results of operations for Sirius Group and 
OneBeacon, previously reported in their own respective segments, and Tranzact, previously reported in the Other Operations 
segment, have been classified as discontinued operations and are now presented, net of related income taxes, as such in the 
statement of operations and comprehensive income.   See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

Beginning in the second quarter of 2017, MediaAlpha’s results have been presented as a separate segment within White 
Mountains’s consolidated financial statements.  Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s 
presentation. 

White Mountains has made its segment determination based on consideration of the following criteria: (i) the nature of the 
business activities of each of the Company’s subsidiaries and affiliates; (ii) the manner in which the Company’s subsidiaries 
and affiliates are organized; (iii) the existence of primary managers responsible for specific subsidiaries and affiliates; and 
(iv) the organization of information provided to the chief operating decision makers and the Board of Directors.

The HG Global/BAM segment consists of White Mountains’s investment in HG Global and the consolidated results of 
BAM.  BAM is a municipal bond insurer domiciled in New York that was established to provide insurance on municipal bonds 
issued to support essential U.S. public purposes such as schools, utilities, core governmental functions and existing 
transportation facilities.  HG Global, together with its subsidiaries, provided the initial capitalization of BAM through the 
purchase of BAM Surplus Notes.  HG Global also provides up to 15%-of-par, first loss reinsurance protection for policies 
underwritten by BAM.  BAM's results are attributed to non-controlling interests.  

MediaAlpha is a marketing technology company that develops transparent and efficient platforms for the buying and 
selling of insurance and other vertical-specific performance media (i.e., clicks, calls and leads).  MediaAlpha’s exchange 
technology, machine learning and analytical tools facilitate transparent, real-time transactions between advertisers (buyers of 
advertising inventory) and publishers (sellers of advertising inventory).

White Mountains’s Other Operations segment consists of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiary, WM Capital, its 
wholly-owned investment management subsidiary, WM Advisors, and its other intermediate holding companies, as well as 
certain consolidated and unconsolidated private capital and other investments.  The consolidated private capital investments 
consist of Wobi and Buzzmove.  White Mountains’s Other Operations segment also includes its variable annuity reinsurance 
business, WM Life Re.

Significant intercompany transactions among White Mountains’s segments have been eliminated herein. 
The following tables present the financial information for White Mountains’s segments:

Millions HG Global/BAM (1) MediaAlpha
Other

Operations Total

Year Ended December 31, 2017   
Earned insurance premiums $ 9.4 $ — $ 1.0 $ 10.4
Net investment income 12.3 — 43.7 56.0
Net realized and unrealized investment gains .6 — 132.7 133.3
Advertising and commission revenues (2) — 163.2 3.8 167.0
Other revenues 1.0 — 6.1 7.1

Total revenues 23.3 163.2 187.3 373.8
Losses and LAE — — 1.1 1.1
Insurance acquisition expenses 4.0 — .1 4.1
Other underwriting expenses .4 — — .4
Cost of sales — 135.9 3.5 139.4
General and administrative expenses 42.9 26.7 149.1 218.7
Interest expense — 1.0 1.3 2.3

Total expenses 47.3 163.6 155.1 366.0
Pre-tax (loss) income $ (24.0) $ (.4) $ 32.2 $ 7.8

(1) BAM manages its affairs on a statutory accounting basis.  BAM’s statutory surplus includes the BAM Surplus Notes and is not reduced by accruals of 
interest expense on the BAM Surplus Notes.  BAM’s statutory surplus is reduced only after a payment of principal or interest has been approved by the 
NYDFS.

(2) Approximately 27% of MediaAlpha’s advertising revenue was associated with one customer for the years ended December 31, 2017.
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Millions HG Global/BAM (1) MediaAlpha
Other

Operations Total

Year Ended December 31, 2016   
Earned insurance premiums $ 5.9 $ — $ 7.5 $ 13.4
Net investment income 9.0 — 23.1 32.1
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) .7 — (28.1) (27.4)
Advertising and commission revenues (2) — 116.5 1.8 118.3
Other revenues 1.1 — 20.2 21.3

Total revenues 16.7 116.5 24.5 157.7
Losses and LAE — — 8.0 8.0
Insurance acquisition expenses 3.4 — 2.2 5.6
Other underwriting expenses .4 — — .4
Cost of sales — 97.8 4.2 102.0
General and administrative expenses 39.6 21.9 124.5 186.0
Interest expense — .9 2.1 3.0

Total expenses 43.4 120.6 141.0 305.0
Pre-tax loss $ (26.7) $ (4.1) $ (116.5) $ (147.3)

(1) BAM manages its affairs on a statutory accounting basis.  BAM’s statutory surplus includes the BAM Surplus Notes and is not reduced by accruals of 
interest expense on the BAM Surplus Notes.  BAM’s statutory surplus is reduced only after a payment of principal or interest has been approved by the 
NYDFS.

(2) Approximately 24% of MediaAlpha’s advertising revenue was associated with one customer for the years ended December 31, 2016. 

Millions HG Global/BAM (1) MediaAlpha
Other

Operations Total

Year Ended December 31, 2015   
Earned insurance premiums $ 3.3 $ — $ 8.7 $ 12.0
Net investment income 6.1 — 4.8 10.9
Net realized and unrealized investment gains .6 — 259.9 (2) 260.5
Advertising and commission revenues (3) — 105.5 1.9 107.4
Other revenues .7 — 48.5 49.2

Total revenues 10.7 105.5 323.8 440.0
Losses and LAE — — 8.2 8.2
Insurance acquisition expenses 2.9 — 3.4 6.3
Other underwriting expenses .4 — — .4
Cost of sales — 90.7 2.9 93.6
General and administrative expenses 36.8 16.4 147.5 200.7
Interest expense — .4 1.2 1.6

Total expenses 40.1 107.5 163.2 310.8
Pre-tax (loss) income $ (29.4) $ (2.0) $ 160.6 $ 129.2

(1) BAM manages its affairs on a statutory accounting basis.  BAM’s statutory surplus includes the BAM Surplus Notes and is not reduced by accruals of 
interest expense on the BAM Surplus Notes.  BAM’s statutory surplus is reduced only after a payment of principal or interest has been approved by the 
NYDFS.

(2) Net realized and unrealized investment gains in the Other Operations segment includes the unrealized investment gain of $258.8 related to the investment 
in Symetra common shares, representing the difference between the carrying value under the equity method at November 5, 2015 and the fair value at 
December 31, 2015.  See Note 14 — “Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates”.

(3) Approximately 52% of MediaAlpha’s advertising revenue was associated with three customers for the year ended December 31, 2015.  
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Selected Balance Sheet Data
Millions

HG Global/
BAM MediaAlpha

Other
Operations Eliminations

Held for
Sale Total

December 31, 2017:   

Total investments $ 693.4 $ — $ 2,687.3 $ — $ — $ 3,380.7
Total assets 747.4 (1) 96.5 3,039.9 (227.9) 3.3 3,659.2
Total liabilities 394.9 59.8 71.6 (227.9) — 298.4
Total White Mountains’s common 
   shareholders’ equity 499.8 23.6 2,965.8 — 3.3 3,492.5
Non-controlling interest (147.3) 13.1 2.5 — — (131.7)
December 31, 2016:    
Total investments $ 629.7 $ — $ 2,084.7 $ — $ — $ 2,714.4
Assets held for sale — — — — 3,606.4 3,606.4
Total assets 677.6 (1) 57.6 2,358.8 (180.2) 3,606.4 6,520.2
Liabilities held for sale — — — — 2,569.3 2,569.3
Total liabilities 289.1 28.3 97.7 (180.2) 2,569.3 2,804.2
Total White Mountains’s
   common shareholders’ equity 522.8 17.6 2,258.1 — 784.2 3,582.7
Non-controlling interest (134.3) 11.7 3.0 — 252.9 133.3

(1) As of December 2017 and 2016, BAM’s total assets reflect the elimination of $499.0 and $503.0 of BAM Surplus Notes issued to HG Global and its 
subsidiaries, and $126.0 and $108.0 in accrued interest related to the BAM Surplus Notes.

   
 As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, HG Global’s total liabilities includes $227.9 million and $180.2 million of accrued 

preferred dividends payable to the Company. Other Operations total assets includes the preferred dividends receivable and its 
eliminated in consolidation.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the total amount of capital White Mountains has committed to 
HG Global/BAM, comprised of total common shareholders’ equity and the preferred dividends receivable at the Company, is 
$727.7 million and $703.0 million.  
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Note 14. Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

White Mountains’s investments in unconsolidated entities are included within other long-term investments and consist of 
investments in common equity securities or similar instruments, which give White Mountains the ability to exert significant 
influence over the investee’s operating and financial policies (“equity method eligible unconsolidated entities”). Such 
investments may be accounted for under either the equity method or alternatively, White Mountains may elect to account for 
them under the fair value option. 

The following table presents the carrying values of investments in equity method eligible unconsolidated entities recorded 
within other long-term investments:

December 31
Millions 2017 2016

Equity method eligible private equity securities, at fair value $ 58.0 $ 55.6
Investments, accounted for under the equity method 4.6 3.5
     Total investments in equity method eligible unconsolidated entities 62.6 59.1
Other unconsolidated investments (1) 146.2 113.7
     Total other long-term investments $ 208.8 $ 172.8

(1)  Consists of other long-term investments that are not equity method eligible.

The following table presents White Mountains’s investments in equity method eligible unconsolidated entities as of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Investee
Ownership

Interest Instrument Held
Compare.com 22% Common shares
durchblicker 45% Common shares
OneTitle 20% Common shares
PassportCard 50% Common shares
Tuckerman Capital Fund III 21% Units

The following tables presents aggregated summarized financial information for White Mountains’s investments in equity 
method eligible unconsolidated entities:

December 31,
Millions 2017 2016

Balance sheet data (1):
Total assets $ 75.4 $ 79.4
Total liabilities 24.2 18.8
(1) Financial data submitted by investees is on a one-quarter lag.

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015
Income statement data (1):
Revenues $ 60.0 $ 32.9 $ 12.9
Expenses (66.8) (76.4) (69.9)

(1) Financial data submitted by investees is on a one-quarter lag.
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Symetra

White Mountains accounted for its investment in Symetra common shares under the equity method until November 5, 2015 
when, upon relinquishing its representation on Symetra’s board of directors, it no longer had the ability to exert significant 
influence. On November 5, 2015, White Mountains began accounting for its investment in Symetra at fair value. During the 
fourth quarter of 2015, White Mountains recognized $258.8 million ($241.1 million after-tax) of unrealized investment gains 
through net income, representing the difference between the carrying value of Symetra common shares under the equity method 
at November 5, 2015 and fair value at December 31, 2015.

The following tables presents financial information for Symetra as of September 30, 2015:

September 30,
Millions 2015

Symetra balance sheet data:
 

Total investments $ 32,409.2
Separate account assets 885.9

Total assets 34,962.8
Policyholder liabilities 29,492.0
Long-term debt 697.5
Separate account liabilities 885.9

Total liabilities 31,836.7
Common shareholders’ equity 3,126.1

The following tables presents financial information for Symetra for the nine months ended September 30, 2015:

Nine months ended
September 30, 2015Millions

Symetra income statement data:
Net premiums earned $ 539.3
Net investment income 994.3

Total revenues 1,605.9
Policy benefits 1,143.7

Total expenses 1,543.6
Net income 89.6
Comprehensive net loss (234.1)

Hamer

On May 27, 2015, White Mountains sold its interest in Hamer LLC, a small manufacturing company that White Mountains 
received in 2012 in connection with the liquidation of a limited partnership fund, which resulted in a gain of $20.0 million 
recorded in other revenue.  Prior to the sale, White Mountains recorded equity in earnings of $1.6 million for the six months 
ended June 30, 2015.
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Note 15. Variable Interest Entities

BAM

As a mutual insurance company, BAM is owned by its members.  BAM charges an insurance premium on each municipal 
bond insurance policy it writes.  A portion of the premium is a member’s surplus contribution (“MSC”) and the remainder is a 
risk premium.  In the event of a municipal bond refunding, the MSC from the original issuance can be reutilized, in effect 
serving as a credit against the total insurance premium on the refunding of the municipal bond.  Issuers of debt insured by 
BAM are members of BAM so long as any of their BAM-insured debt is outstanding, and as members they have certain 
interests in BAM, including the right to vote for BAM’s directors and to receive dividends in the future, if declared.

The equity at risk funded by BAM’s members is not sufficient to fund its operations without the additional financial 
support provided by the BAM Surplus Notes and accordingly, BAM is considered to be a VIE.  

At inception, BAM and HG Re also entered into the FLRT.  HG Re provides first loss protection up to 15%-of-par 
outstanding on each municipal bond insured by BAM.  In return, BAM cedes 60% of the risk premium charged for insuring the 
municipal bond, net of a ceding commission.  HG Re’s obligations under the FLRT are satisfied by the assets in the Regulation 
114 Trust and the Supplemental Trust.  Losses required to be reimbursed under the FLRT are subject to an aggregate limit equal 
to the assets held in the collateral trusts at any point in time.  In addition, under the FLRT, HG Holdings Ltd, a subsidiary of 
HG Global, has the right to designate two directors for election to BAM’s board of directors.  

Since BAM is owned by its members, its equity and results of operations are included in non-controlling interests.  
However, White Mountains is required to consolidate BAM’s results in its financial statements because BAM is a VIE for 
which White Mountains is the primary beneficiary. 

Prospector Offshore Fund

In 2015, White Mountains redeemed its interest in the Prospector Offshore Fund, Ltd. (the “Prospector Offshore Fund”) of 
which White Mountains’s owned 67.6% prior to the redemption on June 30, 2015.  The consolidated results of the Prospector 
Offshore Fund are included in Other Operations from January 1, 2015 through June 30, 2015, at which point the results of the 
Prospector Offshore Fund were no longer consolidated by White Mountains.  Prior to the redemption, White Mountains 
determined that the Prospector Offshore Fund was a VIE of which White Mountains was the primary beneficiary and was 
required to consolidate.

Note 16. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

 White Mountains accounts for its financial instruments at fair value with the exception of the WTM Bank Facility, which 
was undrawn at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the MediaAlpha Bank Facility and the Previous MediaAlpha 
Bank Facility, which are recorded as debt at face value less unamortized original issue discount.
 The following tables presents the fair value and carrying value of these financial instruments as of December 31, 2017 and 
December 31, 2016:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Millions
Fair

Value
Carrying

Value
Fair

Value
Carrying

Value

MediaAlpha Bank Facility $ 23.9 $ 23.8 $ — $ —
Previous MediaAlpha Bank Facility — — 13.0 12.7

The fair value estimate for the MediaAlpha Bank Facility has been determined based on a discounted cash flows approach 
and is considered to be Level 3 measurement. 
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Note 17. Transactions with Related Persons

Prospector

Mr. John Gillespie, the founder and Managing Member of Prospector Partners, LLC (“Prospector”), retired from the White 
Mountains board of directors in May 2015.  Until June 30, 2015, Prospector served as a discretionary adviser with respect to 
specified assets, primarily common equity securities and convertible fixed maturity investments, managed directly or through 
WM Advisors on behalf of White Mountains and other clients of WM Advisors. At that time, the investment management 
agreements between WM Advisors and Prospector and the Consulting Agreement described below were terminated.

Pursuant to an investment management agreements with WM Advisors and OneBeacon, Prospector charged WM Advisors 
and OneBeacon fees based on the amount of assets under management.  During 2015, Prospector earned $2.1 million in total 
fees pursuant to the investment management agreements with WM Advisors and OneBeacon.  Prospector also had a separate 
investment management agreement with Symetra that was terminated in the fourth quarter of 2015.  

Prospector also advised White Mountains on matters including capital management, asset allocation, private equity 
investments and mergers and acquisitions.  Pursuant to a Consulting Agreement for those services, Prospector was granted 
6,250 performance shares for the 2014-2016 cycle and 7,000 performance shares for the 2013-2015 cycle.  Under the terms of 
the Consulting Agreement, Prospector earned a prorated portion of the outstanding performance share grants at the time of the 
termination of the Consulting Agreement and was paid $5.5 million in respect thereof.   

Prior to fully redeeming their interests on June 30, 2015, White Mountains and OneBeacon had interests in limited 
partnership investments managed by Prospector.  For the year ended December 31, 2015, White Mountains and OneBeacon 
incurred $0.4 million in management fees and $0.1 million in incentive fees.  

Other Relationships and Transactions

During 2017, the Company repurchased shares from Franklin Mutual Advisers, a beneficial owner of the Company.  On 
July 13, 2017, the Company repurchased 235,000 White Mountains common shares for $850.00 per share, the market price at 
the time the agreement was reached.  

During 2016, the Company repurchased shares from Franklin Mutual Advisers in two transactions.  On April 19, 2016, the 
Company repurchased 325,000 White Mountains common shares for $807.00 per share, the market price at the time the 
agreement was reached.  On September 15, 2016, the Company repurchased 305,000 White Mountains common shares for 
$820.00 per share, the market price at the time the agreement was reached.  

During 2015, the Company repurchased shares from Franklin Mutual Advisers in two transactions.  On June 1, 2015, the 
Company repurchased 19,688 White Mountains common shares for $650.03 per share, the market price at the time the 
agreement was reached.  On September 17, 2015, the Company repurchased 26,300 White Mountains common shares for 
$761.50, the market price at the time the agreement was reached.

WM Advisors provided investment advisory and management services to Symetra through the fourth quarter of 2016.  In 
August 2015, Symetra announced it had entered into a merger agreement with Sumitomo Life pursuant to which Sumitomo 
Life would acquire all of the outstanding shares of Symetra.  Following the announcement and Symetra shareholders’ 
November 5, 2015 meeting to approve the transaction, White Mountains relinquished its representation on Symetra’s board of 
directors and Symetra was no longer a related party to White Mountains.  During 2015, WM Advisors earned $8.0 million in 
fees from Symetra.
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Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies

White Mountains leases certain office space under non-cancellable operating leases that expire on various dates through 
2021.  Rental expense for all of White Mountains’s locations was $3.5 million, $3.4 million and $2.0 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.  White Mountains also has various other lease obligations that are immaterial in the 
aggregate.  White Mountains’s future annual minimum rental payments required under non-cancellable leases, which are 
primarily for office space, are $2.7 million, $2.4 million, $2.2 million, and $9.1 million for the years 2018, 2019, 2020 and 
2021 and thereafter.

White Mountains also has future binding commitments to fund certain other long-term investments.  These commitments, 
which total $109.3 million, do not have fixed funding dates.

Legal Contingencies

White Mountains is subject to litigation and arbitration in the normal course of business.  White Mountains considers the 
requirements of ASC 450 when evaluating its exposure to litigation and arbitration.  ASC 450 requires that accruals be 
established for litigation and arbitration if it is probable that a loss has been incurred and it can be reasonably estimated.  ASC 
450 also requires that litigation and arbitration be disclosed if it is probable that a loss has been incurred or if there is a 
reasonable possibility that a loss may have been incurred.  White Mountains does not have any current litigation that may have 
a material adverse effect on White Mountains’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.  

The following description presents significant legal contingencies, ongoing non-claims related litigation or arbitration as of 
December 31, 2017:  

Esurance
On October 7, 2011, the Company completed the sale of its Esurance Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries and Answer 

Financial Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Transferred Subsidiaries”) to The Allstate Corporation (“Allstate”) pursuant to a Stock 
Purchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 2011.  Subject to specified thresholds and limits, the Company remains contingently 
liable to Allstate for specified matters related to the pre-closing period, including (a) losses of the Transferred Subsidiaries 
arising from extra-contractual claims and claims in excess of policy limits, (b) certain corporate reorganizations effected to 
remove entities from the Transferred Subsidiaries that were not being sold in the transaction, and (c) certain tax matters, 
including certain net operating losses being less than stated levels. 

Sirius Tax Contingencies
A subsidiary of Sirius Group, which was sold by White Mountains in 2016, has been denied interest deductions by the 

Swedish Tax Authority (“STA”) for tax years 2013-2016.  The Swedish subsidiary has filed an appeal in the Swedish 
Administrative Court for tax year 2013 and will preserve its right to contest the STA’s decision for later years if needed.  Sirius 
Group believes it is more likely than not that it will prevail in the court proceedings.  However, if the ultimate decision in the 
Swedish courts is unfavorable, White Mountains would be required to indemnify Sirius Group for the tax effect of the interest 
deductions of approximately $19 million.
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Note 19. Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

OneBeacon

On September 28, 2017, Intact Financial Corporation completed its previously announced acquisition of OneBeacon in an 
all-cash transaction for $18.10 per share.  White Mountains received total proceeds of $1.3 billion and recorded a gain of $554.6 
million, net of transaction costs.  For 2017 through the closing date of the transaction, net income from discontinued operations 
related to OneBeacon was $20.5 million.  Net income from discontinued operations related to OneBeacon was $108.6 million 
and $38.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

Star & Shield

On March 7, 2017, White Mountains completed the sale of Star & Shield and its investment in SSIE surplus notes to K2 
Insurances LLC.  White Mountains did not recognize any gain or loss on the sale.  Through December 31, 2016, Star & Shield’s 
assets and liabilities are reported as held for sale within White Mountains's GAAP financial statements. 

Tranzact

On July 21, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Tranzact to an affiliate of Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, LLC and 
received net proceeds of $221.3 million at closing.  On October 5, 2016, White Mountains received additional proceeds of $1.2 
million following the release of the post-closing purchase price adjustment escrow.  For the year ended December 31, 2016, 
White Mountains recorded $51.9 million of gain from the sale of Tranzact in discontinued operations in the statement of 
operations.

Through July 21, 2016, Tranzact's results of operations are reported as discontinued operations and assets and liabilities held 
for sale within White Mountains's GAAP financial statements.  For the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, White 
Mountains recorded net income (loss) from discontinued operations of $6.1 million and $(1.9) million from Tranzact.  White 
Mountains recognized a $21.4 million tax benefit in continuing operations related to the reversal of a valuation allowance that 
resulted from the gain on the sale of Tranzact recognized within discontinued operations.  This tax benefit was recorded in 
continuing operations with an offsetting amount of net tax expense recorded in discontinued operations, including $30.2 million 
of tax expense recorded to gain from sale of Tranzact in discontinued operations and $8.8 million of tax benefit recorded to net 
income from discontinued operations. 

 During 2017, White Mountains recorded a $3.2 million increase to the gain from sale of Tranzact in discontinued operations 
as a result of state tax expense.

Sirius Group

On April 18, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Sirius Group to CMI for approximately $2.6 billion.  $161.8 
million of this amount was used to purchase certain assets to be retained by White Mountains out of Sirius Group, including 
shares of OneBeacon.  The amount paid at closing was based on an estimate of Sirius Group’s closing date tangible common 
shareholder’s equity.  During 2016, White Mountains recorded $363.2 million of gain from sale of Sirius Group in discontinued 
operations in the statement of operations and $113.3 million in other comprehensive income from discontinued operations.  
During 2017, White Mountains recorded a $0.7 million reduction to the gain from sale of Sirius Group as a result of a change to 
the valuation of the accrued incentive compensation payable to Sirius Group employees. 

Through April 18, 2016, Sirius Group’s results are reported as discontinued operations and assets and liabilities held for sale 
within White Mountains’s GAAP financial statements.  Assets held for sale did not include White Mountains’s investment in 
OneBeacon and certain other investments that were held in the Sirius Group legal entities.  As of December 31, 2015, the value 
of these investments, net of related tax effects, was $686.2 million, of which $528.6 million related to Symetra. Net income 
(loss) from discontinued operations does not include White Mountains’s net investment income and net realized and unrealized 
investment gains (losses) associated with these investments.  For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, $3.7 million and 
$205.0 million, of which $200.8 million is related to Symetra, of net investment income and net realized and unrealized 
investment gains (losses), net of related tax effects, that were included in the Sirius Group legal entities have been excluded from 
net income (loss) from discontinued operations.  For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, White Mountains recorded 
$(4.3) million and $81.1 million of net (loss) income from discontinued operations and $32.0 million and $(65.0) million of 
other comprehensive income (loss) from Sirius Group. 

The transactions to purchase the investments in OneBeacon and the other investments held by Sirius Group prior to the 
closing are presented in the statement of cash flows as net settlement of investment cash flows with discontinued operations.



 F - 57

Esurance

For the year ended December 31, 2015, White Mountains recorded a gain from sale of Esurance Holdings, Inc. and its 
subsidiaries and Answer Financial Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Esurance”) in discontinued operations of $17.9 million, 
which primarily related to a payment from Allstate for favorable development on loss reserves.  Since the closing of the 
transaction through December 31, 2016, White Mountains has received a net amount of $28.3 million from Allstate, primarily 
related to the favorable development on loss reserves.  See Note 18 — “Commitments and Contingencies”. 

Net Assets Held for Sale

The following table presents the assets and liabilities associated with business classified as held for sale as of December 31, 
2016.  Amounts presented relate to OneBeacon, Star & Shield and SSIE and the Company’s Guilford, Connecticut property.  
Assets held for sale as of December 31, 2017 consist solely of the Company’s Guilford, Connecticut property, which is recorded 
at the amount of its estimated fair value, net of estimated costs of disposal, of $3.3 million.  The related writedown of $3.7 
million has been recorded within other expenses. 

Millions December 31, 2016

Assets held for sale
Fixed maturity investments, at fair value $ 2,175.7
Short-term investments, at amortized cost (which approximates fair value) 112.3
Common equity securities, at fair value 188.7
Other long-term investments 150.5
Total investments 2,627.2
Cash 70.5
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 179.8
Insurance and reinsurance premiums receivable 229.8
Deferred acquisition costs 96.3
Deferred tax asset 126.7
Ceded unearned insurance and reinsurance premiums 44.2
Accounts receivable on unsettled investment sales 1.4
Goodwill and other intangible assets 1.2
Accrued investment income 11.3
Other assets 218.0

Total assets held for sale $ 3,606.4
Liabilities held for sale
Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves $ 1,370.6
Unearned insurance and reinsurance premiums 576.3
Debt 273.2
Accrued incentive compensation 44.3
Funds held under reinsurance treaties 153.0
Other liabilities 151.9

Total liabilities held for sale 2,569.3
Net assets held for sale $ 1,037.1
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Net Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations 

The following tables present the results of operations, including related income taxes associated with the business classified 
as discontinued operations.  For the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the amounts presented relate to OneBeacon, Sirius 
Group and Tranzact.  For the year ended December 31, 2015, the amounts presented relate to OneBeacon, Sirius Group, Tranzact 
and Esurance. The results of discontinued operations from Sirius Group and Tranzact up to the closing date of the transaction 
inure to White Mountains.   

Year Ended December 31, 2017

Millions OneBeacon Sirius Group Tranzact Total

Revenues
 

Earned insurance premiums $ 807.6 $ — $ — $ 807.6
Net investment income 39.7 — — 39.7
Net realized and unrealized investment gains 38.8 — — 38.8
Other revenues 7.7 — — 7.7

Total revenues 893.8 — — 893.8
Expenses

Loss and loss adjustment expenses 546.0 — — 546.0
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 145.6 — — 145.6
Other underwriting expenses 156.2 — — 156.2
General and administrative expenses 21.2 — — 21.2
Interest expense 10.0 10.0

Total expenses 879.0 — — 879.0
Pre-tax income 14.8 — — 14.8

Income tax benefit 5.7 — — 5.7
Net income from discontinued operations 20.5 — — 20.5
   Gain (loss) from sale of discontinued operations, net of tax 554.5 (.7) 3.2 557.0
Total income (loss) from discontinued operations 575.0 (.7) 3.2 577.5
  Change in foreign currency translation and
     other comprehensive income from discontinued operations,
     net of tax .3 — — .3
  Recognition of benefit plan assets and obligations from the sale of
    OneBeacon, net of tax 2.9 — — 2.9
Comprehensive income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 578.2 $ (.7) $ 3.2 $ 580.7
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Year Ended December 31, 2016
Millions OneBeacon Sirius Group Tranzact Total

Revenues
 

Earned insurance premiums $ 1,100.6 $ 240.1 $ — $ 1,340.7
Net investment income 50.6 14.4 — 65.0
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 37.7 (1.5) — 36.2
Other revenues 5.5 .6 119.6 125.7

Total revenues 1,194.4 253.6 119.6 1,567.6
Expenses

Loss and loss adjustment expenses 656.0 154.9 — 810.9
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 206.0 59.0 — 265.0
Other underwriting expenses 209.0 30.9 — 239.9
General and administrative expenses 14.2 10.4 116.7 141.3
Interest expense 13.1 7.9 3.2 24.2

Total expenses 1,098.3 263.1 119.9 1,481.3
Pre-tax income (loss) 96.1 (9.5) (.3) 86.3

Income tax benefit 12.5 3.1 6.4 22.0
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations 108.6 (6.4) 6.1 108.3
   Gain from sale of discontinued operations, net of tax — 363.2 51.9 415.1
Total income from discontinued operations 108.6 356.8 58.0 523.4
  Change in foreign currency translation and 
     other comprehensive income from discontinued operations, 
     net of tax 1.0 32.0 — 33.0
  Recognition of foreign currency translation from sale of 
    Sirius Group, net of tax — 113.3 — 113.3
Comprehensive income from discontinued operations $ 109.6 $ 502.1 $ 58.0 $ 669.7
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Year Ended December 31, 2015

Millions OneBeacon Sirius Group Other Disc Ops Total

Revenues
 

Earned insurance premiums $ 1,176.2 $ 847.0 $ — $ 2,023.2
Net investment income 45.9 40.7 — 86.6
Net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains (35.1) 15.1 — (20.0)
Other (loss) revenues (.6) (20.6) 186.2 165.0

Total revenues 1,186.4 882.2 186.2 2,254.8
Expenses  

Loss and loss adjustment expenses 700.7 422.7 — 1,123.4
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 213.8 189.8 — 403.6
Other underwriting expenses 218.2 107.9 — 326.1
Interest expense 15.4 26.6 4.0 46.0
General and administrative expenses 13.0 27.0 185.3 225.3

Total expenses 1,161.1 774.0 189.3 2,124.4
Pre-tax income (loss) 25.3 108.2 (3.1) 130.4

Income tax benefit (expense) 12.9 (27.1) .7 (13.5)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations 38.2 81.1 (2.4) 116.9
  Gain from sale of OneBeacon runoff, net of tax .3 — — .3
  Gain from sale of Esurance, net of tax — — 17.9 17.9
Total income from discontinued operations 38.5 81.1 15.5 135.1
  Change in foreign currency translation and
     other comprehensive income from discontinued operations,
     net of tax — (65.0) — (65.0)
Comprehensive income from discontinued operations $ 38.5 $ 16.1 $ 15.5 $ 70.1

Net Change in Cash from Discontinued Operations

The following table presents the net change in cash associated with the businesses classified as discontinued operations:

Year ended December 31,

Millions 2017 2016 2015

Net cash provided from operations $ 157.0 $ 23.6 $ 248.4
Net cash provided from (used for) investing activities 3.0 241.4 (100.5)
Net cash used for financing activities (61.9) (93.8) (100.7)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash — — (4.5)
Net change in cash during the period 98.1 171.2 42.7
Cash balances at beginning of period 70.5 245.4 203.8
Net change in cash held for sale (.9) (.3) (1.1)
Cash sold as part of sale of consolidated subsidiaries (167.7) (345.8) —

Cash balances at end of period $ — $ 70.5 $ 245.4
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Earnings Per Share from Discontinued Operations

White Mountains calculates earnings per share using the two-class method, which allocates earnings between common and 
unvested restricted common shares.  Both classes of shares participate equally in dividends and earnings on a per share basis.  
Basic earnings per share amounts are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted for 
unvested restricted common shares.  Diluted earnings per share amounts are also impacted by the net effect of potentially 
dilutive common shares outstanding.  

The following table presents the Company’s computation of earnings per share for discontinued operations for the years 
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015

Basic and diluted earnings per share numerators (in millions):   

Net income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 627.2 $ 401.8 $ 295.2
    Less: total income (loss) from continuing operations, net of tax 49.7 (121.6) 160.1
Net income from discontinued operations attributable to 
White Mountains’s common shareholders 577.5 523.4 135.1
   Allocation of earnings to participating restricted common shares (1) (7.3) (6.8) (1.6)
Basic and diluted earnings per share numerators $ 570.2 $ 516.6 $ 133.5
Basic earnings per share denominators (in thousands):   
Total average common shares outstanding during the period 4,293.8 5,014.9 5,879.2
Average unvested restricted common shares (3) (54.3) (64.8) (68.0)
Basic earnings per share denominator 4,239.5 4,950.1 5,811.2
Diluted earnings per share denominator (in thousands):   
Total average common shares outstanding during the period 4,293.8 5,018.1 5,879.2
Average unvested restricted common shares (3) (54.3) (64.8) (68.0)

Diluted earnings per share denominator (4) 4,239.5 4,953.3 5,811.2
Basic earnings per share (in dollars) - discontinued operations: $ 134.50 $ 104.37 $ 22.98
Diluted earnings per share (in dollars) - discontinued operations: $ 134.50 $ 104.32 $ 22.98

(1) Restricted shares issued by White Mountains contain dividend participation features, and therefore, are considered participating securities.
(2) Net earnings attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders, net of restricted share amounts, is equal to undistributed earnings for the years ended 

December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.
(3) Restricted common shares outstanding vest either in equal annual installments or upon a stated date.  See Note 10 — “Employee Share-Based 

Compensation Plans”.
(4) The diluted earnings per share denominator for the years ended December 31, 2016 includes the impact of 40,000 common shares issuable upon exercise of 

the non-qualified options outstanding, which resulted in 3,217 incremental shares outstanding over the period. Prior periods do not include the impact of 
125,000 common shares issuable upon exercise of the non-qualified options outstanding as they are anti-dilutive to the calculation.

 Fair Value of Financial Instrument in Liabilities Held for Sale

 The OBH Senior Notes are recorded as debt at face value less unamortized original issue discount.  The following table 
presents the fair value and carrying value of this financial instrument as of December 31, 2016:

 
December 31, 2016

Millions
Fair

Value
Carrying

Value

OBH Senior Notes $ 274.2 $ 273.2

The fair value estimates for the OBH Senior Notes has been determined using quoted market prices. The OBH Senior 
Notes are considered a Level 2 measurement. 
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OneBeacon Surplus Notes in Assets Held for Sale

In the fourth quarter of 2014, in conjunction with OneBeacon’s sale of its runoff business to an affiliate of Armour Group 
Holdings Limited, OneBeacon provided financing in the form of surplus notes (the “OneBeacon Surplus Notes”) with a par 
value of $101.0 million, which had a fair value of $71.9 million as of December 31, 2016.  The OneBeacon Surplus Notes, 
issued by one of the transferred entities, Bedivere Insurance Company (the “Issuer”) were in the form of both seller priority and 
pari passu notes.

Subsequent to the OneBeacon Transaction, the OneBeacon Surplus Notes are included in OneBeacon’s investment 
portfolio, classified within other long-term investments.  The internal valuation model used to estimate the fair value of the 
OneBeacon Surplus Notes is based on discounted expected cash flows using information as of the measurement date. 

The following table presents the valuation adjustments taken to arrive at estimated fair value of the OneBeacon Surplus 
Notes as of December 31, 2016:

Millions December 31, 2016

Par Value $ 101.0
Fair value adjustments to reflect:

Current market rates on public debt and contract-based repayments (1) 5.1
Regulatory approval (2) (15.6)
Liquidity adjustment (3) (18.6)

Total adjustments (29.1)
Fair value $ 71.9

(1) Represents the value of the surplus notes, at current market yields on comparable publicly traded debt, and assuming issuer is allowed to 
make principal and interest payments when its financial capacity is available, as measured by statutory capital in excess of a 250% RBC 
score under the National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ risk-based capital standards for property and casualty companies. The 
favorable year-to-date change in impact is due principally to the narrowing of non-investment grade credit spreads as well as the time 
value of money benefit from moving three months closer to modeled cash receipts.

(2) Represents anticipated delay in securing regulatory approvals of interest and principal payments to reflect graduated changes in Issuer's 
statutory surplus. The monetary impact of the anticipated delay is measured based on credit spreads of public securities with roughly 
equivalent percentages of discounted payments missed. The favorable year-to-date change in impact is driven primarily by the narrowing 
of non-investment grade credit spreads, which causes negative valuation impact from the anticipated delay in securing regulatory approval 
to be lower.

(3)  Represents impact of liquidity spread to account for OneBeacon's sole ownership of the notes, lack of a trading market, and unique nature 
of the ongoing regulatory approval process.

Note 20. Financial Statement Revisions

 In October 2017, White Mountains discovered that the former CEO of Wobi, one of its overseas portfolio companies, had 
been reporting overstated commission revenues and related receivables to White Mountains.  Upon discovery of the 
overstatements, White Mountains initiated an investigation, conducted by outside counsel, of the reporting of these 
overstatements by Wobi to White Mountains.  As a result of this investigation, White Mountains has revised certain of its 
previously issued financial statements. The revisions resulted in reductions to commission revenues (included in advertising 
and commission revenues) and commissions receivable (included in other assets).  In addition, the overstatements led White 
Mountains to write down the goodwill and other intangible assets related to Wobi to zero. This write down is recorded in 
general and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.  Wobi also conducted a separate 
investigation with the assistance of Israeli counsel to support the preparation of Wobi’s standalone financial statements.  That 
separate investigation has been completed and its results did not materially impact White Mountains’s financial statements.
 White Mountains evaluated the impact of the misstatements resulting from the overstatements at Wobi on prior periods’ 
financial statements in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) Topic 1.M, Materiality, and concluded the 
misstatements were not material to any previously reported financial statements.  However, while not material to any 
previously reported annual or quarterly period, the aggregate amount of prior period misstatements could be material to White 
Mountains's results for the full fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.  White Mountains has therefore revised all periods 
impacted including its consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015; and its consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity, cash flows and earnings per share for the 
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.  The revisions also reflect a previously recorded out of period adjustment in 2015 
and 2014.  

The following tables presents the impact of these revisions to each of the previously reported consolidated statements.  
Amounts previously reported reflect the reclassification of OneBeacon, Sirius Group and Tranzact to discontinued operations 
for all applicable periods presented.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

As previously reported Adjustments As revised
 Years ended December 31,

Millions, except for per share amounts 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Revenues:
Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

Financial Guarantee revenues $ 16.7 $ 10.7 $ — $ — $ 16.7 $ 10.7

Marketing Technology (MediaAlpha)
Marketing Technology revenues 116.5 105.5 — — 116.5 105.5

Other
Advertising & commission revenues 10.4 4.6 (8.6) (2.7) 1.8 1.9
Other revenues (1)(2) 22.7 314.5 — 7.4 22.7 321.9

         Other revenues 33.1 319.1 (8.6) 4.7 24.5 323.8
             Total revenues 166.3 435.3 (8.6) 4.7 157.7 440.0
Expenses:
Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

Financial Guarantee expenses 43.4 40.1 — — 43.4 40.1

Marketing Technology (MediaAlpha)
Marketing Technology expenses 120.6 107.5 — — 120.6 107.5

Other
Other expenses (3) 137.6 154.5 3.0 (5) 8.2 (5) 140.6 162.7
Amortization of other intangible assets 1.2 1.2 (.8) (.7) .4 .5

        Other expenses 138.8 155.7 2.2 7.5 141.0 163.2
             Total expenses 302.8 303.3 2.2 7.5 305.0 310.8
Pre-tax (loss) income (136.5) 132.0 (10.8) (2.8) (147.3) 129.2

Income benefit (expense) 32.9 (12.7) — — 32.9 (12.7)
Net (loss) income from continuing operations (103.6) 119.3 (10.8) (2.8) (114.4) 116.5

Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax 415.1 18.2 — — 415.1 18.2
Net income from discontinued operations 108.3 116.9 — — 108.3 116.9

Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated 
   affiliates 419.8 254.4 (10.8) (2.8) 409.0 251.6

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates — 25.1 — — — 25.1
Net income (4) 419.8 279.5 (10.8) (2.8) 409.0 276.7

Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interests (7.3) 18.1 .1 .4 (7.2) 18.5
Net income attributable to White Mountains's 
   common shareholders 412.5 297.6 (10.7) (2.4) 401.8 295.2
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (1) 145.6 (100.4) — (7.4) 145.6 (107.8)
Comprehensive income 558.1 197.2 (10.7) (9.8) 547.4 187.4

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling
  interests (.3) — — — (.3) —

Comprehensive income attributable to White 
   Mountains's common shareholders $ 557.8 $ 197.2 $ (10.7) $ (9.8) $ 547.1 $ 187.4
Basic and diluted earnings per share - continuing
operations $ (22.13) $ 27.63 $ (2.13) $ (.41) $ (24.26) $ 27.22

(1)  In 2015, White Mountains recorded a foreign currency translation gain related to its investment in Symetra in net income when it should have been recorded 
through other comprehensive income. The correction to properly reflect the translation amount through other comprehensive income did not have any 
impact on comprehensive income attributable to White Mountains's common shareholders or to book value per share. 

(2)  Total other revenues include earned insurance premiums, net investment income, net realized and unrealized losses, and other revenues. 
(3)  Total other expenses include loss and loss adjustment expenses, insurance acquisition expenses, other underwriting expenses, cost of sales, general and 

administrative expenses, and interest expense.
(4)  The adjustment to net income resulted in a corresponding adjustment in the statement of cash flows, with an offsetting adjustment to the change in other 

assets and liabilities within the operating cash flows section. There was no change to cash flows from operations, cash flows from investing activities or cash 
flows from financing activities.

(5)  The adjustments to other expenses is primarily related to the write-off of goodwill and intangible assets for Wobi.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

As previously reported Adjustments As revised

 Years ended December 31,

Millions 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014

Common shares and
   paid-in surplus $ 810.7 $ 978.2 $ 1,034.7 $ — $ — $ — $ 810.7 $ 978.2 $ 1,034.7

Retained earnings, 
  beginning of year 3,084.9 3,010.5 2,801.9 (9.9) (7.5) (.5) 3,075.0 3,003.0 2,801.4

Share repurchases (694.8) (217.2) (97.4) — — — (694.8) (217.2) (97.4)

Net income 412.5 297.6 312.2 (10.7) (2.4) (7.0) 401.8 295.2 305.2

Dividends (5.4) (6.0) (6.2) — — — (5.4) (6.0) (6.2)

Retained earnings, end of year 2,797.2 3,084.9 3,010.5 (20.6) (9.9) (7.5) 2,776.6 3,075.0 3,003.0

Accumulated other
   comprehensive (loss) income,
   after-tax, beginning of year (149.9) (49.5) 52.1 — 7.4 .5 (149.9) (42.1) 52.6
Net change in 
   foreign currency translation 31.4 (65.8) (168.2) — (7.4) 6.9 31.4 (73.2) (161.3)

Net other changes in AOCI 113.9 (34.6) 66.6 — — — 113.9 (34.6) 66.6
Accumulated other
   comprehensive loss, 
   after-tax, end of year (4.6) (149.9) (49.5) — — 7.4 (4.6) (149.9) (42.1)

Total White Mountains
   Common Shareholders'
   Equity 3,603.3 3,913.2 3,995.7 (20.6) (9.9) (.1) 3,582.7 3,903.3 3,995.6

Non-controlling interests,
   beginning of year 454.8 542.7 491.7 (.5) (.1) — 454.3 542.6 491.7

Net income (loss) 7.3 (18.1) (22.2) (.1) (.4) (.1) 7.2 (18.5) (22.3)

Other changes in NCI (328.2) (69.8) 73.2 — — — (328.2) (69.8) 73.2
Non-controlling interests, 
   end of year 133.9 454.8 542.7 (.6) (.5) (.1) 133.3 454.3 542.6

Total equity $ 3,737.2 $ 4,368.0 $ 4,538.4 $ (21.2) $ (10.4) $ (.2) $ 3,716.0 $ 4,357.6 $ 4,538.2
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2016

Millions
As previously

reported Adjustments As revised

Assets

Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

Financial Guarantee assets $ 677.6 $ — $ 677.6

Marketing Technology (MediaAlpha)
Marketing Technology assets 57.6 — 57.6

Other

Investments 2,084.7 — 2,084.7

Goodwill 13.4 (5.8) 7.6

Other intangible assets 4.7 (3.7) 1.0

Other assets — commissions receivable 14.8 (14.8) —

Other assets 85.5 (.2) 85.3

Assets held for sale 3,606.4 — 3,606.4

   Other segment assets 5,809.5 (24.5) 5,785.0

Total assets $ 6,544.7 $ (24.5) $ 6,520.2

Liabilities

Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

Total Financial Guarantee liabilities $ 108.9 $ — $ 108.9

Marketing Technology (MediaAlpha)
Total Marketing Technology liabilities 28.3 — 28.3

Other
Accrued incentive compensation 79.1 — 79.1

Other liabilities 21.9 (3.3) 18.6

Liabilities held for sale 2,569.3 — 2,569.3

   Total Other segment liabilities 2,670.3 (3.3) 2,667.0

Total liabilities 2,807.5 (3.3) 2,804.2

Equity

White Mountains's common shares 4.6 — 4.6

Paid in surplus 806.1 — 806.1

Retained earnings 2,797.2 (20.6) 2,776.6
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax (4.6) — (4.6)

Total White Mountains's common shareholders' equity 3,603.3 (20.6) 3,582.7

Non-controlling interests 133.9 (.6) 133.3

Total equity 3,737.2 (21.2) 3,716.0

Total liabilities and equity $ 6,544.7 $ (24.5) $ 6,520.2
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Note 21. Subsequent Events

DavidShield

On January 24, 2018, White Mountains acquired a 50% equity stake in DavidShield Life Insurance Agency (2000) Ltd.  
for approximately $28.0 million, its joint venture partner in PassportCard and a provider of expatriate medical and other 
accident and health insurance coverages. 

CrossHarbor 

On January 26, 2018, White Mountains entered into an agreement to invest up to $50.0 million in CrossHarbor 
Institutional Partners 2018, L.P.  CrossHarbor Capital is an alternative investment management firm that invests in core-plus, 
value-add, and opportunistic commercial real estate transactions.

Kudu

On February 5, 2018, White Mountains entered into an agreement to invest up to $125.0 million in Kudu Investment 
Management, LLC (“Kudu”), a capital provider to asset management and wealth management firms. Through February of 
2018, White Mountains has invested $1.8 million in Kudu.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements included in this report.  The 
financial statements have been prepared in conformity with GAAP in the United States.  The preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Audit Committee of the Board, which is comprised entirely of independent, qualified directors, is responsible for the 
oversight of our accounting policies, financial reporting and internal control including the appointment and compensation of 
our independent registered public accounting firm.  The Audit Committee meets periodically with management, our 
independent registered public accounting firm and our internal auditors to ensure they are carrying out their responsibilities.  
The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing an oversight role by reviewing our financial reports.  Our independent 
registered public accounting firm and internal auditors have full and unlimited access to the Audit Committee, with or without 
management present, to discuss the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting and any other matters which they 
believe should be brought to their attention.

MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of 
any internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of 
internal control.  Accordingly, even effective internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance 
with respect to financial statement preparation.  Further, an effective internal control environment as of a point in time may 
become inadequate in the future because of changes in conditions, or deterioration in the degree of compliance with the policies 
and procedures.

We assessed the effectiveness of White Mountains’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017.  In 
making our assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013).  Based on this assessment, we have concluded that 
White Mountains maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the effectiveness 
of White Mountains’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 as stated in their report which appears 
on page F-68.

February 28, 2018

         

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd.:

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. and its subsidiaries 
as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, statements of comprehensive income, 
statements of shareholders’ equity and statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2017, including the related notes and financial statement schedules listed in the accompanying index (collectively referred to as 
the “consolidated financial statements”).  We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included 
in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility is to 
express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audits.  We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. 
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects.  

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.  
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements.  Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  Our audit of internal 
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the 
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk.  Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Boston, Massachusetts
February 28, 2018

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1999.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(Unaudited)

 
The following table presents selected quarterly financial data for 2017 and 2016.  The quarterly financial data includes, in 

the opinion of management, all recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations for the 
interim periods.  As a result of the sale of OneBeacon, Tranzact, Sirius Group, and Esurance, the results of operations for 
OneBeacon, Tranzact, Sirius Group and Esurance have been classified as discontinued operations and are now presented, net of 
related income taxes, as such in the statement of comprehensive income.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations”.

Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation. Prior year amounts have also 
been adjusted for the impact of White Mountains’s financial statement revisions. 

2017 Three Months Ended 2016 Three Months Ended
Millions, except per share amounts Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31 Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31
Revenues $ 114.0 $ 87.5 $ 83.5 $ 88.8 $ (5.5) $ 56.8 $ 48.4 $ 58.0
Expenses 108.8 79.1 85.7 92.4 69.0 70.6 74.1 91.3
Pre-tax income (loss) 5.2 8.4 (2.2) (3.6) (74.5) (13.8) (25.7) (33.3)
Tax benefit 2.5 4.0 1.0 .3 10.2 17.1 4.0 1.6
Income (loss) from continuing operations 7.7 12.4 (1.2) (3.3) (64.3) 3.3 (21.7) (31.7)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 4.3 539.1 2.8 31.3 8.0 84.4 383.6 47.4
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries 10.5 10.6 12.0 1.0 17.4 3.1 (21.5) (6.2)

Income (loss) attributable to White Mountains’s
common shareholders $ 22.5 $ 562.1 $ 13.6 $ 29.0 $ (38.9) $ 90.8 $ 340.4 $ 9.5

Income (loss) attributable to White Mountains’s common
shareholders per share:

Basic
Continuing operations $ 4.85 $ 5.36 $ 2.36 $ (0.50) $ (10.27) $ 1.31 $ (8.47) $ (6.85)
Discontinued operations 1.15 125.45 .61 6.86 1.75 17.34 75.27 8.55

Total consolidated operations $ 6.00 $ 130.81 $ 2.97 $ 6.36 $ (8.52) $ 18.65 $ 66.80 $ 1.70
Diluted

        

Continuing operations $ 4.85 $ 5.36 $ 2.36 $ (0.50) $ (10.27) $ 1.31 $ (8.47) $ (6.85)
Discontinued operations 1.15 125.45 .61 6.86 1.75 17.30 75.11 8.55

Total consolidated operations $ 6.00 $ 130.81 $ 2.97 $ 6.36 $ (8.52) $ 18.61 $ 66.64 $ 1.70
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The following tables present the impact of the financial statement revisions to previously reported selected quarterly 
financial data.  See Note 20 — “Financial Statement Revisions”.  The impact of the financial statement revisions for the three 
months ended September 30, 2016 was included in the period ended September 30, 2017 Form 10-Q.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 Three Months Ended March 31, 2017
As 

previously 
reported  (1)

As 
previously 

reported  (1)Millions, except per share amounts Adjustments As revised Adjustments As revised
Revenues $ 85.4 $ (1.9) $ 83.5 $ 93.5 $ (4.7) $ 88.8
Expenses 85.8 (.1) 85.7 92.2 .2 92.4
Pre-tax (loss) income (.4) (1.8) (2.2) 1.3 (4.9) (3.6)
Tax benefit 1.0 1.0 .3 — .3
Income (loss) from continuing operations .6 (1.8) (1.2) 1.6 (4.9) (3.3)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 2.8 — 2.8 31.3 — 31.3
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries 12.1 (.1) 12.0 1.3 (.3) 1.0

Income attributable to White Mountains’s 
   common shareholders $ 15.5 $ (1.9) $ 13.6 $ 34.2 $ (5.2) $ 29.0

Income (loss)  attributable to White Mountains’s 
   common shareholders per share:

Basic
Continuing operations $ 2.78 $ (.42) $ 2.36 $ .65 $ (1.15) $ (0.50)
Discontinued operations .61 — .61 6.86 — 6.86

Total consolidated operations $ 3.39 $ (.42) $ 2.97 $ 7.51 $ (1.15) $ 6.36
Diluted

  

Continuing operations $ 2.78 $ (.42) $ 2.36 $ .65 $ (1.15) $ (0.50)
Discontinued operations .61 — .61 6.86 — 6.86

Total consolidated operations $ 3.39 $ (.42) $ 2.97 $ 7.51 $ (1.15) $ 6.36
(1) Amounts previously reported reflect the effect of reclassifying OneBeacon as discontinued operations. See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations”.

Three Months Ended December 31, 2016

As previously 
reported  (1)Millions, except per share amounts Adjustments As revised

Revenues $ .3 $ (5.8) $ (5.5)
Expenses 69.1 (.1) 69.0
Pre-tax loss (68.8) (5.7) (74.5)
Tax benefit 10.2 — 10.2
Loss from continuing operations (58.6) (5.7) (64.3)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 8.0 — 8.0
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries 17.3 .1 17.4

Loss attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ (33.3) $ (5.6) $ (38.9)
(Loss) income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders per
share:

Basic
Continuing operations $ (9.04) $ (1.23) $ (10.27)
Discontinued operations 1.75 — 1.75

Total consolidated operations $ (7.29) $ (1.23) $ (8.52)
Diluted

 

Continuing operations $ (9.04) $ (1.23) $ (10.27)
Discontinued operations 1.75 — 1.75

Total consolidated operations $ (7.29) $ (1.23) $ (8.52)
(1) Amounts previously reported reflect the effect of reclassifying OneBeacon, Tranzact, Sirius, and Esurance as discontinued operations. See Note 19 — “Held 

for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2016 Three Months Ended March 31, 2016
As 

previously 
reported  (1)

As 
previously 

reported  (1)Millions, except per share amounts Adjustments As revised Adjustments As revised
Revenues $ 49.2 $ (.8) $ 48.4 $ 58.8 $ (.8) $ 58.0
Expenses 74.3 (.2) 74.1 88.5 2.8 91.3
Pre-tax loss (25.1) (.6) (25.7) (29.7) (3.6) (33.3)
Tax benefit 4.0 — 4.0 1.6 — 1.6
Loss from continuing operations (21.1) (.6) (21.7) (28.1) (3.6) (31.7)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 383.6 — 383.6 47.4 — 47.4
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries (21.4) (.1) (21.5) (6.3) .1 (6.2)

Income attributable to White Mountains’s
   common shareholders $ 341.1 $ (.7) $ 340.4 $ 13.0 $ (3.5) $ 9.5

(Loss) income attributable to White Mountains’s
   common shareholders per share:

Basic
Continuing operations $ (8.34) $ (.13) $ (8.47) $ (6.22) $ (.63) $ (6.85)
Discontinued operations 75.27 — 75.27 8.55 — 8.55

Total consolidated operations $ 66.93 $ (.13) $ 66.80 $ 2.33 $ (.63) $ 1.70
Diluted

  

Continuing operations $ (8.34) $ (.13) $ (8.47) $ (6.22) $ (.63) $ (6.85)
Discontinued operations 75.11 — 75.11 8.55 — 8.55

Total consolidated operations $ 66.77 $ (.13) $ 66.64 $ 2.33 $ (.63) $ 1.70
(1) Amounts previously reported reflect the effect of reclassifying OneBeacon, Tranzact, Sirius, and Esurance as discontinued operations. See Note 19 — “Held 

for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.
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SCHEDULE I

WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS—OTHER THAN

INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES
At December 31, 2017 

Millions Cost
Carrying

Value
Fair

Value

Fixed maturity investments:
   

U.S. Government and government agencies and authorities $ 297.8 $ 296.5 $ 296.5
Debt securities issued by corporations 867.6 880.9 880.9
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 697.2 694.7 694.7
States, municipalities and political subdivisions 252.0 254.9 254.9
Foreign governments 2.6 2.7 2.7

Total fixed maturity investments 2,117.2 2,129.7 2,129.7
Short-term investments 176.1 176.1 176.1
Common equity securities:

Exchange traded funds 512.5 569.7 569.7
Banks, trust and insurance companies 12.8 16.3 16.3
Industrial, miscellaneous and other 214.4 280.1 280.1

Total common equity securities 739.7 866.1 866.1
Other long-term investments (1) 246.6 208.8 208.8

Total investments $ 3,279.6 $ 3,380.7 $ 3,380.7
(1) Includes carrying value of $(3.7) related to foreign currency forward contracts.

Schedules of the Registrant should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.
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SCHEDULE II

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE REGISTRANT

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS(1)

December 31,
Millions 2017 2016
Assets:

  

Cash $ 14.9 $ 3.1
Fixed maturity investments, at fair value 869.6 80.0
Common equity securities, at fair value 641.8 —
Other long-term investments (2) (3.7) (1.2)
Short-term investments, at amortized cost 57.2 12.5
Other assets 30.9 21.8
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries (3) 1,914.8 4,877.6

Total assets $ 3,525.5 $ 4,993.8
Liabilities:

  

Payable to subsidiary (4) $ 11.8 $ 1,387.2
Other liabilities 21.2 23.9

Total liabilities 33.0 1,411.1
White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity (3) 3,492.5 3,582.7

Total liabilities and equity $ 3,525.5 $ 4,993.8
(1) These condensed unconsolidated financial statements reflect the results of operations, financial position and cash flows for the Company.   Investments in 

wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method.  Under the equity method, investments in subsidiaries are 
recorded on the condensed balance sheets at the amount of the Company’s ownership percentage of the subsidiary’s GAAP book value.  The income from 
subsidiaries is reported on a net basis as equity in earnings from consolidated and unconsolidated subsidiaries on the condensed statements of operations and 
comprehensive income.  Capital contributions to and distributions from subsidiaries are presented within investing activities on the condensed statements of 
cash flows.

(2)   As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, other investments includes $(3.7) and $(1.2) related to foreign currency forward contracts. See Note 7 — 
“Derivatives”.

(3)   As of December 31, 2016, investments in consolidated affiliates and the Company’s common shareholders’ equity were revised to include the impact of the 
Wobi adjustments of $(20.6).  See Note 20 — “Financial Statement Revisions”.

(4)   During 2016, the Company used cash proceeds received from the issuance of debt to its direct wholly-owned subsidiary, Lone Tree Holdings, Ltd.(“LTH”), 
primarily to fund repurchases of its common shares.
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SCHEDULE II
(continued)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME(1)

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015
Revenues (loss) (including realized gains and losses) $ 27.3 $ (1.0) $ 5.0
Expenses 99.7 68.2 59.9

Pre-tax loss (72.4) (69.2) (54.9)
Income tax expense (1.4) (.5) —

Net loss (73.8) (69.7) (54.9)
Equity in earnings from consolidated and unconsolidated subsidiaries (2) 701.0 471.5 350.1

Net income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders 627.2 401.8 295.2
Other comprehensive income (loss) items, after-tax 3.3 145.3 (100.4)

Comprehensive income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 630.5 $ 547.1 $ 194.8
Computation of net income available to common shareholders:

Net income available to common shareholders $ 627.2 $ 401.8 $ 295.2
(1)  These condensed unconsolidated financial statements reflect the results of operations, financial position and cash flows for the Company.   Investments in 

wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method.  Under the equity method, investments in subsidiaries are 
recorded on the condensed balance sheets at the amount of the Company’s ownership percentage of the subsidiary’s GAAP book value.  The income from 
subsidiaries is reported on a net basis as equity in earnings of subsidiaries on the condensed statements of operations and comprehensive income.  Capital 
contributions to and distributions from subsidiaries are presented within investing activities on the condensed statements of cash flows.

(2)  During 2016 and 2015, equity in earnings from consolidated and unconsolidated affiliates was revised to include the impact of the Wobi adjustments of 
$(10.7) and $(2.4).  See Note 20 — “Financial Statement Revisions”.

Schedules of the Registrant should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.
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SCHEDULE II
(continued)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (1)(2)

Year Ended December 31,
Millions 2017 2016 2015
Net income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders (3) $ 627.2 $ 401.8 $ 295.2
Charges (credits) to reconcile net income to net cash from operations:

Net realized and unrealized investment (gains) losses on sales of investments (18.5) 1.1 —
Undistributed earnings from subsidiaries (3) (701.0) (471.5) (350.1)
Other non-cash reconciling items, primarily amortization of restricted share 
   and option awards (4) 31.1 17.9 (.4)
Accumulated earnings distributed from subsidiary in cash (5) 1,256.7 — —
Net change in other assets and liabilities (6) (4.9) (5.6) 28.1

Net cash provided from (used for) operations 1,190.6 (56.3) (27.2)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Net change in short-term investments (24.7) 10.9 7.6
Purchases of investment securities (474.7) — —
Sales and maturities of investment securities 367.1 — —
Issuance of debt from subsidiaries (7) 382.0 992.0 271.0
Repayment of debt to subsidiaries — (5.0) (35.0)
Contributions to subsidiaries (8) (700.0) — —
Distributions from subsidiaries (9) — — 15.0

Net cash provided from investing activities (450.3) 997.9 258.6
Cash flows from financing activities:

Draw down of revolving line of credit (10) 350.0 350.0 125.0
Repayment of revolving line of credit (10) (350.0) (400.0) (75.0)
Proceeds from issuances of common shares — 3.7 —
Repurchases and retirement of common shares (7) (714.6) (881.3) (268.6)
Dividends paid on common shares (4.6) (5.4) (6.0)
Payments of restricted shares withholding taxes (9.3) (5.8) (6.7)

Net cash used for financing activities (728.5) (938.8) (231.3)
Net increase in cash during the year 11.8 2.8 .1
Cash balance at beginning of year 3.1 .3 .2
Cash balance at end of year $ 14.9 $ 3.1 $ .3
Supplemental cash flow information:

Interest paid $ (.6) $ (1.2) $ —
(1) These condensed unconsolidated financial statements reflect the results of operations, financial position and cash flows for the Company.   Investments in 

wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method.  Under the equity method, investments in subsidiaries are 
recorded on the condensed balance sheets at the amount of the Company’s ownership percentage of the subsidiary’s GAAP book value.  The income from 
subsidiaries is reported on a net basis as equity in earnings of subsidiaries on the condensed statements of operations and comprehensive income.  Capital 
contributions to and distributions from subsidiaries are presented within investing activities on the condensed statements of cash flows.  

(2) During 2017, LTH, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, merged into the Company.  The merger was treated as a liquidation for financial 
statement purposes.  As part of the liquidation, significant non-cash balances that were transferred from LTH to the Company included ending net equity of 
$2,810.4, intercompany balances of $1,863.1, investments in its subsidiaries of $964.4, short-term investments of $13.0 and other liabilities of $14.1. 

(3) During 2016 and 2015, net income attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders and undistributed earnings from subsidiaries was revised to 
include the impact of the Wobi adjustments of $(10.7) and $(2.4).  See Note 20 — “Financial Statement Revisions”.

(4) For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, amortization of restricted share and option awards was $14.8, $18.5 and $14.9.  
(5) During 2017, as part of its liquidation into the Company, LTH transferred $1,256.7 of cash, which included $1,037.6 of the proceeds from the sale of 

OneBeacon, to the Company.
(6) For 2017, 2016 and 2015, net change in other assets and liabilities also included a $11.6, $0.2, and $2.4 net change in payables to the Company’s 

subsidiaries. 
(7) During 2017, the Company had non-cash issuance of debt from LTH of $94.2.  During 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company used cash proceeds received from 

the issuance of debt from LTH, primarily to fund repurchases of its common shares.
(8)  During 2017, the Company contributed $700.0 to its direct wholly-owned subsidiary, Guilford Holdings, Inc.
(9) During 2017, the Company received non-cash distributions of $1,238.9 from LTH, prior to its liquidation.  The distribution was completed through the 

transfer of fixed maturity investments and common equity securities.  During 2016, the Company received a non-cash distribution of $80.0 from LTH.  The 
distribution was completed through the transfer of fixed maturity investments.  During 2015, the Company received cash distributions of $15.0 from LTH.

(10) The WTM Bank Facility presented in Note 5 — “Debt” is a direct obligation of the Registrant. 

Schedules of the Registrant should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.
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SCHEDULE III

WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION (3)

Column
A

Column
B

Column
C

Column
D

Column
E

Column
F

Column
G

Column
H

Column 
I

Column
J

Column
K

Millions

Segment

Deferred
acquisition

costs

Future 
policy

benefits, 
losses, 
claims

and loss
expenses

Unearned
premiums

Other 
policy
claims 

and
benefits
payable

Premiums
earned

Net
investment
income (1)

Benefits,
claims,

losses, and
settlement
expenses

Amortization
of deferred

policy
acquisition

costs

Other
operating
expenses

Premiums
written

Years ended:
December 31, 2017           
 HG Global/BAM $ 14.8 $ — $ 136.8 $ — $ 9.4 $ 12.3 $ — $ 4.0 $ .4 $ 63.2
 Other operations (2) — — — — 1.0 — 1.1 .1 — 0.9
December 31, 2016           
 HG Global/BAM 10.6 — 82.9 — 5.9 9.0 — 3.4 .4 38.6
 Other operations (2) — — — — 7.5 .2 8.0 2.2 .1 6.5
December 31, 2015           
 HG Global/BAM 6.9 — 50.2 — 3.3 6.1 — 2.9 .4 25.9
 Other operations (2) — — — — 8.7 .2 8.2 3.4 — 10.1

(1)   The amounts shown exclude net investment income relating to non-insurance operations of $43.7, $22.9 and $4.6 for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

(2)   The Other operations amounts shown relate to SSIE.  White Mountains completed the sale of SSIE on March 7, 2017.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations”.

(3)   Schedule excludes activity related to OneBeacon and Sirius Group for all periods presented.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

Schedules of the Registrant should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.



FS-6

SCHEDULE IV

WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
REINSURANCE (2)

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E Column F
$ in millions

Premiums earned Gross amount
Ceded to other

companies
Assumed from

other companies Net amount

Percentage of
amount assumed

to net

Years ended:
     

December 31, 2017
     

HG Global/BAM $ 9.4 $ — $ — $ 9.4 —%
Other operations (1) 1.0 — — 1.0 —

December 31, 2016
     

HG Global/BAM 5.9 — — 5.9 —%
Other operations (1) 15.2 (7.7) — 7.5 —

December 31, 2015
    

HG Global/BAM 3.3 — — 3.3 —%
Other operations (1) 20.7 (12.0) $ — 8.7 — %

(1) The Other operations amounts shown relate to SSIE.  White Mountains completed the sale of SSIE on March 7, 2017.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations”.

(2) Schedule excludes activity related to OneBeacon and Sirius Group for all periods presented.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations”.

Schedules of the Registrant should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.
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SCHEDULE VI

WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION FOR PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE UNDERWRITERS (2)

Column A
Column 

B Column C Column D
Column 

E
Column 

F
Column 

G Column H Column I Column J
Column 

K
Millions

Deferred 
acquisition

costs

Reserves
for Unpaid
Claims and

Claims 
Adjustment

Expenses

Discount, 
if any, 

deducted in
Column C

Unearned
Premiums

Earned
Premiums

Net 
investment

income

Claims and Claims
Adjustment Expenses
Incurred Related to Amortization

of deferred
policy 

acquisition
costs

Paid
Claims and

Claims 
Adjustment

Expenses
Premiums

written
Affiliation with
registrant

Current
Year

Prior
Year

Other 
operations (1):

2017 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 1.0 $ — $ 1.1 $ — $ 0.1 $ — $ 0.9

2016 — — — — 7.5 .2 8.6 (0.6) 2.2 8.8 6.5

2015 — — — — 8.7 .2 10.4 (2.2) 3.4 10.4 10.1

(1) The Other operations amounts shown relate to SSIE.  White Mountains completed the sale of SSIE on March 7, 2017.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations”.

(2) Schedule excludes amounts related to OneBeacon and Sirius Group for all periods presented.  See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations”.

Schedules of the Registrant should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.
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Exhibit 31.1

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 
I, G. Manning Rountree, Chief Executive Officer of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd., certify that:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 of White Mountains Insurance 
Group, Ltd.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

February 28, 2018
By:

  
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Reid T. Campbell, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. certify 
that:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 of White Mountains Insurance 
Group, Ltd.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;
 
The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

February 28, 2018
By:

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1
 

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. (the “Company”), for the 
period ending December 31, 2017 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, 
G. Manning Rountree, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to 
§906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

 
(a)                                 The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934; and,
 
(b)                                 The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 

results of operations of the Company as of and for the periods presented in the Report.

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 

  
February 28, 2018  
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Exhibit 32.2
 

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. (the “Company”), for the 
period ending December 31, 2017 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, 
Reid T. Campbell, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, 
as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

 
(a)                                 The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934; and,
 
(b)                                 The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 

results of operations of the Company as of and for the periods presented in the Report.

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 

  
February 28, 2018  
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